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Preface

This is undoubtedly a demanding time for practitioners and students of financial reporting.
Accountants and business people in European Union countries need to master not only their
national regulations but also the rules of the International Accounting Standards Board.
Both sets of rules are voluminous, ever growing and presently undergoing a process of rapid
change as a consequence of the convergence programme designed to bring national and
international standards into line with one another.

The ASB, in the UK, has developed its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, a
conceptual framework designed to underpin the development of accounting standards
which adopts a rather different view from that of the accruals-based approach of traditional
financial accounting. However, some of the principles are inconsistent with present com-
pany law and several of the Financial Reporting Standards in issue are inconsistent with the
Statement of Principles. Company law is presently under review, with the publication of a
White Paper which proposes major changes to the mechanism for setting and enforcing
accounting rules in the UK. Once the law is changed, then it will be necessary to change
numerous Financial Reporting Standards. It can perhaps be seen that the failure in the past
to develop a generally-agreed theory underpinning financial accounting is not without its
practical costs.

A 2002 EU Regulation requires all quoted companies in Europe to prepare their consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with international standards, rather than national
standards, by the year 2005. Accounting rule setters in the various member states are
attempting, with varying degrees of enthusiasm, to achieve convergence between their own
standards and those of the IASB, but this process is difficult to achieve because of consider-
able, often major, differences between the respective standards and because the IASB is itself
revising a large number of standards as part of its improvements project. National standard
setters are therefore in the uncomfortable position of shooting at a moving target.

The EU Regulation applies only to the consolidated financial statements of quoted com-
panies, although member states may permit, or require, the use of international standards in
the single-entity financial statements of those companies as well as in both the single entity
and consolidated financial statements of unquoted companies. At the time of writing it is
unclear whether the various member states will require universal application of international
standards or whether two sets of standards, national and international, will co-exist for
application to different financial statements in the same country. In the view of the authors,
even the consolidated financial statements of quoted companies in different EU countries
are unlikely to be comparable until long after 2005, let alone the financial statements of
unquoted companies.

While the world’s standard setters still have their disagreements, most of them seem to
suffer from the same condition — asking for more and more about what is in relative terms
less and less. The phrase ‘knowledge economy’ might have become a stale cliché but it still
has a relevance in that the major assets of an increasing number of businesses are knowledge
and expertise rather than physical assets. Yet standard setters have poured far more of their
energies into the production of longer and ever more detailed standards relating to tangible
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assets than they have to the critical questions of how an entity should report on the extent to
which it has invested in enhancing its store of knowledge and what it has done to protect
that store, for example through its staffing policies.

Another disappointing feature of the shared practices of standard setters is their reluc-
tance to move away from the view that there is one and only one way of valuing an asset or a
liability that should be reported. The standard setters argue that it would be confusing to
report both the replacement cost and historical cost of an asset or the market value and orig-
inal value of a liability. One of their strongest arguments is that the users of financial
statements would not understand the different bases but, at the same time, they issue stan-
dards of such detail and complexity that the layperson attempting to interpret financial
statements can now no longer even see the trees; the wood disappeared some while ago.

The practice of providing very detailed information about what is such a limited range of
assets and liabilities does suggest that financial accounting practice is an area where, increas-
ingly, spurious accuracy reigns.

We are grateful for the permission of the Accounting Standards Board to reproduce
extracts from their large list of publications. As in previous editions, we have included a
selection of questions from the professional examination papers of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. We gratefully acknowledge
the permission of these three bodies to reproduce their questions, although we are disap-
pointed that the ACCA will not permit us to include questions set in the two years preceding
publication of the book, even though those questions are available on their website. We have
chosen to include questions based on UK standards but would emphasise that both the
ACCA and CIMA set alternative examination papers based on international accounting
standards, should readers wish to make use of these.

A downloadable Solutions Manual, prepared by John Wyett, to whom both the authors
and readers of this text owe a considerable debt, is available to Lecturers on the password-
protected website to the book, www.booksites.net/lewispendrill, where we intend also to
publish annual Updates.

As always, we wish to thank our long-suffering wives, Pamela and Louise, for all their help
in reading and commenting on draft chapters and checking proofs, and for reminding us in
such positive tones that there is a life beyond Advanced Financial Accounting.

RWL
DP
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chapter

The search for principles

In this chapter we first introduce the subject matter of the book and explore the role of
accounting theory before turning to some of the attempts which have been made to con-
struct a conceptual framework for financial reporting. We examine the ongoing US
Conceptual Framework Project and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements before concentrat-
ing on the work of the UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB) that led to the publication of
its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting in December 1999.

MDIBIAIDAO

Introduction

One of the most difficult tasks facing authors is deciding how to start their books. An elegant
epigram or an eye-catching sentence might well fix the attention of prospective readers or,
more importantly, potential purchasers of the book, but such devices do not seem appropri-
ate in this case. We feel that it would be best to start the book in a fashion which reflects its
approach, i.e. we shall adopt a practical stance and start by discussing what we mean by the
three words which constitute the title of the book — Advanced Financial Accounting. It will be
convenient to start at the end of the title and then work back.

A number of definitions of accounting are available in the literature, and of these we will
select the oft-quoted description provided by the Committee of the American Accounting
Association (AAA), which was formed in order to prepare a statement of basic accounting
theory. In its report, which was published in 1966, the Committee defined accounting as:

the process of identifying, measuring, and communicating economic information to permit
informed judgements and decisions by users of the information.’

We feel that the definition is a useful one in that it focuses not on the accounting process
itself but on the reasons why information is required. It is all too easy for accountants to
become obsessed with the techniques of their craft and to forget that the application of these
techniques is not an end in itself but merely a means to an end. In this book we shall con-
stantly reiterate such questions as ‘Why is this information required?’ or ‘How will this data
be used? We believe that a proper study of accounting must start with an examination of the
needs of decision makers.

The distinction between financial and management accounting is a convenient one to
make, but it must not be regarded as one which divides the two areas of study into watertight
compartments. It would be better if the phrases ‘financial’ and ‘management’ accounting

! A statement of basic accounting theory, AAA, New York, 1966, p. 1.
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were replaced by ‘external’ and ‘internal’ accounting, as management accounting has finan-
cial implications while managers have more than a passing interest in financial accounting.
But, however one describes the differences, it is generally agreed that financial, or external,
accounting is primarily concerned with the communication of information about an entity
to those who do not share in its management, while management, or internal, accounting
refers to the communication of information to the managers of the particular entity. Thus
the American Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has defined financial reporting
as activities which are intended to serve ‘the informational needs of external users who lack
the authority to prescribe the financial information they want from an enterprise, and there-
fore must use the information that management communicates to them’.? This is a helpful
definition which indicates that in this book we will be concerned with financial information
that is given to users rather than information which is required by an individual or group of
individuals who are in a position to enforce their request.

A more recent description of the objective served by financial statements has been pro-
vided by the UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB), whose publications loom large in this
book. In its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting? the Board states that:

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the reporting entity’s
financial performance and financial position that is useful to a wide range of users for assess-
ing the stewardship of the entity’s management and for making economic decisions.

The reference to the making of economic decisions links back to the AAA’s description of
accounting and reminds us of the essentially utilitarian nature of the activity. The concept
of stewardship reminds us of accounting’s historical roots which were based on the desire of
owners of assets to receive reports from their stewards on the way in which the assets
entrusted to their charge had been used.

A more modern interpretation of the concept of stewardship suggests that it has two
aspects. The obligation to render accounts, or provide financial statements, might be
expected to motivate stewards (managers) to act in ways which best serve the interests of
owners, while the receipt of such information might help owners make economic decisions
(e.g. sell shares or sack the managers), thus indicating that the two purposes of the provision
of financial information identified by the ASB are closely interrelated.

Another way in which our attitude to stewardship has changed is that there is now the
question of whether stewardship is owed to parties other than the economic owners of the
assets. Do managers have an obligation to report to other groups such as employees?
Although many would contend that economic ownership is all, and that reporting to other
groups is simply a means to the end desired by the owners, there are others who would argue
that in a modern business enterprise shareholders are not the only stakeholders entitled to
receive reports. We shall return to this theme later in the book.

In this book we shall concentrate on the question of accounting for limited companies.
We do, of course, recognise that there are many other forms of entity which are of impor-
tance, including charities, universities, central and local government and their associated
agencies. Our reason for deciding to concentrate on the topic of limited companies is not
because we think that the other forms of entity do not merit the concern of financial accoun-
tants, but because we recognise that, at least at present, most accounting courses are
concerned with the private profit-seeking sector of the economy. Our readers will appreciate

2 Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts (SFAC) 1, Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises,
FASB, Stamford, Conn., 1978, Para. 28.
3 Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, ASB, London, December 1999.
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that many of the topics that will be discussed in the context of limited companies are of
direct relevance to other forms of economic entity.

We should also provide some indication of the interpretation that should be placed on the
adjective ‘advanced’ in the title of this book. It does not mean that the text will concentrate
on detailed and complex manipulations of debits and credits, although we shall of course
have to deal with such matters from time to time. In the context of this book, ‘advanced’
means that we shall concentrate on the identification, measurement and communication of
economic information in the light of our acceptance of the view of the ASB that such infor-
mation is required to help in decision making. Thus we shall concentrate on such questions
as what information is relevant to decision makers, how the information is relevant to deci-
sion makers, how the information should be measured, and the manner in which it should
be communicated. In so doing we shall describe and evaluate alternative approaches to the
solution of accounting problems.

The definitions of accounting which we quoted above stop at the ‘communication’ of
information. However, it must be emphasised that the interpretation of information is a vital
part of an accountant’s work, and it is clear that this aspect must be regarded as being an
integral part of the process of communication. It should be noted that the definition of
accounting does not extend to decision making. Of course, many accountants do become
involved in decision making, but when they do so they are performing a managerial rather
than an accounting role. We would not for one moment wish to argue that accountants
should not become involved in management, but it is essential to distinguish between
accounting and decision making. It is important that information provided by accountants
should be as free as possible from personal bias but, if accountants do not keep the distinc-
tion between accounting and decision making clear in their own minds, there is a great
danger that they might, possibly quite unconsciously, bias the information provided towards
the decision which they would wish to see made.

The above discussion might suggest that we see the work of an accountant as being of a
purely technical nature in which he or she is allowed little latitude for professional judge-
ment. This is not the case, because we believe that the accountant must strive to find out and
attempt to satisfy the information needs of decision makers and, as we shall show, this is no
easy task.

Accounting theory

Academic accountants tend to bemoan the lack of generally accepted accounting theory.
This is understandable because theory is the stock in trade of academics. Some ‘practical’
accountants are probably rather pleased that there is no generally agreed theory of account-
ing because such practical people are suspicious of theory and theorising as they believe that
it gets in the way of ‘real work’. However, those who take this view are probably ignorant of
the role that theory can play in practical matters and do not realise that an absence of theory
does give rise to many real and practical difficulties.

The description of accounting theory provided by Hendriksen shows clearly the practical
uses of theory. Hendriksen defines accounting theory as ‘logical reasoning in the form of a
set of broad principles that (i) provide a general frame of reference by which accounting
practice can be evaluated and (ii) guide the development of new practices and procedures’.*

4 E.S. Hendriksen and M.F. Van Breda, Accounting Theory, 5th edn, R.D. Irwin, Homewood, 1L, 1992.
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Expressed in this way, it is obvious that the function of theory is to assist in the resolution of
practical problems. The existence of a theory would mean that we could say and explain
why, given a number of assumptions, method X (perhaps current cost accounting) is to be
preferred to method Y (say historical cost accounting).

There have been numerous attempts to construct a theory of accounting.” In the early
stages of development an inductive approach was employed. Thus the practices of accoun-
tants were analysed in order to see whether patterns of consistent behaviour could be derived
from the observations. If a general principle could be observed, then procedures which devi-
ated from it could be castigated as being unsound. These first attempts were mainly directed
towards the establishment of explanatory theories, i.e. theories which explained why certain
rules were followed.

This approach failed for two main reasons. One is the difficulty of distinguishing consis-
tent patterns of behaviour from a mass of procedures which had developed with the growth
of accountancy and the problem of establishing any general set of explanatory statements.
The second, and possibly more important, reason was that the approach did not help to
improve accounting practice in any significant way. The approach only allowed the theorist
to say ‘what is’ and not ‘what ought to be’.

In response to these problems a different method of theory construction emerged in the
1950s. This method was normative in nature, i.e. it was directed towards the improvement of
accounting practice. The method also included elements of the deductive approach, which
essentially consists of the derivation of rules on the basis of logical reasoning from a basic set
of objectives. The theories generally consisted of a mixture of deductive and inductive
approaches, the latter being used to identify the basic objectives. These approaches to theory
construction were extremely valuable in that they generated a number of books and papers
which have had a profound effect on the development of accounting thought, in particular
in the area of current value accounting.®

Since that time, we have seen the development of numerous bodies throughout the world
concerned with setting accounting standards. Perhaps not surprisingly, these standard setters
have found it difficult to resolve particular accounting issues, so they have sought to
construct a conceptual framework or set of principles which could be used to underpin
accounting standards and to provide guidance to practitioners in areas where no accounting
standard exists. Although the British Accounting Standards Steering Committee, a pre-
decessor of the ASB, issued a discussion document The Corporate Report’ as early as 1975,
the most ambitious attempt to create such a framework has undoubtedly been that of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the USA. As we shall see, enormous
expenditure on this project in the 1970s and early 1980s was not sufficient to prevent it run-
ning into difficulties with the consequence that there has been very little output since the
mid-1980s.

In spite of these difficulties, the approach of the FASB has had considerable influence on
subsequent developments in other countries, including the following attempts to develop
conceptual frameworks:®

> Hendriksen and Van Breda, op. cit., provides a detailed and authoritative description of these attempts.

¢ Some of the more important developments are summarised in Chapter 19.

7 Accounting Standards Steering Committee, The Corporate Report, London, 1975. This important and wide-
ranging document did not receive the attention which it deserved because it was followed closely by the publica-
tion of the Report of the Inflation Accounting Committee (the Sandilands Report), which was considered to have
much greater immediate relevance. We discuss the Sandilands Report in Chapters 19 and 20 of this book.

8 This is not intended as an exhaustive list. Many bodies in other countries have attempted to prepare conceptual
frameworks and have drawn upon the work of the FASB. Examples include Australia, Canada and New Zealand.
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Making Corporate Reports Valuable, Discussion Document by the Research Committee
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS), edited by Peter N.
McMonnies, Kogan Page, London, 1988.

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), London, 1989 and, subsequently, adopted by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in April 2001.

Guidelines for Financial Reporting Standards, Report to the Research Board of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales by Professor David Solomons, Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), London, 1989.

The Future Shape of Financial Reports, Discussion paper by the ICAEW Research
Committee and the ICAS Research Board, 1991.

Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, ASB, London, December 1999.

With the exception of the ICAS Discussion Document, Making Corporate Reports Valuable,’
which takes a much less blinkered approach, all of these documents work within the confines
of a typical set of financial statements comprising position statement/balance sheet, perfor-
mance statement or statements, cash or funds flow statement and supplementary notes.
Their basic approach is summarised in Figure 1.1.

As we shall see, problems arise at every stage of the process but, in particular, at the stages

of recognition and measurement.

We shall look first at the US Conceptual Framework Project and then briefly at the IASB

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements before taking a more
detailed look at the development of the ASB’s Statement of Principles.

Identify user groups and discuss their needs.
Determine primary users for whom
financial statements are prepared.

'

List desirable qualitative characteristics
of information provided in
financial statements.

Y

Define elements (e.g. assets, gains)
to be included in financial statements.

Y

Specify recognition criteria to determine
when elements should be recognised
in the financial statements.

'

Specify measurement basis for elements
recognised in the financial statements.

Figure 1.1 Steps in the structure of a typical conceptual framework

9 We shall examine some of the ideas of this report later in the book, particularly in Chapters 13 and 21.
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The FASB conceptual framework project

Since the mid-1970s, the US FASB has been engaged in a major project to develop a ‘concep-
tual framework’ for accounting which it defined as:

a constitution, a coherent system of interrelated objectives and fundamentals that can lead
to consistent standards and that prescribes the nature, function and limits of financial
accounting and financial statements. 10

As the project developed, the FASB issued a number of documents entitled Staterments of Financial
Accounting Concepts (SFACs). For reasons which will be explained below, many observers thought
that the project had come to an end with the publication of SFACs Nos 5 and 6 in 1984 and 1985
but, in the late 1990s, the FASB began to develop a further SFAC, which was published as No. 7 in
February 2000. The following Statements are relevant in the context of this book:!!

Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises (November 1978).

Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information (May 1980).

Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises (December 1984).
Elements of Financial Statements (December 1985).

Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements (February 2000).

NN UGN -

We shall briefly consider each of these in turn.

SFAC No. 1 Objectives of Financial Reporting by
Business Enterprises

As we have seen earlier in the chapter, the FASB is firmly of the view that financial reporting
is intended to help users make decisions:

Financial reporting is not an end in itself but is intended to provide information that is useful in
making business and economic decisions . . . (Para. 9)

It follows that it is necessary to determine who the users are and to explore the sort of deci-
sion which they have to take. The FASB identifies a large number of user groups with both a
direct and an indirect interest. The former include such groups as owners, lenders, suppliers,
potential investors and creditors, customers, management, directors and taxing authorities
while the latter include such groups as financial analysts and labour unions, who advise
those with a direct interest. In spite of recognition of these user groups and discussion of
their needs, the Statement comes to the conclusion that:

. .. Thus, financial reporting should provide information to help investors, creditors and others
assess the amounts, timing and uncertainty of prospective net cash inflows to the related
enterprise. (Para. 37)

While some find it difficult to accept that this focus on investors and creditors follows logi-
cally from the identification of so many user groups and the discussion of their needs, the
next step in the logic seems to be even more suspect:

10" Scope and Implications of the Conceptual Framework Project, FASB, Stamford, Conn., 1976, p. 2.
1 SFAC No. 3 was superseded by SFAC No. 6 and SFAC No. 4 was concerned with Objectives of Financial
Reporting by Nonbusiness Organizations, which is outside the scope of this book.
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Financial reporting should provide information about the economic resources of an enterprise,
the claims to those resources (obligations of the enterprise to transfer resources to other enti-
ties and owners’ equity) and the effects of transactions, events and circumstances that change
resources and claims to those resources. (Para. 40)

A cynical observer might comment that it is extremely convenient that the outcome of the
user-oriented approach is the conclusion that users need the sort of reports that they have
traditionally received in the past, namely a position statement or balance sheet together with
an income statement!

SFAC No. 2 Qualitative Characteristics of
Accounting Information

In SFAC No. 2, the FASB specifies a hierarchy of desirable characteristics for accounting
information. Decision usefulness is paramount and to be useful information must be both
relevant and reliable. While the statement provides numerous other desirable qualities in a
hierarchy, it clearly recognises that there will often be a conflict between two or more of
these characteristics. Thus at the highest level, relevant information may not be reliable while
reliable information may not be relevant. We will examine a similar attempt to specify desir-
able characteristics later in the chapter within the context of the UK ASB’s Statement of
Principles for Financial Reporting.

SFAC No. 6 Elements of Financial Statements
(superseded SFAC No. 3)

This SFAC provides definitions of the ten elements of financial statements, namely:

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Investments by owners
Distributions to owners
Comprehensive income
Revenue

Expenses

Gains

Losses

12

It follows that nothing should be included in the financial statements unless it satisfies one of
the definitions provided. Even then, it should not be included in the financial statements
unless it satisfies the recognition criteria laid down in SFAC No. 5.

12 While other terms in this list will be familiar to readers, it may be helpful to reproduce the FASB definition of
Comprehensive income: ‘Comprehensive income is the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all changes in equity
during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners’ (SFAC No. 6,
Para. 70).
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SFAC No. 5 Recognition and Measurement in Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises

Having set down the desirable characteristics of accounting information and the definitions
of the elements of financial statements, the crucial step in the US Conceptual Framework
Project came with SFAC No. 5. This is the document which was intended to specify both
when an element should be recognised (that is, included in the financial statements) and,
once included, how it should be measured.

The Statement lays down four fundamental recognition criteria but accepts that trade-offs
between them will have to be made in practice. It then discusses various different possible bases
of measurement which could be used in a set of financial statements, including historical cost,
current cost, current market value, net realisable value and present value of future cash flows.
However, it does not come down clearly in favour of any one basis of measurement but, rather,
leaves the choice of accounting measurement to standard setters and accountants.

For many observers, this was the end of the Conceptual Framework Project for, instead of
providing guidance of what should be included in financial statements and what basis of meas-
urement should be used, it failed to do so. Three short quotations from the Statement will help

readers appreciate why the late Professor David Solomons described SFAC No. 5 as a ‘cop-out’:?

ltems currently reported in financial statements are measured by different attributes, depend-
ing on the nature of the item and the relevance or reliability of the attribute measured. The
Board expects the use of different attributes to continue. (Para. 66)

The concept of earnings described in this statement is similar to net income in present prac-
tice . . . (Para. 33)

The Board expects the concept of earnings to be subject to the process of gradual change or
evolution which has characterised the development of net income . . . (Para. 35)

Here was a framework designed to help standard setters improve financial reporting providing
little guidance but rather expecting things to continue much as they had done before! Such an
outcome had been predicted by the British Professor Richard Macve in 1981 in a report com-
missioned by the Accounting Standards Committee, the predecessor of the ASB.!* Professor
Macve concluded that, while the quest for a conceptual framework or general theory is impor-
tant in identifying questions that need to be answered, it would be idle to hope that such a
framework could be developed that would give explicit guidance on practical problems.

SFAC No. 7 Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value
in Accounting Measurements

To the surprise of many, the FASB published two exposure drafts of a proposed Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts in the late 1990s and these were followed, in due course, by
the publication of SFAC No. 7 in February 2000.!> This Statement attempts to provide a

13 David Solomons, ‘The FASB’s Conceptual Framework: an evaluation’, Journal of Accountancy, June 1986,
pp. 114-24.

14 Richard Macve, A conceptual framework for financial reporting: the possibilities of an agreed structure, ICAEW,
London, 1981.

15 The exposure drafts were Using Cash Flow Information in Accounting Measurements (June 1997) and Using Cash
Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements (March 1999).
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framework for the use of present values of future cash flows as a basis for accounting meas-
urement. In the view of SFAC No. 7, where present values are used, the objective should be
to arrive at the price of an asset or liability in a hypothetical market. While recognising
that present values will often be calculated by discounting the most likely outcome by a risk-
adjusted discount rate, the FASB would prefer to see present values reflecting any
uncertainty inherent in the future cash flows by using expected cash flows, that is possible
cash flows weighted by their probability of occurrence, discounted at a risk-free rate of inter-
est. The Statement is quite clear in proposing that the calculation of the present value of
liabilities should reflect the credit standing of the particular entity for which the valuation is
being calculated.

SFAC No. 7 is a difficult and rather rambling read and, as with the earlier Statements, it is
difficult to envisage it providing much help in the solution of problems of financial reporting
in the foreseeable future.

In spite of Professor Macve’s conclusion and the difficulties which have been faced by the
FASB in applying their Conceptual Framework in practice, other bodies have continued
their search for this Holy Grail and we turn next to the attempt of the IASC.

The IASC/IASB framework

Given that national standard setters, like the FASB and ASB, were facing difficulties in
resolving many accounting issues, it is perhaps not surprising that the IASC, with members
drawn from some 100 countries, faced even greater difficulties.!® It too attempted to con-
struct a conceptual framework although on a much less grand scale than that which was
originally envisaged by the FASB.

The TASC published its extremely short Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements in July 1989 and we may immediately obtain a feel for its contents by
listing the major headings of the document:

Introduction

The Objective of Financial Statements

Underlying Assumptions

Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Statements
The Elements of Financial Statements

Recognition of the Elements of Financial Statements
Measurement of the Elements of Financial Statements
Concepts of Capital and Capital Maintenance

Most of these may be clearly related to the relevant Statements of Financial Concepts of the
FASB, which we have outlined above. The additions are sections on ‘Underlying
Assumptions’ and ‘Concepts of Capital and Capital Maintenance’. The first of these describes
the accruals basis and going concern concept while the second outlines the major capital
maintenance concepts which can be used in the measurement of profit, namely financial capi-
tal maintenance (nominal or real) and physical capital maintenance, respectively, without
choosing between them.!”

16 We discuss the increasing role of the IASC and its successor, the International Accounting Standards Board
(TASB) in international standard setting in Chapter 3, Sources of authority: the rise of international standards.

17 We will discuss these concepts in considerable depth later in the book, initially in Chapter 4 and subsequently in
Part 3.
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Yet again, standard setters looking to this framework for help in resolving most account-
ing issues will be disappointed. Its failings are most evident at the measurement stage. Thus
the section on measurement discusses four different measurement bases which are employed
to different degrees and in varying combinations in financial statements, namely historical
cost, current cost, realisable value and present value. However, no guidance is given on
which should be selected for any given element recognised. When this is coupled with the
lack of guidance on the capital maintenance concept to be employed in measuring profit for
a period, the document seems unlikely to resolve many accounting issues. A quotation from
the final paragraph (Para. 110) gives support to this conclusion:

The selection of the measurement bases and concept of capital maintenance will determine
the accounting model used in the preparation of financial statements. Different accounting
models exhibit different degrees of relevance and reliability and, as in other areas, manage-
ment must seek a balance between relevance and reliability. This Framework is applicable to a
range of accounting models and provides guidance on preparing and presenting the financial
statements constructed under the chosen model. At the present time, it is not the intention of
the Board of IASC to prescribe a particular model other than in exceptional circumstances,
such as for those enterprises reporting in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy. This
intention will, however, be reviewed in the light of world developments.

Well over a decade has now passed but this framework has not been tightened. It was
adopted by the IASB in April 2001 but we may rest assured that that body will not be able to
resist attempts to improve the framework in due course.

With this background, let us now turn to the attempts of the ASB to develop its Statement
of Principles for Financial Reporting.

The ASB’s Statement of Principles

The ASB has been committed to the development of a Statement of Principles for Financial
Reporting since its formation in 1990. This was made clear in paragraph 4 of the ASB’s
Foreword to accounting standards, issued in June 1993:

FRSs (Financial Reporting Standards) are based upon the Statement of Principles for Financial
Reporting currently in issue, which addresses the concepts underlying the information pre-
sented in financial statements. The objective of this Statement of Principles is to provide a
framework for the consistent and logical formulation of individual accounting standards. The
framework also provides a basis on which others can exercise judgement in resolving
accounting issues.

Despite this brave statement, the Board managed to issue many FRSs before it published its
own Statement of Principles in December 1999.

The first attempt

Individual draft chapters of a Statement of Principles were issued by the ASB and, following
amendment in response to comments, these were collected together in an exposure draft
published in November 1995. The headings of the seven chapters in this exposure draft were
as follows:
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The objective of financial statements

The qualitative characteristics of financial information
The elements of financial statements

Recognition in financial statements

Measurement in financial statements

Presentation in financial statements

The reporting entity

NN U W N =

The first five of these chapters covered material familiar from the FASB Statements of
Financial Accounting Concepts and the IASC Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements which we have discussed above. Chapter 6 specified the contents of a
set of financial statements and how information should be presented in those statements.
Chapter 7 concerned itself with the treatment of different levels of investment, including
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

In the preparation of this draft, the ASB sensibly tried to start with a clean sheet by ignoring
the constraints imposed by company law. Appendix 2 to the draft specifically drew attention to
a number of important conflicts between the draft Statement and the law. However, where
such conflicts exist, the principles could only be followed if use were to be made of the true
and fair override or if the law were to be changed. The ASB undoubtedly hopes and anticipates
that changes in the law will follow general acceptance of its Statement of Principles.

The draft Statement of Principles adopted a balance sheet focus. Thus, like its predecessors,
it provided definitions of assets and liabilities and proposed that only items which satisfy
those definitions may be recognised in the balance sheet and then only when certain recogni-
tion criteria are satisfied.

Given the greater relevance of current values to decision taking, it proposed a greater use
of current values using a concept known as ‘value to the business’, to which we shall return
many times in this book.

Ownership interest is defined as assets less liabilities and the total gains or losses for a
period are to be calculated by deducting the opening ownership interest from the closing
ownership interest and adjusting for any contributions from or distributions to owners.
Such gains or losses were to appear in one of the two performance statements, either in the
Profit and Loss Account or, as another gain or loss, in the Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses. The draft specified certain rules to guide this selection, in particular that
gains and losses on fixed assets, whether realised or unrealised, should appear in the
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses rather than in the Profit and Loss Account.

Perhaps not surprisingly, the ASB received more comments on this document than any
other document it has published. While many recognised the need for a Statement of
Principles, criticism of this particular draft Statement was vociferous, with the firm of Ernst
& Young playing a particularly important role.!® This criticism was such that the ASB with-
drew the draft Statement of Principles in July 1996 and issued a progress paper entitled
‘Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting — the way ahead’. In that document, the ASB
stated its intention to issue a revised exposure draft and this was published, rather later than
expected, in March 1999.

Although the ASB accused its critics of misunderstanding its proposals, much of the criti-
cism seemed to have been well founded. The balance sheet focus adopted in the draft has a

18 See, for example: The ASB’s Framework: Time to Decide, Ernst & Young, London, February 1996; and The ASB’s
Statement of Principles — Blueprint or Blind Alley?, Ron Paterson (Ernst & Young), University of Wales
(Aberystwyth), February 1998.
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number of strengths but does not seem in accord with either current practice or the prin-
ciples on which the Board has based some of its published standards. The draft certainly
failed to provide sufficient justification for such a fundamental departure from a position
with which many accountants feel comfortable.

Although they may be accused of overlooking the fact that a large proportion of listed
companies have revalued at least some of their fixed assets on a piecemeal basis, critics also
attacked the proposals to move towards a greater use of current values. They argued that
such values are less reliable and that, even if all assets and liabilities recognised in a balance
sheet were to be shown at current values, the total ownership interest would not represent
the wealth or value of the business as discussed in economists’ models. Given this, any
measure of gains and losses based upon comparing two such balance sheet totals is unlikely
to provide a sensible measure of the increase in the wealth of owners.

The way in which gains and losses were to be recognised in either the Profit and Loss
Account or the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses also came in for criticism.
While the authors would applaud the attempts of the ASB to discard the confusing and
rather unhelpful distinction between realised and unrealised profit, it is not surprising that
practitioners, who have worked with such concepts for the whole of their working lives, were
not willing to give them up without a fight.

With this brief look at the major criticisms made of the first draft Statement of Principles,
let us now turn to the revised exposure draft issued in March 1999.

The revised exposure draft

The revised exposure draft was issued in March 1999, this time accompanied by an introduc-
tory booklet and a technical supplement. The introductory booklet contained both a
question and answer section and an overview of the draft statement. The technical supple-
ment sets out the reasons for some of the Board’s conclusions and why it had rejected
possible alternatives. Having been taken by surprise by the negative reaction to the first
exposure draft, the ASB was clearly concerned to defuse criticism of this second attempt at
developing a Statement of Principles and took great pains to explain and sell its revised draft.
Skilful presentation, coupled with a clear exposition of the limited role of the Statement and
the considerable flexibility which it still allows, appeared to defuse criticism of the revised
draft and permitted the issue of the actual Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting later
that same year, in December 1999.

The Statement of Principles

The Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting contains the same eight chapters as the
revised exposure draft with only minor changes to the words and layout. These chapters are:

The objective of financial statements

The reporting entity

The qualitative characteristics of financial information
The elements of financial statements

Recognition in financial statements

Measurement in financial statements

Presentation of financial information

Accounting for interests in other entities

0NNV -
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We shall provide a brief synopsis of each of these chapters before assessing the extent to
which the Statement is likely to contribute to an improvement in the quality of future
accounting standards.

Chapter 1 The objective of financial statements
Perhaps not surprisingly the Statement of Principles provides us with the following objective:

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the reporting entity’s
financial performance and financial position that is useful to a wide range of users for assess-
ing the stewardship of the entity’s management and for making economic decisions. (p. 16)

It identifies a number of users of general-purpose financial reports and discusses their needs
for information. The user groups include investors, lenders, suppliers and other trade credi-
tors, employees, customers, governments and their agencies and the public. Like the US
Conceptual Framework Project, discussed above, the Statement of Principles comes to the
conclusion that it is possible to meet the objective by focusing exclusively on the needs of
investors, which it describes as the defining class of user.

It concludes that investors and others need information about the reporting entity’s
financial performance and financial position to help them to evaluate the entity’s ability to
generate cash (including the timing and certainty of its generation) and to assess its finan-
cial adaptability.

Chapter 2 The reporting entity

This chapter specifies the boundary of the reporting entity by reference to the scope of
control. Thus an entity with direct control of its activities, assets and liabilities should
prepare single entity financial statements while an entity which also has indirect control of
the activities, assets and liabilities of a subsidiary should also prepare consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Control has two aspects: first, the ability to deploy the economic resources involved and,
second, the ability to benefit (or to suffer) from this deployment. The Statement makes it
clear that it is the relationship existing between entities in practice, rather than the theoreti-
cal level of influence, that is to be considered in determining whether or not control exists.

Chapter 3 The qualitative characteristics of financial information

The Statement sets out the desirable characteristics of financial information in a hierarchy
which we have reproduced as Figure 1.2. To be useful financial information must be (i) rel-
evant to users, (ii) reliable, (iii) comparable and (iv) understandable.

Financial information is relevant if it would influence economic decisions and it would be
able to do this if it has predictive value or confirmatory value. Information with predictive value
would help users to assess what is likely to happen in future while information with confirmatory
value would help them to confirm or correct previous predictions which they have made. In
many, if not most, cases information will have both confirmatory and predictive value.

To be reliable, information must be free from material error and possess certain sub-
sidiary characteristics:

® Faithful representation. It must faithfully represent what it purports to represent so that,
for example, the substance of a transaction must be portrayed when this differs from its
legal form.



-uolssiwied yim psonpoiday ‘000z PeNWIT suoneodlidnd gSY © v "d ‘6661 Jequieosq ‘pieog spiepuels Buiunoody ‘Buioday [eroueulH o4 S8jdioulid JO JUSWSIBS 82IN0S
uoljeuwliojul jeidueul} Jo saljsiialoeleyd 0>_H.Nﬁ__ﬁ=_u 9yl 2L Q\_Sm_n_

Part 1 - The framework of financial reporting

uolyeolyisselo Jole
pue seniiqe 2inso|osia Kousysisuo) aouapnid || are|dwon |euorew |esneN uonejuesaidal onpeA enpeA
UoneboIB6y slosn Wwouy 081 InjyyeS Aloyewjuo) aAoIPaId
paAleolad 8g UED UOHBWIOUI  PaleNn[eAs pue pauisdsip 8q uoljeuasaidal [njyie) pue SUOIS|08p 8oUaN|4UI O}
8y} Jo aoueolubis ay | UBD S80UBJSYIP PUB SaNLe|IWIS 919|dwo2 € S| 1By} UoIIeWIOU| AJ|Ige 8y} sey 1By} UoieWIOU|
ALITIGVANYLSHIANN ALIIgVdVdINOO ALIIGVIT3d JONVATT3Y

uaAIb uonew.oUl
JBY10 8y} JO ssaujnjesn Ayrenb
sy Jredw Aew [BUeIBW T T T T T TSI TN T T e e ALMVI3IYIN pJoysaiy |
10U S| Jey} uolewoul BUIAIL)

¢1N43SN NOILYINHOANI TVIONVYNIA SIHVIN LYHM

16




Chapter 1 - The search for principles

17

® Neutral. The information should be neutral, in other words, it should not be subject to
deliberate or systematic bias. We shall have more to say about this when we discuss pru-
dence below.

® Free from material error. Information which includes a material error is unlikely to be reliable.

e Complete. It should be complete to the extent possible.

® Prudent. In the Statement, prudence is defined as follows:

... Prudence is the inclusion of a degree of caution in the exercise of the judgements needed
in making the estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that gains and assets
are not overstated and losses and liabilities are not understated. In particular, under such con-
ditions it requires more confirmatory evidence about the existence of, and a greater reliability
of measurement for, assets and gains than is required for liabilities and losses. (Para. 3.19)

This definition of prudence still contains an element of bias insofar as it specifically warns
against the overstatement of gains and assets but is silent on the understatements of gains
and assets and warns against the understatement, but not the overstatement, of losses and
liabilities. Even so, the new definition does involve some significant implications in that it
requires that the concept must be applied within the bounds of reasonable estimates and
hence renders the making of excessive provisions or the creation of hidden reserves unac-
ceptable. The definition is not, however, one that is amenable to objective interpretation so
disputes between directors and auditors about what is or is not prudent are unlikely to dis-
appear. A message of some of the causes célebres of 2001 and 2002 might suggest that,
perhaps contrary to expectations, the auditors may not always be the more prudent party!

Information should be comparable both for a reporting entity over time and across differ-
ent reporting entities. This is a tall order but, in particular, requires disclosure of accounting
policies as well as of details of changes and the effects of changes in accounting policies.

In order to specify understandability as a desirable characteristic, it is necessary to make
some assumption about the ability of users. The ASB assumes that the targeted users ‘have a
reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a willingness
to study with reasonable diligence the information provided’ (Para. 3.27(c)). However, this
is qualified a little later when it is stated that ‘information that is relevant and reliable should
not be excluded from the financial statements simply because it is too difficult for some
users to understand’ (Para. 3.37).

The Statement clearly recognises that there will be conflicts between desirable characteris-
tics such that trade-offs will be necessary. One example of such a conflict is between
relevance and reliability: timely information may be highly relevant but not very reliable in
an uncertain world but, if we wait for reliable information, it may no longer be timely and
therefore no longer relevant. Another example is the conflict between neutrality and pru-
dence, both subsidiary characteristics of reliability, to which we have drawn attention above.

Chapter 4 The elements of financial statements
This chapter defines seven elements of financial statements:

assets

liabilities

ownership interest

gains

losses

contributions from owners
distributions to owners
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Ownership interest is defined as assets less liabilities while gains and losses, contributions
from owners and distributions to owners are defined by reference to various changes in
ownership interest. The crucial definitions are therefore those for assets and liabilities, which
clearly demonstrates the determination of the ASB to retain a balance sheet focus in spite of
the heavy criticism of that approach following publication of the first exposure draft:

Assets are rights or other access to future economic benefits controlled by an entity as a
result of past transactions or events. (Para. 4.6)

Liabilities are obligations of an entity to transfer economic benefits as a result of past trans-
actions or events. (Para. 4.23)

We shall consider these terms in considerable detail later in the book, particularly in
Chapters 5 and 7.

Chapter 5 Recognition in financial statements

There are two prongs to the recognition of transactions or events in a set of financial
statements: first, there must be sufficient evidence that an asset or liability has been cre-
ated or that there has been an addition to an asset or liability. Second, the new asset or
liability, or addition thereto, must be capable of measurement at a monetary amount with
sufficient accuracy.

So, to be included in a set of financial statements, the item must satisfy the definition of
an element in Chapter 4 of the Statement of Principles and must be measured reliably. This
would mean that certain expenditure previously treated as a deferred asset, such as deferred
advertising expenditure, may not be recognised in future. In this way, the ASB hopes to limit
the carrying forward of expenditure to match against perhaps dubious benefits in the future:

The Statement imposes a degree of discipline on this process because only items that meet
the definitions of, and relevant recognition criteria for, assets, liabilities or ownership interest
are recognised in the balance sheet. (Para. 5.29)

Chapter 6 Measurement in financial statements

Having rejected, perhaps too easily, the notion that individual assets and liabilities should be
reported on two or more bases of measurement, the ASB then has to choose whether assets
and liabilities should be measured at historical cost or on a basis of measurement that
reflects current value. The first exposure draft was explicit that the ASB favoured the use of
current value, as can be seen from the following quotation:

The Board therefore believes that practice should develop by evolving in the direction of
greater use of current values to the extent that this is consistent with the constraints of reliabil-
ity and cost. (First exposure draft, Para. 5.38)

This was criticised as an attempt on the part of the ASB to move away from historical cost
accounting towards a system of current cost accounting. This the ASB denied and, certainly
in the Statement, it is very careful not to expose this hostage to fortune.

The ASB now favours the use of the mixed measurement system, sometimes described as
modified historical cost accounting. As envisaged by the Statement, some assets will be
valued on a historical cost basis while others will be valued at current value. The practice
whereby some entities have remeasured their tangible fixed assets at a current value on one
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Value to the business
= lower of

TN

Replacement cost and Recoverable amount

= higher of
Value in use and Net realisable value

Figure 1.3 The value to the business concept of current value

Source: Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, Accounting Standards Board, December 1999, para. 6.8. © ASB Publications
Limited 2000. Reproduced with permission.

particular date but then left that revised value in the financial statements for many years to
come is no longer permissible.!?

The concept of current value which the ASB favoured at the date of publication of the
Statement was value to the business, otherwise known as current cost or deprival value,
which it defines as shown in Figure 1.3. However, as part of, or one might suggest as part of
the cost of, the programme of convergence between UK and international Financial
Reporting Standards, the ASB may have to switch its allegiance from value to the business to
the use of fair value which, in its international variant, is firmly based upon market values.
We shall return to the concept of current value many times in this book, particularly in Chapters
4,5,20and 21.

If some companies choose to measure assets and liabilities on a historical cost basis while
others choose to use current value, it is difficult to see how their respective financial state-
ments will satisfy the desirable quality of comparability.

Chapter 7 Presentation of financial information

According to this chapter, the primary financial statements should comprise three documents:

e Statement of financial performance®

@ Position statement or balance sheet
® Cash flow statement

The chapter lays down general principles for presentation of the highly structured and aggre-
gated information necessary in financial statements, the notes to these statements and in the
accompanying information. The latter includes such documents as the Chairman’s Report,
the operating and financial review and five-year historical summaries.

19 See FRS 15 Tangible Fixed Assets, ASB, February 1999.

20 Present standard accounting practice in the UK requires the inclusion of two performance statements: a Profit
and Loss Account and a Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses. The reference to ‘Statement of perfor-
mance’ in the singular anticipated the ASB proposal to combine these statements in the Discussion Paper
Reporting Financial Performance: Proposals for Change, published in June 1999, and subsequently in FRED 22
Revision of FRS 3 Reporting Financial Performance, published in December 2000. We will discuss these proposals
in Chapter 11.
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Chapter 8 Accounting for interests in other entities

This final chapter deals with the treatment of investments in other entities both in the single-
entity financial statements and in consolidated financial statements and is closely related to the
material on the reporting entity discussed earlier in Chapter 2 of the Statement of Principles.

The Statement specifies that the accounting treatment in financial statements should be
determined by the degree of influence which the investor has over the investee. When there
is significant influence or joint control, the investee is an associate or joint venture and the
appropriate method of accounting to be used in the consolidated financial statements is the
equity method of accounting. We shall discuss this thoroughly in Chapter 15.

An evaluation of the ASB Statement of Principles

As we have seen, one of the major criticisms of the first exposure draft of the Statement of
Principles was that it adopted a balance sheet focus as opposed to the transactions focused
and matching approach of what was then current practice. The Statement reiterates this bal-
ance sheet focus and considers that it is necessary in order to prevent the attempts by some
entities to delay the recognition of items of expenditure by carrying them forward as assets to
match against, perhaps dubious, future benefits.

A second major criticism of the first exposure draft was that the ASB was attempting to
move away from a system of historical cost accounting to a system of current cost account-
ing. The ASB has always claimed that this was not its intention although it, quite sensibly,
favours the greater use of current values where appropriate. In the Statement, it has
undoubtedly stepped further back and envisages the use of a mixed measurement system
using both historical costs and current values for a long time to come. It has to be recognised
that, if entities are permitted to choose whether to use historical cost based values or current
values, the desirable quality of comparability across entities is lost completely.

A third criticism of the first exposure draft concerned the way in which gains and losses
were divided between the Profit and Loss Account and the Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses. There is undoubtedly greater understanding and acceptance of the
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses now than when the first exposure draft was
published.?! Indeed, the Discussion Paper Reporting Financial Performance: Proposals for
change (June 1999) and subsequent Financial Reporting Exposure Draft (FRED) 22 Revision
of FRS 3 ‘Reporting Financial Performance (December 2000) advocates the combination of
both documents into a single Statement of Performance. The major debate has therefore
focused on the more detailed proposals in these later documents.

In order to defuse potential criticism, the ASB plays down the importance of the
Statement of Principles by drawing attention to the many other factors which will have to be
considered in setting accounting standards, namely:

(a) legal requirements,

(b) cost—benefit considerations,

(¢) industry-specific issues,

(d) the desirability of evolutionary change, and
(e) implementation issues.??

2l The first exposure draft was published in November 1995 just some three years after the issue of FRS 3 Reporting
Financial Performance in October 1992. It was FRS 3 which introduced the requirement for entities to produce
the new primary statement, a Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, for accounting periods ending on
or after 22 June 1993.

22 Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, Introduction, Para. 14.
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In particular, Appendix 1 draws attention to the major conflicts between the Statement and
existing company law. It recognises very clearly that, as in the past, the law will continue to
constrain the activities of the ASB for some considerable time in the future.

All of this leaves the ASB considerable flexibility in future but does raise a fundamental
question about the role of any Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting if the principles
which it lays down can be overridden on so many other grounds!

Summary

In this chapter we have first provided an introduction to this book. We have then stressed
the need for ‘theory’ to guide and underpin practice and have examined some attempts to
build theories of accounting. After a brief examination of early attempts to develop theory,
we have outlined the attempts of the US Financial Accounting Standards Board and
International Accounting Standards Committee to develop conceptual frameworks for
financial reporting. We have then focused, in more detail, on the work of the ASB in devel-
oping its, more modestly titled, Statement of Principles.

The Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, published in December 1999, goes to
great pains to explain why the ASB has adopted its particular approach and, by so doing,
attempted to head off the enormous criticism generated by its first exposure draft on this
subject. In this, it appears to have been extremely successful.

Part of the reason for the lack of vociferous criticism is undoubtedly the fact that the
Statement of Principles leaves the ASB with a considerable amount of flexibility. Inevitably
choices will have to be made with trade-offs between different desirable characteristics and
judgements on the necessary level of reliability for recognition of elements in the financial
statements and the basis of their measurement. As we shall see in various places in the book,
there are a number of cases where the ASB has issued accounting standards which are incon-
sistent with its own Statement of Principles. We would do well to remember that the setting
of accounting standards is very much a political process which those with vested interests
will wish to influence.

We have also seen that, although the Statement of Principles is written without taking into
account the constraints imposed by the law, these constraints cannot possibly be ignored by
those charged with the task of preparing accounting standards. The question of who does
and who should set the rules by which the accounting game is played are important and
complex issues and these form the subject matter of the next two chapters.
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1.2

1.3

The ASB’s Statement of Principles sets out the concepts which underpin its development of
financial reporting standards.

Required
Discuss why the ASB has adopted this conceptual approach and whether any difficulties
may be encountered.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, November 1994 (10 marks)
The Statement of Principles identifies the elements of financial statements. The measure-

ment basis which is applied to these elements can significantly affect the reported financial
performance and financial position of a company.

Requirements

(a) Identify the two main measurement bases used in financial reporting and explain how
each should be applied in practice. (8 marks)

(b) Explain the impact that subsequent remeasurement of elements of financial statements
can have on reported financial performance and financial position. (7 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, September 2001 (15 marks)

The Statement of Principles deals with the presentation of financial statements i.e. disclosure

in primary statements and supporting notes.

Requirements
(a) Discuss the purposes and usefulness of the information on financial position and per-
formance disclosed in published financial statements. (10 marks)
(b) Provide a brief explanation of two inherent limitations of financial statements.
(5 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, December 2001 (15 marks)



Sources of authority:
the United Kingdom

There is a large and increasing body of rules with which accountants need to be familiar
when preparing or interpreting a set of financial statements. In some countries most of the
rules are laid down in the law while, in other countries, the law contains principles only with
the major rules being laid down in accounting standards.

Companies must comply with both the relevant law and applicable accounting standards,
although the sanctions that will be applied for non-compliance with each may differ.
Companies that have their shares publicly traded on a Stock Exchange must also comply with
the rules of that Stock Exchange.

In this chapter, we explore all three sources of rules — the law, accounting standards and the
Stock Exchange - within the present UK context. Here and throughout the book, we concen-
trate on ‘big GAAP’, the rules which apply to large companies and groups, rather than the
special rules which apply to small and medium-sized companies.

In 1998, the Government embarked on an extensive review of British company law. After
considering the Final Report of the Company Law Steering Group, it published a White
Paper in July 2002 which proposes major changes to rule making in the United Kingdom.
We examine the proposals to delegate the making of rules on the form and content of com-
pany financial statements and reports to a Standards Board, based on the present ASB but
with a wider remit, and to extend the role of a Reporting Review Panel, based on the pre-
sent Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP).

Increasingly, national standard setting is being superseded by regional and international
standard setting and we examine this extremely important development in the following
chapter.

Introduction

In Chapter 1 we explained that there is no general theory of accounting in existence to guide us
in the preparation of financial statements. We explored the attempts of several bodies to build
conceptual frameworks of accounting and concentrated on the work of the ASB in developing
its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting. In spite of the lack of theory, there are many
rules which govern the preparation of financial statements and in this chapter we turn to the
framework for the setting and enforcement of such rules in the United Kingdom.

Rule setters affecting the United Kingdom come in three main forms, each of which has
different powers and sanctions available to it:

1 Government at both the United Kingdom and European Union levels. These operate
through legislation.

2 Securities markets. In the United Kingdom the Stock Exchange imposes rules which
must be complied with by companies that have their shares and other securities traded on
the Exchange.
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3 Standard setting bodies in the private sector. In the United Kingdom, standard setting takes
place nationally through the work of the ASB. The European Union Regulation which
requires all European companies that have their shares publicly traded on securities mar-
kets in Member States to prepare their consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Accounting Standards by the year 2005 raises the status of those inter-
national standards as well as raising a number of questions about future relationships
between national standard setters and the IASB, which we shall discuss in some depth in
the following chapter.

We shall first examine each of the three sources of authority within the UK context before
turning to the proposals in the Government White Paper, Modernising Company Law, pub-
lished in July 2002.2

Legislation

Background

The advent of the limited liability company by registration under a general Act of Parliament
in the mid-nineteenth century made possible the separation of management from owner-
ship, which is such a dominant feature of business organisation today. With this separation
came the need for directors to render accounts (financial statements, in modern terminol-
ogy) to shareholders to show the performance and financial position of the company. It
followed that it was necessary to determine what should be included in such accounts and
how they should be prepared.

It would have been possible for the law to have left the specification of the form and con-
tent of such accounts to be determined by contract between the shareholders and directors,
or even to have left the directors to decide what information should be made available in the
particular circumstances. However, the law initially flirted with the regulation of accounting
disclosure in the period 184456 and then became permanently involved with regulating the
contents of company accounts early in the twentieth century. The Companies Act 1929
increased the information which companies had to disclose while extensive disclosure has
been required since the Companies Act 1948.°

Before the Companies Act 1981, the accounting requirements of company law allowed
companies considerable latitude. The directors were required to prepare accounts which
showed a true and fair view and which contained the minimum information specified by the
various Companies Acts. These accounts, together with the accompanying auditors’ and
directors’ reports, had to be laid before the shareholders and filed with the Registrar of
Companies within certain time limits. While the basic position is unchanged, substantial
alterations were made by the Companies Act 1981.

! Regulation PE-CONS 3626/02, European Union, June 2002. See Chapter 3, Sources of authority: the rise of inter-
national standards

2 Modernising Company Law, Cm. 5553-I and 5553-1I, HMSO, July 2002. See also www.europa.eu.int/
comm.internal_market/en/company/account/news/index.htm

3 Readers who wish to study this historical development of accounting further are referred to H.C. Edey, ‘Company
accounting in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries’, in The Evolution of Corporate Financial Reporting, T.A. Lee
and R.H. Parker (eds), Nelson, London, 1979, and J.R. Edwards, A History of Financial Accounting, Routledge,
London, 1989: Chapters 9, 10 and 11 of the latter are particularly relevant.
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The Companies Act 1981 was mainly concerned with the implementation of the EC
Fourth Directive, a directive heavily influenced by the more prescriptive approach to
accounting found in France and Germany. As a consequence, the Act was much more pre-
scriptive than previous legislation in the UK. Although it still contained the overriding
principle that accounts should give a true and fair view, it increased substantially the amount
of information to be disclosed and reduced considerably the flexibility which companies pre-
viously enjoyed. Thus, whereas directors were previously able to choose the particular
formats and valuation rules which seemed most appropriate in the circumstances, the
Companies Act 1981 specified much more tightly the formats and valuation rules to be used.

The provisions of the Companies Act 1981 are now contained in the Companies Act 1985,
which was a consolidating Act, but this in turn has been amended by the subsequent
Companies Act 1989 and numerous Statutory Instruments.

The Companies Act 1989 implemented the EC Seventh Directive on consolidated accounts
and the EC Eighth Directive on auditors, as well as dealing with many other matters.

Small and medium-sized companies have long enjoyed the opportunity of filing abbrevi-
ated accounts with the Registrar of Companies. However, as a consequence of the attempts of
successive governments to reduce the burden of regulation on small companies, new rules
were introduced in 1997 to reduce the volume of disclosure required of small companies and
groups. The Companies Act 1985 (Accounts of Small and Medium-Sized Companies and
Minor Accounting Amendments) Regulations 1997 (SI 1997/220) established a revised
Schedule 8 to the 1985 Companies Act, which now contains all the provisions of the law relat-
ing to the accounts which small companies must send to their members. This law, together
with the accounting standard Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE) now
provides a less burdensome regulatory framework for small companies and groups.*

In this book we shall concentrate on what is sometimes called ‘Big GAAP’, that is
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice for large companies and groups. While we will from
time to time draw attention to some of the exemptions available to small and, to a lesser
extent, medium-sized companies and groups, we will not deal with these systematically or in
any detail.

Concentrating now on large companies, the law requires that full accounts, including
group accounts where appropriate, are sent to all shareholders and debenture holders of the
company, although permission is given for a listed public company to send a summary
financial statement to its shareholders.> The latter provision was intended to reduce the cost
of sending full accounts to large numbers of relatively unsophisticated shareholders, particu-
larly following the large privatisation issues of the 1980s. Full accounts have to be laid before
the company in general meeting except that a private company may elect not to do so.® Such
provisions are designed to ensure that shareholders and debenture holders receive financial
information about companies, while recognising that it may not be necessary formally to
present the accounts of a private company at a general meeting.

In addition to the above, companies are required to make their accounts available to the
public by filing them with the Registrar of Companies within certain time limits, namely ten
months after the end of the accounting year for a private company and seven months after
the end of an accounting year for a public company.

4 The first FRSSE was issued in November 1997 and updated versions have been issued in December 1998,
December 1999 and December 2001. It is intended that the Standard be updated periodically to incorporate rel-
evant parts of new FRSs and Abstracts of the Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF).

> Companies Act 1985, s. 251 (as inserted by the Companies Act 1989, s. 15). This section was implemented by the
Companies (Summary Financial Statement) Regulations 1990, SI 1990/515. See Chapter 17, pp. 555-7

¢ Companies Act 1985, s. 252 (as inserted by the Companies Act 1989, s. 16).
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The current position

The Companies Act 1985, as amended by the Companies Act 1989, requires that the
accounts of a large company give the information specified in Schedule 4 using one of the
profit and loss account and balance sheet formats provided. However, compliance with this
requirement is not sufficient to ensure compliance with the law for there is an overriding
requirement that every balance sheet shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the company and that every profit and loss account shall give a true and fair view of the
profit or loss of the company for the financial year.”

Hence, having prepared the accounts containing the required disclosure, the accountant
must then step back and decide whether or not the overall impression created is true and
fair. If the accounts do not give such an impression, additional information must be pro-
vided. If the provision of additional information still does not result in a true and fair view,
then the accounts must be changed, even if this means that they do not comply with the
other statutory rules. Particulars of any departure, the reasons for it and its effect must be
disclosed in the notes to the accounts.

The statutory requirements outlined above pose a number of problems for the accoun-
tant. Familiarity with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Acts is required, as is
knowledge of the measurement or valuation rules to apply in arriving at the figures to be dis-
closed. Also the accountant must be aware of what is meant by the words ‘true and fair’. We
will look at each of these three aspects in turn.

The first problem involves detailed knowledge of the Companies Acts and the various
guides thereto and considerable practice in applying those rules in various circumstances.
We assume that readers have some knowledge of the requirements of the Companies Acts
although, where relevant, we will reproduce the statutory rules in later chapters.

The second problem involves the selection of measurement or valuation rules to apply in
arriving at the various figures which appear in the set of accounts. This requires a consider-
able knowledge of accounting, which this book will help to provide.

Until the Companies Act 1981 accountants would have looked to accounting principles,
conventions, recommendations and standards to help them with this task. Although, as we
shall see, such sources are extremely important, certain basic accounting principles have now
been incorporated into the law. Thus, the law requires that accounts should be prepared in
accordance with five accounting principles:

1 Going concern

2 Consistency

3 Prudence

4 Accruals

5 Separate determination of each asset and liability

Statute law now requires that these principles must be applied unless there are special rea-
sons for departing from them. Where such special reasons exist, a note to the accounts must
state the details of the departure, the reason for it and its effect.® We shall discuss the first
four of these principles later in this chapter and the fifth principle in Chapter 9.

The Act provides that companies may prepare their accounts using either historical cost
accounting rules or alternative accounting rules.’

7 Companies Act 1985, s. 226.

8 Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, Part II, s. A, Paras 9-15.

9 The historical cost accounting rules are contained in the Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, s. B while the alterna-
tive accounting rules are contained in Schedule 4, s. C.
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The alternative accounting rules are so framed to permit companies to use piecemeal
revaluations in their historical cost accounts or to prepare current cost accounts as their
main accounts, although in either case it is necessary to provide certain information to
enable partial reconstruction of the historical cost accounts.

Some UK accountants are strongly opposed to the inclusion of such accounting principles
and valuation rules in the law. They argue that it provides a straitjacket which may impede
accounting development and two examples will illustrate their arguments.

First, company law includes a provision that ‘only profits realised at the balance sheet date
shall be included in the profit and loss account’. For reasons which we explain in Chapter 4,
the ASB has taken the wise decision that a poorly defined concept of realisation is an inap-
propriate criterion for determining whether or not gains or losses should be recognised in
the financial statements. However, while it has been possible for the ASB to ignore this legal
constraint in drafting its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, it is not possible to
ignore it when drafting accounting standards. As a consequence, the ASB is hampered in its
attempts to reform accounting practice by a poorly thought out and somewhat dated legal
provision.

Second, the alternative accounting rules permit the preparation of current cost accounts
as a company’s main accounts. As we explain in Part 3 of the book, Current Cost Accounting
was very much in vogue in the 1970s and early 1980s, when the Companies Act 1981 was
enacted. However, it is now very much out of favour and, to the best of our knowledge, no
UK company now prepares its financial statements using current cost accounting. The statu-
tory reference to current cost accounts now looks rather dated and out of line with the
current approach of the ASB.

When accounts have been prepared, the accountant must decide whether they show a
true and fair view and, if not, in what respects they need to be altered. These words ‘true and
fair’ were first introduced together in the Companies Act 1948, following the recommenda-
tions of the Cohen Committee.!” They have never been defined by statute but, rather, their
meaning has become established by usage. A good definition has been provided by G.A. Lee:

Today, ‘the true and fair view’ has become a term of art. It is generally understood to mean a
presentation of accounts, drawn up according to accepted accounting principles, using accu-
rate figures as far as possible, and reasonable estimates otherwise; and arranging them so as
to show, within the limits of current accounting practice, as objective a picture as possible,
free from wilful bias, distortion, manipulation or concealment of material facts.™

So, in order to decide whether or not a set of accounts presents a true and fair view, it is nec-
essary for the accountant to have recourse to a constantly changing body of accounting
principles and standards.!?

Stock Exchange rules

Where companies have shares listed on the Stock Exchange or quoted on the Alternative
Investment Market, they must comply with the additional disclosure requirements laid
down by the Stock Exchange. These rules require the provision of both some more informa-
tion and some more frequent information than that required by law.

10" Report of the Committee on Company Law Amendment, Cmnd. 6659, HMSO, London, 1945.

' G.A. Lee, Modern Financial Accounting, 3rd edn, Nelson, London, 1981, p. 270.

12 For a fuller discussion of the term ‘true and fair’ readers are referred to David Flint, A True and Fair View in
Company Accounts, Gee and Co., London, 1982.
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Examples of greater disclosure are the requirements for more detailed analysis of certain
creditors, namely bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings, in the annual financial state-
ments, as well as the requirement for directors to disclose whether or not they have complied
with the provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance.'®

The best example of the requirement for more frequent information is the requirement
for quoted companies to prepare and publish an interim report, containing certain mini-
mum information. This provides investors and other users with more timely information on
which to base their decisions.

Accounting concepts

We have seen how statute law requires companies to disclose a considerable amount of
information and lays down broad principles which must usually be applied in arriving at the
figures disclosed. We have also seen how this information is extended for companies subject
to the rules of the Stock Exchange.

In order to prepare accounts complying with the law and, where appropriate, the Stock
Exchange rules, an accountant must turn to what are referred to as generally accepted
accounting principles, conventions or concepts. These were first developed during the latter
part of the nineteenth century but have been the subject of continuous development as new
situations have arisen and new ideas have emerged.

Many such principles could be listed, but a useful starting point would seem to be the
fundamental accounting concepts of SSAP 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies. SSAP 2 was
originally issued in November 1971 but, as we shall see below, has now been replaced by
ERS 18 Accounting Policies, issued in December 2000.

The fundamental accounting concepts of SSAP 2 were defined as ‘the broad basic
assumptions which underlie the periodic financial accounts of business enterprises’.!*

Four concepts were listed and these are the same as the first four principles listed in the
Companies Act 1985 as shown above. Users of the accounts were entitled to assume that the
concepts have been applied in the preparation of a set of accounts unless warning is given to
the contrary.

The four concepts were as follows:

1 Going concern: Following the application of this concept, the accounts are drawn up on
the basis that the enterprise will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus, the accountant does not normally prepare the accounts to show what the
various assets would realise on liquidation or on the assumption of a fundamental change
in the nature of the business. It is assumed that the business will continue to do in the
future the same sort of things that it has done in the past. If, of course, such continuation
is not expected, then the going concern concept must not be applied. So if, for example,
liquidation seems likely then the valuation of assets on the basis of sale values would be
appropriate. The accountant must then give warning to the users that the usual going
concern concept has not been applied.

2 Accruals: While this is an easy concept to describe and, indeed, to apply in situations that
are commonly encountered, its implementation sometimes gives rise to problems.

13 Combined Code on Corporate Governance, The London Stock Exchange Limited, London, 1998. This Code has
been developed from the earlier Cadbury and Greenbury Reports.
14 SSAP 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies, Para. 14.



Chapter 2 - Sources of authority: the United Kingdom

29

Revenues and costs are not calculated on the basis of cash received or paid. Revenues are
recognised when they are earned, usually at the date of a transaction with a third party.
Against such revenues are charged, not the expenditures of a particular period, but the
costs of earning the revenue which has been recognised.

3 Consistency: The consistency concept requires like items to be treated in the same manner
both within one set of accounts and from one period to another.

Such a concept could easily prevent progress if applied too rigidly for, if a better
accounting treatment than the existing method was discovered, it could never be applied
because it would be inconsistent with the past! Obviously, it will be necessary to depart
from this concept on occasions but then it is necessary to give warning that such depar-
ture has occurred and to show clearly what the effect has been.

4 Prudence: This concept has specified that accountants do not take credit for revenue until
it has been realised but that they do provide for all known liabilities. This asymmetrical
approach was designed to introduce a bias that tended to understate profit and under-
value assets. Although such a concept might at first sight be thought to benefit users, it
may instead damage their interests. Thus a shareholder may sell his or her shares at a low
price because the financial statements show low profits and low asset values. As we have
seen in Chapter 1, the ASB is attempting to refine the definition of the prudence concept
along the following lines:!®

Prudence is the inclusion of a degree of caution in the exercise of the judgements needed in
making the estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that gains and assets
are not overstated and losses and liabilities are not understated. In particular, under such
conditions it requires more confirmatory evidence about the existence of, and a greater reli-
ability of measurement for, assets and gains than is required for liabilities and losses.

FRS 18 Accounting Policies was issued in December 2000 to update SSAP 2 to bring it into
line with the thinking contained in the Statement of Principles. The key provision of the stan-
dard is that:

An entity should adopt accounting policies that enable its financial statements to give a true
and fair view. Those accounting policies should be consistent within the requirements of
accounting standards, Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) Abstracts and companies legislation.'®

Under the terms of FRS 18, users may still assume that the going concern and accruals con-
cepts have been applied, unless they are given clear warning to the contrary, but the roles of
consistency and prudence have changed.

These last two concepts have disappeared. Instead, in line with the thinking of the
Statement of Principles, the appropriateness of accounting policies should be judged against
the following objectives:

® Relevance

e Reliability

e Comparability

e Understandability

15 Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, ASB, London, December 1999, Para. 3.19.
16 FRS 18 Accounting Policies, Para. 14.
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When judging the appropriateness of accounting policies, the entity needs to consider two
constraints:

® The need to balance the above objectives.
® The need to balance the cost of providing information with the likely benefit to users of
the financial statements.

The ASB did not find the distinction drawn by SSAP 2 between accounting bases and
accounting policies to be of any value and does not use the former term. The new term now
in use is Estimation techniques, which is defined as:

the methods used by an entity to arrive at estimated monetary amounts, corresponding to
the measurement basis selected for assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes to share-
holders’ funds.”

Estimation techniques thus include methods of depreciation and the bases for estimating the
provision for doubtful debts. The standard includes an Appendix devoted to the distinction
between changes in accounting policies and changes in estimation techniques which is
important because, only changes in accounting policies give rise to a prior period adjustment
under the provisions of FRS 3 Reporting Financial Performance.

Even where an accountant complies with FRS 18, he or she still has considerable flexibility
in the way in which assets are valued and profit determined. There are, for example, many
methods of depreciating fixed assets or of valuing stocks and work-in-progress; there are
many ways of accounting for deferred taxation and for translating the accounts of overseas
subsidiaries. From the numerous accounting methods available, an accountant must choose
the appropriate policy to apply in the circumstances of the particular company.

As we have seen in Chapter 1, there are many different users of financial statements and
their needs for information may conflict: in addition, as we have seen in this chapter, we
have no precise idea of what is meant by the words ‘true and fair’. Add to this the fact that
the valuation of any asset or liability by its very nature, even under the historical cost system,
involves taking a view of the future, and it is not surprising that different accountants will
arrive at different views of the same business reality and hence report different figures.

Recommendations and freedom of choice

In order to help their members to choose the appropriate accounting policies, the various pro-
fessional bodies have issued recommendations on accounting principles. For example, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) issued 29 such recommen-
dations between 1942 and 1969, and these provided guidance on all manner of accounting
matters. These recommendations were persuasive rather than mandatory and often permitted
a choice from various methods of accounting for a particular set of transactions.

Most accountants appreciated the freedom which these recommendations provided and
perhaps welcomed, as a bonus, the fact that the existence of flexibility made it difficult for
anyone to prove that mistakes had been made. However, many thoughtful accountants
took a more principled position and argued that the complexities of business were such that
it was not desirable, nor even possible, to specify in advance a set of accounting rules to be
applied rigidly in all circumstances. They argued that there would always be occasions when
any preordained rules would be inappropriate and that the benefits resulting from the

17 FRS 18, Para. 4.
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existence of flexibility, in terms of meaningful reporting on such occasions, more than out-
weighed the disadvantage that equally competent accountants might produce different
results in the same circumstances.

A number of incidents in the late 1960s brought the existence of such flexibility to the
attention of the general public and in 1968 Sir Frank Kearton, Chairman of Courtaulds and
the Industrial Reorganisation Corporation, wrote to the President of the ICAEW to com-
plain about ‘the plethora of generally accepted accounting principles’. The problem was
brought to a head in 1968 in connection with the GEC/AEI and Pergamon/Leasco affairs.!

In 1969 the late Professor Edward Stamp wrote a letter to The Times in which he was very
critical of some aspects of the accountancy profession, in particular its lack of independence
and its lack of a theoretical foundation for the preparation of accounts. His letter provoked
an angry reaction from the accountancy profession in the person of Ronald Leach, President
of the ICAEW. Sulffice it to say that the criticism and ensuing debate led to the issue of a
‘Statement of intent on accounting standards in the 1970s’ by the ICAEW in 1969 and to the
subsequent formation of the Accounting Standards Steering Committee.

Standardisation

From 1970 to 1990

The ‘Statement of intent on accounting standards in the 1970s’ issued by the Council of the
ICAEW in 1969 set out a plan to advance accounting standards along the following lines:

(a) narrowing the areas of differences and variety in accounting practice;

(b) disclosure of accounting bases;

(c) disclosure of departures from established definitive accounting standards;

(d) wider exposure for major new proposals on accounting standards;

(e) acontinuing programme for encouraging improved standards in legal and regulatory matters.

To this end, an Accounting Standards Steering Committee was set up by the ICAEW, the
ICAS and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. The Committee was later joined
by representatives of the Association of Certified Accountants (now the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants — ACCA) and the Institute of Cost and Management
Accountants (now the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants — CIMA) in 1971
and by representatives of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA) in 1976. From 1 February 1976 its name was changed to the Accounting Standards
Committee (ASC) and it was reconstituted as a joint committee of the six member bodies
acting through the Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies (CCAB).

Until 1982, the ASC consisted of more than 20 members, all of whom were qualified
accountants. Membership of the committee was part-time and unpaid. The ASC had no
power to issue standards in its own right but, once a standard had been set by the committee
and approved and issued by the councils of the six CCAB members, individual members of
the various professional accountancy bodies were required to comply with the standard.
Thus, we had a body of professional accountants imposing rules above those required by the
law of the land and attempting to enforce them through the constituent member bodies.
Such a process was criticised on two counts.

18 These are dealt with in E. Stamp and C. Marley, Accounting Principles and the City Code: the Case for Reform,
Butterworths, London, 1970.
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First, the people who can be expected to benefit from standards are the users of accounts.
If such is the case, then it may be argued that these users should have a larger say in the for-
mulation of standards. Indeed, accounting standards may have considerable impact on
economic behaviour which some would argue should, in a democratic state, be taken into
consideration by duly elected Members of Parliament.!” To give an example, FRS 17
Retirement Benefits, issued in November 2000, proposed that any deficit in a company pen-
sion scheme should be recognised as an expense in the company’s profit and loss account.
Even before this standard was fully implemented, it contributed to the decisions of many
large companies to close their defined benefit pension schemes to new members and this will
have severe consequences for the welfare of large sections of the population. We will return
to this topic in Chapter 10.

Second, for standards to be effective, it is essential that they are enforced. However, the
law places the onus for preparing accounts clearly on the shoulders of directors, and profes-
sional accountancy bodies have no authority over such directors unless the directors happen
to be professional accountants.?’ Even where professional accountants are involved, the ulti-
mate penalty for non-compliance was disciplinary action against those members, and the
professional bodies appear to have been loath to take such action.

The ASC was aware of these and other criticisms and a number of changes were made as a
result of two papers: Setting accounting standards: a consultative document, known colloqui-
ally as the Watts Report after the then chairman of the ASC, Mr Tom Watts, published in
1978, and Review of the standard setting process, known as the McKinnon Report after its
chairman, published in 1983.

As a consequence of these reports, membership of the ASC was opened up to include
non-accountants representing user groups, and some new types of pronouncement were
introduced. However, the Watts Report’s recommendation that a panel be established to
review non-compliance with accounting standards by listed companies was not acted upon
at that time.

The 1983 Review introduced the publication of two new types of statement, the Statement
of Intent (SOI) and the Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (SORP). While the
SO], a short public statement explaining how the ASC proposed to deal with a particular
accounting matter, was used very rarely, the SORP was a completely different type of statement
issued on topics considered not to be of sufficient importance to warrant the issue of an
accounting standard. These non-mandatory SORPs hark back to the earlier recommendations
of the professional accountancy bodies. It was intended that such statements would be issued
for matters which are of widespread application but not of fundamental importance, or for
matters which are of limited application, in specific industries or particular areas of the public
sector. In the case of statements of limited application, SORPs were prepared by the specific
industry or areas of the public sector and then ‘franked’, that is approved, by the ASC.?!

In spite of the changes which were made, the ASC came under increasing criticism in the
1980s. Its lack of powers of enforcement became blatantly obvious in the context of SSAP 16
Current Cost Accounting, when at one time only some 25 per cent of the companies to which
it applied were actually complying with its provisions. In addition, the ASC faced enormous

19 For an account of the effect of standard setting on economic behaviour see S.A. Zeff, “The rise of “economic con-
sequences”’, Journal of Accountancy, December 1978.

20 The so-called accounting scandals that emerged in the USA in 2001 and 2002 have provided an impetus for gov-
ernments, not just in the USA, to produce tougher legislation to punish directors who connive in the production
of misleading financial statements.

2l An example of the first type of SORP is Accounting for Charities, issued in May 1988. Some examples of franked
SORPs are those issued by the Oil Industry Accounting Committee and the Committee of Vice-Chancellors and
Principals of the Universities of the United Kingdom.
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difficulties in developing standard practice for controversial areas such as accounting for
business combinations and intangible assets.

A decline in the credibility of the ASC led to the establishment of the Dearing Committee,
named after its chairman, now Lord Dearing, which produced its report, The Making of
Accounting Standards (the Dearing Report), in September 1988. This, in turn, has led to
fundamental changes in the process of setting and enforcing accounting standards in the
United Kingdom.

The current regime — structure

The Dearing Report took the view that standards should no longer be set by an inadequately
financed ASC made up of part-time unpaid members, with only a small technical staff, and with
no powers of ensuring compliance with its standards. It therefore recommended major changes.

In the view of the Dearing Report, effective standard setting required considerably more
resources than had been available in the past. Given that a large constituency of users benefit
from the existence of accounting standards, it was thought to be unreasonable for the
process of standard setting to be financed wholly by the accountancy profession. Dearing
therefore recommended a large increase in the finance available and a sharing out of the cost
of standard setting.??

As a consequence of the Dearing Report, a Financial Reporting Council, drawn from a
wide constituency of interests, was set up to guide the standard setting process and to ensure
that it is properly financed. Standards are now set by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB),
which has the power to issue standards in its own right. In addition, a Financial Reporting
Review Panel (FRRP)was established to examine contentious departures from accounting
standards by large companies.

An Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) has also been set up as a committee of the ASB to
provide timely and authoritative interpretations on the application of standards. In addition,
there are three more specialised committees which support the work of the ASB. These are
the Financial Sector and Other Special Industries Committee, the Public Sector and Not-for-
Profit Committee and the Committee on Accounting for Smaller Entities (CASE). As a
consequence, the present structure is as shown in Figure 2.1 on p. 34.

The ASB is a much smaller body than its predecessor. It consists of not more than nine
members with a full-time Chairman and Technical Director, supported by a much larger
technical and administrative staff to permit a higher level of research. As reccommended by
the Dearing Report, it has the power to issue standards in its own right and, for this, a two-
thirds majority is required.

The introduction of the FRRP was more revolutionary, although the establishment of
such a body had been proposed in the Watts Report in 1978. It is a panel of some twenty
members chaired by a QC. The function of the Review Panel is to examine the accounts of
large companies to ensure that they give a true and fair view and comply with the
Companies Act 1985 and applicable accounting standards.

Although the government chose not to give statutory backing to accounting standards, it
introduced provisions which facilitate the operations of the Review Panel. The first of these is a
requirement for directors of all large (but not small or medium-sized) companies to state in
the notes to the accounts whether or not those accounts have been prepared in accordance

22 The operating cost of the present regime, which amounted to some £2769 000 in the year to 31 March 2002,
comes from three main sources: the accountancy profession, government and city institutions, which include
the Financial Services Authority. A substantial sum is also raised by the sale of ASB publications and from
interest receivable.
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with applicable accounting standards, drawing attention to material departures and explaining
the reasons for them.?> The second is the introduction of procedures for the revision of
accounts which are considered to be defective. These include a procedure whereby accounts
can be revised voluntarily by the directors and a procedure whereby the Secretary of State for
Trade and Industry or other authorised persons are able to apply to the court for an order
requiring the revision of a company’s accounts.* The FRRP is an ‘authorised person’ under
these provisions and concentrates on the accounts of public and large private companies.

The current regime — progress

One of the many problems which confronted the ASB, and indeed the ASC before it, was the
lack of a conceptual framework for accounting. As we have discussed in Chapter 1, the ASB
immediately set to work to build such a framework and eventually published an exposure
draft of its Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting in November 1995. Following a
hostile reaction to that draft, it was withdrawn and a revised exposure draft was issued in
March 1999. The Statement of Principles was published shortly afterwards in December 1999.

While some people might argue that no standards should have been set until the
Statement of Principles had been finalised, it would have been quite impossible for the ASB to
adopt such an approach. Indeed, it is becoming more widely recognised that the search for
one conceptual framework is a search for the Holy Grail. Given the multiple users of
accounts, there are probably many different conceptual frameworks, with a consequent
implication for the adoption of multicolumn reporting.? If such is the case then we should
not be under any illusion that the Statement of Principles will solve all the problems of
accounting although, of course, it may enable us to remove some of the many inconsisten-
cies which exist at present.

23 Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, Part I1I, Para. 36A.
24 These provisions are contained in the Companies Act 1985, s. 245.
25 See Chapter 21.
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While work proceeded on the development of the Statement of Principles, the ASB contin-
ued its work on standard setting. In its first 13 years of operation, it has produced an
enormous volume of regulation in the form of Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs), which
we have listed in Table 2.1.2

Table 2.1 Financial Reporting Standards issued by ASB, 1990-2002

1 Cash Flow Statements 1991, revised 1996
2 Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings 1992
3 Reporting Financial Performance 1992, amended 1993
4 Capital Instruments 1993
5 Reporting the Substance of Transactions 1994, amended 1994
6 Acquisitions and Mergers 1994
7 Fair Values in Acquisition Accounting 1994
8 Related Party Disclosures 1995
9 Associates and Joint Ventures 1997
10 Goodwill and Intangible Assets 1997
11 Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill 1998
12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 1998
13 Derivatives and other Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1998
14 Earnings per Share 1998
15 Tangible Fixed Assets 1999
16 Current Tax 1999
17 Retirement Benefits 2000
18 Accounting Policies 2000
19 Deferred Tax 2000

These standards have changed the face of financial reporting considerably. FRS 3
Reporting Financial Performance, in particular, changed the presentation of the profit and
loss account and introduced the new primary statement, the Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses. As we shall see in Chapter 11, the pace of change is now so fast that this
standard is itself already under review.?” Other standards, such as FRS 4, FRS 5 and FRS 12
have addressed areas in which major abuses had occurred in the past. Yet other standards
have tackled fundamental and difficult areas of accounting such as what to do with the large
amounts paid for goodwill and intangible assets in an age when such assets may be far more
important than tangible assets. One of the more difficult and controversial topics still on the
agenda of the ASB is the measurement of derivatives and other financial instruments. We
will, of course, deal with all of these topics later in this book.

26 On its formation, the ASB adopted a large number of Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs) pub-
lished by its predecessor and many of these are still in force. Examples are SSAP 9 Stocks and Long-term Contracts
and SSAP 20 Foreign Currency Translation although both of these are under review in 2002/2003 as part of the
convergence project to bring national and international standards into line with one another.

7 See Discussion Paper, Reporting Financial Performance: Proposals for Change, ASB, London, June 1999, and
FRED 22 Revision of FRS 3 ‘Reporting Financial Performance’, ASB, December 2000.
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While the ASB has been working on the above and many other issues, the UITF has been
providing timely guidance on contemporary accounting problems. Its guidance is provided
in the form of Abstracts and, by the end of 2002, it had issued 35 such Abstracts.?

The FRRP does not systematically examine the accounts of all the companies within its
ambit. Rather it acts only when something which appears to be wrong is drawn to its atten-
tion. Its references come from three broad sources: qualified audit reports or recorded
non-compliance, cases referred by individuals or corporate bodies, and press comment.

Some of these references are not pursued beyond an initial examination but most have
been pursued with the directors concerned. The Review Panel has not as yet considered it
necessary to apply for a court order for rectification of accounts, although a fund of £2m is
available to finance such action. In cases where companies have been found to be at fault, the
Panel has been able to reach voluntary agreement with the directors concerned, usually
requiring them to rectify errors in the next set of accounts or interim statement.

During 2001, the accounts of 53 companies were brought to the attention of the Panel.?
This is an increase over the previous year but represents a significant decrease compared
with references in earlier years of the Panel’s existence. During the year, 27 cases were con-
cluded and seven press notices were issued.

There appears to be widespread approval of the work and operations of the FRRP and it is
now seen as a possible role model by other countries.

Advantages and disadvantages of standardisation

Before we consider the proposals of the Government White Paper, Modernising Company
Law, it is perhaps helpful if we review both the advantages and the disadvantages of stand-
ardising accounting practice, for the process of standardisation is not without its critics.

Accounting may be described as the language of business. As with any communication, it
is important that the preparers of a document and the users adopt the same language.
Standards may be regarded as the generally accepted language.

As recent accounting scandals have made very clear, when directors prepare accounts for
their companies, they are unlikely to be indifferent to the position shown by those accounts.
If there are many generally accepted accounting bases in existence, the choice of a particular
policy may not be free from bias. The establishment of accounting standards, with the conse-
quent need to justify departures from them, limits the possibility of exercising such bias and
strengthens the hands of the auditor.

It is also clear that the process of setting standards, that is the issue of discussion papers,
exposure drafts and standards, provokes considerable thought and discussion among mem-
bers of the accounting profession. Although this has done much to make accounting an
exciting area of study, most thoughtful accountants would probably now agree that one can
have too much of a good thing!

28 Some examples of the topics covered are:
UITF Abstract 6 ‘Accounting for post-retirement benefits other than pensions’, November 1992,
UITF Abstract 9 ‘Accounting for operations in hyper-inflationary economies’, June 1993,
UITF Abstract 29 ‘Website development costs’, February 2001 and
UITF Abstract 33 ‘Obligations in capital instruments’, February 2002.
29 2001 Annual Review, Financial Reporting Council: Report by Chairman of the Financial Reporting Review Panel,
p. 56, Para. 4.
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One of the most pertinent criticisms of the process of standardisation was made by
Professor W.T. Baxter writing about recommendations on accounting principles in 1953,
long before the Accounting Standards Steering Committee was formed. He argued that
authoritative backing for one particular accounting treatment may have adverse effects.
Although it may help practical men [and women] in their day-to-day work, in the longer
run it may hinder experimentation and progress. An accountant or auditor may become
loath to depart from a particular recommendation or standard and the educational process
may become one of learning rules rather than searching for theories or truth. Indeed he
argued that, if truth subsequently shows a recommendation or standard to have been wrong,
then it may be hard for authoritative bodies to admit that they were wrong.

Both the ASC and the ASB have been well aware of these criticisms. Thus the Foreword to
accounting standards, issued by the ASB in June 1993, makes it quite clear that the require-
ment to give a true and fair view may in exceptional circumstances require a departure from
accounting standards and permits such a departure, although particulars of the departure,
the reasons for it and its financial effects must then be disclosed in the financial statements
(Paras 18 and 19). It also recognises that the standards are not absolute but will require
amendment as the business environment and accounting thought evolves (Para. 33). As we
shall see later in the book, there have been many cases where standards have been revised
and these have often involved substantial changes in required standard accounting prac-
tice.! The standard setters certainly do not hesitate to recognise that previous standards may
have been, or have become, deficient.

The Government’s proposals

British company law has developed since the mid-nineteenth century and has been added to
in a piecemeal fashion, by both statute and case law, for well over a century. It is now bulky
and complex and widely recognised to be in need of reform. To this end, the Government
launched a Company Law Review in 1998 and, after much consultation, the Company Law
Review Steering Group issued its final report, ‘Modern Company Law For a Competitive
Economy’, in June 2001.3? The Government considered this final report and, in July 2002, it
issued a White Paper, Modernising Company Law setting out its proposals.>

The White Paper makes many proposals concerned with simplifying the formation and
operation of companies, particularly small companies, in order to encourage enterprise.
Here, we will concentrate on its proposals for reporting by limited companies and for the
setting of rules for reporting by companies in future.

30 W.T. Baxter, ‘Recommendations on accounting theory’, in Studies in Accounting Theory, 2nd edn, W.T.
Baxter and S. Davidson (eds), Sweet & Maxwell, London, 1962, pp. 414-27. See also D.R. Myddelton,
Accountants Without Standards? — Compulsion or Evolution in Company Accounting, IEA Hobart Paper 128,
IEA, London, 1995.

31 One example of such a change is the replacement of SSAP 22 Accounting for Goodwill by FRS 10 Goodwill and
Intangible Assets. As we shall see in Chapter 13, the latter takes a fundamentally different approach to that of
SSAP 22.

32 Company Law Review Steering Group, ‘Modern Company Law For a Competitive Economy’, Final Report,
Vols I and II, June 2001. This report, together with earlier publications of the Steering Group are available on
www.dti.gov.uk/cld/reviews/condocs.htm.

3 Modernising Company Law, Cm. 55531 and 5553-1I, HMSO, July 2002. Volume II contains some Draft Clauses
of a proposed Companies Bill. Both volumes are available on www.dti.gov.uk/companiesbill.
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The White Paper envisages that the present requirement for companies to prepare a direc-
tors’ report will be abolished and that companies will be required to publish the following
documents each year:

e Financial Statements. The exact nature of these is not specified but they are expected to
include a balance sheet, a single performance statement and a cash flow statement as well
as consolidated financial statements where appropriate.

e Supplementary Statement. This would replace the directors’ report for most companies.

e For the most economically significant companies only, an Operating and Financial
Review. The White Paper envisages that this requirement will apply to about a thousand
companies or groups and specifies possible criteria for identifying these.**

e For quoted companies only, a Directors’ Remuneration Report.

® An optional Summary Statement. It is envisaged that all companies, not just listed com-
panies as at present, will be able to publish a Summary Statement, although shareholders
will be given the right to receive the full reports if they so wish.

It is proposed that small and medium-sized companies should no longer be able to file
abbreviated financial statements with Companies House and that the deadlines for filing
annual reporting documents with the Registrar of Companies will be reduced for both
public and private companies to six and seven months respectively after the year end. It is
also proposed that quoted companies will have to publish their annual reporting documents
on the internet within four months of their year ends.

Much detail still needs to be filled in as the Companies Bill develops but the way in which
the Government intends to implement the detailed rules makes the proposals of the White
Paper quite revolutionary. The Government recognises that it is difficult for the law to
respond quickly to a rapidly changing business world or to changes in accounting thought. It
is clearly concerned at the rather uncomfortable current mix of regulation by company law
and accounting standards, with its resulting inconsistencies and overlaps. It therefore follows
the recommendations of the Steering Group by proposing that, while a future Companies
Act will specify the documents required of each type of company, it will delegate the setting
of rules on the form and content of company financial statements to a Standards Board, the
precise name of which would have to be decided but which would be based upon the present
ASB. It envisages that this new Standards Board will have a wider remit than the present ASB
and that, in particular, it will have responsibility for specifying the detailed content of both
the Operating and Financial Review and the Summary Statement and possibly some respon-
sibility for keeping the Combined Code under review. This would give much greater power
and responsibility to the Standards Board.

The White Paper envisages that the law and standards would be enforced as at present by
a Reporting Review Panel, for larger companies, and the Secretary of State, for smaller com-
panies. Although the Reporting Review Panel would be based on the present FRRP, the
Government suggests a change of name to reflect a widening responsibility for all the annual
reporting documents of a company, not just its financial statements.

The proposed approach would seem likely to be much more responsive to changes in the
world of business and accounting thought. However it gives considerable power to private-
sector bodies, the members of which have not been elected and who are therefore not
democratically accountable. As we shall see in the next chapter, the authority for rule making,
for quoted companies at least, is moving away from the national standards setters to the IASB.
In this context, the proposed approach of the government White Paper appears to be rather
insular. It is to international and regional standardisation that we turn in the next chapter.

34 Interested readers are referred to Modernising Company Law, Volume I, Part 4, paras 4.35 to 4.39.
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Summary

In this chapter, we have examined the regulatory framework of accounting in the UK. Thus
we have examined company law, the Stock Exchange rules and accounting standards. We
have seen how accounting standards grew out of the earlier reccommendations of profes-
sional accountancy bodies and have examined how the Accounting Standards Committee
operated from 1970 to 1990. We have explained why the ASC was replaced by the
Accounting Standards Board in 1990 and examined how the ASB operates, supported by a
number of sub-committees, including the Urgent Issues Task Force, and the Financial
Reporting Review Panel. We have also examined the fundamental accounting concepts laid
down in SSAP 2 and later in company law and shown how these have been modified by the
provisions of FRS 18.

The Government launched a major company law review in 1998 and published a White
Paper in July 2002. We have examined the main relevant proposals of this White Paper, in
particular the proposed change to the way in which accounting rules are set. The White
Paper envisages that the next Companies Act will delegate the power to set the rules on the
form and content of company financial statements and other reports to a new Standards
Board, based on the present ASB but with a wider remit. It also proposes the establishment
of a Reporting Review Panel based on the present FRRP but again with a wider remit. It
remains to be seen whether these proposals will be enacted and, if so, how they will interact
with developments in the international arena to which we turn in the next chapter.
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Your managing director has approached you saying that he is ‘confused at all the different
accounting bodies that have replaced the old Accounting Standards Committee’.

You are required to draft a memorandum to your managing director explaining the pur-
pose, a description of the type of work and, where applicable, examples of the work to date
of the following:

(a) Financial Reporting Council (3 marks)
(b) Accounting Standards Board (4 marks)
(c) Financial Reporting Review Panel (5 marks)
(d) Urgent Issues Task Force (3 marks)
CIMA, Advanced Financial Accounting, May 1993 (15 marks)

Before the introduction of accounting standards, accounting practices varied from enter-
prise to enterprise — there was inconsistency and occasionally practices were inappropriate.
Intercompany and inter-period comparisons were difficult as enterprises changed account-
ing policies and resorted to, for example, ‘window-dressing’ and ‘reserve accounting’.

Discuss the extent to which the publication of more than 20 accounting standards has over-
come these problems. Illustrate your discussion by reference to specific accounting standards.

ICAEW, Financial Accounting 2, July 1993 (12 marks)

‘At their simplest, accounts comprise a summary of cash receipts and payments. Concepts
such as accruals and substance over form lead to increased complexity and may make it dif-
ficult for a user to interpret the results and financial position of a company. The key focus of
future accounting standards and legislation should be simplification, not increased disclo-
sure and more complex rules.’

Using examples, illustrate the complexities which may make it difficult for the various
users to understand published accounts. Comment on any recent action taken by the
Accounting Standards Board or the Government which has affected the complexity of
accounts and discuss, reaching a conclusion, whether simplification of company accounts
should be a key objective for the Accounting Standards Board and the Department of
Trade and Industry.

ICAEW, Auditing and Financial Reporting, final exam, July 1996 (12 marks)

The following is an extract from a press note published by the Financial Reporting Review
Panel (FRRP):

FINDINGS OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING REVIEW PANEL IN RESPECT OF
THE ACCOUNTS OF S PLC FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001

The Financial Reporting Review Panel has had under consideration the Report and
Accounts of S plc for the year ended 31 March 2001 and has discussed them with the
company’s directors.

The matters raised by the Panel related to aspects of the company’s implementation
of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 15 — Tangible Fixed Assets, regarded as standard
in respect of financial statements relating to accounting periods ending on or after
23 March 2000.
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The company’s stated accounting policy in respect of properties was not to provide any
depreciation on any given property until approximately ten years before the end of its
useful life, from which point the depreciable amount was written off over the remain-
der of the useful life. In respect of plant and equipment, it was the company’s policy
not to commence depreciation until the accounting year following that in which the
assets were acquired. In the Panel’s view, neither of these policies complied with the
requirements of FRS 15.

As reported in their Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2002, the directors
have accepted the Panel’s findings. The directors have amended the 2001 comparative
figures by way of prior year adjustment.

Required:

(a) Explain the role of the Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP). (8 marks)

(b) Explain why the FRRP disagreed with S plc’s depreciation policies and explain why it
made this disagreement public. (6 marks)

(c) Explain whether the FRRP’s role could be left to the external auditor. (6 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, May 2002 (20 marks)
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Sources of authority: the rise of
international standards

Given the globalisation of capital markets and the intention of the European Union (EU) to
create an integrated capital market, international developments in accounting have assumed
a much greater importance than they did in the past. In this chapter, we examine the contri-
bution of the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) and its successor from
April 2001, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as that of the EU.

We look at the way in which international standards have been set as well as some of the
difficulties the IASC faced in both introducing and enforcing them. We outline the agreement
between the IASC and the International Organisation of Securities Commissions (I0SCO)
under which the IASC worked extremely hard to prepare a set of core standards but which
I0SCO failed to endorse wholly for cross-border listing purposes.

We then examine the EU Accounting Directives, that is the Fourth Directive on company
accounts and the Seventh Directive on consolidated accounts, and explain why they have
achieved much less harmonisation than had initially been hoped. We then go on to explain
the change in policy of the EU under which it has rejected the use of new Directives and
supported International Accounting Standards, which will, in future, be issued as
International Financial Reporting Standards.

We explain the EU Regulation of June 2002, which requires all publicly traded companies
incorporated in the EU to prepare their consolidated financial statements using International
Accounting Standards/International Financial Reporting Standards by the year 2005. This
gives an enormous boost to those standards but the timescale is extremely tight and, as we
explain, there are many problems to be faced.

International standardisation

Introduction

It seems reasonable to suggest that, if standards have merit within the boundaries of one
country, there would be merit if they were applied more generally.

In a period in which investors based in one country choose between investments in many
countries, a lack of comparability between financial statements drawn up in different coun-
tries may well lead to incorrect decision taking and thereby to an inefficient allocation of
scarce resources. As individual countries have pursued a policy of standardisation, so too a
number of bodies have become concerned with international standardisation. Both the
United Nations (UN) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD) have been concerned with the regulation of accounting and, as might be expected,
these bodies have been primarily concerned with the regulation of disclosure by multina-
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tional companies. In the more recent past, we have seen the formation and subsequent dis-
bandment of the ‘G4+1” which was an international group of standard setters that consisted
of the standard setters from Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the UK and the USA, together
with representatives of the IASC. This group attempted to formulate a common, Anglo-
Saxon approach to financial reporting issues and published Position Papers intended to
influence the work of the standard setters in their respective countries.! The group dis-
banded in January 2001 in anticipation of the formation of the new IASB in April 2001.

For the remainder of this chapter, we shall concern ourselves with the two most impor-
tant attempts at international standardisation relevant in the UK. We shall look first at the
approach of the IASC and its successor, the IASB, and then at the approach of the EU. In the
final section, we will examine the enormous boost given to International Accounting
Standards by the EU Regulation, issued in 2002, which requires all publicly traded com-
panies in Member States to prepare their consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Accounting Standards by the year 2005. We also examine some of the
potential problems to which this Regulation gives rise.

The International Accounting Standards Committee

Although the possibility of international standards had been debated during the first half of the

twentieth century, the most successful programme began with the formation of the IASC in

1973. The founder members were drawn from professional accountancy bodies in the follow-

ing countries: Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, the UK,

the Republic of Ireland and the USA. By the time it was replaced by the IASB in 2001, the

membership of the IASC consisted of 153 professional accountancy bodies from 112 countries.
The objectives of the IASC as stated in the original 1973 agreement were:?

to formulate and publish in the public interest basic standards to be observed in the presenta-
tion of audited accounts and financial statements and to promote their worldwide acceptance
and observance.

Under a revised agreement in November 1982, the reference to basic standards was removed
and the revised objectives became:?

(@) to formulate and publish in the public interest accounting standards to be observed in the
presentation of financial statements and to promote their worldwide acceptance and
observance, and

(b) to work generally for the improvement and harmonisation of regulations, accounting stan-
dards and procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements.

In order to achieve these objectives, members joining the IASC entered into the following
undertaking:

to support the work of IASC by publishing in their respective countries every International
Accounting Standard approved for issue by the Board of IASC and by using their best endeavours:

See, for example, the G4+1 Position Papers, ‘Recommendations for achieving convergence on the methods of
accounting for business combinations’, subsequently published by the ASB as a Discussion Paper in December
1998, ‘Reporting Financial Performance: proposals for change’, subsequently published by the ASB as a
Discussion Paper in June 1999, and ‘Share-based payment’, subsequently published by the ASB as a Discussion
Paper in July 2000

2 JTASC Constitution, London, 1973.

3 See Preface to Statements of International Accounting Standards, IASC, London, January 1983, para. 2.
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() to ensure that published financial statements comply with International Accounting
Standards in all material respects and disclose the fact of such compliance;

(i) to persuade governments and standard-setting bodies that published financial statements
should comply with International Accounting Standards in all material respects;

(iii) to persuade authorities controlling securities markets and the industrial and business com-
munity that published financial statements should comply with International Accounting
Standards in all material respects and disclose the fact of such compliance;

(iv) to ensure that the auditors satisfy themselves that the financial statements comply with
International Accounting Standards in all material respects;

(v) to foster acceptance and observance of International Accounting Standards internationally.*

The undertaking emphasises the fact that the IASC had no direct power to implement or
enforce its standards. Rather it had to rely on its members to persuade the relevant institu-
tions in their particular countries to adopt and enforce the standards. This was no easy task
given the very different ways in which countries regulate accounting; in some countries it
involves persuading the relevant standard-setting bodies to comply while, in other countries,
it involves the much more difficult task of persuading the government that changes to the
law are necessary.

Even before the IASC had been established, Irving Fantl identified three major barriers to
international standardisation:’

(a) differences in background and traditions of countries;
(b) differences in the needs of various economic environments;
(c) the challenge to the sovereignty of states in making and enforcing standards.

These were enormous problems for the IASC, although it took considerable steps to try to
overcome the barriers. Thus, it worked closely with the major national standard-setting bodies
to ensure that it was involved before a country’s position became entrenched. In addition, like
the ASB, it consulted widely and formed a consultative committee drawn from a number of
international bodies including the International Association of Financial Executives Institutes,
the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions and the World Bank.

What then did the IASC achieve in the 28 years of its existence?

By 1990 the IASC had issued 31 International Accounting Standards and these provided a
set of inexpensive ready-made standards that could be adopted by those countries which had
not developed their own mechanism for standard setting. While many of the International
Accounting Standards covered topics on which a UK standard had already been set, this was
not always the case. For example, IAS 14 Reporting Financial Information by Segments (1981)
was published many years before the issue of SSAP 25 Segmental Reporting (1990); and
IAS 18 Revenue Recognition (1982) dealt with a subject on which neither the ASC nor the
ASB has yet issued a standard.®

As might have been expected, the activities of the IASC attracted considerable criticism
and, during the 1980s, it was accused of Anglo-Saxon domination and of issuing standards
which were too flexible. It took action on both counts.

The Committee appointed a number of non-Anglo-Saxon Chairmen, including Georges
Barthes from France (1987-9), Eiichi Shiratori from Japan (1993-5) and Stig Enevoldsen
from Denmark (1998-2000).

By the close of the 1980s, the IASC recognised that it had reached a new phase in its work
and its emphasis changed from the production of new standards to the tightening of its

4 Ibid., para. 4.
> LL. Fantl, ‘The case against international uniformity’, Management Accounting, May 1971.
¢ The ASB subsequently issued a Discussion Paper Revenue Recognition in July 2001.
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existing standards. Even now, however, many international standards specify not just one
benchmark treatment but also an, often very different, allowed alternative treatment.

The work of the ITASC assumed a much higher profile from 1995, when it entered into an
agreement with the IOSCO to develop a set of ‘core standards for cross-border capital raising
and listing purposes’.” The intention was that once International Accounting Standards had
been endorsed by IOSCO and accepted by the national securities regulators, this would
permit quoted companies to produce their financial statements using International
Accounting Standards rather than having to prepare a set of financial statements drawn up
in accordance with the GAAP of the country in which the stock exchange is situated or to
provide a reconciliation with the local rules of that country.

After a period of frenetic effort, the IASC concluded the development of this set of core
standards with its approval of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in
December 1998. In spite of this effort by the IASC, it took some considerable time for IOSCO
to endorse these core standards. The main reason for the delay was opposition from the pow-
erful US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for, if the IASC set of core standards
were to be accepted, this would mean that foreign companies quoted in the USA would be
able to prepare their financial statements in accordance with international standards rather
than in accordance with what the SEC sees as being the much more rigorous and voluminous
rules of the SEC and the (American) Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). Such an
approach would be unlikely to find favour with US corporations still subject to US GAAP and
might have serious implications for the subsequent development of that US GAAP itself. It is
pertinent to suggest that the US perceptions have probably been changed somewhat by the
Enron and other crises of 2001 and 2002, which have cast serious doubt on the alleged superi-
ority of the US accounting standards!

When the IOSCO endorsement did come in May 2000,8 it came in the form of a recom-
mendation to members of IOSCO to accept financial statements prepared in accordance
with thirty core International Accounting Standards. However, the sting in the tail was
that it also permitted members, if they so wished, to require reconciliation to the local
GAAP or to require supplementary disclosure. This permitted countries like the USA and
Canada to continue requiring a reconciliation, which imposes enormous costs on the com-
panies concerned. Not surprisingly, such a limited endorsement came as a disappointment
to the members of the IASC and to others who had worked so hard to achieve interna-
tional harmonisation.

The International Accounting Standards Board

The completion of the core international accounting standards provided a suitable opportu-
nity to address the rather anachronistic structure of the IASC and, in 2001, a new IASC
Foundation was formed as a not-for-profit corporation. This is the parent company of the
new IASB, which assumed responsibility for setting International Accounting Standards
from 1 April 2001.

The IASB consists of 14 members, 12 full-time and 2 part-time, and its first Chairman is
Sir David Tweedie, the distinguished first Chairman of the UK Accounting Standard Board
for its first ten years of operation.

7 Joint press release, IASC Board and IOSCO Technical Committee, Paris, 9 July 1995.
8 “IASC Standards — Assessment Report’, Report of the Technical Committee of the International Organisation of
Securities Commissions, IOSCO, Montreal, May 2000. See the IOSCO website at www.iosco.org.
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The constitution of the new IASB provides the following objectives:

e To develop, in the public interest, a single set of high quality, understandable and enforce-
able global accounting standards that require high quality, transparent and comparable
information in financial statements and other financial reporting to help participants in
the world’s capital markets make economic decisions.

e To promote the use and rigorous application of those standards.

e To bring about convergence of national accounting standards and International Accounting
Standards to high quality solutions.

The focus of the IASB is now clearly on the global players and it is quite clear that, in order
to achieve its objectives, the IASB must work very closely with national standard setters. To
this end, seven of the IASB members have been appointed as liaison members with their
respective national standards setters.”

At its first meeting in April 2001, the TASB adopted all the existing International
Accounting Standards but decided that future standards that it issues will be described as
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). A list of International Accounting
Standards extant at 1 January 2003 is provided in Table 3.1.

The TASB is supported by a large Standards Advisory Council, available for consultation
and advice, as well as an International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee,!°
concerned with the publication of interpretations of International Accounting Standards and
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Harmonisation in the European Union

The use of Directives

When the European Economic Community (EEC) was established by the Treaty of Rome on
25 March 1957 one of the objectives to be achieved by member states was ‘the approxima-
tion of their respective national laws to the extent required for the common market to
function in an orderly manner’.!! To achieve this objective a number of programmes of law
harmonisation have been undertaken. One of these is the company law harmonisation pro-
gramme under the provisions of Article 54(3)(g) which calls for ‘the co-ordination of the
safeguards required from companies in the Member States, to protect the interests both of
members and of third parties’.

When the EU Commission has obtained agreement on a set of proposals on a particular
topic, it places a Draft Directive before the Council of Ministers. If the Directive is adopted,
governments of member states then have a specified period to enact legislation and incor-
porate the provisions of the Directive into their national law.

In practice, many countries were unable to keep to the timetables imposed by the early
Directives and, for the Seventh Directive, the time limits set were much longer than for previ-
ous Directives. This was, however, to a large extent necessary to accommodate fundamental
changes that have been required in some member states.

° Countries which have this liaison arrangement are (1) Australia and New Zealand, (2) Canada, (3) France, (4)
Germany, (5) Japan, (6) the USA and (7) the UK.

19 This IFRIC replaces the Standing Interpretations Committee formed in 1997 under the previous structure.

I Treaty of Rome, Article 3(h).
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Table 3.1 International Accounting Standards at 1 January 2003

Most recent version

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1997~
IAS 2 Inventories 1993~
IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements 1992
IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in

Accounting Policies 1993*
IAS 10 Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date 1999
IAS 11 Construction Contracts 1993
IAS 12 Income Taxes 2000
IAS 14 Segment Reporting 1997
IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of Changing Prices 1994
IAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment 1998*
IAS 17 Leases 1997~
IAS 18 Revenue 1993
IAS 19 Employee Benefits 2000
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of

Government Assistance 1994
IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 1993
IAS 22 Business Combinations 1998
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 1993
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 1994~
IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 1994
IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments

in Subsidiaries 2000*
IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates 2000~
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 1994
IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar

Financial Institutions 1994
IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures 2000
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 1998*
IAS 33 Earnings per Share 1997*
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1998
IAS 35 Discontinuing Operations 1998
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 1998
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 1998
IAS 38 Intangible Assets 1998
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 2000*
IAS 40 Investment property 2000*
IAS 41  Agriculture 2001

Notes: (1) IASs 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 13 and 25 have been superseded.
(2) As we shall see later, Standards marked with an asterisk are being revised in 2002-2003.
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While a number of Directives have been adopted, the two of most concern to accountants
are the Fourth Directive on company accounts and the Seventh Directive on consolidated
accounts.'? The former was adopted on 25 July 1978 and implemented in the UK by the
Companies Act 1981. The latter was adopted on 13 June 1983 and implemented by the
Companies Act 1989. In this section of the chapter we look briefly at these two Directives.

The Fourth Directive

The original draft of the Fourth Directive was published in November 1971, some time
before the UK became a member of the EEC. Not surprisingly, the draft was heavily influ-
enced by the current law and practice in France and Germany. When the UK joined the EEC
in March 1973, it pressed for certain changes to the draft and, as a result, an amended draft
was issued in February 1974. Although not all of the changes suggested by the UK were
accepted, the requirement to give a ‘true and fair view’ was admitted as an overriding objec-
tive of accounts and the Directive was eventually adopted by the Council of Ministers on
27 July 1978.

As we have explained in the previous chapter, the major changes prescribed by the Fourth
Directive were as follows:

(a) limited companies have to adopt compulsory formats for both the balance sheet and the
profit and loss account;
(b) defined methods of valuing assets, the so-called ‘valuation rules’, must be followed.

In addition, the Directive provided definitions of small and medium-sized companies and
permitted member states to offer such companies exemptions from complying with certain
requirements of the Directive.!?

We have already seen how the provisions of the Fourth Directive have been implemented
in the UK, but it is worth spending a little time looking at the impact of the Fourth Directive
in the EU as a whole.

Given the very different accounting systems which exist in member countries, it is per-
haps not surprising that it took some ten years for the Fourth Directive to be adopted.
Although this Directive undoubtedly moved the accounting requirements of the various
countries closer together, there are two major factors which have limited its effectiveness in
achieving harmonisation.

First, as we have seen, the Directive contains an overriding requirement that accounts
must give a ‘true and fair view’. As we have explained in Chapter 2, although it is difficult to
define such a term, accountants in the UK have long experience of working with it and are
familiar with what it means. In many EU countries the term was unknown and, although it
has been translated and included in their respective national legislation, it is certainly not
interpreted or applied in the same way in all of those countries as it is in the UK.

Second, in order to be able to obtain agreement, it was necessary to include a large
number of options in the Fourth Directive and there are over 60 points on which countries
were able to exercise a choice.'* Member states had to decide whether or not to incorporate

12 These directives may be found in the Official Journal of the European Communities. The text of the
Fourth Directive is in Volume 21, 1222, 14 August 1978, while the text of the Seventh Directive is in Volume
L193/1, 18 July 1983. They may also be found on the Europa-Internal Market-Accounting website at
www.europa.eu.int/comm/internal_market/en/company/account/news/index.htm

13 Fourth Directive, Articles 11, 27 and 47.

14 T R. Watts (ed.), Handbook on the EEC Fourth Directive, ICAEW, London, 1979, p. 1.
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the particular options in their national legislation and could, in fact, even permit individual
companies a choice from alternative treatments under the national legislation.

One example is the possible exemptions for small and medium-sized companies. Some
countries, such as the UK, gave most of these, while other countries did not. As a result, the
information provided by small companies in different countries is not comparable.

A second example is that countries could adopt historical cost valuation rules or either
permit or require the application of alternative accounting rules. The UK, through the provi-
sions of the Companies Acts, permits the use of such alternative accounting rules, while
other countries do not. Given the requirement for the provision of information that would
enable the reconstruction of historical cost accounts when alternative accounting rules are
used, this means that many international comparisons are possible only on the basis of the
historical cost figures.

A third example is provided by the possible choice of formats. The Directive provided two
balance-sheet formats and four profit-and-loss-account formats. Although part of the choice
was merely between a horizontal and a vertical format, there are differences between the
information disclosed in the two pairs of profit-and-loss-account formats. Member states
could either impose one balance-sheet format and one profit-and-loss-account format on all
companies or they could specify all formats and permit companies to choose between them.
The UK Companies Acts have given the widest possible choice with the result that, even in
the UK, different companies disclose somewhat different information. Other countries have
been more rigid and, hence, there is a lack of comparability.

Even if all countries were to adopt the same formats, the inability to define terms with
precision means that there is a superficial comparability only. For example, the profit-and-
loss-account format of Article 25 requires the disclosure of, inter alia, cost of sales,
distribution costs and administrative expenses. Even if we ignore the flexibility of the under-
lying valuation rules, it is highly likely that different companies will analyse similar expenses
between these three categories in different ways and, hence, although the same descriptions
are used, the figures may not be comparable.

The above examples are not given to belittle the efforts that have been made to try and
achieve harmonisation in the EU but rather to ensure that readers do not overestimate
their impact.

The Seventh Directive

Although a proposed Seventh Directive was first issued in May 1976 and an amended pro-
posal was issued in December 1978, it was not until June 1983 that the Seventh Directive was
actually adopted.!® As with the Fourth Directive it was a long and difficult task to reach
agreement on when consolidated accounts should be prepared and what they should con-
tain. This should not surprise us when it is realised that some EU countries had no legal
requirement for consolidated accounts at all.'® One of the major difficulties was defining the
circumstances in which consolidated accounts should be required and a large part of the
Directive was devoted to this problem.!”

In the UK the basic legal position was that group accounts were required when one com-
pany owned more than half of the equity share capital in another company or had the legal
power of control over that other company, irrespective of whether the investing company

15 Official Journal of the European Communities, Volume L193/1, 18 July 1983.
16 Examples were Greece and Luxembourg.
17 Seventh Directive, s. 1, ‘Conditions for the preparation of consolidated accounts’ (Articles 1-15).
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actually exercised that power. The proposed Directive was initially concerned to ensure that
information was provided about concentrations of economic power and, as a consequence,
consolidated accounts were required when companies were managed in practice by a ‘central
and unified management’. Ownership was only important to the extent that it led to a pre-
sumption that such central management might exist.

A criterion based on the existence of an economic unit is much more difficult to apply
than one based on the legal power of control, and accountants in the UK were relieved to
find that the Directive came down in favour of a definition based on the existence of this
legal power of control.'®

Some other problems which had to be resolved in this connection were whether or not
consolidated accounts should be required when an individual or partnership controls com-
panies; whether consolidated accounts should be required for subgroup holding companies
where the ultimate parent company is in another EU country or non-EU country; and
whether horizontal consolidations should be required for companies in the EU where, for
example, two French companies are both under the control of a US company. We will exam-
ine accounting for groups of companies in Chapter 14.

The second part of the Directive is concerned with the preparation of consolidated
accounts. As is the case for the accounts of individual companies, there is an overriding
requirement that consolidated accounts give a ‘true and fair view’ as well as the requirement
that they give the information specified by the Directive using the valuation rules and for-
mats specified in the Fourth Directive as far as appropriate.

There is no doubt that the Seventh Directive has had a much greater impact on accounting in
other EU countries than it has had in the UK, where many of its provisions were already estab-
lished by existing law and accounting standards. However, this is not to say that it has had no
impact at all in the UK. As in the case of the Fourth Directive, rules previously set by accounting
standards are now a part of the law and the introduction of new definitions has widened the cov-
erage of consolidated accounts to include certain off-balance-sheet finance schemes as well as
certain partnerships and joint ventures. We deal with these topics in Chapters 9 and 15.

As in the case of the Fourth Directive, member states were given a large number of
options in the Seventh Directive. The different ways in which they have exercised these
options has inevitably limited the degree of harmonisation achieved.

The EU Regulation of 2002 and the problems that it poses

The EU Regulation of 2002

It is now recognised that, in spite of all the efforts which led to their development, the
Accounting Directives have achieved much less harmonisation in the EU than was originally
anticipated. Perhaps not surprisingly, they have been found to be an inflexible source of
rules, difficult to change in a business world which is constantly changing.

The European Commission has explored the way forward on accounting harmonisation
in the EU.Y It has rejected both the use of new Directives and the establishment of a

18 Seventh Directive, s. 1. As we shall see in Chapter 14 it is still possible for member states to require consolidated
accounts where there is unified management but no legal power of control (Article 1, Para. 2).

9 See, for example, Accounting Harmonisation: A new strategy vis-a-vis international harmonisation,
Communication from the Commission, COM 95 (508), November, 1995, EU Financial Reporting Strategy: the
way forward, Com. (2000) 359, June 2000 and Proposal for a regulation of the Parliament and of the Council on the
application of International Accounting Standards, COM (2001) 80, February 2001.
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European standard-setting body. Instead it has opted to support the work of the IASB,
accepting that there will be a consequent need to amend the existing Accounting Directives
where necessary to enable companies to comply with International Accounting Standards
(IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

The way that it has done this is by the issue of a Regulation in June 2002.2° Unlike a
Directive, which requires legislation by member states, a Regulation takes effect throughout
the EU without the need for member states to incorporate its provisions in their own
national law.

This rather short Regulation will have enormous impact upon accounting in the EU. It
requires that, with minor exceptions, all publicly traded companies governed by the law of
a member state of the EU must prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IASs and IFRSs and related Interpretations for all accounting periods starting on or
after 1 January 2005. Although the Regulation only requires that consolidated financial
statements comply with international standards, it also gives member states the option of per-
mitting or requiring the use of international standards in the single entity financial statements
of the publicly traded parent company. It also gives member states the option of permitting or
requiring the use of international standards in the single entity financial statements and/or the
consolidated financial statements of European companies that are not publicly traded. It
remains to be seen how member states will use these options although, as we discuss below,
the way in which they do so may give rise to considerable difficulties in practice.

In order to permit consolidated financial statements to comply with both international
standards and the Directives, it has already been necessary to amend the valuation rules
included in the Fourth and Seventh Directives. This was done by means of a Directive in
May 2001%! and this opens the way for companies in EU countries to use fair values for cer-
tain financial instruments in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (revised 2000 and under revision again in 2002).
Unlike the use of a Regulation, the use of a Directive does, of course, require legislation by
the individual member states and the deadline imposed for implementation of this Directive
is 1 January 2004. It is clear that further amendments to the Directives will be necessary to
permit international standards to be applied.

The Regulation is very clear that international standards are to be imposed on publicly
traded companies by 2005. It is estimated that some seven thousand companies in the EU
fall within this category and, of these, less than three hundred have used international stan-
dards in the past. A large number of companies will therefore be applying international
accounting standards for the first time and to help them, as well as companies elsewhere in
the world, the IASB issued an exposure draft (ED 1) of an IFRS entitled First Time
Application of International Financial Reporting Standards in July 2002. The UK ASB issued a
Consultation Paper, which reproduced the IASB ED 1, at the same time.??

ED 1 would require that, when companies first adopt international standards by making
an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance, those statements should comply with
the international standards and interpretations effective at the reporting date. However it
does provide some exemptions, in particular where the cost of obtaining the relevant infor-
mation would be out of proportion to its benefits.?

20 Regulation PE-CONS 3626/02, EU, June 2002.

21 EU Directive PE-CONS 3624/01. See the Europa website given in n.12 above.

22 Consultation Paper, IASB proposals for first-time application of International Financial Reporting Standards, ASB,
July 2002.

23 For details of these exemptions, interested readers are referred to the Exposure Draft or, in due course, to the
TFRS based on ED 1.
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The timescale allowed for so many companies to make this major change is extremely
short and the requirement to use international standards gives rise to a considerable number
of potential problems with which we will deal under five headings in the following section.

The EU Regulation — some problems

Lack of understanding

While there is a considerable similarity of approach between UK standards and international
standards, there is a much greater difference between the rules of some other member states
and those international standards. It will be necessary for directors and accountants in all EU
countries to understand these international standards and how to apply them well before
2005 because of the need to provide comparative figures. These directors and accountants
will usually have been raised on a very different set of rules and may therefore find it difficult
to understand and assimilate international accounting standards.

There is a considerable amount of evidence that, although companies state that their
financial statements comply with international accounting standards and have been given a
clean audit report, the financial statements do not, in fact, do so. One example of such evi-
dence is a piece of research published in July 2001 by the UK Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants?* which concludes that compliance is more problematic for com-
panies domiciled in some Western European countries, notably France and Germany. It
appears that even the members of large international accountancy firms in some countries
do not really understand how international standards should be applied. If this is the case,
then clearly a large education programme is needed before 2005 to familiarise accountants
throughout the EU with the requirements of IASs and IFRSs.

Considerable differences and the need for convergence

There are considerable differences between the national accounting rules of individual coun-
tries in Europe and the international standards and this must be bridged if there is to be
European standardisation. The new term used is ‘convergence’ and, as a first step towards
this end, several countries have conducted studies of the differences between their own rules
and the international standards. For example, the UK ICAEW published a study in 2000
entitled The Convergence Handbook prepared by David Cairns and Christopher Nobes.?
Even though the UK standards are relatively close to the international accounting standards,
Cairns and Nobes identify an enormous number of differences between them and make sug-
gestions for resolving those differences. However, sometimes they favour the UK approach
and, at other times, they favour the international approach. Other countries that are study-
ing the difference between their national rules and the international standards are not
necessarily coming to the same conclusions on the appropriate way forward.

The IASB is working hard with national standard setters to resolve differences and has
embarked on an improvements project to revise international standards to bring them into

24 Donna Street and Sidney Gray, Observance of International Accounting Standards: Factors explaining non-
compliance, ACCA Research Report No. 74, July 2001.

25 David Cairns and Christopher Nobes, The Convergence Handbook: A comparison between International Accounting
Standards and UK financial reporting requirements, ICAEW, 2000. An update to this has subsequently been pub-
lished: David Cairns, The Implications of IAS for UK Companies: An Update to the Convergence Handbook,
ICAEW, 2002.



Chapter 3 - Sources of authority: the rise of international standards

line with current best practice and to remove options. To this end, it issued an exposure
draft of proposed ‘Improvements to International Accounting Standards’ in May 2002,
which proposed changes to the twelve IASs listed in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2 1ASs to be revised in 2003 under the IASB Improvements project

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements*

IAS 2 Inventories+

IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies*
IAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date+

IAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment+

IAS 17 Leases*

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates+

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures+

IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries*
IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates®

IAS 33 Earnings Per Share+

IAS 40 Investment Property*

+ Separate FREDs on these topics were issued by the UK ASB in May 2002. See FREDs 24 to 29.

* A Consultation Paper on these six topics, entitled ‘IASB Proposals to Amend Certain International Accounting
Standards’ was also issued by the UK ASB in May 2002.

These twelve IASs are not the only ones scheduled for improvement for there are major
revisions in train for IAS 22 Business combinations, IAS 32 Financial instruments: Disclosure
and presentation and IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement.

At the same time that the IASB issued its proposed improvements in May 2002, the UK
ASB issued seven Financial Reporting Exposure Drafts (FREDs) designed to move us
towards convergence on the six topics marked + in Table 3.2, the seventh draft being con-
cerned with ‘Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting’. At the same time it published a
Consultation Paper, TASB proposals to amend certain international accounting standards’,
outlining its plan to implement changes in respect of the other six topics in Table 3.2, each
marked with an asterisk, in 2005 but not before. Even after these changes, there will remain
major differences between UK standards and international standards, which we will discuss
in the context of the relevant chapters.

There is no doubt that the period until 2005 is likely to be extremely confusing for
accountants, both in the EU and elsewhere, as they try to understand IASs which are con-
stantly changing. Even keeping up with national standards will be difficult as individual
countries attempt to change their own rules to bring them into line with the constantly
changing international accounting standards. At the present time, attempts to achieve con-
vergence involve shooting at a moving target!

Differential enforcement

If international standards are to be effective throughout the EU then it is essential that there
is some enforcement mechanism to ensure that they are properly applied. Clearly the IASB
does not have this mechanism at the present time but must rely on auditors of publicly
traded groups throughout the EU. As we have explained in the previous chapter, the
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standards structure in the UK does have the Financial Reporting Review Panel to enforce UK
standards and this panel could no doubt turn its efforts to the enforcement of international,
rather than UK, standards. However, other EU countries do not have such a mechanism and
hence we may arrive at a situation where international standards are enforced much more
rigorously in some countries that in other EU countries. This can only diminish the effec-
tiveness of a European capital market.

The endorsement mechanism

In order to ensure political acceptance of IASs in the EU, the Regulation requires that they
be endorsed by an Accounting Regulatory Committee. This committee, composed of rep-
resentatives of member states, is supported by a technical committee, the European Financial
Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG). EFRAG reviewed all IASs (1-41) and Standing
Interpretations (1-33), that were extant in 2002, and recommended endorsement en bloc.
However, even if this recommendation is accepted by the Accounting Regulatory Committee
on this occasion, there are many who have concerns about this endorsement mechanism.
The question they would pose is what happens if the Accounting Regulatory Committee fails
to endorse an IAS or proposes changes to such a standard for use in the EU? If this were to
happen then it could lead to one set of IASs for the EU and a slightly different set for the rest
of the world, hardly ideal for a global capital market!

One or two sets of standards in each member state

As we have seen above, publicly traded companies are required to use IASs in their consoli-
dated financial statements but, until relevant rules are introduced in member states, we do
not know whether such companies will have to use national standards or international stan-
dards in their single entity financial statements. Nor do we know what the position will be
with regard to companies that are not publicly traded. Whatever the outcome, there will be
problems to be addressed.

If member states were to require non-publicly traded companies to use national stan-
dards, then countries would be faced with the cost and confusion of having two sets of
standards applying to their companies. There is even the possibility, in the short term, that
the non-publicly traded company would have to comply with certain national standards
which are more stringent than the corresponding international standard. This would seem to
be quite bizarre.

If member states were to require all companies to use IASs, then national standards will
become redundant and, so too, may national standards setters. Why would it be necessary to
finance a body of national standard setters if standards are being set by the IASB?

Conclusion

While the requirement of the EU 2002 Regulation is extremely clear, that Regulation gives
rise to enormous problems. Implementation is likely to be difficult, painful and costly, espe-
cially within the very tight timetable that has been laid down and, in the view of the authors,
it will be many years after 2005 before there is real standardisation within the EU.
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Summary

Given the globalisation of capital markets and the desire of the EU to establish an integrated
capital market, international and regional standardisation is now of fundamental impor-
tance to the development of accounting, both worldwide and in the EU. We have therefore
examined the structure and work of the IASC and, in particular, its agreement with IOSCO
to prepare a set of core international standards and the disappointing IOSCO recommenda-
tions to its members. Next we considered the structure and objectives of the IASB, which
opened its doors to business in April 2001.

We then considered the attempts of the EU to harmonise accounting practice in Europe
by the use of the Fourth and Seventh Directives and explained why such Directives have not
been as successful as was once hoped and why the EU has gradually changed its approach to
standardisation in Europe.

In 2002, the EU adopted a Regulation requiring all publicly traded companies in the EU
to prepare their consolidated financial statements using International Accounting Standards
(IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. This very clear focus on publicly traded companies
seems eminently sensible but the Regulation gives rise to a number of difficult problems,
which we have discussed at some length. Given the magnitude of the task, 2005 is uncom-
fortably close, and much remains to be done, especially in the field of education and
training. In addition, member states must decide whether or not single entity financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements of non-publicly traded companies should
comply with international standards as well. If they decide against this approach, we face the
prospect of having two sets of standards operating side by side in various countries of the
EU. If, however, member states decide in favour of the universal application of the interna-
tional standards, then the future for national standard setters seems rather bleak.
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3.1 It is a requirement of the Companies Acts that the accounts of limited companies must
show a true and fair view of the state of affairs at the end of a period and the profit or loss
for the period.

Requirement

(i) Explain the role that the Companies Acts have in the preparation and presentation of
published accounts;

(ii) explain the relationship between accounting standards, the Companies Acts and
European Union Directives; and

(iii) provide two examples of how accounting standards extend the requirements of the
Companies Acts and one example of an accounting standard that differs from the
Companies Acts.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, September 2002 (15 marks)

3.2 ‘In recent years, there has been growing interest in, and efforts directed towards, the har-
monisation of international accounting.” (Advanced Financial Accounting by Taylor and
Underdown (CIMA/Butterworth Heinemann)).

You are required to explain this statement.

CIMA, Advanced Financial Accounting, November 1993 (15 marks)

3.3 You are the chief accountant of Britain plc. Britain plc has a number of subsidiaries located
in various parts of the world. One of these subsidiaries is Faraway Ltd. Faraway Ltd prepares
its financial statements in accordance with local Accounting Standards. The accountant of
Faraway Ltd has prepared the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2001 —
also the accounting reference date of Britain plc. The profit and loss account for the year
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ended 30 September 2001 (together with comparatives) drawn up in local currency (LC)
was as shown below.

Year ended 30 September
2001 2000

LC000 LC000

Turnover 56000 53000
Cost of sales (34000) (32000)

Gross profit 22000 21000
Other operating expenses (10000) (9800)

Operating profit 12000 11200
Interest payable (4000) (3800)

Profit before tax 8000 7400
Tax (3000) (2800)

Profit after tax 5000 4600
Dividends paid (2500) (2400)

Retained profit 2500 2200

Retained profit 1 October 2000 (1 October 1999) 10000 7800

Retained profit 30 September 2001 (30 September 2000) 12500 10000

The local Accounting Standards that are used in preparing the financial statements of
Faraway Ltd are the same as UK Accounting Standards with the exception of the following:

1. Faraway Ltd values its stocks using the LIFO basis. This valuation is acceptable for local
tax purposes. Relevant stock values are as follows:

Date Stock value under LIFO Stock value under FIFO
LC000 LC000

30 September 2001 9500 10000

30 September 2000 7700 8000

30 September 1999 8600 9000

The stock levels of Faraway Ltd often vary from year to year and prices do not rise
evenly. The rate of local corporate taxation is 36%.

2. On 1 October 1993, Faraway Ltd acquired an unincorporated business for 50 million
units of local currency. The fair value of the net assets of this business on 1 October 1993
was 30 million units of local currency. The resulting goodwill was written off to the
profit and loss reserve as permitted by local Accounting Standards. At the date of acqui-
sition, the directors of Faraway Ltd ascertained that the useful economic life of this
goodwill was 10 years.

The accountant of Faraway Ltd has sent the financial statements to you with a suggestion
that consolidation would be much easier if all group companies used International
Accounting Standards to prepare their individual financial statements.

Required

(a) Restate the profit and loss account of Faraway Ltd in local currency (both the current
year and the comparative) so as to comply with UK Accounting Standards. (14 marks)

(b) Evaluate the practicality of the suggestion that all group companies should use
International Accounting Standards. (6 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2001 (20 marks)
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3.4 ‘Now that the EU has decided to harmonise financial reporting by Regulation rather than by
the issue of new Directives, the financial statements of all companies in Europe will be com-
parable by the year 2005.”

Discuss.

University of Buckingham, Advanced Financial Accounting, December 2002 (25 marks)



chapter

What is profit?

We start this chapter with a discussion of the economic concept of profit and consider a
number of different ways in which profit may be defined and measured. This requires us to
consider, first, the measurement of wealth at the beginning and end of a period and,
second, the comparison of these opening and closing amounts when the value of the
measuring rod, the pound, may be changing. We demonstrate that the traditional approach
of historical cost accounting is just one of several approaches which could be adopted and
that it has serious limitations for many of the purposes for which it is used. This section of
the chapter also serves as an introduction to Part 3 of the book, where we discuss, in some
depth, major alternatives to the traditional historical cost accounting approach.

The chapter also has a more immediate practical purpose in that the later sections
explore the legal definition of distributable profit, which is relevant when determining the
maximum dividend that can be paid by a limited company, and the closely related question
of when a profit is deemed to have been realised.

MDIBIAIDAO

Introduction

The layperson has no doubt about the way in which the question ‘What is profit?” should be
answered. Profit is the difference between the cost of providing goods or services and the revenue
derived from their sale. If a greengrocer can sell for 10p an apple which cost him 6p, his profit
must be 4p. Accountants also used to inhabit this seemingly comfortable world of simplicity, but
they are now aware that such a world is not only uncomfortable but possibly dangerous. We can
perhaps agree that profit is the difference between cost and revenue, but there is more than one
way of measuring cost. Historical cost — the cost of acquisition — is only one alternative, which
may indeed be one of the least helpful for many purposes. Furthermore, it is not even obvious
that we should measure the difference between costs and revenue in monetary terms — actual
pounds — for another unit of measurement has been suggested: the purchasing power of pounds.

In order to answer the question ‘what is profit?’ it is perhaps best to start by considering
the most useful of hypothetical examples in accounting theory — the barrow boy who trades
for cash and rents his barrow.

Consider such a barrow boy whose only asset at the start of a day’s trading is cash of £2000.
Let us suppose that he rents a barrow and a pitch for the day which together cost him £20. Let
us further assume that he spends £150 in the wholesale market for a barrow-load of vegetables,
all of which are sold for £240. The trader therefore ends the day with cash of £2070 and we can
all agree that the profit for that day’s trading is £70.! In other words we have taken the barrow
boy’s profit to be the increase in monetary wealth resulting from his trading activities.

! Actually this is not strictly true, for one might wish to impute a charge for the labour supplied by the barrow boy
and would say that his profit is the excess of £70 over the imputed labour charge.
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Let us extend the illustration by supposing that the barrow boy has changed the style of his
operation. He now owns his barrow and trades in household sundries of which he can main-
tain a stock. If we wish to continue to apply the same principle as before in calculating his
profit, we would need to measure his assets at the beginning and the end of each day. Thus we
would need to place a value on his stock and his barrow at these two points of time as well as
counting his cash.

All this may appear to be very simple, but it is by no means trivial, for the above argument
contains one important implication, that profit represents an increase in wealth or ‘well-
offness’, and one vital consequence, that in order to measure the increase in wealth it is neces-
sary to attach values to the assets owned by the trader at the beginning and end of the period.

Let us now consider the implied definition of profit in a little more detail. The argument
is that a trader makes a profit for a period if either he is better off at the end of the period
than he was at the beginning (in that he owns assets with a greater monetary value) or would
have been better off had he not consumed the profits. This essentially simple view was ele-
gantly expressed by the eminent economist Sir John Hicks, who wrote that income — the
term which economists use to describe the equivalent, in personal terms, of the profit of a
business enterprise — could be defined as:

the maximum value which [a man] can consume during a week and still expect to be as well
off at the end of the week as he was at the beginning.?

This definition cannot be applied exactly to a business enterprise since such an entity does
not consume. The definition can, however, be modified to meet this point, as was done by
the Sandilands Committee,? which defined a company’s profit for a year by the following
adaptation of Hicks’s dictum:

A company’s profit for the year is the maximum value which the company can distribute during
the year and still expect to be as well off at the end of the year as it was at the beginning.*

The key questions that have to be answered in arriving at such a profit are, ‘How do we
measure “well-offness” at the beginning and end of a period?” and ‘How do we measure the
change in “well-offness” from one date to another?’

This is not the end of the matter for we may wish to make a distinction between that part
of the increase in ‘well-offness’ which was available for consumption and that which should
not be so regarded. In traditional accounting practice a distinction has been made between
realised and unrealised profits such that only the former is normally available for distribu-
tion. Subsequently company legislation® introduced into statute law the concept of
distributable profits and the legal aspects of the assessment of this element of profit will be
discussed in the final section of this chapter.

Turning to our two questions, we will first examine the question of how we may measure
‘well-offness’ or ‘wealth’ of a business at a point in time. There are two approaches. First, the
wealth of a business can be measured by reference to the expectation of future benefits; in
other words, the value of a business at a point of time is the present value of the expected
future net cash flow to the firm. The second approach is to measure the wealth of a business
by reference to the values of the individual assets and liabilities of the business. Actually these
two approaches can be linked by the recognition of an intangible asset, often called goodwill,
which can be defined as the difference between the value of the business as a whole and the
sum of the values of the individual assets less liabilities.

2 ].R. Hicks, Value and Capital, 2nd edn, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1948, p. 172.
3 Report of the Inflation Accounting Committee, Cmnd 6225, HMSO, London, 1975.

4 Ibid., p. 29.

> Companies Act, 1980 and 1981.
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Present value of the business

We will assume that readers are familiar with the principles and mechanics of discounted
cash flow techniques.

The present-value approach is based on the assumption that the owner of a business is
only interested in the pecuniary benefits that will accrue from its ownership (‘I am only in it
for the money’). Well-offness at any balance sheet date is then measured by the present value
of the expected future net cash flows at that date and profit for the period is the difference
between the present values at the beginning and end of the period after adjustment for injec-
tions and withdrawals.

This requires some formidable problems of estimation of both cash flows and appropriate
discount rates, but such estimates are made either explicitly or implicitly (usually the latter)
when businesses or individual assets are bought and sold. The present-value approach is an
important and useful one when applied to the valuation of businesses or shares in a business in
order to determine whether their sale or purchase would be worthwhile at a given price. It may
well be thought, however, that the problems of estimation are such as to render the approach
unsuitable for the measurement of an entity’s periodic profit on a regular basis, specifically
given the qualitative characteristics of financial information discussed in Chapter 1. But there
is a more fundamental objection to the use of this method for financial accounting in that it is
agreed that the regular reporting of profits should not be based solely on future expectations.
The present-value approach is, of course, based entirely on expectations of the future and
depends on decisions involving the way in which assets will be employed. It is argued that one
of the objectives of accounting is to aid decision making and it is hardly appropriate if the fun-
damental measure of profit is based on the assumption that all decisions have already been
made. This point was made by Edwards and Bell, who wrote:

A concept of profit which measures truly and realistically the extent to which past decisions
have been right or wrong and thus aids in the formulation of new ones is required. And since
rightness or wrongness must, eventually, be checked in the market place, it is changes in
market values of one kind or another which should dominate accounting objectives.®

This quotation provides a neat introduction to the asset-by-asset approach.

Measurement of wealth by reference to the valuation of
individual assets

In this section we shall discuss some of the different methods that may be used to value
assets. We shall at this stage concentrate on the problems associated with the determination
of an asset’s value using the different bases and shall defer the question of the suitability of
the different bases of asset valuation for profit measurement until later.

¢ E.O. Edwards and P.W. Bell, The Theory and Measurement of Business Income, University of California Press,
Stanford, CA, 1961, p. 25.
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Historical cost

The historical cost of an asset can usually be determined with exactitude so long as the
records showing the amount paid for the asset are still available. The matter, however, is not
always that simple. The historical cost of a fixed asset purchased when new may well be
known, but it will usually be impossible to say what proportion of the original total cost
should be regarded as being applicable to that portion of the asset which remains unused at a
point in time. For example, imagine that we are dealing with a two-year-old car which cost
£20000 and which we expect to have a total life of five years — do we say that the historical
cost of the unused portion of the car is three-fifths of £20000, i.e. £12000? This is, of course,
the class of question which is answered by the use of some more or less arbitrary method of
depreciation. As we will show later, much the same sort of expedient is used in various forms
of current-value accounting.

Readers will be aware of the difficulties involved in the determination of the historical
cost of trading stock — whether stock should be valued on the basis of ‘average’, FIFO, etc.
The problem is even more acute when trading stock involves work-in-progress and finished
goods, as the question of the extent to which overheads should be included in the stock
figure must be considered. Similar problems arise when determining the cost of fixed assets
which are constructed by a firm for its own use.

There is another class of assets for which it may be difficult to find the historical costs.
These are assets which have been acquired through barter or exchange, a special case of which
are assets which are purchased in exchange for shares in the purchasing company. In such
instances it will usually be necessary to estimate the historical cost of the assets acquired. This
is usually done by reference to the amount that would have been realised had the assets, which
had been given in exchange, been sold for cash. In some cases it might prove to be extremely
difficult to make the necessary estimates as there may not be a market in the assets concerned.

Yet further problems occur where a number of assets are purchased together; for example,
where a company purchases the net assets of another company or unincorporated firm. For
accounting purposes it is necessary to determine the cost of the individual assets and liabil-
ities which have been acquired and this involves an allocation of the global price to the
individual assets and liabilities which are separately identified in the accounting system; any
balancing figure represents the amount paid for all assets and liabilities not separately identi-
fied in the accounting system and is described as goodwill.” Such an allocation has
traditionally been made using ‘fair values’, which usually results in the individual assets
being valued at their replacement costs and liabilities being valued at their face values.

The contents of this section may seem fairly obvious, but it is important to remember that
the determination of an asset’s historical cost is not always an easy task.

‘Adjusted’ historical cost

By ‘adjusted’ historical cost we mean the method whereby the historical cost of an asset is
taken to be its original acquisition cost adjusted to account for changes in the value or pur-
chasing power of money between the date of acquisition and the valuation date. This
method of valuation forms the basis of the accounting system known as current purchasing
power accounting (see Chapter 19).

7 Such an approach is also necessary when preparing consolidated financial statements and this is discussed in
Chapter 14.
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The practical difficulties of this approach include all those which were discussed in the
preceding section on historical cost but to these must be added the problems involved in
reflecting the changes in the value of money. This is done by using a price index, which is an
attempt to measure the average change in prices over a period.

Great care must be taken when interpreting the figures produced by the adjusted histori-
cal cost approach. It must be remembered that this method does not attempt to revalue (i.e.
state at current value) the assets; it is money and not the asset which is revalued. The
adjusted historical cost method can be contrasted with those approaches under which assets
are stated at their current values. It is these approaches which are the subjects of the follow-
ing sections.

Replacement cost

Replacement cost (RC) is often referred to as an entry value because it is the cost to the busi-
ness of acquiring an asset. In crude terms it may be defined as the estimated amount that
would have to be paid in order to replace the asset at the date of valuation.

This is a useful working definition, but it is crude as it begs a large number of questions,
some of which will be discussed below.

The definition includes the word ‘estimated’ because the exercise is a hypothetical one in
that the method is based on the question, ‘How much would it cost to replace this asset
today?” Since the asset is not being replaced, the answer has to be found from an examina-
tion of the circumstances prevailing in the market for the asset under review. If the asset is
identical with those being traded in the market, the estimate may be reasonably objective.
Thus, if the asset is a component which is still being manufactured and used by a business,
its replacement cost may be found by reference to manufacturers’ or suppliers’ price lists.
However, even in this apparently straightforward case, there may still be difficulties in that
the replacement cost may depend on the size of the order. Typically a customer placing a
large order will pay a lower price per unit than someone buying in small lots. In some types
of business the difference between the two sets of prices may be significant, as is evidenced
by the different prices paid for food by large supermarkets and small grocery shops. This
observation leads to the conclusion that in certain instances it will be necessary to add to the
above definition of replacement cost that the estimate should assume that the owner of the
asset would replace it in ‘the normal course of business’, in other words that the replacement
would be made as part of the normal purchasing pattern of the business.

The difficulties inherent in the estimation of replacement cost loom very much larger
when we turn our attention to assets which are not identical to those that are currently being
traded in the market, including those which have been made obsolete by technological
progress. A special, and very important, class of non-identical assets is used assets because all
used assets will differ in some respect or other from other used assets of a similar type.

A more detailed discussion of the ways in which the replacement cost of assets is found
will be provided later in the book, but it will be helpful if we indicate some of the possible
approaches at this stage:

1 Gross/net replacement cost: The most common approach, particularly if the asset has been
the subject of little technological change, is to take the cost of a new asset (the gross
replacement cost) and then deduct an estimate of depreciation; for example, if the asset is
two years old and is expected to last for another three years then, using straight-line
depreciation, the net replacement cost is three-fifths of the gross replacement cost.
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2 Market comparison: In the case of some used assets, such as motor vehicles, the asset
might be valued by reference to the value of similar used assets. It may prove necessary to
adjust the value found by direct comparison to account for any special features pertaining
to the particular asset. Thus, the approach includes a subjective judgement element which
is combined with the reasonably objective comparison with the market.

3 Replacement cost of inputs: In certain cases — particularly fixed assets manufactured by
owners for their own use and work-in-progress and finished goods — it might be possible
to determine an asset’s replacement cost by reference to the current replacement cost of
the various inputs used in the construction of the asset. Thus the necessary labour input
could be costed at the wage rates prevailing at the valuation date with similar procedures
being applied to the other inputs — raw materials, bought-in components and overheads.

Whilst in practice the focus of valuation is often the physical asset itself, we need to recognise
that this is a proxy for that which is actually being valued — the services provided by the asset.

Take, as an example, a machine which is expected to operate for another 2000 hours. A
new machine might have a life of 4000 hours and have operating costs which are less than
those of the machine whose replacement cost we are seeking to estimate. In this case, the
replacement cost of the old machine would be half the cost of the new machine less the pre-
sent value of the savings in the operating costs. If there is a ‘good market’ in second-hand
machines the replacement cost of used machines will approximate this value, but if this is
not the case the replacement cost will be based on the cost of a new machine after adjusting
for differences in capacity and operating costs.

Net realisable value

The net realisable value of an asset may be defined as the estimated amount that would be
received from the sale of the asset less the anticipated costs that would be incurred in its disposal.
It is sometimes called an exit value as it is the amount realisable when assets leave the firm.

One obvious problem with this definition is that the amount which would be realised on
the disposal of an asset depends on the circumstances in which it is sold. It is likely that there
would be a considerable difference between the proceeds that might be expected if the asset
were disposed of in the normal way and the proceeds from a forced and hurried sale of the
assets. Of course, it all depends on what is meant by the ‘normal course of business’ and,
while the phrase may be useful enough for many practical purposes, it must be remembered
that it is often not possible to think in terms of the two extreme cases of ‘normal’ and ‘hur-
ried’ disposals. There may be all sorts of intermediate positions between these extremes. It
can thus be seen that there may be a whole family of possible values based on selling prices
which depend on the assumptions made about the conditions under which assets are sold
and that, particularly in the case of stock, great care must be taken when interpreting the
statement that the net realisable value of an asset is £x.

As is true for the replacement cost basis of valuation, the difficulties associated with the
determination of an asset’s net realisable value are less when the asset in question is identical,
or very similar to, assets which are being traded in the market. In such circumstances the
asset’s net realisable value can be found by reference to the prevailing market price viewed
from the point of view of a seller in the market. The replacement cost is, of course, related to
the purchaser’s viewpoint. If there is an active market, the difference between an asset’s
replacement cost and its net realisable value may not be very great and will depend on the
expenses and profit margins of traders in the particular type of asset.
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The relationship of the business to the market will determine whether, in the case of that
business, an asset’s replacement cost exceeds its net realisable value or vice versa. It is likely
that the barrow boy to whom reference was made earlier would find that the replacement
cost of his barrow could be greater than its net realisable value, while the reverse is likely to
hold for his vegetables. It is generally, but not universally, true that a business will find that
the replacement costs of its fixed assets will exceed their net realisable values, while in the
case of trading stock the net realisable value will be the greater.

Generally the estimation of the net realisable value of a unique asset is even more difficult
than the determination of such an asset’s replacement cost. It may be possible to use a ‘units
of service’ approach in that one could examine what the market is prepared to pay for the
productive capacity of the asset being valued, but the process is likely to be more subjective.
In the replacement cost case, the owner is the potential purchaser and will base his valuation
on his own estimate of the productive capacity of the asset but, in the net realisable value
case, the hypothetical purchaser will have to be convinced of the asset’s productive capacity.

A further difficulty involved in the estimation of net realisable value is the last phrase in the
definition — ‘less the anticipated costs that would be incurred in its disposal’. This sting in the
definition’s tail can be extremely significant, especially in the case of work-in-progress, in rela-
tion to which the estimation of anticipated additional costs may be difficult and subjective.

Present value

It might be possible to apply the present-value approach to the valuation of individual assets.
To do so would require the valuer to attach an estimated series of future cash flows to the
individual asset and select an appropriate discount rate. This may be possible in the case of
assets which are not used in combination with others, such as an office block which is rented
out, but most assets are used in combination to generate revenue. Thus, a firm purchases
raw materials which are processed by many machines in their building to produce the fin-
ished goods which are sold to earn revenue. In such circumstances as these it would seem
impossible to say what proportion of the total net cash flow should be assigned to the build-
ing or to a particular machine. Hence it would not be possible to calculate a present value for
the individual building or for a particular machine but only for groups of assets which can be
identified as a separate income-generating unit.

Capital maintenance

Let us for a while ignore the practical problems associated with the valuation of assets at an
instant in time and assume that one can generate a series of figures (depending on the basis
of valuation selected) reflecting the value of the bundle of assets which constitutes a business
and hence, after making appropriate deduction for creditors,® arrive at a series of figures
showing the owners’ equity in or net assets of the enterprise at different instants in time.

If this can be done, is the profit for a period found by simply deducting the value of the
net assets at the start of the period from the corresponding value at the end of the period? In

8 The valuation of liabilities is a much less developed subject than the valuation of assets, but things are changing
and more attention is now being paid to this topic. In order to focus on the principles underlying the concept of
capital maintenance and its relationship to the measurement of profit we will defer the subject of the valuation of
liabilities to Chapter 7.
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other words if, using the selected basis of valuation, the value of the assets at the time #, was
£1000 and the value at the time #; £1500, is the profit for the period £500? The answer is,
probably not.

We must remember that we have defined profit in terms of the amount that can be with-
drawn or distributed while leaving the business as well off at the end as it was at the
beginning of the period. Now assume that in this simple example the valuation basis used is
replacement cost and, for the sake of even more simplicity, that no capital has been intro-
duced or withdrawn during the period and that the firm only holds one type of asset, the
replacement cost of which has increased by 50 per cent. (Thus the company holds the same
number of assets at the end as it did at the beginning of the period.) Let us also assume that
prices in general have not increased over the period.

The question which has to be answered is, how much could be distributed by way of a
dividend at the end of the period without reducing its ‘well-offness’ below that which pre-
vailed at the start of the period? It could be argued that £500 could be paid, as that would
leave the value of the assets constant. It could also be argued that nothing should be paid
because in order to pay a dividend the company would have to reduce its holding of assets. If
the latter view is accepted, it means that the whole of the increase in the value of the assets
should be retained in the business in order to maintain its ‘well-offness’. It will be seen that
each of the approaches described in this simple example will be found in different account-
ing models, but at this stage we simply want to show that it is not sufficient to find the
difference between values at two points in time. The profit figure will also depend on the
amount which it is deemed necessary to retain in the business to maintain its ‘well-offness’,
that is on the concept of capital maintenance which is selected. We shall describe the various
approaches to capital maintenance in a little more detail below.

There are thus two choices to be made: the basis of asset valuation and the aspect of capi-
tal which is to be maintained. In theory each of the possible bases of valuation can be
combined with any of the different concepts of capital maintenance with each combination
yielding a different profit figure. In practice the two choices are not made independently of
each other in that, as we will show, there are some combinations of asset value/capital main-
tenance which are mutually consistent and yield potentially helpful information, while
others appear not to provide useful information, usually because the two choices are made
on the basis of an inconsistent approach to the question of the objectives served by the
preparation of financial accounts.

We can summarise the argument thus far by stating that the profit figure depends on (a)
the basis of valuation selected, and (b) the concept of capital maintenance used, and is found
in the following way:

1 Find the difference between the value of the assets less liabilities at the beginning and end
of the period after adjusting for capital introduced or withdrawn.

2 Decide how much of the difference (if any) needs to be retained in the business to main-
tain capital.

3 The residual is then the profit for the period.

We will now turn to more detailed examination of the possible ways of viewing the capital
of the company (or of its owners) which is to be maintained. It will be helpful to categorise
the various approaches to capital maintenance in the following way:

e Financial capital maintenance
— Not adjusted for inflation (Money financial capital maintenance)
— Adjusted for inflation (Real financial capital maintenance)
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e Operating capital maintenance’

— From the standpoint of the entity
— From the standpoint of the equity shareholders’ interest.

We shall deal with the above in turn. In order to avoid repetition, readers should assume
that there have been no capital injections or withdrawals.

Money financial capital maintenance

With money financial capital maintenance the benchmark used to decide whether a profit
has been earned is the book value of the shareholders’ interest at the start of the period.

If money capital is to be maintained then the profit for the period is the difference
between the values of assets less liabilities at the start and end of the period with no further
adjustment. Money financial capital maintenance is used in traditional historical cost
accounting which is not to say that, as we will show in Example 4.1, it cannot be combined
with other bases of asset valuation.

Real financial capital maintenance

With real financial capital maintenance (which is often referred to simply as real capital
maintenance) the benchmark used to determine whether a profit has been made is the pur-
chasing power of the equity shareholders’ interest in the company at the start of the period.
Thus, if the equity shareholders’ interest in the company is £1000 at the start and the general
price level increases by 5 per cent in the period under review, a profit will only arise if, on the
selected basis, the value of the assets less liabilities, and hence the equity shareholders’ inter-
est!? at the time, amounts to at least £1050.

Both the money financial capital and real financial capital maintenance approaches con-
centrate on the equity shareholders’ interest in the company and are hence sometimes
referred to as measures of profit based on proprietary capital maintenance.

Operating capital maintenance

The operating capital maintenance concept is less clear-cut than the financial capital main-
tenance approach. Broadly, it is concerned with the physical assets of the enterprise and
suggests that capital is maintained if at the end of the period the company has the same level
of assets as it had at the start. A very simple example of the operating capital approach is pro-
vided by the following example.

Suppose a business starts the period with £100 in cash, 20 widgets and 30 flanges and ends
the period with £130 in cash, 25 widgets and 32 flanges. Then the profit for the period, using
the operating capital maintenance approach, could be regarded as being:

Profit = £30 in cash + 5 widgets + 2 flanges.

There is no consensus on the names of the various bases of capital maintenance. For example, the term ‘nominal
money’ might be used instead of ‘money capital’, or ‘physical capital’ rather than ‘operating capital’. We believe
the terms used in this book both provide better descriptions and are more widely used in the literature than the
alternatives.

10 Preference shares being treated as liabilities for this purpose.
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For certain purposes one could stop here, for the list of assets given above shows the increase
in wealth achieved by that business over the period. To state profit in this way does provide a
very clear picture of what has happened and shows in an extremely objective fashion the
extent to which the business has grown in physical terms. Accountancy, however, is con-
cerned with providing information stated in monetary terms.

In order to take this additional step it is necessary to select a basis of valuation, for this
would then enable the accountant to place a single monetary value on the profit.

Let us assume that it is decided that replacement cost is the selected valuation basis and
that the replacement costs at the end of the year are widgets £100 each and flanges £150 each.
The profit for the period would then be stated as follows:

£
Increase in cash 30
Increase in widgets, 5 x £100 500
Increase in flanges, 2 x £150 300
Profit 830

The above example is obviously simplistic in so far as companies hold a large number of dif-
ferent sorts of assets and, only in the most static of situations, will the assets held at the end
of the year match those which are owned at the start of the period. However, the example
does illustrate the sort of thinking which will be developed in later chapters.

The example was based on the variant of the operating capital maintenance measure
which states that a company only makes a profit if it has replaced, or is in a position to
replace, the assets which were held at the start of the period and which have been used up in
the course of the period. A more sophisticated alternative would be to consider the output
which is capable of being generated by the initial holding of assets and design an accounting
model which would only disclose a figure for profit if the company is able to maintain the
same level of output.

Most variants of the operating capital maintenance approach relate the determination of
profit to the assets held by the business, i.e. look at the problem from the standpoint of the
business. The operating capital approach is thus often referred to as an entity measure of
profit. It is, however, possible to combine the operating capital maintenance concept with
the proprietary approach. Thus, a profit based on an entity concept can be derived which
can be adjusted to show the position from the point of view of the equity holders. If, for
example, part of the assets are financed by long-term creditors, it might be assumed that part
of the additional funds required, in a period of rising prices, to maintain the business’s oper-
ating capital will also be contributed by the long-term creditors. Hence, the profit
attributable to equity holders would be higher than the profit derived from the strict applica-
tion of the entity concept. Assume that a company has the following opening balance sheet:

£ £
Equity shareholders 60  Assets
10 items of stock at £10 each 100
Debentures 40

100 100
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Stock is valued at its replacement cost and the proportion of debt finance in the capital
structure (i.e. the gearing) is 40 per cent. For simplicity we will assume the debentures are
interest free.

Assume that the company holds the stock for a period and then sells all 10 items for cash
at £18 each so that the closing balance sheet includes just one asset, cash of £180. In the
period the replacement cost of stock has risen from £10 to £15 per unit.

If the operating capital maintenance concept is followed, then, in order to maintain the
operating capital of the entity, an amount of £150, that is 10 items at the new replacement
cost of £15, would be needed. Thus, the entity profit would be:

£
Closing capital in cash 180
less Amount necessary to replace 10 items at £15 @
Entity profit ﬂ

However, in order to maintain the operating capital of the equity shareholders’ interest in
the entity, an amount of £90 rather than £150 would be needed. Shareholders were financing
60 per cent of the stock and 60 per cent of £150 is £90. Thus, the proprietary profit would be:

Net assets at end of period: £
Cash 180
less Debentures 40

Equity interest 140

Amount necessary to maintain the equity interest in entity 90

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 50

The additional £20 of profit may be described as a gearing gain and represents the profit
which accrued to the shareholders because the company borrowed money and invested it in
stock which rose in value. It is therefore 40 per cent of the increase in the replacement cost of
stock: 40% % (150 — 100).

If the gearing gain were distributed, the operating capital of the entity would fall, unless
the debentures were increased to maintain the original gearing ratio of 40 per cent.

An extended illustration is provided in Example 4.1, in which the combinations of three
different bases of valuation and three different concepts of capital maintenance are shown.

Example 4.1 Different profit concepts

In this example the three valuation bases used are historical cost (HC), replacement cost (RC) and
net realisable value (NRV), and the three measures of capital maintenance are money financial
capital, real financial capital and operating capital.

Suppose that a trader has an inventory consisting of 100 units at the start of the year (all
of which were sold during the year) and 120 units at the end of the year, but has no other assets
or liabilities.

Assume that the trader has neither withdrawn nor introduced capital during the period.

Suppose that the following prices prevailed:
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Opening position (100 units)

Unit price Total capital
Basis of valuation £ £
Historical cost 10.00 1000
Replacement cost 11.00 1100
Net realisable value 11.50 1150

Closing position (120 units)

Unit price Total capital
Basis of valuation £ £
Historical cost 15.00 1800
Replacement cost 17.00 2040
Net realisable value 18.00 2160

In order to use the real financial capital approach it is necessary to know how a suitable general
price index moved over the year. For illustrative purposes, we shall assume a high rate of infla-
tion. We will assume that an index moved as follows:

Index
Beginning of the year and date on which the
opening inventory was purchased 100
Date on which the closing inventory was purchased 118
End of year 120

(a) Money financial capital

The opening money financial capital depends on the selected basis of asset valuation and profit
is the difference between the value of the assets at the end of the period and the corresponding
figure for opening money capital.

Closing value Opening money
of assets capital Profit
Basis of valuation £ £ £
Historical cost 1800 1000 800
Replacement cost 2040 1100 940
Net realisable value 2160 1150 1010

(b) Real financial capital

(i) Historical cost. The closing inventory of £1800 (as measured by its historical cost) was acquired
when the general price index was 118. The index has risen to 120 by the year end and thus the his-
torical cost of inventory expressed in terms of pounds of year-end purchasing power is £1800 x
120/118 = £1831.

Opening money capital based on historical cost was £1000. The index stood at 100 at the
beginning of the year and rose to 120 by the year end. Thus the real financial capital which has to
be maintained is £1000 x 120/100 = £1200.

The profit derived from the combination of historical cost valuation and real financial capital is
hence £1831 - £1200 = £631 (expressed in ‘year-end pounds’).
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(i) Replacement cost. As the replacement cost is a current value it is automatically expressed in year-
end pounds and hence the closing value of inventory is £2040.

Opening money capital using replacement cost was £1100 which, expressed in year-end
pounds, is equivalent to £1320 (£1100 x 120/100). The profit for this particular combination is thus
£2040 - £1320 = £720.

(iliy Net realisable value. The argument is similar to that which was used above and the profit derived
from a net realisable value/real financial capital concept combination is calculated as follows:

£
Closing inventory at net realisable value (automatically
expressed in pounds of year-end purchasing power) 2160
Opening money capital (based on net realisable value)
restated in year-end pounds, £1150 x 120/100 1380
Profit 780

(c) Operating capital
In this simple example it can be seen that the wealth of the business has increased by 20 units
and the only question is how the 20 units should be valued:

Profit
Basis of valuation £
Historical cost (using first in, first out) 20 x £15.00 300
Replacement cost 20 x £17.00 340
Net realisable value 20 x £18.00 360

The various profit figures are summarised in the following table:

Capital maintenance concept

Money Real Operating

financial financial capital
Basis of valuation £ £ £
Historical cost 800 631 300
Replacement cost 940 720 340
Net realisable value 1010 780 360

The usefulness of different profit measures

In Example 4.1 nine different profit figures emerged. It is impossible to say that one of these
is the ‘correct’ figure. They are all ‘correct’ in their own terms, although it may be argued
that some of them are generally more useful than others. The different measures reflect real-
ity in different ways. We will meet some of these measures later in this book in the context of
the various proposals that have been made for accounting reform.

It might be useful if at this stage we examined a number (but by no means all) of the dif-
ferent objectives which are served by the preparation of financial statements and consider
which of the different profit measures would appear to be the more useful in each case.
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We will first discuss the question of whether a business should be allowed to continue in
existence. For simplicity we will assume that the business is a sole proprietorship. Consider
the profit figure of £780 derived from the combination of the net realisable value asset valua-
tion method and real financial capital maintenance. This figure shows the potential increase
in purchasing power which accrued to the owner of the business by virtue of his decision not
to liquidate the business at the beginning of the year. Had he taken that option, the owner
would have received £1150, which expressed in terms of year-end pounds amounts to £1380,
i.e. he could at the beginning of the year purchase an ‘average’ combination of goods and
services amounting to £1150 but it would cost £1380 to purchase the same quantity of goods
and services at the end of the year. By allowing the business to continue, the owner has
increased his wealth by £780 in that, should he liquidate the business at the end of the year,
he would release purchasing power amounting to £2160. Now this analysis does not enable
the owner to tell whether he was right to allow the business to continue in operation, but the
tigures do allow him to compare his increase in wealth with that which he would have
achieved had he liquidated the business at the beginning of the year and invested his funds
elsewhere. In the words of Edwards and Bell (see p. 645) the owner has been able to check in
the market place his decision not to wind up the business.

But, of course, the past is dead and it is current decisions which are important, the deci-
sion to be taken in this case being whether or not the business should be liquidated at the
end of the year. It would be naive to assume that the figure of past profit can be expected to
continue in the future. However, the decision maker has to start somewhere and most
people find it easier to think in incremental terms. With this approach the decision maker
might say: ‘In the conditions which prevailed last year I made a profit of £x. I accept that
next year there will be a number of changes in the circumstances facing the business and I
estimate that the effect of these changes will be to change my profit by £y.” It is clear that if
this approach is adopted a profit figure related to the decision maker’s objectives (in this case
assumed to be the maximisation of the potential consumption) is a valuable input to the
decision-making process.

Let us now consider the subject of taxation. A government might well take the view that a
company should be able to maintain its productive capacity and that taxation should only be
levied on any increase in the company’s wealth as measured against that particular yardstick.
In that case, one of the set of profit figures derived from the application of physical capital
maintenance might be thought to be most suitable on the grounds that, to use the figures
given in our example, if the company started the year with 100 units, then in order to main-
tain the productive capacity it should hold 100 units at the end of the year. The government
would, if it took this view, wish to base its taxation levy on the physical increase of wealth of
20 units. Arguments for and against the use of one of the three members of the physical capi-
tal maintenance set could be deployed, but these will not be pursued at this stage. There are
obviously severe practical difficulties in the use of the physical units approach where the
company owns more than one type of asset and, as will be discussed later, other more practi-
cal methods have been used which allowed governments to apply a taxation policy which
approximated to that postulated above.

Later in this chapter we will point out the limitations of the historical cost approach and,
in fairness, we should now consider whether the profit derived from the traditional
accounting system (historical cost asset values and money capital maintenance) could be
said to be particularly apposite for any purpose. It is sometimes suggested that the tradi-
tional profit figure is of use in questions concerned with distribution policy, for, to quote
Professor W.T. Baxter:
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The ordinary accounting concept has obvious merits; it is familiar and (inflation apart) cautious,
and most of its figures are based on objective data; its widespread use has therefore been
sensible where the decisions are about cash payments (e.g. tax and dividends), since it
reduces the scope for bickering and the danger of paying out cash before the revenue has
been realized.™

How do we choose?

We have identified nine different methods of measuring profit and one possible way forward
would be to include in a company’s annual financial statements a list of these different profit
figures. However, if this is not considered practical, the question becomes which basis or
bases is/are the most suitable for inclusion in published accounts. The reference to the plural
‘bases’ holds upon the possibility that it might be found desirable to include more than one
profit concept in the financial statements.

A sensible approach to this question would be a consideration of the purposes for which a
knowledge of a company’s profits are used, which is in effect the consideration of the aims and
objectives of published financial accounts. A very long list of such purposes can be provided,
but it might be helpful if these were analysed under four different headings, i.e. control, con-
sumption, taxation and valuation. It must, however, be recognised that the divisions between
these headings are not watertight and that they share numerous common features.

The limitations of historical cost accounting

Later chapters of this book deal with the subject of current purchasing power and current
value accounting and will, by implication, highlight some of the deficiencies of the tradi-
tional form of accounting, i.e. the historical cost basis of valuation and money financial
capital maintenance.'? It might, however, be helpful if by way of introduction we tested the
traditional system against the objectives enumerated above.

Control

It is a widely held view that the prime objective of the preparation and publication of regular
financial reporting is — so far as public limited companies are concerned — to provide a
vehicle whereby the directors can account to the owners of the company on their stewardship
of the resources entrusted to their charge. This involves providing shareholders with infor-
mation about the progress of the company as well as details of the amounts paid to directors
by way of remuneration. In theory shareholders can, when supplied with this information,

' W.T. Baxter, Accounting Values and Inflation, McGraw-Hill, London, 1975, p. 23. It may be strange to quote the
words of one of the foremost advocates of current value accounting in support of historical cost accounting.
However, Professor Baxter, on whose work this section of the book is largely based, was seeking to show that dif-
ferent profit concepts may be useful for different purposes.

12 The weaknesses of the traditional accounting model are lucidly and concisely set out by the Accounting
Standards Committee in Accounting for the Effects of Changing Prices: a Handbook, published in 1986, and by the
Accounting Standards Board in its Discussion Paper, ‘The Role of Valuation in Financial Reporting’, published in
1993. See Chapters 19-21.
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take certain steps to remedy the position if the information suggests that all is not well. One
mechanism that is available to shareholders is to effect a change in directors, but in practice it
is rare for shareholders directly to oust directors because of the publication of unfavourable
results. This end might be achieved by the indirect process of a takeover, in that shareholders
might accept an offer for their shares on the grounds that they believe that the new manage-
ment will be more effective than existing management. An individual shareholder can, of
course, achieve similar ends by selling his shares but in so doing he must compare what he
considers to be the value of the shares with the existing management with the current market
price (see the section on valuation later in this chapter).

The above discussion is based on the view that the directors need only account for their
stewardship to their shareholders, but it has been suggested that the concept of stewardship
should be extended — at least so far as large companies are concerned — to cover the need to
report to the community at large. This view, propounded for example in The Corporate
Report,'? is based on the view that large companies control the use of significant proportions of
a country’s scarce resources and that, consequently, large companies should report to the com-
munity at large on the way in which the resources have been used. It will be realised that such a
view does not attract the support of all business people and accountants, who might well be
concerned with the nature of the control devices which might follow if this view were adopted.
The pressure of public opinion might be an acceptable control device, but many would be con-
cerned that this might not be regarded as being sufficiently strong and that recourse might be
made to government intervention or ‘interference’ or, ultimately, nationalisation.

If stewardship is narrowly defined to cover simply the reporting by directors to sharehold-
ers of how they have used shareholders’ funds, then it is possible to argue that historical cost
accounting is reasonably adequate. A historical cost balance sheet lists the assets of the com-
pany and the claims by outsiders (liabilities) on the company; however it will not identify all
the assets, as it will usually omit many intangible assets such as the skill and knowledge of the
employees, degree of monopoly power, etc. The main point, however, is whether steward-
ship should be narrowly defined in the manner suggested above. If shareholders, and others,
are to apply effective control they should be helped to form judgements about how well the
directors have used the resources entrusted to them.

As we indicated earlier in the chapter there are a number of different possible approaches
to the question of how one can measure how successful a company — and by implication its
managers — has been over a period. At this stage it is perhaps sufficient to point out that his-
torical cost accounting will not — except in the simplest of cases where a high proportion of a
company’s assets is made up of cash — be of much assistance. Historical cost accounts, in
general, simply show the acquisition cost or the depreciated historical cost of a company’s
assets and not their current values, let alone the value of the company as a whole.

It is sometimes argued that, even if historical cost accounts do not provide an absolute
measure of success, they can at least allow comparisons to be made between the quality of
performance achieved by different companies. This statement is sometimes justified by argu-
ments such as, ‘Inflation affects all companies to more or less the same extent and therefore a
comparison of profitability measured on a historical cost basis, e.g. rate of return on capital
employed, enables a rough comparison to be made of relative success’.

Two points need to be made. The first concerns inflation. As will be shown, the problem is
not just inflation — a general increase in prices or a fall in the value of money — but includes the
treatment of changes in relative prices. For, even in an inflation-free economy, there will be

13 Scope and Aims Committee of the Accounting Standards Steering Committee, The Corporate Report, Accounting
Standards Steering Committee, London, 1975.
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changes in individual prices. The limitations of historical cost accounting in the context of
changes in relative prices can be seen by considering the following simple example.

Suppose that two companies start operations as commodity dealers, in an inflation-free
environment, with £1000 each. Company A spent its £1000 on commodity A while
Company B invested its £1000 in commodity B. Assume that neither company bought or
sold any units during the period and that over the period the market value!* of commodity A
increased by 2 per cent and commodity B increased by 20 per cent. Historical cost accounts
will not show that Company B performed better in the sense that it chose to invest in a com-
modity which experienced a greater increase in value.

The second point which should be made about the argument advanced above is that it is
not true that inflation affects all companies to more or less the same extent. This point will
be developed later when we will show that price changes (both general and relative) affect
different companies in very different ways and that it is in fact the case that historical cost
accounts are most unhelpful when it comes to the comparison of performance.

Consumption

Probably one of the most important uses of the profit figure is in determining the amount of
any increment of wealth which is available for distribution and how it should be shared
between the various groups entitled to share in such a distribution, i.e. the different classes of
shareholders, the directors and employees (either directly through profit-sharing schemes or
indirectly through wage claims) and the community through taxation. There are what might
be called ‘legal’ and ‘economic’ aspects to this question. Company law requires that divi-
dends may only be paid out of profits, and tax law specifies the amount of taxation which
has to be paid; however, subject to these constraints, plus any other legal limitations arising
from such things as profit-sharing agreements, it is for the directors to make economic
judgements about the level of dividends and, again subject to numerous institutional and
possible legal constraints, the level of wages. Empirical evidence suggests that companies’
dividends are related to the level of reported profit. It is also safe to suggest that sole traders
and partners act in a similar fashion in that, when deciding on the level of their drawings,
they will be influenced by the profits of their businesses.

The concept of capital maintenance based on historical cost accounting principles has, in
periods of anything but modest price changes, proved to be a dangerous benchmark when
used to assess the amount which a company can pay out by way of dividend or through taxa-
tion. For example, the maintenance of money financial capital is not, except in the simplest of
cases, the same as the maintenance of the company’s productive capacity. The point is an
obvious one, for we could visualise a company which started business with £10000 which it
invested in 1000 units of stock. If the price of the stock increases and if the whole of the com-
pany’s historical cost profit is taxed or consumed away, its money financial capital will be
maintained, but it is clear that the company will have to reduce the physical quantity of stock.

It should be recognised that there is a great deal of difference between using the capital
maintenance approach as a benchmark to measure profit and requiring companies to main-
tain their capital. Presumably distribution decisions should be made on the basis of
consumption needs and perceived future investment opportunities inside and outside the
company, and in many cases it would be sensible not to restrict distributions to profits. It is

4 For simplicity we will ignore transaction costs and assume, in the case of both commodities, that there is no dif-
ference between the commodities’ replacement costs and net realisable values.



76

Part 1 - The framework of financial reporting

necessary that company law should attempt to provide a measure of protection to creditors,
but this should not be done in an inflexible way.'®

It will be argued in later chapters that there is a need to devise a measure of profit that will
provide a signal that if more than the amount of profit is consumed or taxed away then the
substance of the business — however that may be defined — will be eroded. However, this is
not to say that the substance of the business should never be reduced by way of dividend: in
other words, a partial liquidation of the business might in certain circumstances be beneficial
to shareholders without being detrimental to the interests of creditors and employees.

Taxation

In the UK, as in many other countries, a company’s tax charge is based on its accounting
profit, although some adjustments will usually have to be made to that profit in order to com-
pute the profit subject to taxation. The general rule is, however, clear: the higher the
accounting profit, the higher, all other things being equal, the amount that will be paid in tax.

For reasons similar to those discussed in the above section on consumption, the tradi-
tional accounting system does not constitute a suitable basis for the computation of the
taxation obligations of businesses. This view depends on the not unreasonable assumption
that governments would wish companies to be at least able to maintain the substance of their
businesses. As we have shown, it is possible for historical cost accounting to generate a profit
figure even when there has been a decline in the productive capacity of the business or, in
less extreme cases, the reported profit might far exceed the growth in the company’s produc-
tive capacity. Thus the use of historical cost accounting as the basis for taxation means that
in periods of rising prices the proportion of the increase in a company’s wealth which is
taken by taxation may be very much larger than that which is implied by the nominal rate of
taxation. In extreme cases taxation might be payable even where there has been a decline in
the productive capacity of the business.

The rapid and extreme inflation of the mid-1970s made governments and others very much
aware of the inadequacy of historical cost accounting for the purposes of taxation. Special
measures were enacted which allowed businesses some relief against taxation for the impact of
increasing prices, namely stock appreciation relief'® and accelerated capital allowances. In con-
trast, financial accounting practice remained and remains essentially rooted in the traditional
model of historical cost valuation combined with money financial capital maintenance,
although, as described later in this book, the debate on possible reforms continues.

Valuation

The information contained in a company’s financial statements is a significant, but not the
sole, input to decisions concerning the valuation of a business or of a share in a business. At
this stage it is perhaps sufficient to point out that the value of any asset, including a business
or a share, depends on the economic benefits which are expected to flow to the asset’s owner.
It requires neither much space nor forceful argument to suggest that a knowledge of the his-
torical cost of a company’s assets will not be of much help in assessing the value of a

15 Current legal practice regarding distributable profit is outlined in the next section of this chapter.
16 Stock appreciation relief was a means of mitigating the extent to which companies had to pay tax on illusory
profits arising from the increase in the replacement cost of stock during the periods in which they were held.
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company or of its shares. Indeed, it was never the view of accountants that historical cost
accounts should be used in this way. However, this view has never fully been accepted by the
users of accounts, who have, understandably from their point of view, believed that the
information provided by a company’s accounts should help them form judgements concern-
ing valuation. In fact the case for accounting reform does not rest simply on the existence of
inflation, which still appears to be a permanent feature of our economy, but on the recogni-
tion that the wish of users to be supplied with information which will help them assess the
value of companies and shares therein is a legitimate demand and one which will be better
served by accounts based on current value principles than by historical cost accounts.

Interim summary

So far in this chapter, we have considered the meaning of profit and have shown that there
are very many ways of measuring this elusive concept. These depend essentially on the
choice made regarding the basis of asset valuation and the aspect of capital which is to be
maintained. We have also discussed the limitations of historical cost accounting when tested
against the more important purposes which a ‘reasonable person’ might expect financial
accounts to serve. In Part 3 of the book, we will consider in some detail a number of the
more important accounting models which have been developed and used in practice. But
before doing so, we will turn our attention briefly to the subject of distributable profits.

Distributable profits

Because the liability of its shareholders is limited to the amount which they have paid or agreed
to pay in respect of their shares, creditors of a failed limited company will normally only have
recourse to the assets of the company itself. The assets representing the share capital, and any
other reserves which are treated as being similar to share capital, may be seen as a buffer or
cushion which provides some protection to creditors in the event of a failure. If a company
were permitted to use its assets to repay this ‘permanent’ capital, the buffer would be reduced
or disappear entirely with the result that the creditors’ position would be more risky.

Although the law cannot prevent companies from reducing their ‘permanent’ capital by
making losses, it does attempt to restrict the reduction of capital in other circumstances and,
where a reduction of capital is permitted, it is strictly regulated. One way in which the law
achieves its aim is by restricting payments of dividends to the distributable profits of the
company. Another way is by the regulation of any transactions involving the purchase or
redemption of a company’s own shares and of any capital reduction or reorganisation
schemes. We look at the former here and the latter in Chapter 18.

It has long been the case that dividends can only be paid out of profits but, surprisingly,
until the passage of the Companies Act 1980, statute law offered no guidance on what consti-
tuted profits available for distribution. There were a number of leading cases, some of which
were distinguished by their age rather than their economic rationale, which combined to
produce some rather odd and confusing results.!”

17 Interested readers are referred to E.A. French, ‘Evolution of the Dividend Law of England’, in Studies in
Accounting, W.T. Baxter and S. Davidson (eds), ICAEW, London, 1977.
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The implementation of the Second and Fourth EU Directives necessitated the inclusion of
provisions relating to distributable profits in UK statute law and, as a result, the Companies
Act 1985 contains the following definition:

. .. a company’s profits available for distribution are its accumulated, realised profits, so far as
not previously utilised by distribution or capitalisation, less its accumulated, realised losses, so
far as not previously written off in a reduction or reorganisation of capital duly made.'8

The above represents the only legal requirement placed on private companies, but additional
rules apply to public companies and investment companies.

A public company may not pay a dividend which would reduce the amount of its net
assets below the aggregate of its called-up share capital plus its undistributable reserves.!® For
this purpose the Act defines undistributable reserves as:

(a) the share premium account;

(b) the capital redemption reserve;

(c) excess of accumulated unrealised profits over accumulated unrealised losses (to the
extent that these have not been previously capitalised or written off);

(d) any other reserve which the company may not distribute.

Before turning to the special case of investment companies we will discuss the implications
of the above for public and private companies. Note that no distinction is made between rev-
enue and capital profits, both are distributable; the key element is whether the profits have
been realised, a term which will be discussed in further detail below.

A private company may, legally, pay a dividend equal to the accumulated balance of
realised profits less realised losses, irrespective of the existence of unrealised losses. In con-
trast, the effect of the ‘net asset rule’ or ‘capital maintenance rule’ imposed on public
companies is to require such a company to cover any net unrealised losses.

Thus, suppose a company’s balance sheet is as given below:

£ £
Share capital 50
Share premium 25
Unrealised profits 20
Unrealised losses (3_5) (15)
Realised profits less realised losses ﬂ
Net assets 100

If the concern were a private company it could pay a dividend of £40, but if it were a public com-
pany the maximum possible dividend would, because of the net asset rule, be restricted as follows:

£ £
Net assets 100
less Share capital and undistributable reserves
Share capital 50
Share premium 25
Excess of unrealised profits over unrealised losses?? 0 75
Maximum dividend payable by public company 25

18 Companies Act 1985, s. 263(3).

19 Companies Act 1985, s. 264(1).

20 Note that the excess of unrealised profits over unrealised losses is zero rather than the ‘mathematical’ excess of
minus 15.
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The effect of the net asset rule is to reduce the possible dividend by the net unrealised losses:

£
Realised profits less realised losses 40
less Excess of unrealised losses over unrealised profits 15
Maximum dividend 25

Given the general bias in accounting to treat losses and provisions as being realised, it should
be appreciated that unrealised losses are likely to be rare in practice. As we shall see later in
the chapter, one of the few examples is a loss recognised on the reversal of a previously
recognised unrealised gain.

An investment company is a listed public company whose business consists of investing its
funds in securities with the intention of spreading the risk and giving its shareholders the ben-
efits of the results of its management of funds. Such a company can, if it satisfies a number of
conditions,?! including a prohibition on the distribution of capital profits, give notice to the
Registrar of Companies of its intention to be regarded as an investment company.

Except for the fact that it may not distribute capital profits, an investment company may
calculate its maximum dividend on the same basis as any other public company. However, it is
afforded greater flexibility by s. 265 of the Companies Act 1985 which provides an alternative
method of calculating the maximum dividend payable. An investment company can, subject to
a number of conditions, pay a dividend equal to the amount of its accumulated realised rev-
enue profits less its accumulated revenue losses (both realised and unrealised). Thus, it may
ignore any capital losses subject to the restriction that, after the payment of the dividend, the
company’s assets must be equal to or greater than one-and-a-half times its liabilities. Thus, if
an investment company wishes to take advantage of the provision in s. 265 of not restricting its
dividend by virtue of the existence of capital losses, it must apply this ‘asset ratio test’.

It should be noted that the asset ratio test will be affected by the way in which it is pro-
posed to fund the dividend, in that the result will depend on whether the dividend will
reduce assets (if paid out of a positive cash balance) or increase liabilities (if paid from an
overdraft). Suppose, for example, that an investment company has assets of £1200 and liabil-
ities of £600. Then the maximum dividend on each basis will be:

(a) Dividend paid out of cash (i.e. liabilities held constant)

Initial After Maximum
position dividend dividend
£ £ £
Assets 1200 900(3) 300
Liabilities 600 600(2)

(b) Dividends paid out of an overdraft (assets held constant)

Initial After Maximum
position dividend dividend
£ £ £
Assets 1200 1200(3)
Liabilities 600 800(2) 200

2l For a detailed list of conditions readers should refer to the Companies Act 1985, s. 266.
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The various provisions outlined above are summarised in Table 4.1 and illustrated in
Example 4.2.

Table 4.1 Tests for maximum dividend

Type of company Test

Private The dividend must not exceed accumulated realised profits less
accumulated realised losses.

Public (other than The dividend must not exceed accumulated realised profits less
investment companies) accumulated realised losses, less accumulated net unrealised losses.

Investment companies  The maximum dividend is the higher of:

(@) the amount derived from the above rule applicable to all public
companies with the modification that realised capital profits must
be excluded; and

(b) the amount of accumulated realised revenue profits less
accumulated revenue losses, both realised and unrealised,
provided that, after payment of the dividend, assets are equal to at
least one and a half times the liabilities.

Example 4.2

The balance sheet of Company A is summarised below:

£ £
Total assets 4000
less Total liabilities 1000
3000

Share capital 200
Share premium account 800
Unrealised profits

Revenue 100

Capital 200 300
Unrealised losses

Revenue (200)

Capital @) (1000)
Realised profits less realised losses

Revenue 2300

Capital 400 2700

3000

We will now work out the maximum dividend on the assumption that Company A is (a) a private
limited company, (b) a public limited company and (c) an investment company.

(a) Private company
For such a company, the maximum dividend is the accumulated net realised profits, that is
£2700.



Chapter 4 - What is profit?

81

(b) Public company

The public company is subject to the capital maintenance rule that, after distribution, the net
assets must equal the share capital plus undistributable reserves. In this case the undistributable
reserves comprise only the share premium account, for the excess of unrealised profits over
unrealised losses is zero. Hence, the maximum dividend is given by:

£ £
Net assets 3000
less Share capital 200
Share premium @ 1000
Maximum dividend 2000

In the case of the public company, the maximum dividend of the private company (£2700) has
been reduced by the net unrealised losses of £700. (Unrealised losses £1000 less unrealised prof-
its £300.)

(c) Investment company

By definition, an investment company must not distribute its capital profits. Hence our starting

point must be realised revenue profits of £2300 subject, however, to the capital maintenance rule.

Under this rule, the maximum dividend would be £2000 as for the public company in (b) above.
Using the alternative method allowed by s. 265, the maximum dividend is the excess of the

realised revenue profits over net unrealised revenue losses, i.e. £2300 - (200 — 100) = £2200, sub-

ject to the application of the asset ratio test.

(i) If a dividend of £2200 were paid in cash, total assets would fall from £4000 to £1800, which is
more than 1.5 times the liabilities of £1000.

(ii) If the dividend of £2200 was paid by overdraft, liabilities would increase to £3200, which would
require asset cover of 1.5 x £3200 = £4800, i.e. more than the existing assets of £4000.

Hence the maximum dividend is £2200, but only if such a payment did not increase the liabilities.
The lower limit of the maximum dividend is £2000 (as this can be justified on the alternative capi-
tal maintenance rule) while a dividend of between £2000 and £2200 would be possible if only a
proportion of the dividend was paid out of an overdraft.

Realised profits

It is clear from the above discussion that the most important task in determining a com-
pany’s distributable profits is deciding what constitutes its realised profits less losses.?? Given
the importance of the term, we might expect the Companies Acts to provide us with a com-
prehensive definition, but we would be extremely disappointed.

The Companies Acts provide both specific and general guidance; although the specific
guidance is helpful, the general guidance is much less helpful. Let us look at the more
detailed guidance first.

22 This section on realised profits draws heavily on the ICAEW research paper, B.V. Carsberg and C.W. Noke, The
Reporting of Profits and the Concept of Realisation, ICAEW, 1989. Interested readers are also referred to the Draft
Technical Release (TECH 25/00), The determination of realised profits and distributable profits in the context of the
Companies Act 1985, ICAEW and ICAS, 2000, although, for reasons explained later in this section, this draft is
unlikely to be developed any further.
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Section 275 of the Companies Act 1985 states that provisions are realised losses except for
a provision made in respect of a fall in value of a fixed asset appearing on a revaluation of all
the fixed assets of the company, whether including or excluding goodwill. This rather strange
statement appears to mean that a fall in the value of one fixed asset may be treated as unre-
alised provided the aggregate value of fixed assets exceeds their aggregate net book value,
thus taking a portfolio approach to fixed assets not often found in accounting. For this pur-
pose, directors merely have to consider the values of all fixed assets and do not have to
recognise those values in the financial statements although disclosure of what has been done
is required. In the absence of such a general revaluation of fixed assets, a reduction in a pre-
viously unrealised profit would be treated as an unrealised loss unless the reduction is such
that the revised value falls below the depreciated historical cost of the asset; in the latter case,
the difference between the revised value and the depreciated historical cost is regarded as
being a realised loss.

The Act also provides that where a fixed asset is revalued and depreciation is subsequently
based on the revalued amount, the excess of depreciation based on the revalued amount over
depreciation based on historical cost is to be treated as a realised profit. Thus the unrealised
profit on revaluation is gradually converted into realised profit over the remaining useful life of
the asset. Put another way, whatever is done in the profit and loss account, it is necessary only
to charge depreciation based on historical cost in arriving at the realised profits of a company.

To give an example of such depreciation, let us suppose that a company purchased a fixed
asset for £50 000 when its expected useful life was ten years and its expected residual value
was zero. Using the straight line method of depreciation, the annual charge would be £5000
and, after four years, the net book value would be £30000. If, after these four years, the asset
were revalued to £42 000, there would be an unrealised revaluation surplus of £12 000, that is
£42 000 less £30000. The future annual depreciation charge in accordance with FRS 15
Tangible Fixed Assets, would normally be £42 000 + 6 = £7000.

The excess of the revised depreciation charge of £7000 over historical cost depreciation of
£5000 will then be treated as realised profits of the company year by year for the purpose of
determining its distributable profits. Thus, by the end of the ensuing six years, the original unre-
alised revaluation surplus of £12 000 will have been regarded as realised and hence distributable.

Quite clearly the realised profits of a company may be a different figure from the balance
on its profit and loss account!

Let us turn next to the more general guidance provided by the law. As a consequence of
Companies Act 1989, the Companies Act 1985, s. 275 now contains the following definition:

References . . . to ‘realised profits’ and ‘realised losses’, in relation to a company’s accounts,
are to such profits or losses of the company as fall to be treated as realised in accordance
with principles generally accepted, at the time when the accounts are prepared, with respect
to the determination for accounting purposes of realised profits or losses.

This hardly provides an adequate definition of realised profits. Rather it leaves the definition
of realised profits to accountants, subject, of course, to the need for judicial interpretation in
the courts if the accountants’ methods are challenged. For reasons which we discuss below,
accounting standard setters have found it extremely difficult to provide a satisfactory defini-
tion of realised profits.

A basic problem is that the definition includes reference, not to generally accepted
accounting principles, but to ‘principles generally accepted with respect to the determination
for accounting purposes of realised profits’. There is some considerable doubt over whether
such principles actually exist. Accounting principles have been primarily concerned with a
different objective, namely providing a true and fair view of a company’s position and
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results. In attempting to achieve such an objective, accountants have been more concerned
with the recognition of profit than with whether it is realised or distributable.

Paragraph 12 of Schedule 4 to Companies Act 1985 further complicates matters by
stating that:

The amount of any item shall be determined on a prudent basis, and in particular:

(@) only profits realised at the balance sheet date shall be included in the profit and
loss account.

Many accountants see this as providing an undesirable constraint on the development of
more informative accounting.?® Indeed the ASC invoked the true and fair override to avoid
the requirement to comply with the above principle in cases where it was thought to be inap-
propriate. One example is the treatment of exchange gains on foreign currency loans
outstanding on a balance sheet date, which we discuss in Chapter 16.

Given the above position, it is perhaps not surprising to find little guidance on how to
determine realised profits. One source of guidance was the ICAEW Technical Release 481,
issued in 1982, which came to the conclusion that:

A profit which is required by SSAPs to be recognised in the profit and loss account should
normally be treated as a realised profit, unless the SSAP specifically indicates that it should be
treated as unrealised.

Although this might have seemed an attractive way forward, it does seem to be a rather sus-
pect interpretation of the law. Indeed, it appears to be somewhat close to a tautology: a profit
and loss account must only include realised profits but, by definition, whatever an accoun-
tant puts in the profit and loss account is realised!

Given the above difficulties, the ASC requested the Research Board of the ICAEW to commis-
sion a study, and the resulting paper “The Reporting of Profits and the Concept of Realisation’,
by B.V. Carsberg and C.W. Noke, was published in 1989. If the ASC was expecting guidance on
what was and what was not a realised profit, it must have been extremely disappointed. Carsberg
and Noke identified six different meanings of realisation which have been used.

We shall focus on just two of these possible concepts of realisation. The narrower of the
two is that which was embodied in the definition of prudence contained in the now with-
drawn SSAP 2:%4

revenue and profits are not anticipated, but are recognised by inclusion in the profit and
loss account only when realised in the form either of cash or of other assets the ultimate
cash realisation of which can be assessed with reasonable certainty; provision is made for
all known liabilities (expenses and losses) whether the amount of these is known with cer-
tainty or is a best estimate in the light of the information available. (Para. 14)

This concept concentrates on the reasonable certainty of the ultimate receipt of cash. Clearly
realisation has occurred if cash has been received but realisation is also deemed to occur if
certain types of assets, such as debtors, are held which are reasonably certain to be turned
into cash.

The wider concept regards profit as realised if it can be assessed with reasonable certainty.
Thus, it considers the main purpose of the concept as being to ensure reliability of measurement.

23 See, for example, “The ASC in chains: whither self-regulation now?’, Professor David P. Tweedie, Accountancy,
March 1983, pp. 112-20. This article was written many years before David Tweedie became Chairman of the
Accounting Standards Board in 1990.

24 As explained in Chapter 2, SSAP 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (November 1971) has now been replaced by
FRS 18 Accounting Policies (December 2000).
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Readers may find the distinction between these two concepts difficult to grasp so it is per-
haps helpful to look at some examples.

Where a company makes a cash sale, there is no doubt that the profit is realised under
either concept. Similarly, where a sale is made on credit, the profit is treated as realised sub-
ject to the possible need for a provision for doubtful debts. The creation of the debt payable
in the short term provides evidence of the ultimate cash proceeds and also provides a reliable
measure of the profits.

Let us think next of an investment in a listed security which increases in price during a
period. Under the narrower concept of realisation, profit would not be considered realised
because the ultimate cash proceeds at some unspecified time in the future cannot be assessed
with reasonable certainty. However, under the wider concept, profit would be treated as
realised because the listed price of the share on the balance sheet date provides reliable evi-
dence that a profit has been made. Conventionally accountants would adopt the narrower
concept and would treat the holding gain as unrealised.

When we turn to foreign exchange gains on unsettled short-term debtors and creditors,
we find that SSAP 20 requires that such gains be taken to the profit and loss account as
realised profits. Under the narrower concept of realisation, these would not be treated as
realised profits in view of the fact that the exchange rate may reverse between the balance
sheet date and the date of receipt or payment. However, under the wider concept, there is
reliable evidence, in the form of a published exchange rate, for the fact that a profit has been
made. It is true that this may be reversed in the subsequent period but that will be a matter
for the subsequent period. Here the ASC appears to have adopted the wider concept of real-
isation, although, interestingly, the adoption of this wider concept is not applied to the
treatment of exchange gains on unsettled long-term monetary items, for here the gains are
specifically described as unrealised.?

We hope that these examples provide an indication of the lack of consistency in defining
realised profits in practice. In order to provide some consistency, Carsberg and Noke recom-
mended that the standard setters should prepare a statement defining realisation and, in
their view, the definition should be framed in terms of the reliability of measurement.
Instead of attempting to define or redefine realisation, the ASB has taken a rather different
approach in the development of its Statement of Principles. As we have seen in Chapter 1, it
has developed recognition criteria which do not depend upon realisation; we shall return to
this below.

Do the provisions make sense?

It is possible to question the philosophy on which the law of distributable profits is based
and to press for changes to that law. Why, after all, should dividends be restricted to distrib-
utable profits defined in terms of realisation??®

Let us approach the question in two stages. First, why should dividends be restricted to
profits and, second, if such a restriction is to apply, why should it relate to realised profits?

If a company’s directors are acting in the interests of its shareholders then the decision on
whether or not a distribution is made should depend on the rates of return available to

25 See Chapter 16, pp. 480-3.

26 The ideas which follow may be explored in E.A. French, ‘Evolution of the dividend law of England’, in Studies in
Accounting, W.T. Baxter and S. Davidson (eds), ICAEW, London, 1977, and D.A. Egginton, ‘Distributable profit
and the pursuit of prudence’, Accounting and Business Research, No. 41, Winter 1980.
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shareholders outside the company, compared with the rates of return available within the com-
pany. If the company has inferior investment opportunities to those of the shareholders, then
the restriction of a dividend to the distributable profits of the company would lead to an ineffi-
cient allocation of economic resources. The position of creditors needs to be considered and
there is a case for protecting the ‘buffer’ available to creditors. In practice it is likely that the
buffer will only be of relevance if the company goes into liquidation or substantially reduces its
scale of operations. In such circumstances the real protection for creditors is the amount which
will be realised from the sale of assets. In the case of some assets, especially current assets, real-
isable values may be well in excess of book values, but in the case of many fixed assets,
particularly of a failed company, book value might exceed net realisable value. Hence, it might
be argued that the test that should be applied is to specify that after distribution the realisable
value of the company’s assets exceed, possibly by a safety margin, the amounts due to creditors.

Even if we accept that dividends should be restricted to profits, why should the distribu-
tion be limited to realised profits?

It is sometimes argued that if a gain is realised, then the money is available to pay the divi-
dend without the need to consider asset valuation. However, as Professor Egginton has
pointed out, the argument has two weaknesses, one damaging and the other fatal! The dam-
aging weakness is that conventional accounting often treats profits as realised well before
cash is received. The fatal weakness is that even when profits have been received in cash, this
cash will usually have been converted into other assets long before any dividends are paid.
Hence, whether profits have been received or not, there is no guarantee that cash is available.

This is an area of the law which includes a number of poorly thought-out rules based on
dubious reasoning, and accountants are forced to operate within an extremely unhelpful
framework. It is of some consolation that in the vast majority of cases the limiting factor in
determining a dividend is not the availability of distributable profits but the availability of
cash and the alternative uses to which it may be put!

The ASB approach

According to the present law, only profits realised at a balance sheet date may be included in a
profit and loss account. However, given the difficulties which we have discussed above, it is
not surprising that the ASB has found the concept of realisation a poor test of whether or not
a gain or loss should be recognised in financial statements. As we have explained in Chapter 1,
the ASB Statement of Principles’’ is drawn up ignoring the realisation constraint as well as
other constraints imposed by the law.

The Statement of Principles contains recognition criteria which are based upon the reason-
able certainty that an asset or liability exists and whether it can be measured with sufficient
reliability. This would achieve the purpose intended by the recommendation in the report by
Carsberg and Noke, discussed above, but in a rather different way. In the view of the
authors, this attempt to separate recognition from realisation makes good sense.

The ASB anticipates that its approach will lead to changes in company law and this now
seems likely following the publication of the White Paper Modernising Company Law in July
2002.% This White Paper makes an enormous number of proposals for change of which two
are pertinent here.

27 Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting, ASB, London, December 1999.

28 Modernising Company Law, Cm. 5553-I and Cm 555311, Draft clauses of Companies Bill, July 2002. The White
Paper is available from the Modernising Company Law pages of the Department of Trade and Industry website at
www.dti.gov.uk/companiesbill.
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First, as we have seen in Chapter 2, the White Paper proposes that the next Companies
Act will not contain detailed rules on the form and contents of annual financial statements
and reports. Rather power to make these detailed rules will be delegated to a Standards
Board, modelled on the present ASB but with a wider remit. This delegation will permit the
new Standards Board to make the rules for what is or is not to be recognised in a company’s
performance statement and its rules will undoubtedly make no reference to realisation as a
criteria for recognition.

Second, the White Paper proposes:

the revision of the distribution rules to clarify what is a ‘distribution’, replacing the common law
rules in the area with a complete codification, and enabling the delegation of some of the more
technical accounting provisions to the proposed Standards Board.2?

Although many draft clauses of a Companies Bill were published in July 2002, unfortu-
nately no definition of distribution or draft clauses on this topic are provided to help us to
see how the new law is likely to develop.

Changes in company law inevitably involve a long gestation period and it has to be recog-
nised that the approach taken by the ASB is likely to lead to all manner of difficulties and
possible confusion until a new Companies Act is enacted. While it was possible to ignore the
constraints imposed by law in drawing up the Statement of Principles it is not possible to do
so in drafting accounting standards and the ASB is only too well aware that some parts of its
accounting standards are in conflict with its own Statement of Principles.

Summary

In this chapter, we have first looked at the economic concept of profit and explored different
ways of measuring it. These involve first measuring the wealth or well-offness of a company
at the beginning and end of an accounting period and then comparing these two amounts
with the aid of a capital maintenance concept. Although wealth could be measured in respect
of the business as a whole, it is more likely to be determined as the sum of the values of the
individually identified assets and liabilities. Using this approach, possible measurement bases
for assets include historical cost, replacement cost, net realisable value and present value.
When prices are changing, comparison of the opening and closing wealth requires the selec-
tion of a capital maintenance concept, the three main candidates for which are money
financial capital maintenance, real financial capital maintenance and operating capital main-
tenance. We have examined briefly the usefulness of the different profit measures which
result, and, in particular, the limitations of the traditional historical cost/money capital
maintenance approach to the measurement of profit.

We have also examined the legal definition of distributable profits, the amounts which
may be paid out to the shareholders of a limited company, and the related, but rather
unhelpful, legal definition of realised profits, which have developed over the past century,
largely as part of the common law. Under present company law, only realised profits may be
included in a profit and loss account and, as we have seen in Chapter 1, this legal restriction
has been hampering the ASB in its attempts to reform financial reporting. Fortunately, the
Government White Paper Modernising Company Law, issued in July 2002, proposes that the

2 Ibid., Cm. 5553-1, Part II, Chapter 6, para. 6.5.
30 Ibid., Cm. 5553-11, Companies Bill — Draft clauses.



Chapter 4 - What is profit?

87

next Companies Act will delegate the making of detailed rules on the form and content of
company accounts to a new Standards Board, a successor to the ASB but with a somewhat
wider remit. It also proposes that the new Act will include changes to the distribution rules,
which will replace the common law rules with a complete codification.

Recommended reading

B.V. Carsberg and C.W. Noke, The Reporting of Profits and the Concept of Realisation, ICAEW,
London, 1989.

R.H. Parker, G.C. Harcourt and G. Whittington (eds), Readings in the Concept and Measurement
of Income, 2nd edn, Philip Allan, Oxford, 1986.

A useful website

www.dti.gov.uk/companiesbill

4.1 Some commentators on financial reporting practices argue that financial statements pro-
duced under the historic cost convention do not provide relevant information to users of
those statements in times of rising prices.

Requirements
(a) Identify the main limitations of historic cost accounting, explaining the nature of those
limitations. (5 marks)

(b) Discuss how the use of other capital maintenance concepts to that applied under his-
toric cost accounting might provide more useful information to users of financial

statements. (5 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, May 1995 (10 marks)

4.2 (a) Give a brief summary of the current value replacement cost accounting system
(entry values). (6 marks)

(b) Give a brief summary of the current value net realisable value accounting system
(exit values). (6 marks)

(c) To what extent do you consider it would be useful to prepare financial statements
which used entry values for the profit and loss account and exit values for the balance
sheet and why? (8 marks)

ACCA Level 2, The Regulatory Framework of Accounting, December 1989 (20 marks)
4.3 Three unrelated companies, Tower plc (a public company), Book Ltd (a private company)

and Holdings plc (a quoted investment company) have summarised balance sheets, as on
30 June 1985, as set out below with relevant additional information.
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(a) Tower plc

£m £m
Share capital 2.0 Fixed assets 3.3
Share premium account 0.5
Revaluation reserves 1.0 Net current assets 2.7
Profit and loss account 2.5

6.0 6.0

(1) A partial revaluation of fixed assets took place during the year with the following result:

£m
Surplus on land 0.65
Surplus on buildings 0.35
Surplus on plant and machinery 0.10
Deficit on fixtures and fittings (0.10)

1.00

The directors consider that the value of the remaining fixed assets not revalued is equal
to their net book amounts.

(2) Depreciation is provided at 2% on buildings, 15% on plant and machinery, and 20% on
fixtures and fittings. All fixed assets are depreciated for the full year on the cost or reval-
ued amounts.

(3) Fixed assets comprise:

£m
Land 1.2
Buildings 0.8
Plant and machinery 0.8
Fixtures and fittings 0.3
Development costs 0.2
33
(b) Book Ltd — Current Cost Balance Sheet
£000 £000  £000
Share capital 45 Fixed assets 50
Current cost reserve 40 Investment in Worm Ltd 40
Retained profit 55 Current assets
Stock 10
Long-term work-in-progress 30
40
Cash 10 50
140 140

(1) No provision has yet been made for the losses of the subsidiary, Worm Ltd. It is estimated
that the net assets of Worm Ltd in which Book Ltd has an interest of 60% are £50000.
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(c)

(2) The current cost reserve comprises:

(3) Long-term work-in-progress includes a profit element of £6000 calculated in accor-

dance with SSAP 9.
Holdings plc
£000 £000 £000
Share capital 650 Fixed assets
Share premium 325 Tangible 20
Reserves 4380 Investments 5647
Current assets
Debtors 98
Investments 2436
Cash 147
2681
Creditors falling due
within 1 year 1793 888
6555
Creditors falling due in
more than 1 year (936)
Provisions (264)
5355 5355
Reserves consist of:
£000
Unrealised capital losses (48)
Unrealised revenue profits 140
Unrealised revenue losses (17)
Realised capital profits 2890
Realised capital losses (1241)
Realised revenue profits 2 666
Realised revenue losses (10)
4380
Requirements
(a) State concisely, for each of the three types of company mentioned, the principles for
calculating distributable profits under the Companies Act 1980 (now part of the
Companies Act 1985). (5 marks)
(b) Calculate for each of the three companies the maximum legally distributable profits.
(7 marks)
(c) Discuss the reasons why it is not normally commercially or practically desirable to
make the maximum distribution. (7 marks)
ICAEW, Financial Accounting II, December 1985 (19 marks)

£000
CCA adjustments passed through profit and loss account 13
Uplift of fixed assets to CCA values 27
40
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4.4 The balance sheet of Omega as at 30 September 1992 contained the following balances

and notes:
£000

Share capital 10 000
Reserves:

Share premium Note 1 1 000
Revaluation reserve Note 2 1780
Other Reserves:

Merger reserve Note 3 550
Profit and loss account — 1992 Note 4 1940
Profit and loss account b/f (200)
Capital and reserves 15070
Liabilities 15070
Total assets 30 140

Note 1 The share premium arose on the issue of shares on 1 October 1989.

Note 2 The revaluation reserve arose as a result of a revaluation of certain of the fixed
assets on 1 October 1991. It comprises a gain of £2 000 000 on the revaluation of
plant and machinery, which is the balance remaining after the transfer to the profit
and loss account of £200000 representing the depreciation on the revaluation surplus;
and a loss of £220000 arising from the revaluation of office premises. The directors
propose to revalue the remaining fixed assets which currently appear at historic cost
in a subsequent financial year.

Note 3 The merger reserve represented the premium of £1 450 000 on shares issued
on the acquisition on 1 October 1991 of a subsidiary, Alpha plc, in accordance with
the merger provisions of the Companies Act 1985 less goodwill of £900 000 arising on
a separate transaction. The goodwill has an estimated useful economic life of 15 years.

Note 4 The profit and loss account balance is the balance after:

(i) Writing off the total acquisition goodwill of £400000 arising on the acquisition
on 1 October 1991 of an unincorporated business carried on by Beta Associates.
The estimated useful economic life of the goodwill is 10 years.

(ii) Creating a provision of £1 200000 representing a permanent diminution in the
value of a subsidiary, Gamma plc.

(iii) The transfer of the £200 000 mentioned in Note 2 from the revaluation reserve
to the profit and loss account representing the amount by which the total depre-
ciation charge for the year exceeded the amount that would have been provided
if the plant had not been revalued.

(iv) Crediting an exchange gain of £38000 that arose on the translation of a long-term
loan taken out in French francs on 1 October 1991. The loan was taken out to use
in the United Kingdom because the interest rate was favourable at the date the
loan was raised.

Required
(a) Calculate the amount of distributable profit for Omega on the basis that it is:

(i) A public company.
(ii) An investment company. (10 marks)

(b) Explain briefly:

(i) The disclosure requirements relating to distributable profits in a single company
and group context.
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(ii) The effect on the distributable profits of the holding company if the group has suffi-
cient distributable profits in aggregate to make a distribution to the holding
company’s shareholders but the holding company itself has insufficient distrib-
utable profits.

(iii) The effect on the distributable profits of the holding company if the holding com-
pany has sold one subsidiary company to another subsidiary for a consideration
that exceeds the carrying value of the investment in the holding company’s
accounts.

(iv) The effect on the distributable profits of the holding company if a subsidiary com-
pany which has a coterminous accounting period declares a dividend after the end
of the holding company’s year end. (10 marks)

ACCA, Advanced Financial Accounting, December 1992 (20 marks)
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Assets |

A key practical and theoretical issue in accounting is when should an asset be recognised
and how should it be measured? In what circumstances does expenditure result in an asset
and when in an expense? If an asset is to be recognised should it be recorded at cost, and
how should that cost be measured, or at a current value that may be more or less than the
asset’s historical cost? Most assets do not last forever and so we must decide how we
should measure the consumption of the asset.

In this chapter we concentrate on fixed assets, including investment properties, and will
discuss the issues involved both in the way in which they are initially recognised in the finan-
cial statements and in the way in which changes in their carrying value are effected. Thus we
will cover both depreciation and impairment reviews and the use of current values. We will in
the following chapter cover other topics related to assets: inventory, research and develop-
ment and accounting for grants, while we will deal with contingent assets in Chapter 7, along
with contingent liabilities.

The various statements and standards covered in the chapter are:

FRS 15 Tangible Fixed Assets (1999)

FRED 29 Property, Plant and Equipment and Borrowing Costs (2002)
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (revised 1998)

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 1993)

SSAP 19 Accounting for Investment Properties (amended 1994)

FRS 10 Goodwill and Intangible Assets (1997)

FRS 11 Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill (1998)

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (1998)

Exposure draft of an amendment to FRS 15 and FRS 10 (2000)

MDIBIAIDAO

The proposals of FRED 29, which was issued as part of the convergence programme between
UK and international standards, are intended to lead to the replacement of FRS 15 by two stan-
dards. One would be based on the existing International Standard, IAS 23 Borrowing Costs,
and the other on a planned revised version of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Introduction

In Chapter 4 we introduced the various approaches to the valuation of assets in a balance
sheet. These included historical cost, historical cost adjusted for inflation, replacement cost,
net realisable value and present value. We shall, in Part 3 of the book, explore systems of
accounting which attempt to adjust for the effects of changing prices in various ways but in
this and the following chapter we will discuss a number of problems of accounting measure-
ment and disclosure of assets in the context of current financial accounting practice. The
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current system used in the UK has long been known as the ‘modified historical cost account-
ing system’ although, in its Statement of Principles, the ASB now uses the term ‘mixed
measurement system’ (see Chapter 1). It is a system of accounting in which most assets are
shown at an amount based upon historical cost while other assets are shown at their current
values. In the UK and a few other countries,! fixed assets may be shown at their current
values even when this is higher than the carrying values based upon historical cost.

While efforts to replace historical cost accounting by current cost accounting as the main
basis of accounting have failed, the debate has had a considerable impact on financial
accounting practice. During the 1970s and 1980s, those inflationary decades, both the
accountancy profession and the UK Government made moves towards the greater use of
current values in financial statements and the main elements of that particular saga are
described in Chapter 19. In a period of low inflation much of the heat has gone out of the
debate, but there are some important legacies of the controversy including the ‘alternative
accounting rules’ of the Companies Act 1985 and the fact that the subject of revaluation is
now an important aspect of any financial reporting standard dealing with assets. As we
explained in Chapter 1, it is quite clear that the ASB favours the greater use of current values
in financial statements and this enthusiasm is undoubtedly shared by the present IASB.

The nature of assets

The ASB deals with the general nature of assets in its Statement of Principles issued in
December 1999, in which assets are defined thus:

Assets are rights or other access to future economic benefits controlled by an entity as a
result of past transactions or events. (Para. 4.6)

Note that the key elements are control (not ownership), future economic benefits and the need
to identify past transactions or events that gave rise to the asset. We shall show how these ele-
ments affect the treatment of assets in the course of the chapter.

Tangible and intangible assets

Company legislation and accounting standards make much of the distinction between tangible
and intangible assets. The balance sheet formats of the Companies Act require the separation
of the two types of assets while they are dealt with different financial reporting standards. In
the past when manufacturing was king and ‘real’ assets were things that you could touch it
might have been appropriate to treat the two classes of assets as being fundamentally different
but in the modern economy where knowledge, brands and rights may be far more significant
sources of wealth than plant and equipment the distinction seems far less sensible.

The distinction may actually be very unhelpful because it deflects us from understanding
the basic principle that an asset is only an asset if it is a source of future economic benefits.
Its tangibility or intangibility has nothing to do with that. A piece of plant and equipment is
a potential heap of rust; the right to the ‘Mars’ brand is a very ‘real’ source of wealth.

! The ASB is part of a group of national standard setters from jurisdictions in which the revaluation of fixed assets is
permitted together with the IASB. This is referred to as the ‘Revaluation Group’ and comprises representatives
from standard-setting bodies of Australia, New Zealand, South Africa and the UK. Upward revaluations of fixed
assets are not permitted in most countries including major players such as Canada, Germany, Japan and the USA.
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An interesting example of the somewhat odd outcome that emerges from the debates
about an asset’s tangibility relates to websites. A well-designed and skilfully targeted website
will generate considerable economic benefits and hence must be regarded as constituting an
asset, but is it tangible or intangible? This question, and here one is rather reminded of
angels dancing on pins, was addressed by the Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) which pub-
lished an abstract on the subject in February 2001.

It was concluded that a website does indeed constitute an asset if there existed reasonable
grounds for supposing that future economic benefits would exceed the costs to be capi-
talised. If the case could be made, the amount to be capitalised would be the expenditure
related to infrastructure costs (including the cost of registering the domain name and soft-
ware) and the costs of designing the site and in preparing and posting the content of the site.

It might be thought that the asset has more of a virtual than a physical substance but even
so the UITF experienced some difficulty in determining whether it should be treated as a
tangible or an intangible asset. They did, however, identify a precedent in paragraph 2 of
FRS 10 Goodwill and Intangible Assets where it is stated that software development costs that
are directly attributable to bringing a computer system into working condition should be
treated as part of the cost of the related hardware rather than as a separate intangible asset.
On the basis of this somewhat imperfect analogy, the UITF decided that website develop-
ment costs should be treated as a tangible asset.

It is not altogether clear how this view can be squared with the FRS 15 definition of a tan-
gible asset that includes the requirement that it has a ‘physical substance’ (see p. 100). A
more important question, however, is does it matter whether website expenditure is tangible
or intangible? We shall return to this question on p. 122 after dealing with the standards
relating to these tangible and intangible assets respectively.

A multiplicity of standards

In its recent work the ASB has more closely linked the issues surrounding the special case of the
intangible asset of goodwill arising from a business combination with intangible assets in gen-
eral. One consequence is that there are now three key interlinking standards, FRS 10 Goodwill
and Intangible Assets, FRS 11 Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill and FRS 15 Tangible
Fixed Assets, which are based on consistent principles, as well as three surviving SSAPs, 19, 9
and 13, which deal with investment properties, stocks and work-in-progress, and research and
development. We will, in this chapter, focus on FRS 15, FRS 10 and SSAP 19, but will also dis-
cuss some elements of FRS 11. We will return to a more extensive discussion of goodwill and
impairment in Chapter 13 where we deal with the subject of business combinations.

The nature of the issues

Before proceeding to the detailed discussion it might be helpful to identify the main issues
relating to accounting for assets that need to be considered:

1 What is the actual nature of the asset that is to be recorded? It may be necessary to distin-
guish between the economic benefits that accrue from the ownership of the asset, the
right to acquire the asset (an option), or the right to receive some or all of the returns that
will be generated by the asset.

2 UITF Abstract 29, ‘Website development cost’.



98

Part 2 - Financial reporting in practice

2 Who controls the right to benefit from the use of the asset? This might not be the same

entity as its legal owner.

What was the cost of acquiring an asset?

Does the asset have a finite useful economic life? If so, how should it be depreciated?

5 What is the current value of the asset and on what basis should the current value be deter-
mined? These questions need to be answered even for historical cost accounts to help
decide whether the carrying value of the asset needs to be written down.

6 To what extent, and how, should current values be recognised in historical cost accounts?

7 What is the appropriate treatment of gains and losses from the revaluation and disposal
of assets?

= W

While we deal with most of these issues in this chapter some, like the second, control of the
right to benefit from the use of the asset, are best dealt with in later chapters of the book.

The basis of valuation

We will start not with the first issue but with the fifth, because the answer to the question
‘What is the asset’s current value?’ has an important impact on many of the issues. We will in
Part 3 of the book deal with some of the theoretical aspects of current value but, at this stage,
we will confine our discussion to the two concepts that have impacted on UK and
International Standards, namely fair value and value to the business.

While, in its early standards, the ASB used the fair value approach to obtaining current
values, it subsequently adopted the more sophisticated and logically consistent value to the
business model that, as it points out in its Statement of Principles, provides the most relevant
basis for arriving at the current value of an asset.> Unfortunately the IASB remains commit-
ted to the fair value approach that, as we shall see, reappears in the UK in FRED 29. It
appears that the ASB is prepared to accept the less satisfactory fair value approach to current
value as part of the cost of convergence.

Value to the business

We will start by considering value to the business, also known as deprival value, which we
briefly introduced in Chapter 1 and to which we will return, in more detail, in Chapter 20.
The key question in determining an asset’s value to the business (the loss the entity would
suffer if deprived of the asset) is whether an entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace it.
If it would, the loss, and hence the value to the business, is the asset’s replacement cost.* But
in some instances the entity would not choose to replace the asset because the economic
benefit that comes from ownership is less than the cost of replacement. In such a case the
value to the business, which would be less than the replacement cost, would depend on what
a ‘rational entity’ is intending to do with the asset; the critical question is whether the asset is
being held for sale or not. If the best thing the entity could do is sell the asset (but not replace
it) then the value to the business is the asset’s net realisable value: sales proceeds less the
future costs of sale.

3 Para. 6.7.
4 Strictly, the loss includes any consequent costs due, for example, to delays in production. In practice these conse-
quential losses are, unless they are substantial, ignored.
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However, there may be some assets which are not worth replacing but which it would not
be sensible to sell, because they are worth more to keep than would be realised through their
sale. A good example of such an asset is an old specialised machine which would not be
replaced but which is still producing cash flows with a present value far in excess of its net
realisable value. In such a case, the asset would be retained and used rather than sold.

Assets that fall into this intermediate category are valued by reference to their value in use,
which is defined as:

The present value of the future cash flows obtainable as a result of the asset’s continued
use, including those resulting from its ultimate disposal.®

The higher of the net realisable and value in use is the assets recoverable amount; we will dis-
cuss this subject in more detail later in the chapter when we introduce FRS 11.

So when a company exercises its option to show assets at current value, rather than on the
basis of historical cost, the value to the business will usually be its replacement cost, or to be
more precise in the case of a fixed asset, the replacement cost of that portion of the assets
that has not been consumed. If the asset is not worth replacing, its value to the business is its
recoverable amount.

The above can be summarised as follows:

Value to the business = lower of: Replacement cost
Recoverable amount

Recoverable amount = higher of: Value in use
Net realisable value

Fair value

Let us now turn to fair value, which is defined in FRED 29 as:

the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties
in an arm’s length transaction.®

In other words fair value is the market value of an asset in a good market, that is one where
there are willing buyers and sellers, where the parties are knowledgeable and where there are
no forced sales.

The problem with this approach is that it ignores the different hypothetical positions of the
willing partners. The market value is always dependent on the asset holder’s relation to the
market. Take for example a motor vehicle retailer who lives on the difference between the price
he pays a knowledgeable and willing seller, such as BMW, and receives from a willing and
knowledgeable purchaser, who may be one of our readers. The difference between these two
prices is often quite considerable — how else might one account for the plush car showrooms?

The FRED 29 definition is quite deficient in that it provides no guidance as to which of
the two possible figures represent the fair value of the retailer’s inventory of BMWs. The def-
inition has to be interpreted in the light of other factors. To value inventory at its realisable
value would be to take credit for a profit yet to be realised and would thus be rejected in
favour of replacement cost. The value to the business rule would produce the same answer

5 FRS 11, Para. 2.
6 Para. 6
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but would do so in a more satisfactory and logical fashion. If the retailer would replace the
cars then their current value is given by their replacement cost; if they are not worth replac-
ing the value is given by their recoverable amount, in this case their net realisable value.

Another major weakness in the definition of fair value as set out in FRED 29 is that it does
not deal explicitly with those cases where there is not a market for the asset, as might often
be the case for highly specialised items of plant and equipment. In such cases, FRED 29
would require the asset to be valued on the basis of its depreciated replacement cost.” But, as
we pointed out earlier this approach might not be valid if the asset’s value in use is less than
the depreciated replacement cost. The exposure draft does not deal with this point.

Tangible fixed assets

For convenience we will consider the various issues surrounding the accounting treatment of
tangible fixed assets in the same order as is found in FRS 15 Tangible Fixed Assets, 8 which was
issued in 1999. The main issues and related provisions of FRS 15 are summarised in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1 Summary of main issues and related provisions of
FRS 15 Tangible fixed assets

Issues Provisions
Initial measurement of TFAs At cost
Capitalisation of finance costs Optional

Write-down of TFAs to their recoverable amounts  Required

Treatment of subsequent expenditure on TFAs Write-off to P&L, with three exceptions

Revaluation of TFAs Optional

Depreciation of TFAs Required, other than for land and investment
properties, but may be immaterial

Treatment of gains and losses on disposal and Show in P&L if due to consumption of

revaluation of TFAs economic benefits, otherwise in STRGL but

with exceptions
Disclosure requirements Various

Tangible fixed assets (TFAs) are defined in FRS 15 as:

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes on a continuing basis
in the reporting entity’s activities. (Para. 2)

This definition seems clear enough® but it does beg at least one important question. To what
extent should an item be regarded as a single asset or a collection of assets? A factory is

7 FRED 29, Para. 31.

8 It appears that the convergence process will lead to a change in terminology in that, following IASB practice,
FRED 29 includes in its title the phrase ‘Property, plant and equipment’ which, in the minds of the ASB members,
has a similar meaning to ‘Tangible fixed assets’ (FRED 29, Para. 4).

9 But see p. 97 where it is explained that the UITF believes that a website has a physical substance.
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clearly a collection of assets while a motor car would almost always be treated as a single
asset. But the question is not always capable of a simple answer. Take, as an example, trailers
that are towed by articulated trucks. The tyres of the trailers constitute a substantial portion
of the total cost of the trailer but have a much shorter life than that of the bodies of the trail-
ers. The owner of a large trailer fleet might well find it sensible to treat the tyres separately
from the bodies and, for example, to apply a different depreciation pattern to the tyres as
compared to the bodies.

This is an important topic that FRS 15 touches upon but does not completely resolve. It is
recognised that when an asset is made up of two or more major components with substan-
tially different useful economic lives, then each component should be accounted for
separately for depreciation purposes (FRS 15, Para. 83). But this, perhaps, does little more
than shift the debate to what is the nature of a component.

One way of approaching the question is to consider the acquisition of the asset and argue
that an identifiable asset is one that was acquired as a result of a single event but, as described
earlier, the ASB’s definition allows an asset to be acquired as a consequence of more than
one event. Thus, in Appendix IV to FRS 15, which deals with the development of the stan-
dard, the Board is reduced to relying on such phrases as that the decision will ‘depend upon
the individual circumstances’ and expressing the expectation that entities will use ‘a common
sense approach’ (FRS 15, p. 77, emphasis added). The use of such phrases by standard setters
is usually a pretty fair indication that there are issues still to be resolved.

The initial cost of a tangible fixed asset

Whether a TFA is acquired or self-constructed, its initial cost is made up of its purchase
price and ‘any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended
use’ (Para. 8, emphasis added). Thus general overheads should not be included, but the cost
does include, as well as any directly attributable labour costs, ‘the incremental costs to the
entity that would have been avoided only if the tangible fixed asset had not been constructed or
acquired (Para. 9(b), emphasis added).

While it is clear that the Standard calls for the identification of truly marginal costs, it is
likely that, in practice, the usual overhead recovery rates will be used as proxy to arrive at the
incremental costs.

Of particular interest are the costs that the ASB say should not be included: Para. 11 states:

Abnormal costs (such as those relating to design errors, industrial disputes, idle capacity,
wasted materials, labour or other resources and production delays) and costs such as operat-
ing losses that occur because a revenue earning activity has been suspended during the
construction of a tangible fixed asset are not directly attributable to bringing the asset into
working condition for its intended use.

This paragraph seems both impractical and inconsistent. Its impracticability stems from the
assumption that such things as design errors are ‘abnormal’. Anyone who has experience of
any large-scale construction knows that designers and engineers do not get everything right
the first time and that a reasonable amount of rectification and redesign is part of the normal
cost of construction.

The inconsistency is to be found in the different treatments of acquired and self-constructed
tangible fixed assets. In the case of an acquisition the cost is the cost, which may or may not be
the ‘best price’ at which it might have been purchased in the market and, in the case of complex
assets, is likely to include an element for cost recovery of the ‘inefficiencies’ listed in Para. 11 of
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FRS 15. Hence, it is possible to capitalise the entity’s purchasing inefficiency and the supplier’s
production inefficiency and excess profit, but not the entity’s production inefficiency.

A more consistent and realistic approach would be to measure and record the cost actu-
ally incurred in constructing the asset, warts (inefficiencies) and all, and then apply the usual
tests of impairment to determine whether the carrying value should be written down to its
recoverable value (see p. 104).

Another major problem that can arise in determining the initial cost of an asset occurs
when the asset is not acquired in isolation but as part of a package that might, in the
extreme, involve the purchase of an entire business. As we will show in Chapter 13 it is nec-
essary, in such circumstances, to attempt to arrive at the fair values, or to be more precise,
values to the business, of the assets involved using the bases we described earlier.

FRED 29 includes a proposal that has not previously been found in UK standards which
relates to assets that have been acquired in exchange. The exchange of assets appears to be
much more common in Eastern European countries and the exposure draft proposes that,
where such exchanges occur, the cost of the assets should be measured by reference to the fair
value of the assets given up or, if more clearly evident, the fair value of the assets acquired. This
would preclude the use of the carrying amount of the asset that has been given up in the
exchange, unless it was impossible to determine reliably either of the two fair values.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs

Considerable uncertainty surrounds the question of whether borrowing (finance)!? costs
should be capitalised when a fixed asset, say a building, is paid for in advance, often by a
series of progress payments, or when such an asset takes a considerable time to bring into
service. The debate about whether or not borrowing costs should be capitalised is often con-
ducted with a fervour reminiscent of the more extreme medieval religious conflicts, but the
basic point is, however, extremely simple.

The only point at issue is when the cost of borrowing should be charged to the profit and
loss account. If the cost is not capitalised it will be charged over the life of the loan, whereas
if it is capitalised the cost will be charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the
asset as part of the depreciation expense. The rationale for the view that borrowing costs
should be capitalised can best be demonstrated by the use of a simple example.

Assume that the client, A Limited, is offered the following choice by the builder, B
Limited: “The building will take two years to construct, you can either pay £10 million now
or £12 million in two years’ time.” If A Limited decides to select the first option, it may well
have to borrow the money on which it will have to pay interest. If A Limited selects the
second option, it will still have to pay interest, but in this case the interest will be included in
the price paid to B Limited.

The above example is extreme, but it does highlight the principles involved. If we assume
that both companies have to pay the same interest rate, then A Limited will be in exactly the
same position at the end of two years whatever option is selected, and it does not seem sens-
ible to suggest that the cost of the building is different because in one case the interest is paid
directly by the client while in the second case the interest is paid via the builder.

The basic stance adopted in FRS 15 is that an entity can choose to capitalise or not to cap-
italise borrowing costs but, having chosen, it must be consistent.

10 FRS 15 refers to finance costs but, following international practice, FRED 29 uses the term borrowing costs.
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The ASB acknowledges that it would have been better if it climbed off the fence and either
prohibited the capitalisation of borrowing costs or made it mandatory. It agrees that there
are conceptual arguments for the capitalisation on the grounds of comparability as demon-
strated in the above example. However, the ASB was influenced by the argument that, if
capitalisation were made mandatory, then companies would demand that notional interest
charges should also be capitalised. This would be relevant in cases where entities did not
need to resort to borrowing to acquire the fixed asset but instead relied on their internal
resources that have, not a direct cost, but an opportunity cost related to the benefit that the
entity would have obtained had the resources not been used for this particular project. This
is, the Board states, ‘a contentious issue’ and, until an internationally acceptable approach is
agreed, the Board will continue with the optional approach that it says is consistent with that
taken by IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, as revised in 1993.

The provisions of FRS 15 relating to the capitalisation of borrowing costs may be sum-
marised as follows:

1 When an entity adopts a policy of capitalisation of finance costs that are directly attribut-
able to the construction of tangible fixed assets, the finance cost should be included in the
cost of the asset and the policy should be consistently applied (Paras 19 and 20).

2 When the entity borrows funds specifically to be used for the project the amount to be
capitalised should be restricted to the actual costs incurred and should be capitalised on a
gross basis, i.e. before the deduction of any tax relief (Paras 21 and 22).

3 If the funds used are part of the entity’s general borrowings the amount to be capitalised
should be based on the average cost of capital but, in calculating the cost, funds raised for
specific purposes should be excluded (Paras 23 and 24).

4 Capitalisation should begin when:

(a) finance costs are being incurred and
(b) expenditure for the asset are being incurred and
(c) activities to get the asset ready for use are in progress (Para. 25).
5 Capitalisation should stop when all the activities are substantially complete (Para. 29).
6 Where a policy of capitalisation is adopted that fact should be disclosed, together with:
(a) the aggregate amount of finance costs included in the cost of tangible fixed assets;
(b) the amount of finance costs capitalised during the period;
(c) the amount of finance costs recognised in the profit and loss account during the period;
(d) the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of finance costs capitalised
during the period (Para. 31).

FRED 29

There are no significant differences between the provisions of FRS 15 and FRED 29 so far as
borrowing costs are concerned. The exposure draft does, however, indicate that debate on
this issue has not yet come to an end in that it is reported that the IASB, when considering
the revision of IAS 23, became inclined to the view that all borrowing costs be reporting as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred (Para. 20) but it recognised that to do so
would conflict with the views of national standard setters. Hence, more thought will be given
to the matter as part of an IASB project dealing with measurement of the initial recognition
of assets.
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The writing down of new tangible fixed assets to their
recoverable amounts

It is, as we shall see, a main theme of FRS 11 The Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill,
that fixed assets are not carried at more than their recoverable amounts and we deal with this
later in the chapter. At this stage it is necessary just to point to Paras 32 and 33 that state
that, when a new TFA is acquired, through either purchase or construction, it should not be
carried at an amount that exceeds its recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure

‘Subsequent expenditure’ is a relatively new, useful term that covers all expenditure on the
TFA after it has come into use.

One of the more slippery areas of accounting is the distinction between repairs and
enhancement with the temptations often pulling in opposite directions. The enterprise wish-
ing to minimise its tax bill would tend to write off as much as possible to repairs, while an
enterprise more concerned with showing a good profit would opt for capitalisation.

FRS 15 is clear that expenditure to ensure that a fixed asset maintains its previously
assessed standard of performance should be written off to the profit and loss account as it is
incurred (Para. 34). The circumstances under which subsequent expenditure can be capi-
talised are set out in Para. 36, which we will reproduce in full.

Subsequent expenditure should be capitalised in three circumstances:

(@) where the subsequent expenditure provides an enhancement of the economic benefits of
the tangible fixed asset in excess of the previously assessed standard of performance.

(b) where a component of the tangible fixed asset that has been treated separately for deprecia-
tion purposes and depreciated over its individual useful economic life is replaced or restored.

(c) where the subsequent expenditure relates to a major inspection or overhaul of a tangible
fixed asset that restores the economic benefits of the asset that have been consumed by
the entity and have already been reflected in depreciation.

The drafting of the paragraph is not entirely clear but the concepts are pretty simple.
Paragraph 36(a) states that capitalisation is appropriate when the asset has been improved in
some way, such as extending its life or improving its efficiency. Paragraph 36(b) takes us back
to the question of when an asset is an individual asset or a bundle of assets. As mentioned ear-
lier, an asset with two or more major components may have different depreciation patterns for
each of the components and this clause is simply a consequence of this. Paragraph 36(c) refers
to situations, such as those found in the airline industry, where there is a mandatory inspection
and overhaul of the asset every, say, three years. Then the cost of the inspection and the over-
haul can be capitalised and written off over the period until the next inspection is due.

The revaluation of tangible fixed assets
The various attempts to introduce a system of financial reporting based primarily on current

values are described elsewhere in this book. In this section we will be concerned with
what the ASB refers to as the ‘mixed measurement system’. Under this system some assets
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are carried in the balance sheet at their current values and some are not. While historical
costs accounting has always required the writing down of assets, by, for example, depreci-
ation, revaluation in an upward direction is not permitted in most countries of the world.!!
However the revaluing of certain TFAs, particularly property, has long been common in the
UK, a practice which has been given additional legislative force by the inclusion of the alter-
native accounting rules in the Companies Act 1985.

In previous pronouncements the ASB and its predecessor, the Accounting Standards
Committee, set out the arguments for and against the greater use of current values, some-
times tending to favour such a practice!? and sometimes not.!*> In FRS 15 the ASB’s position
seems to be one of studied neutrality as evidenced by the awe-inspiring declaration in a para-
graph printed in bold and hence part of the standard itself, that:

Tangible fixed assets should be revalued where the entity adopts a policy of revaluation. (Para. 42)

So it should only be done when you want to do it!
Given that the entity has adopted a policy of revaluation the standard sets out the para-
meters within which the policy should be applied. These are summarised below.

1 The policy should be applied consistently to all assets within an individual class of tan-
gible fixed assets but need not be applied to all classes of such assets (Para. 42).

2 Assets subject to the policy of revaluation should be included in the balance sheet at their
current values (Para. 43).

The ASB has tried to ensure some consistency of practice within a given class of assets and
outlawed the previous practice whereby companies would revalue one or more assets in a
class at one point in time but then not update that value. It has thus outlawed the use of
obsolete revaluations!

Classification of tangible fixed assets

In the UK the formats for financial reporting contain three groups for TFAs:

e Land and buildings
e Plant and machinery
e Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment

However, in applying the provisions of this standard entities may adopt narrower classes, e.g.
freehold properties. Little guidance is given as to what would be an appropriate class other
than the not very forceful phrase that ‘entities may, within reason, adopt . . . narrower
classes’ (Para. 62).

There is one exception to the rule that requires all assets within the same class to be reval-
ued. These are assets that are held outside the UK or the Republic of Ireland for which it is
impossible to obtain a reliable valuation. Such assets can continue to be carried at historical
cost but the fact that this override has been used must be stated.

I One of the authors used a machine with an American spell check which gave an error message every time he
typed ‘revalued’. See n. 1 above, on the ‘Revaluation Group’.

12 See Accounting for the Effects of Changing Prices, published in 1986.

13 See ED 51 Accounting for Fixed Assets and Revaluations, issued in 1990.
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Frequency

Most quoted entities made use of the alternative accounting rules but generally did so on a
spasmodic basis.!* Large numbers of companies, particularly quoted companies, have incor-
porated revaluations into their financial statements, often cherry-picking assets for this
treatment. These revaluations have usually related to properties but the revalued amounts
have rarely been updated on an annual basis. Thus, in addition to showing their TFAs at
‘historical costs’ and ‘current values’, companies have frequently included assets at ‘obsolete
current values’. This third category is obviously unhelpful in that it tells the user nothing of
value and has now wisely been outlawed by the ASB. It appears that many companies which
have used obsolete revaluations have now reverted to the use of historical cost-based valu-
ations rather than incur the cost of systematically revaluing all assets in a particular class at
current value on an annual basis. Thus we are probably now closer to a historical cost system
of accounting than we have been for many years!

The standard requires that, if an entity opts for a policy of revaluation in respect of a particu-
lar class of tangible fixed assets, the balance sheet should reflect the current values of those assets.
This does not mean, however, that revaluation need be an annual process (Para. 44). In general,
the requirements of the standard would be satisfied if there were a full revaluation every five
years with an interim valuation in year 3. In addition an interim valuation should be carried out
in any year where it is ‘likely that there has been a material change in value’ (Para. 45).

Special considerations apply to entities that hold a portfolio of non-specialised properties.'®
In such cases it is suggested that a full valuation could be achieved on a rolling programme
designed to cover all the properties over a five-year cycle, together with interim valuations
where it is likely that there has been a material change in value.

We have in the preceding paragraphs been free with the phrases ‘full valuation’, ‘interim
valuation’ and ‘likely to be a material change in value’. What do these phrases actually mean?

The differences between full and interim valuations are described in the case of properties
but not for other types of TFAs. For properties a full valuation would include a detailed
inspection of the property, enquiries of local planning authorities, solicitors, etc. and
research into market transactions involving similar properties and the identification of
market trends (Para. 47). The less detailed interim valuation would involve the last of these
together with the confirmation that there have been no significant changes to the physical
fabric of the property and an inspection (but not a detailed inspection) if there are indica-
tions that such would be necessary (Para. 48).

No effective guidance is provided as to what is meant by a material change. In attempting
this the standard does little more than restate its position by explaining that ‘A material
change in value is a change in value that would reasonably influence the decision of a user of
the accounts’ (Para. 52).

Who should make the valuations?

With the single exception referred to below revaluations should be made by qualified val-
uers. These may be internal, employed by the entity, but if they are, then the valuation
process should be reviewed by a qualified external valuer.

14 FRS 15, p. 73.

15 FRS 15 follows the definitions used by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) that are reproduced in
Appendix 1 to the standard. In summary, non-specialised buildings are those which can be used for a range of
purposes.
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The exception relates to those assets for which there exists an active second-hand
market, as is the case for used cars, or where suitable indices exist that enable the entity’s
directors to establish the asset’s value with reasonable certainty. In such instances the valu-
ations can be made by the directors but if this option is selected the valuations should be
done on an annual basis.

Bases of valuation

Assets other than properties

The basic principle for the revaluation of all tangible assets, other than property, is set out in
Para. 59:

Tangible fixed assets other than properties should be valued using market value, where
possible. Where market value is not obtainable, assets should be valued on the basis of
depreciated replacement cost.

For the reasons we explained earlier, while the use of the imprecise phrase ‘market value’ is
far from helpful, it was clear that the ASB believed, at the time it issued FRS 15, that the
‘practical interpretation’ of this paragraph leads to the use of the value-to-the-business
model. This view, following FRED 29, seems to have changed in the interest of convergence.

Properties

A distinction must be made between specialised properties and non-specialised properties.
Drawing on the work of the RICS, the ASB states that specialised properties are ‘those which,
due to their specialised nature, are rarely, if ever, sold on the open market for single occupa-
tion for continuation of their existing use, except as part of a sale of the business in
occupation’” (FRED 29, p. 57). Examples of specialised properties listed include oil refineries,
power stations, hospitals, universities and museums. In addition a property may be regarded
as specialised if, although otherwise normal, it is of such a substantial size given its location
that there is no market for such properties.

Valuation of specialised properties

Because of the lack of a market for such assets they should be valued by reference to their
depreciated replacement cost (Para. 53(c)).

Valuation of non-specialised properties

In assessing current value, an important difference between properties and most other tan-
gible assets is that the value of properties depends heavily on the use to which the property is
put. Consider as an example a warehouse in the middle of an area which had once been
industrial but which is now increasingly residential. The value of the property as a warehouse
might be much less than its value as a shell for conversion into flats, but, even so, the entity
needs a warehouse and would, if deprived of the asset, replace it. Thus, following the prin-
ciples underlying value to the business, the asset should be valued on the basis of its
replacement cost. But we must be clear as to what is being replaced: in this case it is a
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warehouse not a potential housing site. Hence, FRS 15 specifies that, if they are being reval-
ued, non-specialised assets:

should be valued on the basis of existing use value (EUV), with the addition of notional directly
attributable acquisition costs where material. Where the open market value (OMV) is materially
different from EUV, the OMV and the reasons for the difference should be disclosed in the
notes to the accounts. (Para. 53(a))

If the asset is surplus to the entity’s requirements the above argument does not hold and
hence these should be valued on the basis of the OMV less any expected material directly
attributable selling costs (Para. 53(c)).

Detailed definitions of EUV and OMV are provided in the standard. Both models are
based on an opinion of the best price at which the sale of an interest in the property would
have been completed unconditionally for cash consideration at the date of valuation, on the
assumption that there is a good market for the property and specifically that there is no pos-
sibility of a bid by a prospective purchaser with a special interest. The last of these factors
means that the value would not be enhanced by the possibility that a specific potential pur-
chaser, perhaps the owner of the adjacent property, might be prepared to pay more for the
property than anyone else.

The essential difference between the two bases, EUV and OMYV, is that the estimate of
existing use value is based on the additional assumption ‘that the property can be used for
the foreseeable future only for the existing use’ (p. 60).

The adoption of the proposals set out in FRED 29 would change this approach to the val-
uation of non-specialist buildings. Since FRED 29 is based on the fair value concept
non-specialist buildings would be valued on the basis of their open market values rather than
on the basis of their existing use value.

Reporting losses and gains on revaluation

There can be no question that losses on revaluation reduce owners’ equity and gains on
revaluation enhance it. The only issue that presently detains us is how the loss or gain should
be reported; should it be through the profit and loss account or through the statement of
total recognised gains and losses (STRGL)?

In FRS 15 a distinction is made between those losses that are caused by ‘clear consump-
tion of economic benefits’ and other losses. A loss of the first type, which is regarded as being
akin to depreciation, is usually due to a factor which is intrinsic to the asset, such as physical
deterioration, while the second type of loss may be characterised by a general fall of value in
the type of asset concerned.

The starting position is that ‘All revaluation losses that are caused by a clear consumption
of economic benefits should be recognised in the profit and loss account’ (Para. 65).

Otherwise losses should be recognised in the STRGL.

Now for the complications. If the carrying amount falls below the depreciated historical
cost then, in general, any further revaluation losses, whatever their cause, should be recog-
nised in the profit and loss account. But there is an exception to this where it can be shown
that the recoverable amount exceeds the revalued amount, in which case the loss should be
recorded in the STRGL to the extent that the recoverable amount exceeds the revalued
amount (Para. 65).

In order to help understand this it might be helpful to be reminded that a non-specialised
property is valued by reference to its OMV. It may well be that the value of the property has
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fallen, because of a general fall in the market, but the directors of the entity can demonstrate
that the recoverable amount (the present value of the cash flows that flow from the owner-
ship of the asset) is greater than the OMV. The asset is still written down to its OMV, and
owners’” equity reduced, but as the loss is not regarded as resulting from a consumption of
economic benefit it can be recorded in the STRGL.

Revaluation gains should in general be recognised in the STRGL other than to the extent
that gain reverses revaluation losses on the same asset that were recognised in the profit and
loss account (Para. 63).

Because the basis of valuation underpinning FRED 29 does not incorporate the notion of
recoverable amount, the exposure draft’s proposals on the treatment of revaluation losses
is that:

® All revaluation losses that exceed existing revaluation surpluses should be charged to the
profit and loss account

® Losses that are reversals of previously recognised gains should be shown in the STRGL.
(Para. 38)

This would undoubtedly be a much more straightforward, if less theoretically sound, approach
to apply in practice.

Reporting losses and gains on disposal

The profit or loss on the disposal of a tangible fixed asset should be accounted for in the profit
and loss account of the period in which the disposal occurs as the difference between the dis-
posal proceeds and the carrying amount, whether carried at historical cost (less any provisions
made) or at a valuation. (Para. 72)

This formulation, which follows the relevant provision of FRS 3, Para. 21, gives rise to a seri-
ous inconsistency. If the entity had, at some stage in the past, revalued the asset the
revaluation gain would not have passed through the profit and loss account but would
instead have been recorded in the STRGL. But if the asset had not been revalued the whole of
the gain goes through the profit and loss account. The ASB recognises that this is inconsis-
tent and in FRED 17, the exposure draft for FRS 15, it proposed that the whole of the gain
should appear in the STRGL.

For a number of reasons the responses to FRED 17 made it clear that this proposal was
not acceptable. It seems that the main reasons for this reaction were the view that it would be
premature to make the change in advance of a more far reaching review of the STRGL and
that the proposed treatment was inconsistent with the treatment of gains and losses on the
disposal of businesses, subsidiaries and investments. Thus it appears, as we discuss in
Chapter 11, that further changes are on their way.

Disclosures relating to revaluation

Paragraph 74 specifies what has to be disclosed, and includes details of the timing of valu-
ations, the names and status of those who carried them out as well as the total amount of
material notional directly attributable acquisition costs or expected selling costs that are
included in the valuation.
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Depreciation

Prior to the issue of FRS 15 depreciation merited its own standard. It was the subject of SSAP
12, which was issued in 1977, amended in 1981 and revised in 1987. The 1977 version was
firmly rooted in the historical cost tradition while the 1987 revision was relevant to both his-
torical cost and current value accounting.

To those well versed in the ethos of historical cost accounting and the mechanics of double
entry bookkeeping depreciation is a pretty straightforward matter. The asset that the entity
owns will be a source of economic benefit for a number of time periods and hence the recogni-
tion of the cost of the asset should be spread over the same period. To such folk, depreciation
is all about spreading the cost or, to use a clumsier expression, expensing the asset.

To many other people, including many who run successful businesses, the idea is not so
simple because they have difficulty in grasping the concept that the accountant wants to
recognise the using up of an asset. The layman has difficulty in distinguishing this from a fall
in the value of the asset and becomes completely confused when told that depreciation is
necessary in a period in which the value of the asset is actually increasing.

Well brought-up accountants, on the other hand, know that they must distinguish
between two events: the consumption of a portion of the asset and the increase in value of
that part of the asset that remains:

The fundamental objective of depreciation is to reflect in operating profit the cost of the use of
the tangible fixed assets (i.e. amount of economic benefits consumed) in the period. This
requires a charge to operating profit even if the asset has risen in value or been revalued. (FRS
15, Para. 78)

One major element of the continuing saga of accounting standards for depreciation is the
desire of standard setters to ensure that all assets other than land, the one asset which most
people would agree might not be consumed, are depreciated. There is, however, pressure
from the business community to identify other exceptions. Investment properties provide an
interesting example of an asset about which there has been a continuing debate. The require-
ment that investment properties be depreciated was included in the original 1977 version of
SSAP 12 but was dropped, after pressure from property companies, from the 1981 version.
In that year the ASC issued SSAP 19 Accounting for Investment Properties which, although
threatened with review, is still in issue. We discuss SSAP 19 later in this chapter.

As we shall see, the ASB accepts that there are some assets either whose life is so long or
whose likely residual value is so high that an annual depreciation charge would not be mat-
erial. They do not, it must be noted, retreat from the position that all tangible assets (except
land) depreciate, but they are prepared to concede that some do not depreciate very much.
FRS 15 is therefore more flexible than its predecessors in accepting that depreciation need
not be recognised in certain limited circumstances, but it extracts a price, the Impairment
Review. If depreciation is not to be recognised on the grounds of immateriality the entity
must undertake an impairment review. We will discuss this topic later in the chapter and at
this point simply explain that an impairment review is a systematic process that tests
whether an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.

Depreciation is more easily applied to a single identifiable asset whose cost and condition
can be relatively easily measured and whose economic contribution to the entity easily
assessed, the latter point being relevant to decisions as to whether the carrying value of the
asset should be reduced to its recoverable value. But life is not always as conveniently simple
as this and assets are often used in combination. A particularly noteworthy feature of FRS 15
is the way in which it deals with the topic of combined and interrelated assets (see p. 113).
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FRS 15 and depreciation

The topics covered in the depreciation section of FRS 15 can be summarised as follows:

General principles

Changes in the methods used to account for depreciation
Changes in estimates of remaining useful life and residual value
Combined assets

Renewals accounting

Disclosure

General principles
Depreciation is defined as:

The measure of the cost or revalued amount of the economic benefits of the tangible fixed
asset that have been consumed during the period.

Consumption includes the wearing out, using up or other reductions in the useful economic
life of a tangible fixed asset whether arising from use, effluxion of time or obsolescence
through other changes in technology or demand for the goods and services produced by
the asset. (Para. 2)

The underlying principle is:

The depreciable amount of a tangible fixed asset should be allocated on a systematic basis
over its useful economic life. The depreciation method used should reflect as fairly as possible
the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the entity. The depreci-
ation charge for each period should be recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account
unless it is permitted to be included in the carrying amount of another asset. (Para. 77)

Depreciable amount is defined as:

The cost of a tangible fixed asset (or, where an asset is revalued, the revalued amount) less
its residual value. (p. 10)

The final sentence in Para. 77 is logically necessary if depreciation is to be included in the
costs of stocks and work-in-process or the cost of a self-constructed fixed asset.

There are, of course, a number of methods of charging depreciation and two, straight line
and reducing balance, are described in the text of the standard. In general, the method of
depreciation employed should be consistent with the pattern of consumption of the benefit.
If approximately constant annual benefits are expected throughout the asset’s useful eco-
nomic life, the straight line method would be appropriate. If, however, greater benefits were
derived in the earlier years of the asset’s life, then the reducing balance is likely to be the
more appropriate method. If the pattern of consumption is uncertain, the Board notes that
the straight line method is usually employed (Para. 81).

Interest methods of depreciation

There are other, arguably more sophisticated, methods of depreciation that take into
account the time value of money. These are known as ‘interest methods of depreciation’ and,
of these, the best known method is the annuity method. The basic idea is that the total cost
of an asset is not simply the purchase price but it also includes the ‘borrowing cost’. Suppose
an asset costs £1 million and that it is to be entirely financed by borrowing over the total
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estimated life of the asset; the ‘total’ cost of the asset is then £1 million plus the cost of
finance, say, £700,000. The interest charge would be at its maximum in year 1 and then
reduce as the loan is paid off. Thus, if the benefits from the use of the asset are more or less
constant each year and it is desired to match these benefits with a constant annual expense, a
‘real straight line approach’, then the depreciation element of the total expense would need
to increase each year to offset the falling interest costs.

FRS 15 does not refer, either positively or negatively, to interest depreciation methods,
but in June 2000, the ASB issued an exposure draft of an amendment to FRS 15 and FRS 10,
which would outlaw the general use of such interest methods of depreciation:

The annuity method, and other interest methods of depreciation that are designed to take into
account the time value of money, should not be used to allocate the depreciable amount of a
tangible fixed asset over its useful economic life. (Para. 1)

This proposed prohibition is not based upon any fundamental criticism of the interest meth-
ods of depreciation. Indeed, the exposure draft states quite clearly ‘in principle, interest
methods more fairly reflect the economic cost of the benefits consumed in each accounting
period’ (Para. 2). Rather, the proposed prohibition was based upon grounds of comparabil-
ity. If most companies are not using interest-based depreciation methods, then no
companies should be permitted to use interest-based depreciation methods!

A second reason for the prohibition can also be recognised. Use of the annuity method of
depreciation results in a low—high pattern of depreciation charges over the life of the fixed
asset; the depreciation expense is ‘back-end loaded’. This is therefore less conservative than
the more usual straight line method of depreciation. The ASB did not wish to prohibit the
use of back-end loaded depreciation methods in general, for the exposure draft accepted that
a low-high pattern of depreciation will be appropriate where this reflects the expected pat-
tern of consumption of economic benefits without regard to the time value of money.

No such provision is found in FRED 29 which, like FRS 15, manages to avoid specific ref-
erence to interest-based methods of depreciation. At the time of writing (January 2003) the
proposed amendment to FRS 15 and FRS 10 had never been implemented nor withdrawn.
The ASB’s web page!® states that the issue of interest methods of depreciation will be consid-
ered in the context of its leasing project (see Chapter 9) but also points out that FRS 15 is to
be superseded by FRED 29. The relevance of the latter comment is not obvious, however,
since there are no differences between FRS 15 and FRED 29 on this issue.

Depreciation and materiality

As we noted earlier, one of the more interesting features of FRS 15 is its acceptance that the
depreciation charge may not always be material. The drafting of the relevant part of the stan-
dard is a little strange in that it does not say that depreciation need not be recognised but
instead says what must happen when it is not recognised.

Tangible fixed assets, other than non-depreciable land, should be reviewed for impairment, in
accordance with FRS 11, at the end of each reporting period when either:

(@) no depreciation charge is made on the grounds that it would be immaterial (either because
of the length of the estimated remaining useful life or because the estimated residual value
of the tangible fixed asset is not materially different from the carrying value of the asset); or

(b) the estimated remaining economic life of the tangible fixed asset exceeds 50 years.

(Para. 89)

16 www.asb.org.uk (current projects).
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Of the two grounds for immateriality, high residual value is generally more problematic than
long life, as assets with very long lives, such as paintings and sculptures, can usually be read-
ily identified. This is much less true of the high residual value group and hence the standard
sets out a number of factors which could be used to justify the case for immateriality, includ-
ing whether the assets are regularly maintained and whether, in the past, similar assets have
been sold for amounts close to their carrying values.

Changes in the method of depreciation

A change is only permitted on the grounds that the new method will give a fairer presenta-
tion of the results and financial position (Para. 82). The change is not to be regarded as a
change in accounting policy and hence the carrying amount of the asset at the date of change
is simply depreciated, using the new method, over its remaining useful life.

Changes in estimated useful remaining life and residual value

The useful remaining economic life of a TFA should be reviewed at the end of each account-
ing period if ‘expectations are significantly different from previous estimates’ (Para. 93)
while, ‘Where the residual value is material it should be reviewed at the end of each report-
ing period’ (Para. 95).

The standard, in respect of remaining useful life, seems rather unhelpful and tautological
in that it is not possible to know whether expectations have changed without carrying out a
review, albeit a superficial one.

The residual value should be measured on the basis of the same prices as apply to the car-
rying value of the asset, either the prices at acquisition or a subsequent valuation.

Note that one review, that for assets with long lives, only has to be carried out if there are
significantly different expectations while the other, for assets with high residual values, has to
be done annually. But this does depend on what is regarded as material in the case of the
residual value. Of course if it is very material, depreciation may not be recognised, in which
case an annual impairment review would be required.

The accounting consequences in changes of estimates of both types are the same: in each
case no change is made to past results and the current carrying value is written off over the
revised period or on the basis of the new assumption of residual value.

Combined assets

When an asset is made up of two or more of what the standard describes as ‘major com-
ponents’ that have substantially different economic lives then each component should be
treated separately for the purposes of depreciation (Para. 83). This is, of course, an approach
that has been adopted for many years in the case of land and buildings but there are many
other circumstances where it might sensibly be applied.

Renewals accounting

Renewals accounting is a technique that has been developed to deal with what might be termed
an infrastructure system or network. An example of such might be a subway or light railway
system. The trains, stations and other major identifiable assets can be treated as separate items
but the system also includes, and depends on, a myriad of wires, computer chips and other
small components. Such a situation poses some interesting questions. Should the cost of the
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small components be written off in the year of acquisition or should they be treated as other
TFAs (for TFAs they surely are) and written off over their useful economic lives?

Neither approach is satisfactory. The first is unsatisfactory because it might produce a
very unrealistic charge to profit and loss that would not adequately reflect the economic ben-
efit consumed. It also would allow for manipulation of the reported profit, that is, cut back
essential expenditure if there was a desire to increase profit, spend heavily in advance if there
was a desire to reduce profit. The alternative approach is unrealistic in a practical sense, in
that it would cost far too much to account individually for the millions of small components.

Renewals accounting can — in appropriate circumstances — be used to overcome the
dilemma. The use of renewals accounting depends on knowing the level of expenditure
required to maintain the operating capacity of the system. As an example it might be agreed
that it requires £20 million per annum to be spent on the replacement of the smaller compon-
ents in order to maintain the operating capacity of the system, which might be defined as the
ability to operate the same number of trains travelling at the same average speed at the same
level of reliability. Then, under renewals accounting, £20 million is the annual depreciation
charge to be made to the profit and loss account and added to accumulated depreciation. The
actual expenditure per year is capitalised and added to the cost of the asset. Hence, if the
entity actually spends £20 million in a year, the carrying value would be maintained, if less,
the carrying value is reduced and, if more, it would be increased. Note the primacy that is
given to the charge to the profit and loss account. Assuming that £20 million is indeed a good
estimate of the average cost then £20 million is the annual expense irrespective of the pattern
of spending.

The treatment is not without its theoretical problems, for it could be argued that any
excess expenditure over the £20 million is in effect a prepayment because less will have to be
incurred in future years, while the effect of spending less is to create something very akin to
an accrued expense. In other words, would it be better to reflect the differences between
actual and planned expenditure in the working capital part of the balance sheet rather than
in the cost of fixed assets?

In practice it is unlikely that the differences between planned and actual expenditure
would be very large, in that one of the conditions that has to be satisfied, if renewals
accounting is to be used, is that the system is mature, or in a steady state, and that the annual
cost of maintenance is relatively constant (Para. 99). The other significant condition is that
the required level of annual expenditure is derived from an asset management plan that has
been certified by a suitably qualified and independent person (Para. 97).

Disclosure requirements relating to depreciation

The disclosure requirements are to be found in Para. 100. In summary they require that, for
each class of TFA, the following be shown:

o the depreciation method used;

o the useful economic lives or the rates of depreciation used;

o the financial effects of any changes in estimates of either the remaining useful life or resid-
ual value, but only if material;

@ the cost, or revalued amount, accumulated depreciation and net carrying amount at the
beginning of the financial period and at the balance sheet date;

@ areconciliation of the movements.

In addition, Para. 102 requires that if there has been a change in the method of depreciation,
the effect, if material, and the reason for the change should be disclosed.
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FRED 29 and depreciation

Part of the cost of convergence is the adoption of less satisfactory standards and the treat-
ment of depreciation provides a good example of this. In both instances of difference
between FRS 15 and FRED 29, the latter adopts the inferior approach. The two areas are
Renewals accounting and Charges in the estimates of residual values.

Renewals accounting

FRED 29 makes no reference to renewals accounting, which means that it provides no help
in dealing with the dilemma we described on p. 113. This is a serious omission and the ASB
has asked respondents to the exposure draft whether the absence of guidance from the stan-
dard would prevent entities from using renewals accounting and whether they believe that
UK entities should be permitted to continue to use the method.

Changes in the estimates of residual values

When expected residual values change, FRS 15 requires that they be based on prices that are
consistent with those used in determining the carrying value of the asset, either the prices at
acquisition or, if the asset is not being carried at historical cost, the prices that prevailed at the
most recent revaluation. In contrast FRED 29, in accordance with IAS 16, proposes that the
prices used should be those at the date of the restatement of the residual value. FRED 29 states:

An estimate of an asset’s residual value is based on the amount recoverable from disposal, at
the date of the estimate of similar assets that have reached the ends of their useful lives and
have operated under conditions similar to those in which the asset will be used. (Para. 46)

While in many cases the differences between the two approaches will in practice be immater-
ial the FRED 29 proposal does mix up different bases of measurement, historical cost and
current valuation. Consider the following example.

Suppose a company, which records assets on the basis of historical cost, buys an asset for
£800 000 which has a life of five years and an estimated residual value of £300000 and further
suppose that all prices increase by 50 per cent at the start of year 3.

FRS 15

Annual depreciation charge £100000 but excess provision for depreciation of £150 000 writ-
ten back in year 5, as the residual value is £450 000 not £300 000.

FRED 29

Depreciation in years 1 and 2: £100 000. But since, due to the doubling of the prices, assets
that are five years old are being sold for £450 000, the company would at the end of year 3
have to write off £150 000 (£600000 — £450000) over three years, so the depreciation charges
for years 3-5 would be £50 000 per year, but, if prices stayed constant, there would be no
excess depreciation to write back.

Compliance with International Accounting Standards

The implementation of FRED 29 would to a very large extent bring convergence between UK
and International Standards. Table 5.2 summarises the changes that would be made if the
proposals of FRED 29 were implemented also serves as a distillation of the existing differ-
ences between FRS 15 and the international standards and exposure drafts. The table shows
that the only fundamental difference is in the basis for arriving at current value.
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Table 5.2 Summary of the differences between FRED 29 and FRS 15

Topic

FRED 29 treatment

FRS 15 treatment

Basis of current value

Fair value (market value)

Current value (value to the
business)

Terminology

(@) Property, plant and equipment
(b) Borrowing costs

(@) Tangible fixed assets
(b) Finance costs

Assets acquired in
exchange

Should where possible be
measured in terms of the fair
value of assets given up

No coverage

Treatment of revaluation
losses

Does not distinguish between
losses caused by the consumption
of economic benefit and other

Distinguishes between such
losses and takes account of
recoverable value

losses, nor does it take account of
an asset’s recoverable value

Renewals accounting Not covered Included

Price level to be used in the At the date of the revision
revision of residual values

Either those relating to the
date of acquisition or those
prevailing at the most
recent revaluation of the
asset, whichever is
appropriate

Investment properties

One important group of TFA, investment properties, needs to be considered separately
because of the different accounting treatment that applies in their case. Investment proper-
ties have been a major feature of two interrelated debates: to depreciate or not depreciate
and to revalue or not to revalue.

The original, 1977, version of the first standard on depreciation, SSAP 12, did not exclude
investment properties from its scope and required all buildings, including those held for
investment, to be depreciated. This was fiercely contested by property companies whose
profits would, of course, be substantially reduced if they had to provide for depreciation on
their buildings. It was argued that the profits of property companies would be distorted if
depreciation were charged to the profit and loss account while the surpluses on revaluation
had, under the provisions which were then in force of SSAP 6 (Extraordinary Items and Prior
Year Adjustments), to be credited to reserves.

The ASC’s response (which may, according to taste, be described as reflecting the com-
mittee’s weakness or its flexibility) was to allow companies owning investment properties
exemption from this provision, and this exemption was confirmed with the issue, in 1981, of
SSAP 19 Accounting for Investment Properties, which specified the conditions under which
depreciation need not be charged on properties held as investments.

It was argued in SSAP 19 that, for the proper appreciation of the position of the enter-
prise, it is of prime importance for users of the accounts to be aware of the current value of
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the investment properties and the changes in their values. For this purpose investment prop-
erties are defined as an interest in land and/or buildings:

(a) in respect of which construction work and development have been completed; and
(b) that is held for its investment potential, any rental income being negotiated at
arm’s length.

The following are specifically excluded from the definition:

(a) A property that is owned and occupied by a company for its own purposes is not an
investment property.

(b) A property let to and occupied by another group company is not an investment property
for the purposes of its own accounts or the group accounts.

The standard was revised in July 1994, to take account of the introduction of the new perfor-
mance statement, the statement of total recognised gains and losses, but otherwise the
revised version is virtually identical to the original version and reflects more the attitudes of
1981 than those of 1994.

In outline, SSAP 19 specifies:

e ‘Investment properties should not be subject to a depreciation charge as otherwise
required by SSAP 12 (now FRS 15), except for properties held on a lease which should be
depreciated on the basis set out in SSAP 12 at least over the period when the unexpired
term is 20 years or less’ (SSAP 19, Para. 10). In other words, leaseholds with more than 20
years to run can be depreciated while other leases must be depreciated.

e Investment properties should be included in the balance sheet at their ‘open market
value’, which might be defined as the best price at which the asset might reasonably be
expected to be sold. The bases of valuation should be disclosed in a note to the accounts.

e The names of the persons making the valuation, or particulars of their qualification,
should be disclosed together with the bases of valuation used by them. If the person
making the valuation is an employee or officer of the company or group that owns the
property, this should be disclosed.

e The carrying value of the investment properties and the investment revaluation reserve
should be displayed prominently.

e With one exception (see below), changes in the market value of investment properties
should not be taken to the profit and loss account but should be treated as a movement
on an investment revaluation reserve and, consequently, be included in the STRGL. The
exception is when there is a deficit on an individual property that is expected to be per-
manent; in this case the deficit should be charged to the profit and loss account.!”

The ASB notes that the application of the standard will usually represent a departure from
the legal requirement to provide depreciation on any fixed asset which has a limited eco-
nomic life, but justifies this on the grounds that this treatment will more closely adhere to
the overriding requirement to provide a true and fair view. In such circumstances the finan-
cial statements must include a statement giving particulars of the departures from the
specific requirements of the Act with the reasons for and effect of the departure.!

Not everyone would agree with the stance, originally taken by the ASC in 1981 and con-
firmed by the ASB in 1994, in that it does appear that a fuller, truer and fairer picture would

17 There is an exception to the exception in the case of investment companies and unit trusts, where deficits on
individual investment properties may only be shown in the STRGL (SSAP 19, p. 13, as amended in 1994).
18 Companies Act 1985, s. 222(5) as amended by Companies Act 1989, s. 4.
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be revealed if both the increase in value and the proportion of the total value that has been
consumed by the passage of time were shown in the financial statements.

It does appear that the life of SSAP 19 is limited in that in FRS 15 the ASB makes the point
that it was considering the treatment of investment properties, in tandem with the interna-
tional project on this subject. The ASB believes that it is appropriate to maintain the status
quo until this work is completed!® and hence investment properties were excluded from the
scope of FRS 15, as they are from FRED 209.

Intangible assets

Some intangible assets are very identifiable and separable; patents and the right to use a
famous brand name, are examples. Intangible assets like these can be easily bought and sold.
But this is not true for other types of intangible asset.

In this ‘Information Age’, the skill and loyalty of its staff may be an entity’s only signifi-
cant asset. While this is an economically significant asset it is not, since the abolition of
slavery, readily saleable. In practice the only way that the owner of such an entity can sell this
asset is to dispose of the company that employs the skilled staff, in which case the sales pro-
ceeds will be very much greater than the sum of the carrying values of the assets and
liabilities that have been recognised in the company’s balance sheet.

In many cases it is very difficult to disentangle intangible assets from other residual ele-
ments that make up goodwill. This is why the ASB has chosen to deal with both goodwill and
intangible assets in the same standard, FRS 10, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

In the Discussion Paper?” that preceded FRS 10 the Board expressed the view that certain
intangible assets such as brands and the titles of published works could not be disposed of
separately from the business and that there was, in any event, no generally agreed way of
valuing such assets. Hence, the Board intimated that it was of a mind to specify that intan-
gible assets that were part of a business acquisition should be subsumed within the value
attributable to goodwill. This suggestion was met with strong opposition as corporate
respondents said that such assets were critical to their business and that it was important to
account for them separately (App. III, Para. 22).

The Board accepted that point and hence accepted that intangible assets can sometimes be
separated from goodwill and shown as such, as long as they satisfy the legal and conceptual
requirements for identifiability and can, at the time they are initially recognised, be meas-
ured with sufficient reliability. However, given what will in many cases be a pretty hazy
distinction, the second principle underlying FRS 10 is that in order to avoid the results of the
entity being shown in a more, or less, favourable light, merely by classifying expenditure as
an intangible asset rather than goodwill, the accounting treatment of intangible assets and
goodwill should be aligned (App. III, Para. 23).

We will return to FRS 10 in Chapter 13 when dealing with goodwill, and in this chapter
we shall concentrate on the standard’s treatment of intangible assets.

19 FRS 15, p. 94.
20" Goodwill and Intangible Assets, ASB, 1993.
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FRS 10 and its treatment of intangible assets

In this section of the chapter we will discuss the following topics:

e The nature of intangible assets and the conditions necessary for recognition as a
separate asset

The determination of their carrying value at initial recognition

The depreciation of intangible assets

The revaluation of intangible assets

Disclosure requirements

The nature of intangible assets
Intangible assets are defined as:

Non-financial fixed assets that do not have a physical substance but are identifiable and
are controlled by the entity through custody or legal rights. (Para. 2)

Identifiable assets are defined in FRS 10, in line with company legislation, as assets that are
capable of being disposed of without disposing of a business of the entity.?! So the test is,
in simple terms, can the asset be sold without forcing the entity to get out of one or more
of its businesses?

It is recognised that control can be exercised other than through the possession of legal
rights; it can also be exercised through custody. An example of control through custody is
technical or intellectual knowledge that is maintained secretly.

Initial carrying value

In determining the value at initial recognition we need to consider three cases — intangible
assets purchased separately from a business, internally developed intangible assets and intangible
assets that are purchased as part of the acquisition of a business.

The first is straightforward: an intangible asset purchased separately should be capitalised
at its cost (Para. 9).

An internally developed intangible fixed asset may be capitalised only if it has a readily
ascertainable market value (Para. 14). Note that in this case the entity has the choice whether
to capitalise the asset or not. This means that it is very difficult to compare the results of
companies in industries where, by the nature of the business, internally generated intangible
assets are of significance.

The test of whether the internally generated asset can be recognised is whether it has a
readily ascertainable market value which is a value that is established by reference to a
market where:

(a) the asset belongs to a homogenous population of assets that are equivalent in all material
respects; and

(b) an active market, evidenced by frequent transactions, exists for that population of assets
(Para. 2).

21 This seems to be a case where the use of the word does not accord with its basic meaning, as there are many
‘identifiable’ assets, such as the human resource of a business, that are readily identifiable but do not satisfy the
accounting definition.
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This is a stringent condition for recognition and would preclude assets such as brands and
publishing titles that are one-offs that are not equivalent ‘in all material respects’ to a group
of other assets.??

The third type of asset, an intangible fixed asset acquired as part of a purchase of a business:

should be capitalised separately from goodwill if its value can be measured reliably on initial
recognition. It should initially be recorded at its fair value, subject to the constraint that, unless
the asset has a readily ascertainable market value, the fair value should be limited to an
amount that does not create negative goodwill arising on acquisition. (Para. 10)

So there are two tests for recognition. Is the asset separable and, if so, can it be measured
reliably?

The measurement test depends on whether it is possible to determine the asset’s fair
value. We discussed the problematic definition of fair value earlier in the chapter, and would
repeat our conclusion here, that the use of fair values based solely on market values can be
problematic. In the case of intangible fixed assets, FRS 10 recognises that many intangible
assets are unique and are not traded in the market and the ASB accepts that acceptable tech-
niques for their valuation have been developed including multiples of turnover and, where
these exist, they can be used to provide a fair value for intangible assets.

In order to avoid the creation of negative goodwill a restriction is placed on the fair value
that can be assigned to intangible assets. The fair value is reduced until the negative value of
goodwill disappears, unless, that is, the carrying value of the intangible asset satisfies the
more stringent test of being based on a readily ascertainable market value.

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets

We have already, in the context of FRS 15, discussed the arguments as to whether all fixed
assets, other than land, should be depreciated. Intangible assets provide, of course, a very
fruitful field for this debate.

FRS 10 takes a more relaxed line on the need to depreciate than FRS 15 where the view
was that ‘all tangible fixed assets, other than land, depreciate but the amount may not be
material’. It is recognised in FRS 10 that certain intangible assets, not possessing a physical
form that must wither with time, can have an indefinite life. Thus:

Where goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having indefinite useful economic
lives, they should not be amortised. (Para. 17; note the word ‘should’)

The estimation of the useful life of a fixed asset is usually fairly subjective but this is par-
ticularly true in the case of intangible assets. The standard does specifically warn against
using the uncertainty of the estimate as grounds for selecting an unrealistically short life
(Para. 22). In addition to the impairment reviews, the useful lives of intangible assets should
be reviewed at the end of each reporting period and revised if necessary (Para. 33).

The standard draws a distinction between those assets whose estimated lives are less than
20 years and those which have either an estimated life of 20 or more years or an indefinite
life. The choice of 20 years as the cut-off is ‘based largely on judgement’ (App. I, Para. 33).

22 As we will explain later in the following chapter FRS 10 does not cover the potential intangible assets that might
result from development expenditure.
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Assets with a life not exceeding 20 years

Because of the greater subjectivity, and because of the problems of separability when they are
acquired as part of a purchase of a business, intangible assets are subject to more rigorous
requirements than tangible assets. Intangible assets must be the subject of an impairment review:

(a) at the end of the first full financial year following the acquisition (the ‘first year’ review):
and

(b) in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values
may not be recoverable (Para. 34).

Assets with a life of 20 years or more, including those with an indefinite life

There is a rebuttable presumption that the useful life of purchased goodwill and intangible
assets is limited to periods of 20 years or less. This presumption can be rebutted only if:

(a) the durability of the acquired business or intangible asset can be demonstrated and justi-
fies estimating a life to exceed 20 years; and

(b) the goodwill or intangible asset is capable of continued measurement (so that annual
impairment reviews will be feasible) (Para. 19).

Thus a case has to be made to justify a life of 20 years or more and an annual impairment
review is required.

Revaluation of intangible assets

Only an intangible asset that has a readily ascertainable market value (see p. 119) may be
revalued to its market value. If such a policy is selected then, in line with the provisions of
FRS 15 for tangible assets, if one asset is revalued all intangible assets of the same class must
be revalued and the operation must be repeated sufficiently often to ensure that the carrying
value does not differ materially from the market value (Para. 43).

The effect of Para. 43 is that those intangible assets that were recognised as part of the
purchase of the business on the grounds inter alia that they could be reliably measured, but
for which a readily ascertainable market value does not exist, cannot be revalued. One of the
members of the ASB argued, in a note of dissent, that it was inconsistent to accept that the
reliability of measurement that was sufficient for initial recognition could not be the basis of
subsequent valuation (App. IV, Para. 8).

Impairment losses can be reversed only in respect of those assets that have a readily ascer-
tainable market value or, in what are regarded as rare circumstances, where both the original
impairment loss and its subsequent reversal are attributable to external events (Para. 44). It
is argued that to allow reversal in other circumstances would, in effect, be allowing the capi-
talisation of internally generated intangible assets.

Disclosure requirements

In general the disclosure requirements, to be found in Paras 52 to 59, are similar to those set
out in FRS 15 in respect of tangible fixed assets. The additional requirements include the
need to state, if appropriate, the grounds for rebutting the 20-year life presumption, which
should be a reasoned explanation based on the specific factors contributing to the durability
of the asset.
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Compliance with international accounting standards

The corresponding international standard IAS 38, issued in 1998, does not differ from FRS
10 in substance but there are some differences in detail, including:

@ IAS 38 does not accept that intangible assets can have an indefinite life and hence requires
amortisation of such assets in all circumstances.

e Internally developed intangibles can, under the international standard, be capitalised as
long as costs can be measured reliably. Thus a readily ascertainable market value is not
required. But since IAS 38 specifically states that the costs of generating brands, mast-
heads and similar assets cannot be measured reliably, there are unlikely to be significant
differences in practice between the two approaches.

Differences in the treatment of tangible and intangible
fixed assets

We referred earlier to the difficulties that standard setters experienced in distinguishing
between tangible and intangible assets. We are now in a position to consider the conse-
quences of the decision. They may be summarised as follows:

® More stringent rules are applied to the recognition of intangible assets; e.g. an internally gen-
erated intangible asset can only be recognised if it has a readily ascertainable market value.

® An entity might choose not to recognise an internally generated intangible asset but
would have to recognise a self-constructed tangible asset.

@ Itis more likely that depreciation would not be charged against intangible assets.

e Intangible assets are more likely to be subject to impairment reviews.

The more stringent rules applied to the recognition of intangible assets has a profound effect
on the extent to which conventional financial statements can adequately report on the major
assets that comprise an enterprise. The tangible assets of a successful management consul-
tancy company will be minimal in comparison to the value of the business, as the real assets
of such a company are to be found in such things as the skills and competence of its staff, its
reputation and access to clients. It is very unlikely that such assets will have readily ascertain-
able market values and hence cannot be recognised if they have been internally generated.
But if they have been acquired as part of the purchase the assets will find their way to a bal-
ance sheet, albeit as part of goodwill. So much for comparability!

Impairment reviews

It is a long-established principle that a fixed asset should be written down if its carrying value
exceeds its economic worth to the entity but, prior to the publication of FRS 11, Immpairment
of Fixed Assets and Goodwill, there was little guidance on how to measure the economic
worth of the asset and how any losses should be treated. For reasons, that we will describe
below, the concept of recoverable amount, that will be rejected in the case of individual
assets if the proposals of FRED 29 are implemented, would survive in the context of impair-
ment reviews. The reason for this is that an impairment review is normally conducted on the
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basis of the cash flows associated with a bundle of assets, or income-generating units, and not
the fair values of the assets. However, the provisions of FRS 11 fit more logically with FRS 15
than they would with a standard based on FRED 29.

FRS 11 Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill

This standard is the last of the trinity dealing with fixed assets. Its main purpose is to set the
principles and methodology for accounting for the impairment of fixed assets and goodwill
which necessitates the reduction of their carrying values to their recoverable amounts. We
have already introduced the term recoverable amount, which we defined as the higher of an
asset’s net realisable value and value in use.

The standard does not deal with investments covered by the Board’s projects on deriva-
tives and other financial instruments.

An impairment review is an exercise involving the valuation of an individual asset, where
it is possible to assign the generation of cash flows to an individual asset, or, otherwise, the
smallest bundle of assets to which a series of cash flows can be related.

In discussing FRS 11 we will cover the following topics:

When to perform an impairment review

The calculation of recoverable amount

The bundle of assets to be valued or the ‘income-generating unit’
The estimation of cash flow

The choice of discount rates

The allocation of impairment losses

Subsequent monitoring of cash flows

Disclosure

When to perform an impairment review

We have already touched upon the special requirements for goodwill and intangible assets
(see p. 121). For the generality of assets a review need only be carried out if ‘events and
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the fixed asset or goodwill
may not be recoverable’ (Para. 8).

The events or circumstances can relate specifically to the asset, such as the emergence of a
new, more efficient version, or to the business in which the asset is used, perhaps the making
of large losses over an extended period. It is, of course, not possible to define precisely what
constitutes a significant event that should trigger a review. This must be a matter of judge-
ment at the margin, although there will be events of such magnitude that there will be no
doubt as to the need for a review.

The calculation of recoverable amount

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net realisable value and its value in use and
.. ., in making the comparison between value in use and net realisable value, regard must
be paid to deferred tax balances that would arise in each case. (Para. 19).

Otherwise the calculations are made on the basis of pre-tax flows.

It is then necessary to compare the carrying value of the asset with the recoverable
amount. Only where the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value is it necessary
to write down the asset.
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While the standard sets out, in some considerable detail, how the calculations of value in
use should be made, it also points out that in many cases a simple estimate will be enough to
demonstrate that the value in use is either above the carrying value or below net realisable
value, thus obviating the need for a more detailed calculation.

Income-generating units

Ideally, the value in use of assets should be estimated on an individual basis but this is often
not possible, because of what the economists call the allocation problem, that is the impossi-
bility of dividing the cash flows generated by the whole business between the individual
assets. Thus, it is necessary to identify income-generating units that are found by dividing the
total income stream of the entity into as many largely independent income streams as is
reasonably possible. With the exception of any central assets which cannot meaningfully be
apportioned across the units, all the identifiable assets and liabilities, excluding deferred tax
balances, interest-bearing debt, dividends payable and other items relating wholly to finance,
should be attributed to, or apportioned between, the various income-generating units.

Thus the main business is divided into two or more ‘mini-businesses’, as independent as
possible. In practice, the businesses may not be very ‘mini’ for, given the highly integrated
nature of many enterprises, it may not be possible to break down some very large entities
into more than two or three income-generating units. An illustration of this is one of the
examples provided in the standard. This is of a transport company that operates a number of
trunk routes each fed by a number of supporting routes. In this case the units are each of the
trunk routes together with their supporting routes.

In some cases it is possible to apportion central assets, such as the head office, to the dif-
ferent units using some rule of thumb such as proportion of turnover. This is more likely to
be possible when the units are fairly homogeneous in nature. When they are very different,
involving, say, a large-volume manufacturing plant and a small highly specialised research
laboratory, this might not be possible. In such cases it may be necessary first to undertake a
review at the level of the individual units, ignoring the asset value and the income flows
relating to the central asset, and then to combine the units with the central assets and to
again compare carrying value with recoverable amount. It might be that no impairment is
identified at the individual unit level but is found at the aggregate level.

As we will explain in Chapter 13 a similar approach is used for goodwill.

The estimation of the cash flows

The standard is quite prescriptive in the way it requires the cash flows necessary to allow an
asset’s (or more likely an income-generating unit’s) value in use to be estimated. The esti-
mates must be based on two elements, first the most up-to-date budgets and plans that have
been approved by management which, other than in exceptional circumstances, should be
for a period not exceeding five years. Thereafter the cash flows should be based on the
assumption of steady or declining (but not increasing) growth rates and that, again with a
let-out in exceptional circumstances, the growth rate used should not exceed the long-term
average of the country or countries in which the entity operates (Para. 36). Note that the
rules are framed in terms of the growth rate not the rate itself, hence if the average rate of
growth in the period covered by the budgets was, say, 3 per cent it would be permissible to
extrapolate this rate of growth into the future so long as it was consistent with estimates of
the growth rate in the appropriate country or countries.
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In general the cash flow estimates should be based on the current condition of the assets
and should include neither future expected cash savings from future reorganisations for
which provision has not yet been made nor future capital expenditure that will enhance the
asset in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance (Para. 38). There is one
exception to this provision that applies in the case of a newly acquired income-generating
unit such as a subsidiary. In instances such as these the purchase price might well reflect the
synergies that will result from the acquisition but which will depend on additional expendi-
ture. In these cases the cash flow estimates can, up till the end of the first full year following
the acquisition, take the costs and benefits resulting from that expenditure into account
(Para. 39).

Discount rate

The present value of the income-generating unit under review should be calculated by dis-
counting the expected cash flows of the unit. The discount rate used should be an estimate
of the rate the market would expect on an equally risky investment. It should exclude the
effects of any risk for which the cash flow has been adjusted and should be calculated on a
pre-tax basis. (Para. 41)

The standard goes on to suggest ways by which the rate can be estimated, placing great
emphasis on the need to ensure that the rates used for comparison are derived from cash
flows from operations with the same risk profile or are adjusted for risk. The ASB is a trifle
sanguine about the ease with which adjustments can be made for risk. As an example, it
states (Para. 45) that it is likely that the use of a discount rate equal to the rate of return that
the market would expect on an equally risky investment is likely to be the easiest way of deal-
ing with risk, which begs the question of how one finds an equally risky investment. It goes
on the state that an equally acceptable alternative is to adjust the cash flows for risk and then
to discount using a risk-free rate, e.g. government bond rate, which begs the question of how
to adjust the cash flows for risk (Para. 45)!

The standard warns against the danger of double-counting inflation: if cash flows are
expressed in current prices they should be discounted using a real discount rate, if expressed
in future prices a nominal discount rate should be employed (Para. 46).

The allocation of impairment losses

When the impairment review is conducted at the level of the income-generating unit it
might not be possible to identify the asset whose carrying value should be reduced. If it is not
obvious then the procedure specified in FRS 11 is to allocate the impairment loss first to
those assets whose value is the most subjective. Hence the order is:

1 Goodwill
2 Any capitalised intangible asset
3 The tangible assets, on a pro rata or more appropriate bases (Para. 48)

Subsequent monitoring of cash flows

In those cases where the recoverable amount is based on the, generally, more subjective of
the possible two measures, the asset’s value in use, the standard requires that, for the period
of five years following the review, the cash flows actually achieved should be compared with
those used in the review (Para. 54). Such a comparison can have only three outcomes: the
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actual cash flows may be broadly in line with those that had been estimated, in which case no
further action is required, or the position may turn out to be better or worse than had been
originally anticipated.

If the cash flows turn out to be better than had been forecast then it might be possible to
recognise a complete or partial reversal of the impairment loss.

If the actual cash flows are worse than had been expected, then the additional loss that
would have been shown, had the actual cash flows been used, must be recognised.

Disclosure requirements
These appear at Paras 67-73 and may be summarised as follows:

e Impairment losses shown in the profit and loss account should, if appropriate, be shown
as an exceptional item; those appearing in the STRGL should be disclosed separately.

@ For assets shown at depreciated historical costs the impairment losses should be included
within cumulative depreciation.

o If the loss is measured by reference to value in use, the discount rate used should be dis-
closed and, if a risk-free rate is used, an indication of the risk adjustments made to the
cash flow should be provided.

e If an impairment loss is reversed, information relating to the circumstances and assump-
tions used in the calculation of the recoverable amount must be provided.

o If, in the measurement of value in use, the period before the assumption of steady or
declining growth extends to more than five years, the note should state both the length of
the period and its justification; if the long-term growth rate exceeds the average, the rate
used and its justification should also be provided.

It can be seen that superficially a great deal of information has to be provided, especially in
relation to value-in-use calculations but, in practice, there must be some doubt as to the extent
that the disclosures will be useful to users of the financial statements, who may have difficulty
in determining the reasonableness of the assumptions underpinning the calculations.

Compliance with international accounting standards

The equivalent international standard is IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, which was issued in
1998. The basic approach of the two standards is the same and, while the detailed require-
ments are very similar, among the more interesting differences are:

® The FRS treats intangible assets in much the same way as goodwill while the IAS aligns
their treatment to that of tangible assets. As a consequence, for the allocation of impair-
ment losses, the FRS sets them off first against intangible assets, while the IAS sets them
off against all assets pro rata; for the recognition of the reversal of impairment losses, the
IAS does not restrict the reversal of losses in respect of intangible assets.

e The FRS requires estimates of value in use to be monitored for five years, the IAS
does not.

@ The IAS has additional disclosure requirements.
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Summary

In this chapter, we have examined the accounting treatment of both tangible and intangible
fixed assets. We have examined the initial recognition and measurement of such assets, the
need for depreciation and how to handle changes that occur over time, including impair-
ment. We have seen that, whereas most countries in the world require the use of historical
cost accounting, the UK is one of the few countries to permit upward revaluations of fixed
assets under its ‘mixed measurement approach’.

We have seen that the financial reporting standards relating to fixed assets are very flexible
at a fundamental level while they are more rigid at the operational level. Thus companies
may choose whether or not to capitalise borrowing costs and, perhaps much more seriously,
may choose whether to show their various classes of fixed assets on the basis of historical cost
or at current values. The choices which they make may lead to enormous differences
between financial statements in practice and hence raise serious questions about the com-
parability of financial statements.

There has been considerable vacillation on the key issue of how to determine current
values. It appeared that the ASB had finally settled on the value-to-the-business approach,
the basis that is now enshrined in its Statement of Principles, but this now seems to be in flux
as it appears that the Board is prepared to accept the alternative fair value approach in order
to achieve convergence between UK and international standards.

One very major issue remains sorely neglected. For an increasing number of businesses
the major assets are intangible, including staff competence, knowledge and reputation. Such
assets do not usually appear among the assets of a business unless they have been acquired as
part of the purchase of another business when they may appear as part of the figure for
goodwill. We are still some way from developing financial reporting standards that require
the recognition of such major assets in financial statements in a systematic fashion.

Recommended reading
‘Avoiding depreciation’, Company Reporting, No. 134, August 2001.

C.R. Baker, Impairment tests for goodwill instead of amortisation: the potential impact on British com-
panies, Colchester, University of Essex Department of Accounting, Finance and Management,
2001.

W.T. Baxter, ‘Depreciation and interest’, Accountancy, October 2000.

B. Lev, ‘Rethinking accounting — Intangibles at a cross road: what’s next?’, Financial Executive
March/April 2002.

Excellent up-to-date and detailed reading on the subject matter of this chapter and on much of
the contents of this book is provided by the most recent edition of:

UK and International GAAP, A. Wilson, M. Davies, M. Curtis and G. Wilkinson-Riddle, (eds),
Ernst & Young, Butterworths Tolley, London. At the time of writing, the latest edition is the
7th, published in 2001.
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5.1

5.2

5.3

The valuation and depreciation of fixed assets are covered by both mandatory accounting
standards and the Companies Acts as sources of authority.

Requirement
Identify the main accounting issues involved in the valuation and depreciation of fixed
assets and discuss to what extent these are addressed in the above sources of authority.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, November 1995 (10 marks)

The managing director of your company has always been unhappy at depreciating the com-
pany’s properties because he argues that these properties are in fact appreciating in value.

Recently he heard of another company which has investment properties and does not
depreciate those properties.

You are required to write a report to your managing director explaining:

(a) the consequence of not depreciating the company’s existing properties; (2 marks)
(b) the meaning of investment properties; (5 marks)
(c) the accounting treatment of investment properties in published financial statements.
(8 marks)
CIMA, Advanced Financial Accounting, May 1991 (15 marks)

X Ltd is a retail supermarket chain which regularly constructs its own superstores. During
the year ending 31 December 1995, X Ltd began work on a new site.

On 1 January 1995, a leasehold interest in the site (of 50 years) was purchased for
£20 million.

It was considered that a further £10 million would be required to build and fit the super-
store. £6 million of the additional £10 million would be spent on the construction of the
building and £4 million on fixtures and fittings. Past experience has led the management of
X Ltd to believe that the fixtures and fittings would have an average useful economic life of
ten years from first use before requiring replacement.

On 1 January 1995, X Ltd borrowed £30 million to finance the project. The £30 million
carries no interest but is repayable on 31 December 1997 at a premium of £9.93 million (i.e.
£39.93 million is to be repaid in total).

The superstore is to be brought into use on 1 January 1996.

Requirements
(a) Set out the arguments for and against the capitalisation of borrowing costs on con-
structed fixed assets. (9 marks)

(b) Assuming that borrowing costs ARE capitalised where appropriate, calculate:
(i) the total amount to be included in fixed assets in respect of the development at
31 December 1995, and
(ii) the total amount to be charged to the profit and loss account in respect of the
development for the year ending 31 December 1996. (11 marks)
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5.4

Present value factors are shown below.

Years t Present value of £1 to be
received after t years

5% 10% 15%
1 0.952 0.909 0.870
2 0.907 0.826 0.756
3 0.864 0.751 0.658
4 0.823 0.683 0.572
5 0.784 0.621 0.497

CIMA, Financial Reporting, November 1995 (20 marks)

C & R plc is a large company which operates a number of retail stores throughout the
United Kingdom. The company makes up financial statements to 30 September each year.
On 1 October 1996 the company purchased two plots of land at two different locations,
and commenced the construction of two retail stores. The construction was completed on
1 October 1997.
Details of the costs incurred to construct the stores are as follows:

Location A Location B
£000 £000
Cost of land 500 700
Cost of building materials 500 550
Direct labour 100 150
Site overheads 100 100
Fixtures and fittings 200 200

The construction of the stores was financed out of the proceeds of issue of a £10 million
zero coupon bond on 1 October 1996. The bond is redeemable at a price of £25 937 000 on
30 September 2006. This represents the one and only payment to the holders of the bond.

Both stores were brought into use on 1 October 1997. The store at Location A was used
by C & R plc but, due to a change of plan, the store at Location B was let to another retailer
at a commercial rent.

It is the policy of C & R plc to depreciate freehold properties over their anticipated useful
life of 50 years, and to depreciate fixtures and fittings over 10 years. The cost of such proper-
ties (including fixtures and fittings) should include finance costs, where this is permitted by
the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom.

Requirements

(a) Compute the amounts which will be included in fixed assets in respect of the stores at
Locations A and B on 30 September 1997.
Give full explanations for the amounts you have included. (11 marks)

(b) Compute the charge to the profit and loss account for depreciation on the fixed assets
at the two locations for the year to 30 September 1998, stating clearly the reasons for
your answers. (9 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting, November 1997 (20 marks)
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5.5

5.6

L plc has never revalued its land and buildings. The directors are unsure whether they should
adopt a policy of doing so. They are concerned that FRS 15 — Tangible Fixed Assets has an “all
or nothing” approach which would impose a duty on them to maintain up-to-date valuations
in the balance sheet for all land and buildings into the indefinite future. They are also con-
cerned that the introduction of current values will make the accounting ratios based on their
balance sheet appear less attractive to shareholders and other users of the financial statements.

Required

Authors’ note: Students should ignore part (c) of this question as the relevant data has not

been provided.

(a) Explain why FRS 15 requires those companies who revalue fixed assets to revalue all of
the assets in the relevant classes and why these valuations must be kept up to date.

(7 marks)
(b) Explain whether it is logical for FRS 15 to offer companies a choice between showing
all assets in a class at either cost less depreciation or at valuation. (4 marks)

(c) Calculate the figures that would appear in L plc’s financial statements in respect of
land and buildings if the company opts to show the factories at their valuation. You
should indicate where these figures would appear, but do NOT prepare any detailed
notes in a form suitable for disclosure. (6 marks)

(d) Explain how the revaluation of fixed assets is likely to affect key accounting ratios and
explain whether these changes are likely to make the company appear stronger or
weaker. Do NOT calculate any ratios in respect of L plc. (8 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2001 (25 marks)

You are the management accountant of Historic Ltd. Historic Ltd makes up its financial
statements to 30 September each year. The financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2000 are currently being prepared. The Directors have always included fixed
assets under the historical cost convention. However, for the current year, they are consider-
ing revaluing some of the fixed assets. They obtained professional valuations as at 1 October
1999 for the two properties owned by the company. Details of the valuations were as follows:

Historical cost NBV Current use value Market value
£000 £000 £000
Property One 15000 16800 17500
Property Two 14000 12000 12500

No acquisitions or disposals of properties have taken place since 1 October 1999 and none
are expected in the near future. The buildings element of the two properties comprises 50%
of both historical cost and the revalued amounts. Each property is reckoned to have a useful
economiic life to the company of 40 years from 1 October 1999.

Given the results of the valuations, the Directors propose to include Property One at its
market value in the financial statements for the year to 30 September 2000. They wish to
leave Property Two at its historical cost. They have no plans to revalue the other fixed assets
of the company, which are plant and fixtures.

Requirements
(a) State briefly the key arguments for and against including fixed assets at revalued
amounts. (6 marks)

(b) Evaluate the Directors’ proposal to revalue Property One as at 1 October 1999 but to
leave all other fixed assets at historical cost. Your answer should include reference to
appropriate Accounting Standards. (4 marks)
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5.7

5.8

(¢) The Directors have decided to revalue the fixed assets of the company in accordance with
their original wishes, amended where necessary to comply with appropriate Accounting
Standards. Compute the net book value of each property as at 30 September 2000.
You should clearly explain where any differences on revaluation will be shown in the
financial statements. (5 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting, November 2000 (15 marks)

K is a CIMA member who has recently established a limited company which specialises in
biotechnology applications. The company has just reached the end of its first year of trading.
K is working through the accounting records prior to drafting the company’s first annual
report. The fixed assets section of the balance sheet is causing him some difficulty. The com-
pany has invested heavily in sophisticated equipment and K is checking whether the
associated costs have been accounted for in accordance with the requirements of FRS 15 —
Tangible Fixed Assets.

K is reviewing the file relating to a sophisticated oven that is used to heat cell cultures to a
precisely controlled temperature:

£
(i) List price paid to supplier 50000
(ii)) Wages and materials costs associated with testing and
calibrating oven, up to start of operations 800
(i1i) Ongoing wages and materials costs associated with
calibrating oven since start of operations 2000
(iv) Expected costs of disposing of oven at the end of its useful life 16 000

The oven is used to heat cell cultures to a temperature range that must be closely controlled. The
oven’s controls will have to be regularly checked and calibrated throughout its working life.

The oven will have to be dismantled and sterilised by an expert contractor at the end of
its life and then disposed of at a special facility. K has already provided £16 000 against these
costs, in accordance with the requirements of FRS 12 — Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

The machine’s expected useful life is five years. K is planning to adopt the straight-line
basis of depreciation. The market value/value in use of the machine at the year end is
£28000. This decrease in value from new is partly because the oven has been used to culture
dangerous organisms and so it is much less valuable. K is unsure whether to value equip-
ment at cost less depreciation or at valuation. This decision will be based on an analysis of
the resulting figures in terms of two of the ‘pervasive concepts’ (those of relevance and reli-
ability) contained in FRS 18 — Accounting Policies.

Required
(a) Calculate the cost of the oven, applying the requirements of FRS 15. Explain your
treatment of items (ii), (iii) and (iv). (10 marks)

(b) (i) Calculate the figures that will appear in respect of the oven in the profit and loss
account for the company’s first year and the balance sheet at the year end under

both the historical cost and valuation bases. (4 marks)

(ii) Discuss the relevance and reliability of both sets of figures you have calculated in
answer to requirement (b) (i) above. (6 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2002 (20 marks)

(a) Accounting practices for fixed assets and depreciation can be said to have developed in
a piecemeal manner. The introduction of FRS 11 ‘Impairment of Fixed Assets’ has
meant that a standard on the measurement of fixed assets was required to provide fur-
ther guidance in this area. FRS 15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’ deals with the measurement
and valuation issue.
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(b)

Required
Describe why it was important for a new accounting standard to be issued on the measure-
ment of fixed assets. (6 marks)

Aztech, a public limited company manufactures and operates a fleet of small aircraft. It
draws up its financial statements to 31 March each year,

Aztech also owns a small chain of hotels (carrying value of £16 million), which are used in
the sale of holidays to the public. It is the policy of the company not to provide depreciation
on the hotels as they are maintained to a high standard and the economic lives of the hotels are
long (20 years remaining life). The hotels are periodically revalued and on 31 March 2000,
their existing use value was determined to be £20 million, the replacement cost of the hotels
was £16 million and the open market value was £19 million. One of the hotels included above
is surplus to the company’s requirements as at 31 March 2000. This hotel had an existing use
value of £3 million, a replacement cost of £2 million and an open market value of £2.5 million,
before expected estate agents and solicitors fees of £200000. Aztech wishes to revalue the hotels
as at 31 March 2000. There is no indication of any impairment in value of the hotels.

The company has recently finished manufacturing a fleet of five aircraft to a new design.
These aircraft are intended for use in its own fleet for domestic carriage purposes. The com-
pany commenced construction of the assets on 1 April 1998 and wishes to recognise them as
fixed assets as at 31 March 2000 when they were first utilised. The aircraft were completed
on 1 January 2000 but their exterior painting was delayed until 31 March 2000.

The costs (excluding finance costs) of manufacturing the aircraft were £28 million and
the company has adopted a policy of capitalising the finance costs of manufacturing the air-
craft. Aztech had taken out a three year loan of £20 million to finance the aircraft on 1 April
1998. Interest is payable at 10% per annum but is to be rolled over and paid at the end of the
three year period together with the capital outstanding. Corporation tax is 30%.

During the construction of the aircraft, certain computerised components used in the
manufacture fell dramatically in price. The company estimated that at 31 March 2000 the
net realisable value of the aircraft was £30 million and their value in use was £29 million.

The engines used in the aircraft have a three year life and the body parts have an eight
year life; Aztech has decided to depreciate the engines and the body parts over their different
useful lives on the straight line basis from 1 April 2000. The cost of replacing the engines on
31 March 2003 is estimated to be £15 million. The engine costs represent thirty per cent of
the total cost of manufacture.

The company has decided to revalue the aircraft annually on the basis of their market
value. On 31 March 2001, the aircraft have a value in use of £28 million, a market value of
£27 million and a net realisable value of £26 million. On 31 March 2002, the aircraft have a
value in use of £17 million, a market value of £18 million and a net realisable value of £18.5
million. There is no consumption of economic benefits in 2002 other than the depreciation
charge. Revaluation surpluses or deficits are apportioned between the engines and the body
parts on the basis of their year end carrying values before the revaluation.

Required:

(i) Describe how the hotels should be valued in the financial statements of Aztech on
31 March 2000 and explain whether the current depreciation policy relating to the
hotels is acceptable under FRS 15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’. (6 marks)

(ii) Show the accounting treatment of the aircraft fleet in the financial statements on the
basis of the above scenario for the financial years ending on:

(a) 31 March 2000. (4 marks)
(b) 31 March 2001, 2002. (6 marks)
(c) 31 March 2003 before revaluation. (3 marks)

Candidates should use FRS 15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’ in answering all parts of the above question.

ACCA, Financial Reporting Environment (UK Stream), June 2000 (25 marks)
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Assets I1

The main issues surrounding the treatment of assets have been introduced in the preceding
chapter. In this chapter, we will focus on accounting for inventories and long-term contracts.
While these are both covered in SSAP 9, FRED 28 proposes that this should be replaced by
two standards. We will also cover accounting for research and development activities and
accounting for government grants, both revenue and capital. Thus we will in this chapter
discuss:

® SSAP 9 Stocks and Long-term Contracts (revised 1988)

IAS 2 Inventories (revised 1993)

IAS 11 Construction Contracts (revised 1993)

FRED 28 Inventories and Construction and Service Contracts (2002)
IAS 18 Revenue (revised 1993)

SSAP 13 Accounting for Research and Development (revised 1989)
SSAP 4 Accounting for Government Grants (revised 1990)

MDIBIAIDAO

The treatment of long-term contracts requires us to address the question of when revenue
should be recognised and, to this end, we will also refer to the appropriate part of the following:

@ Discussion Paper, Revenue recognition (July 2001)

Introduction

It used to be said in jest that in drawing up the annual accounts of an enterprise the first figure
to be set down was that of profit, then all the ascertainable figures, until finally the value of
stock emerged as a balancing item. This sentiment is certainly echoed in the introductory
remarks to the original version of SSAP 9 Stocks and Work in Progress, issued in May 1975:

No area of accounting has produced wider differences in practice than the computation of the
amount at which stocks and work in progress are stated in financial accounts. This statement
of standard accounting practice seeks to define the practices, to narrow the differences and
variation in those practices and to ensure adequate disclosure in the accounts.

SSAP 9, albeit revised in 1988, has survived for over a quarter of century but will soon be
replaced as part of the convergence programme. This replacement is heralded by the issue of
FRED 28 which, if implemented, would result in two Financial Reporting Standards, one
Inventories which is based on the proposed revised text of the international standard with the
same title, IAS 2; the other, Construction and Service Contracts, is based on IAS 11,
Construction Contracts which, it is understood, the IASB is not likely to revise in the foresee-
able future.
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The fact that there are very few differences between the provisions of SSAP 9 and FRED
28 may be testimony to the absence of controversy surrounding the area of stock and work-
in-progress, although some would argue that it provides evidence of the lack of theoretical
work in the area. One interesting development is the recognition that long-term contracts
are not confined to the construction industry. While SSAP 9 was drafted in terms of long-
term contracts that related to the construction of tangible asssets its principles have been
applied to other types of contracts, notably those for services. This topic is the subject of IAS
18 Revenue but, as the ASB and other standard setters are working on the subject of revenue
recognition at present, the ASB does not feel it appropriate to propose that the UK adopt the
full text of IAS 18. Instead, to ensure that accounting for long-term service contracts contin-
ues to be addressed in UK standards, the relevant paragraphs of IAS 18 have been
incorporated into the draft standard. We will discuss these paragraphs later in the chapter.

SSAP 13 Accounting for Research and Development and SSAP 4 Accounting for Government
Grants, which we shall introduce in the second part of the chapter, have also been around for
some time but are not presently slated for replacement. They contain few issues of principle
but SSAP 13 brings us back to the often faced question of when does expenditure result in
the creation of an asset?

Stocks and long-term contracts

SSAP 9

SSAP 9 differs from most other statements in that a large proportion of the document is
devoted to appendices that deal with practical problems. The ASC was of the view that the
problems that arise in this area are of a practical rather than of a theoretical nature.
Appendix 1 deals with the relevant practical considerations but, as was always the case with
appendices, it did not form part of the SSAP. There are two other appendices: Appendix 2,
which consists of a glossary of terms, and Appendix 3, which is concerned with the presenta-
tion of information relating to long-term contracts.

We will assume that readers are familiar with the basic principles of stock valuation and
the different methods employed in the historical cost system and, hence, we will concentrate
on the few, but important, principles underlying SSAP 9.

Stocks other than long-term contracts

The amount at which stocks are stated in periodic financial statements should be the total
of the lower of cost and net realisable value of the separate item of stock or of groups of
similar items. (SSAP 9, Para. 26)

A simple enough statement. Stock should normally be shown at cost but might sometimes
be written down. But to state that stock should normally be stated at cost does not take us
very far, for, as readers will be aware, the determination of the cost of stock and work-in-
progress is by no means a simple task and much of the statement, including the appendices,
is devoted to that subject. The basic principle is that the cost of stock and work-in-progress
should comprise:

that expenditure which has been incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the
product or service to its present location and condition. Such costs will [our emphasis]
include all related production overheads, even though these may accrue on a time basis.
(SSAP 9, Paras 17-19)
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Overheads

The cost of stock and work-in-progress is to include costs of production and conversion (as
defined in the statement). The specification of the treatment of overheads reflects one way in
which the standard fulfils its objective of narrowing variations in practice. There has been
much debate on the extent to which production overheads should be included in the valu-
ation of stock. At one extreme — the variable costing approach — is the view that overhead
allocation is by its very nature arbitrary and that stock should be valued by reference to the
costs (usually just direct material and labour) that can be directly related to the stock in
question. A view that lies between this extreme and the ASC’s position is that production
overheads that relate to activity rather than time (e.g. cost of power) should be included in
the cost of stock. These approaches are rejected by SSAP 9, which requires the inclusion of all
production overheads, including those that accrue on a time basis. It appears that this alter-
native was adopted because the ASC felt that all production overheads, whether or not they
arise on a time basis, are required to bring the stock to its ‘present location and condition’.

Costs which include time-related production overheads will, all other things being equal,
vary with the level of output; the lower the output the greater the cost of, say, rent per unit.
Thus, the statement refers to the need to base the allocation of overheads on the company’s
normal level of activity,! so ensuring that the cost of unused capacity is written off in the
current year. Appendix 1 of SSAP 9 provides some guidance on the question of how the
normal level of activity should be determined, but it is clear that judgement will have to play
a part in the resolution of this matter.

The ASC specifically rejected the argument that the omission of production overheads can
be defended on the grounds of prudence. This emerges in Appendix 1, Para. 10, which states:

The adoption of a conservative approach to the valuation of stocks and long-term contracts
has sometimes been used as one of the reasons for omitting selected production overheads.
In so far as the circumstances of the business require an element of prudence in determining
the amount at which stocks and long-term contracts are stated, this needs to be taken into
account in the determination of net realisable value and not by the exclusion from cost of
selected overheads.

Stock valuation methods

The conventional methods of stock valuation (FIFO, LIFO, etc.) are described in the
Statement’s Appendix 2, the glossary of terms. The standard does not give any guidance
about the methods that should be used; but the ASC’s view of the principle that should be
followed is given in Appendix 1, where it is stated that ‘management must exercise judgment
to ensure that the methods chosen provide the fairest practicable approximation to cost’.? It
can be seen that the ASC placed emphasis on the need to show as accurately as possible the
cost of stock and rejected those methods such as LIFO which are used, especially in the
United States, to produce a profit figure which approximates to a current cost operating
profit (see Chapter 20). It now appears that the IASB, when revising IAS 2 Inventories, will, at
last, also outlaw the use of LIFO. When this is done, it will greatly help to ensure that
accounting standards will converge in a sensible direction.

! SSAP 9, Appendix 1, Para. 8.
2 SSAP 9, Appendix 1, Para. 12.
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The writing down of stock

We will now turn to the methods that must be adopted when stock is to be written down.
We will not, however, at this stage refer to the problems of establishing the net realisable
value, which has been dealt with in Chapter 4.

SSAP 9 requires that stock should be written down to its net realisable value. Prior to the
publication of the standard, some companies stated stock at replacement cost where this was
lower than net realisable value and cost. The use of replacement cost is rejected in SSAP 9 on
the grounds that it may result in the recognition of ‘a loss that is greater than that which is
expected to be incurred’ (SSAP 9, Para. 6).

Our final comment on the provisions of SSAP 9, Para. 26, quoted at the beginning of this
section, relates to the requirement that the comparison of cost and net realisable value
should be on an item-by-item basis or by reference to groups of similar items. The reason for
this is that this provision is given in Para. 2, where it is stated that ‘to compare the total real-
isable value of stocks with the total cost could result in an unacceptable setting off of
foreseeable losses against unrealised profits’. In other words, the practice contravenes the
concept of prudence.

The alternative accounting rules

The standard recognises that companies taking advantage of the alternative accounting rules
set out in the Companies Act 1985 may show stock at the lower of current replacement cost
and net realisable value (Para. 6). As we will see there is no equivalent statement in FRED 28.

Long-term contracts

Long-term contracts merit separate consideration. Because of the time taken to complete
such contracts, to defer recording turnover and the recognition of profit until completion
might, in the words of the standard, ‘result in the profit and loss account reflecting not so
much a fair view of the activity of the company during the year but rather the results relating
to contracts which have been completed by the year end” (SSAP 9, Para. 7).

Thus, SSAP 9 states that it is appropriate to (and by appropriate the ASC meant that com-
panies should) take credit for ascertainable turnover and profit while contracts are in
progress, subject to various conditions specified in the standard.

This may well be an eminently practical and sensible view, but it did seem to be in conflict
with the attitude adopted in SSAP 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies, which was only withdrawn
with the issue of FRS 18 in December 2000, where it was stated that ‘where the accruals concept
is inconsistent with the prudence concept . . ., the latter prevails’®> The provision of SSAP 9
relating to long-term contracts does appear to suggest that the accruals concept should prevail
over prudence. In that the ASB has now adopted a radically different stance whereby prudence
is no longer seen to be, of itself, a desirable characteristic, it can be seen that SSAP 9 was the
forerunner of what was to follow. The difference between the two standards reflects the lack of
consistency that was a feature of the pioneering period of standard setting.

The provision that attributable profit should (not might) be recognised in the financial
statements was perhaps the most controversial aspect of the original SSAP 9. A number of
large companies had consistently eschewed the recognition of profit on uncompleted con-
tracts and some continued this practice after the implementation of SSAP 9, accepting the
consequential qualifications in their audit reports.

3 SSAP 2, Para. 14(b).
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In addition, there would appear to be a conflict between this requirement of SSAP 9 and
the legal requirement that only realised profits may be credited to the profit and loss account
(see Chapter 4). Even if attributable profit on long-term contract work-in-progress is not
realised, it may, nonetheless, be included in the profit and loss account if this is necessary to
give a true and fair view. The use of this true and fair view override on a number of occa-
sions in the UK aroused considerable criticism from other members of the EU, who did not
envisage that it would be used so often. This is an issue that will be addressed in the
Companies Act which results from the publication of the recent White Paper, Modernising
Company Law.* At present, it looks as if company law will delegate all matters relating to the
form and content of company financial statements to a Standards Board and, as a conse-
quence of this, the emphasis placed upon the distinction between realised and unrealised
profits will disappear.

Definition of long-term contracts

A long-term contract can relate to the design or construction of a single substantial asset or
the provision of a service (or a combination of assets or services which constitute a single
project) where the activity falls into different accounting periods. If a contract is to fall
within the definition, it will normally have to last for more than a year, but shorter contracts
may also be included if they are sufficiently material so that the failure to record turnover
and attributable profit would distort the financial statements.

Turnover, related costs and attributable profit

Long-term contracts should be assessed on a contract by contract basis and reflected in the
profit and loss account by recording turnover and related costs as contract activity pro-
gresses. (SSAP 9, Para. 28)

Also:

Where it is considered that the outcome of a long-term contract can be assessed with reason-
able certainty before its conclusion, the prudently calculated attributable profit should be
recognised in the profit and loss account as the difference between the reported turnover and
related costs for that contract. (SSAP 9, Para. 29)

So the accounting seems pretty straightforward and obvious:

Reported turnover — Related costs = Attributable profit

But how are the various elements determined? The standard does not help very much,
although some guidance is given:

Turnover is ascertained in a manner appropriate to the stage of completion of the contract, the
business and the industry in which it operates. (SSAP 9, Para. 28)

Some assistance is also provided in Appendix 1 (Para. 23) where it is stated that turnover
may be ascertained by reference to valuation of the work carried out to date. Alternatively
there may be specific points where separately ascertainable sales values and costs can
be identified because, for example, delivery or customer acceptance has taken place. The

4 Cm. 5553-1 and Cm. 5553-11
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paragraph goes on to state that the standard does not provide a definition of turnover
because of the number of different possible approaches. It does, however, point out that the
Standard does require disclosure of the means by which turnover is ascertained.

Neither the standard nor any of the appendices refer to the calculation of related cost, so
we will now turn to this and the estimation of attributable profit. We will start with two con-
ceptually simple cases.

If the outcome of a long-term contract cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty,
no profit should be reflected in the profit and loss account. However, if, despite the uncer-
tainty, the contract is not expected to make a loss, ‘it may be appropriate to show as turnover
a proportion of the total contract value using a zero estimate of profit’ (SSAP 9, Para. 10). In
the latter situation in order to satisfy the relationship between turnover, cost and profit, the
related costs would be made equal to the reported turnover. If, on this basis, related costs
appeared to be greater than the actual costs incurred to date, the turnover would be reduced
and made equal to the actual costs.

The second ‘simple’ case is where the contract is expected to make a loss. In that situation,
in accordance with the prudence concept, the whole of the loss should be recorded as soon
as it is foreseen. Turnover would be determined in the normal way and the related cost
would be equal to the actual cost to date plus the provision for foreseeable future losses.

Now let us consider a case where it would be necessary to recognise some profit.
Attributable profit is defined as:

that part of the total profit currently estimated to arise over the duration of the contract,
after allowing for estimated remedial and maintenance costs and increases in costs so far
as not recoverable under the terms of the contract, that fairly reflect the profit attributable
to that part of the work performed at the accounting date. (SSAP 9, Para. 23)

Thus, it is first necessary to estimate the total profit and then decide how it should be allo-
cated. The principles involved are illustrated in Example 6.1.

Example 6.1

Suppose that Engineer Limited started a three-year contract at the beginning of year 1 with a total
contract value of £180 000 and costs of £120 000 that it is anticipated will be incurred as follows:

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total
£30000 £60000 £30000 £120000

The expected profit is thus £60 000.

Case 1

We will assume that both turnover and profit are to be recognised in proportion to the costs
incurred. Hence, assuming all goes to plan, the contract would be reported in the profit and loss
accounts as follows:

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
(25%) (50%) (25%)
£ £ £
Reported turnover 45 000 90 000 45 500
Related costs 30 000 60 000 30 000

Attributable profit £15 000 £30 000 £15 000
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Case 2

Depending on the nature of the contract it might be deemed appropriate to record turnover on a differ-

ent basis, perhaps on the values placed on the work completed to date by an independent consultant.
Assume that the value of the work certified is as follows:

Value of work Value of work Fraction
certified completed in year
£ £ £
End of year 1 30000 30000 :
End of year 2 90000 60000 %
End of year 3 180000 90000 %

Profit might be based on cost (Case 2a) or turnover (Case 2b) that would result in the reporting of
the following figures.

Case 2a
Profit related to cost

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
£ £ £
Reported turnover 30000 60000 90000
Related cost 15000 30000 75000
Attributable profit £15000 (25%) £30000 (50%) £15000 (25%)
Case 2b
Profit related to turnover
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
£ £ £
Reported turnover 30000 60000 90000
Related cost 20000 40000 60000
Attributable profit  £10000  (3) £20000  (3) £30000  (3)

Thus, we can see that under the provisions of SSAP 9, even in this simple case, three different pat-
terns of turnover, cost and profit might be reported, and in practice more variations are possible.

Now let us assume that all does not go to plan and the actual cost in year 2 was £80 000
rather than the expected £60 000, but that no further difficulties are expected and that the original
estimate for the cost of year 3 of £30 000 still holds.

Consider the position as at the end of year 2; there are two possibilities which will be illus-
trated by reference to Case 2a above. Either the additional unexpected expenditure can be
written off in year 2 reducing the profit for the year by £20 000 to £10 000, leaving the profit for
year 3 at £15 000, or the revised profit less that already recognised in year 1 could be spread over
years 2 and 3 on the basis of cost, i.e. in the ratio 8:3.

The revised profit is £40 000 and the profit recognised in year 1 was £15 000, hence the profits
for the remaining two years would be:

Year 1 £18182 (8/11)
Year 3 £6818 3/11)
£25000

Thus, we have the paradox that the profit for year 3 is reduced because of difficulties experienced
in year 2. This does not appear to be sensible, but the approach would be permissible under the
terms of SSAP 9.
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Example 6.1 illustrates the point that the related cost is normally a balancing figure derived
from the relationship between reported turnover and attributable profit. The statement does
not deal with the situation where related costs exceed actual costs. Suppose that we have the
following for the first year of a contract:

£
Turnover 200000
Related cost 160 000
Attributable profit £40000
Actual cost to date £130000

In practice it is likely that the turnover figure would be reduced to £170 000 to make the
equation balance.

Long-term contracts and the balance sheet

Before moving to a discussion of the way in which long-term contract balances are shown in
the balance sheet, we need to introduce another factor, payments on account, which is
defined as ‘all amounts received and receivable at the accounting date in respect of contracts
in progress’ (SSAP 9, Para. 25).

The relevant section of the standard reproduced below is perhaps unnecessarily complex.

Long-term contracts should be disclosed in the balance sheet as follows:

(@) the amount by which recorded turnover is in excess of payments on account should be classi-
fied as ‘amounts recoverable on contracts’ and separately disclosed within debtors;

(b) the balance of payments on account (in excess of amounts (i) matched with turnover; and (ii)
offset against long-term contract balances) should be classified as payments on account and
separately disclosed within creditors;

(c) the amount of long-term contracts, at costs incurred, net of amounts transferred to cost of sales,
after deducting foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with turnover, should
be classified as ‘long-term contract balances’ and separately disclosed within the balance sheet
heading ‘Stocks’. The balance sheet note should disclose separately the balances of:

(i) net cost less foreseeable losses; and
(i) applicable payments on account;

(d) the amount by which the provision or accrual for foreseeable losses exceeds the costs incurred
(after transfers to cost of sales) should be included within either provisions for liabilities and
charges or creditors as appropriate. (SSAP 9, Para. 30)

To unravel the above it is best to start by concentrating on the situation where there are no
losses, either incurred or contemplated.

Let us start by looking at the costs.

If the actual costs incurred to date exceed the cumulative related costs (the total charged
to cost of sales), there is an asset, long-term contract balances, which is separately disclosed
within stocks.

As stated earlier the standard does not consider a situation where related costs exceed actual
costs; in practice this will not arise because, in all probability, turnover would be adjusted.

Let us now consider the receipt of cash from the customer.

If the cumulative reported turnover exceeds cumulative payments on account there is an
asset, amounts recoverable on contracts, which is separately disclosed within debtors.

If the reverse holds (more cash received on account than reported as turnover), the credit
balance is set off against long-term contract balances. If the credit (payments less turnover)
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is greater than the debit (long-term contract balances), the resulting credit is described as
payments on account, which is separately disclosed within creditors.

Thus in respect of each contract, which has to be considered separately, the possible com-
binations of assets and liabilities are:

(a) two assets: long-term contract balances and amounts recoverable on contract; or
(b) aliability: payments on account.

The above points are illustrated in Example 6.2.

Example 6.2 No losses

Assume that the position on three contracts at a year end is as follows:

(1) @ 3

£ £ £
Cumulative turnover 520 520 520
Cumulative actual cost 510 510 510
Cumulative related cost 450 450 450
Cumulative payments on account 440 555 630

The cumulative attributable profit for each of the contracts is £70, i.e. £520 — £450.

The relevant balance sheet items are shown below. Note that each contract will be considered
on an individual basis, balances arising on one contract are not set off against balances on other
contracts and hence the figures that will appear in the balance sheet are shown in the total column.

Contract Total
() @) (©)
£ £ £ £
Stock - long-term contract balances 60 @ 25 () NIL 85
Debtors — amount recoverable on contracts 80 @ NIL NIL 80
Creditors — payments on account NIL NIL 50 @ 50

Notes
(@) Actual costs less related costs; £510 — £450 = £60.
Cumulative turnover less cumulative payments on account; £520 — £440 = £80.

(b) Long-term contract balance as (a), £60
less Excess of payments on account

over turnover, £555 - £520 £35

£25

(c) Long-term contract balance, as (a) £60
less Excess of payments on account

over turnover, £630 - £520 £110

(£50)

Foreseeable losses

All losses, as soon as they are foreseen, should be recognised in the financial statements. The
estimate of future loss should be charged to the profit and loss as part of the related cost. The
credit is first offset against the long-term contract balance (before any set-off for the excess
of cumulative payments on account over cumulative reported turnover). If the long-term
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contract balance is insufficient to cover the expected loss, the balance is included within
either provisions for liabilities and charges or creditors, as appropriate, i.e. depending on the

degree of certainty with which the estimate is made.

Example 6.3

Consider the following two contracts:

(1)

£
Cumulative turnover 200
Cumulative actual costs 250
Cumulative related costs 250
Cumulative payments on account 180
Losses to date (£250 — £200) 50
Expected future losses 40

@

110
200
110
160

70

If we assume that this is the first year of each contract, the profit and loss account will include the

following:
(1) @
£ £
Turnover 200 110
Related costs (cost of sales) @ @
Gross loss 90 70

Total
£
310
470

160

If the projects were in other than their first year, the amounts included would depend on what had

been charged or credited in the previous years.
The various balance sheet figures are:

(1) &)
£ £
Stock - long-term contract balances NIL NIL
Debtors — amounts recoverable on
contracts 20(a) NIL
Creditors — payments on account NIL 30(b)
Provision/accrual for foreseeable losses 40 NIL

Notes

(@ Cumulative turnover less cumulative payments on account, £200 - £180 = £20.

Total

£
NIL

20
30
40

(b) For contract 2, actual costs exceed related costs so we start with a long-term contract balance of

£90, i.e. £200 - £110.

Expected future losses of £70 are set off against that balance, reducing it to £20.

But, there are excess payments on account, £50 since payments on account, £160, exceed
turnover, £110. This credit balance, £50, is set off against the debit, £20, representing the long-term

contract balance.

The net credit of £30 will appear in the balance sheet as a provision or accrual as appropriate.
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FRED 28

The most obvious difference between SSAP 9 and FRED 28 is of size: the former is a thick
document while the exposure draft is a slim volume of only 49 pages. This is due to the
absence of the technical appendices that were such a feature of the SSAP.

There are, with one possible exception, no major differences in principle between the
standard and the exposure draft although the ASB® points out that the references to pru-
dence included in the standard did not survive into the exposure draft where, in line with the
ASB’s Statement of Principles and FRS 18 Accounting Policies, reliability is emphasised at the
expense of prudence. There are some relatively minor differences, one relating to the way in
which the figures are derived, the other to the way in which they are presented.

The possible exception is the fact that the exposure draft, unlike the standard, makes no
reference to the possibility of an entity showing reporting stock and work-in-progress at the
lower of current replacement cost and net realisable value which is permitted under the
alternative accounting rules.

FRED 28 allows for the principles to be applied not only to single contracts but also to
separately identifiable components of a single contract and to groups of contracts so long as
the group is made up of inter-related contracts that had been negotiated as a single package,
whereas SSAP 9 has no such provision.

As we explained earlier (p. 140) SSAP 9 has quite complex disclosure requirements relat-
ing to the balance sheet presentation of long-term contracts. The disclosure requirements of
the exposure draft are much simpler; all that is required is the presentation of:

e gross amount due from customers
® gross amount due to customers

The only complexity is that the gross amounts are actually net, the gross amount being the
net amount of the costs incurred plus recognised profits less the sum of recognised losses
and progress billings. If the resulting value is positive the amount is due from customers, if
negative the amount is due to customers. Thus, other than the debtors figure arising from
unpaid progress billings, there would be only one item, which could be a current asset or lia-
bility and which would incorporate stock and work-in-progress, on the balance sheet in
relation to uncompleted long-term contracts.

Revenue recognition

In 2001 the ASB published a major discussion paper, Revenue Recognition. There is, as yet,
no accounting standard in the UK relating to the recognition and measurement of revenue
with the result that different entities and industries sometimes adopt inconsistent practices.
The purpose of this discussion paper was to stimulate debate that would assist in formulat-
ing an appropriate standard. A number of important issues are covered by the paper
including the possible accounting treatments of sales that allow the purchaser the right of
return, barter transactions and the effect of agency agreements.

At this stage we only need to draw on the view expressed in the document that full perfor-
mance of a contract is only sometimes necessary for revenue to arise and that the general
principle should be that revenue ‘should be recognised to the extent that the seller has per-
formed and the performance has resulted in benefit accruing to the customer’.® It is in this
context that the provisions of FRED 28 need to be considered.

5 FRED 28, Para. 6.
¢ ASB Revenue Recognition (July 2001) p. 3.
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The preface to the exposure draft points out that while, in the main, the provisions of
SSAP 9 were applied to long-term construction contracts they had also been applied to other
types of contracts, in particular contracts for services. Accounting for such services is covered
by IAS 18 Revenue. As the ASB and others are currently working on the subject of revenue
recognition, the Board would not wish to propose that the UK adopted the whole of IAS 18.
But in order to ensure that the topic is addressed in the UK, the ASB included the relevant
parts of IAS 18 in the draft standard on construction and service contracts. These are included
at Paras 45A to 45] of FRED 28. The key provision’ is that, when the outcome of a transaction
involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, the associated revenue should be
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date.
Reliability of estimation depends on all of the following conditions applying:

the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably;

it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the enterprise;

the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date can be measured reliably;
the costs incurred to date and those required to complete the transaction can be measured
reliably.

If the outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably revenue should be recognised
only to the extent that the expenses incurred to date are recoverable.® In such circumstances
no profit should be recognised.

Research and development

Many enterprises spend large sums of money on research and development in the hope that,
by incurring such expenditure, future profits will be higher than they otherwise would be. In
other words, they incur expenditure on research and development in the expectation of creat-
ing an intangible asset that will yield benefits in the future. By the very nature of the process,
some research and development activities will be unsuccessful and hence no asset will be cre-
ated. Any expenditure on such projects must certainly be written off against profits of the year
in which it is incurred. Other research projects will be successful and will result in the creation
of an asset. Under historical cost accounting, it would be reasonable to suggest that expendi-
ture on unsuccessful projects should be written off against the profits of the year in which they
were incurred, while expenditure on successful projects should be capitalised at an appropriate
figure and written off against profits of the periods in which benefits are expected to arise.

The accounting treatment proposed above seems quite clear, but two major problems
arise as soon as an attempt is made to apply it. First, even where a project appears to have
been successful, the size and timing of future benefits are often very uncertain; if such is the
case, the lack of a reliable evidence® would appear to require the expenditure to be written
off. Second, the people who must make the decision on whether or not the research and
development has been successful are not independent of the entity but are the directors who
are interested in the outcome of the research and development. Because of their involve-
ment, such directors may be susceptible to bias, either innocent or fraudulent, and, in view
of the uncertainties involved, it may be extremely difficult for an auditor to challenge the
views of the directors.

7 FRED 28, Para. 45B.

8 FRED 28, Para. 45H.

% In earlier editions we referred to the need to follow the prudence convention. However, although the prudence
convention has been dethroned its influence continues.
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SSAP 13 Accounting for Research and Development

Accounting for research and development was the subject matter and title of SSAP 13, origi-
nally issued in 1977. A later version SSAP 13 (revised), which was issued in 1989, follows the
same principles, although it increased the amount of disclosure required. We shall refer to
SSAP 13 (revised) Accounting for Research and Development (January 1989). This version,
like its predecessor, follows the definitions of research and development expenditure
adopted by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), which
divides such expenditure into three categories:

1 Pure (or basic) research: experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to
acquire new scientific or technical knowledge for its own sake rather than directed
towards any specific aim or application.

2 Applied research: original or critical investigation undertaken in order to gain new scien-
tific or technical knowledge and directed towards a specific practical aim or objective.

3 Development: use of scientific or technical knowledge in order to produce new or sub-
stantially improved materials, devices, products or services, to install new processes or
systems prior to the commencement of commercial production or commercial applica-
tions, or to improve substantially those already produced or installed.

Given the uncertainties surrounding the benefits from research and development expendi-
ture and the requirement of SSAP 2, then still extant, that, in case of conflict, prudence
should prevail over the accruals concept, one approach would have been to write off all such
expenditure to the profit and loss account as incurred.!”

Although this approach may be simply applied and removes the need for judgement on
the part of directors and auditors, many people would argue that it makes little economic
sense. To take an example, we may think of two similar companies that have spent an identi-
cal amount on research and development. The efforts of one company have been successful
while the efforts of the other company have not. If both companies are required to write off
all research and development expenditure as it is incurred, then this essential difference
between the two companies is not apparent from an examination of their financial state-
ments. An important element of business reality does not feature in those statements.

Capitalisation of development expenditure

SSAP 13 takes a less conservative approach. Although it requires companies to write off all
expenditure on pure and applied research as it is incurred, it permits, but does not require,
the capitalisation of certain development expenditure which must then be matched against
the revenues to which it relates.

The adoption of this permissive approach introduces the possibility of bias on the part of
directors, who must decide whether or not an asset exists on a balance sheet date. In order to
reduce this bias to a minimum, the standard lists the following conditions that must be satis-
fied before development expenditure may be carried forward:!!

(@) there is a clearly defined project; and
(b) the related expenditure is separately identifiable; and

10 This was, in fact, the approach proposed in the original exposure draft on the subject, ED 14 Accounting for
Research and Development, issued in 1975.
11 SSAP 13 (revised), Para. 25.
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(c) the outcome of such a project has been assessed with reasonable certainty as to:
(i) its technical feasibility; and
(ii) its ultimate commercial viability considered in the light of factors such as likely market
conditions (including competing products), public opinion, consumer and environmen-
tal legislation; and
(d) the aggregate of the deferred development costs, any further development costs, and
related production, selling and administration costs is reasonably expected to be
exceeded by related future sales or other revenues; and
(e) adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the project
to be completed and to provide any consequential increases in working capital.

It will be seen that, unlike the position with most internally generated intangible fixed assets,
development expenditure can be recognised in the absence of readily ascertainable market
value but, instead, expenditure can only be capitalised if the above, reasonably stringent,
conditions, are met.!?

Disclosure requirements

In order to facilitate interpretation, the standard requires that the notes to the accounts con-
tain a clear explanation of the accounting policy followed, although this was, in any case,
required under the provisions of SSAP 2, as it now is with FRS 18. It requires disclosure of
the total amount of research and development expenditure charged in the profit and loss
account, analysed between the current year’s expenditure and the amortisation of deferred
development expenditure. Finally, it requires disclosure of movements on the deferred
development expenditure account each year. The Companies Act 1985 specifically requires
that the directors explain why expenditure has been capitalised and state the period over
which the costs are being written off.!3

Compliance with international standards

Research and development expenditure is covered by IAS 38, Intangible Assets which, as we
described in Chapter 5, does not require an intangible asset to have a readily ascertainable
market value for it to be recognised. While SSAP 13 is consistent with the general approach
of IAS 38 there is one significant difference. While both standards set down similar criteria
which must be satisfied before development expenditure may be capitalised the conse-
quences differ. When the criteria are satisfied, IAS 38 requires capitalisation (IAS 38, Para.
45) while SSAP 13 permits capitalisation (SSAP 13, Para. 25).

Government grants

It is appropriate to deal with the accounting treatment of government grants as a postscript
to a chapter on assets because the topic is often closely related to the subject of fixed assets
and depreciation. The topic is the subject matter of SSAP 4, The Accounting Treatment of

12 The Companies Act 1985 requires that costs of research are charged to the profit and loss account (Schedule 4,
Para. 3(2)(c)) but permits the carrying forward of development costs ‘in special circumstances’ (Schedule 4, Para.
20(1)). Satisfaction of the criteria for the carrying forward of development expenditure in SSAP 13 is generally
accepted as providing the ‘special circumstances’ referred to in the Act.

13 Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, Para. 20(2).
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Government Grants, which was originally issued in 1974. The standard proved to be inad-
equate, not only because it was itself poorly conceived but also because of other
developments. Grants themselves became more complex than was envisaged when SSAP 4
was published, while the provisions of the standard proved to be inconsistent with those of
the Companies Act 1985 and of IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance which was issued in 1982. Hence a revised standard, SSAP 4 (revised),
Accounting for Government Grants, was issued in July 1990.

SSAP 4 The Accounting Treatment of Government Grants

The two accounting concepts on which SSAP 4 (revised) is based are accruals and prudence.
The first implies that grants should be credited to the profit and loss account so as to
match the expenditure towards which they are expected to contribute; the second that grants
should not be recognised in the profit and loss account until the conditions for their receipt
have been satisfied and that there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be received.

Readers may feel that the reference in the standard to the accruals and prudence conven-
tions would at the time have been unnecessary because they are two of the four fundamental
accounting concepts specified in SSAP 2. However, by presenting the accruals concept in the
way stated above, the ASC avoided a discussion of a fundamentally different alternative
approach that all government grants should be regarded as a source of finance provided by
government and hence retained in the balance sheet as a non-distributable reserve; including
it as a reserve would imply that it is an element of owners’ equity, but a part which has been
provided by the government.

There are certain advantages of such an approach including clarity — it would describe
clearly what has actually happened — and comparability in that it would assist comparisons
between, for example, the two companies, one operating in an area where grants are avail-
able and the other not.

Revenue-related grants

Revenue-related grants, according to the original SSAP 4, did not produce any accounting
problems ‘as they clearly should be credited to revenue in the same period in which the rev-
enue expenditure to which they relate is charged’ (SSAP 4, Para. 2).

This may have been a reasonable description of the situation in 1974, but subsequently
grants took many different forms and were derived from different sources than was the case
in 1974. In the latter context it is noteworthy that, in the original SSAP 4, the ASC did not
see a need to define government; by implication government was the UK Central
Government. In contrast, the revised SSAP 4 defines government as including ‘government
and intergovernmental agencies and similar bodies whether local, national or international’
(SSAP 4, Para. 21); it thus includes the European Union.

The matching of grants received to expenditure is straightforward when the grant is made
towards specified items of expenditure. However, certain grants might not be related to spe-
cific items of expenditure; they might, for example, be paid to encourage job creation. In
such circumstances the recognition of the grant in the profit and loss account should be
matched with the identifiable net costs of achieving the objective. As is pointed out in the
explanatory note to the revised standard, this may not be straightforward, as account needs
to be taken of the associated income generated by the activity in arriving at the net cost. If,
for example, the grant is given on condition that jobs are created and sustained for a period
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of, say, three years, the grant should be matched to the net cost of providing the jobs. Thus,
if the revenue generated by the activity is higher in the third year, a higher proportion of the
grant should be recognised in the earlier years.

In some cases the grant may be paid to support one activity — training, for instance — but
will only become payable when the company incurs expenditure in another, usually related,
area — perhaps the purchase of capital equipment. In other words, the grant will not be paid
unless the company purchases the equipment, but the size of the grant depends on the com-
pany’s training expenditure. SSAP 4 provides that where such a link is established the grant
should be matched to the expenditure which it is intended to support, in this case training,
but, as is the general rule under SSAP 4, nothing should be credited to the profit and loss
account until the necessary conditions have been fulfilled — in this case until the equipment
has been purchased.

The part of any revenue-related grant received but not yet recognised in the profit and
loss account because the necessary conditions have not yet been satisfied should be included
in the balance sheet as deferred income. !4

Capital-related grants
Two methods of dealing with capital-related grants are identified in SSAP 4 (revised):

(a) Show the grant as deferred income that is credited to the profit and loss account over the
life of the asset on a basis consistent with the depreciation policy adopted for the asset.
(b) Reduce the cost of the asset and hence reduce the annual depreciation charges.

The other possible option of not crediting the grant at any stage to the profit and loss
account but retaining it in the balance sheet as a source of funds is not considered for the
reasons given earlier.

In choosing between the two alternatives, the ASC came to the surprising, if not astonish-
ing, conclusion that ‘both treatments are acceptable and capable of giving a true and fair
view’ (SSAP 4 (revised), Para. 15). It is difficult to see how showing in the balance sheet the
cost of an asset at 100 per cent of its purchase price or, say, depending on the size of the
grant, 80 per cent of the price, can both show a ‘true and fair’ view. It does seem the ASC
had, on this occasion, distorted that splendidly elastic phrase too far.

The ASC’s position appears even stranger in that it records that it had received Counsel’s
opinion that the second alternative, the reduction in cost, is illegal in the light of Paras 17 and
26 of Schedule 4 to the Companies Act 1985. However, the ASC stuck to its guns. Both alter-
natives are available to enterprises under the provisions of SSAP 4 (revised), but only the first
can be used by enterprises whose financial statements are governed by the Companies Acts.

Disclosure requirements

The disclosure requirements of SSAP 4 (revised) require the following information to
be revealed:

(a) The accounting policy adopted in respect of government grants (this in any case is
required by FRS 18 Accounting Policies, and its predecessor SSAP 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies).

(b) The effects of government grants on the results of the period and the financial position
of the enterprise.

14 SSAP 4, Para. 15.
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(c) Information regarding any material effect on the results of the period from government
assistance other than grants (for example, free consultancy or subsidised loans) includ-
ing, if possible, quantitative estimates of the effect of the assistance.

(d) Any potential liability to repay grants should, if necessary, be disclosed in accordance
with SSAP 18 Accounting for Contingencies, which has now been replaced by FRS 12
Provisions, Contingent Assets and Liabilities.

Compliance with international standards

The equivalent international standard is IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government assistance, the main provisions which are consistent with those of
SSAP 4. In particular IAS 20 also allows asset-related grants either to be treated as deferred
income or to be deducted immediately from the cost of the asset, but the difference is that
the TASB does not, of course, have to concern itself with the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1985.

Summary

In this chapter we have discussed three veteran standards that have been around for over
twenty years. One of them, SSAP 9, is likely to be replaced by two standards but these,
although they will look very different and be less concerned with technical issues, will be
based on virtually the same principles as SSAP 9. A seemingly important development over
the life of the three standards has been the removal of the prudence convention from its pre-
vious dominant position. While its demotion is likely to discourage the making of excessive
provisions, the absence of significant changes between SSAP 9 and FRED 28 suggests that, in
other respects, the removal of prudence will not make very much difference.

SSAP 4 and 13 are not on the ASB’s current programme so are likely to be with us for
some time. This perhaps is reasonable in the case of SSAP 13 but it is unfortunate that the
highly unsatisfactory SSAP 4 is not high on the list for review,

Recommended reading

Excellent up-to-date and detailed reading on the subject matter of this chapter and on much of

the contents of this book is provided by the most recent edition of:

UK and International GAAP, A. Wilson, M. Davies, M. Curtis and G. Wilkinson-Riddle (eds),
Ernst & Young, Butterworths Tolley, London. At the time of writing the most recent edition is
the 7th, published 2001.
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6.1 N Ltd is an independent company which manufactures clothing. For many years, N Ltd has
worked exclusively for Store plc, a national group of department stores, manufacturing
gloves. Store plc supplies the patterns for the gloves and specifies the fabric and colours that
N Ltd must use. Store plc actively discourages its suppliers from manufacturing for other
retailers and expressly forbids them from using its patterns or fabric colours for anything
sold to another customer.

N Ltd manufactures gloves steadily throughout the year, building up stocks in advance of
the major order that Store plc places every year in order to meet demand in the autumn and
winter months.

Store plc used to order 500000 pairs of gloves from N Ltd every year.

Store plc has suffered declining sales and has closed several of its stores. In April 2001, it
warned N Ltd that it will reduce its annual purchases to 400 000 pairs of gloves. N Ltd took
immediate steps to reduce its production capacity in response to this reduced order.

N Ltd has a year end of 30 September 2001. At that date, the company had 40000 pairs of
gloves in stock. It also had work-in-progress of 5000 pairs of gloves that were 100% com-
plete in terms of fabric and were 50% complete in terms of labour and overhead. Raw
materials stocks comprised £10000 of fabric in Store plc’s colours. N Ltd actually completed
a total of 430000 pairs of gloves during the year ended 30 September 2001.

The fabric content of a pair of gloves costs N Ltd £1.00 per pair.

N Ltd has summarised expenses incurred during the year as follows:

Fixed overheads  Variable overheads Labour

£ £ £
Manufacturing 20000 40000 400000
Administrative 15000 10000 50000
Distribution 8000 6000 12000
43000 56000 462000

Required
(a) SSAP 9 — Stocks and long-term contracts requires that stocks be valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Describe the problems associated with determining net realisable value for closing
stocks. You should describe the particular problems associated with determining the
net realisable value of N Ltd’s closing stocks. (6 marks)

(b) SSAP 9 defines the cost of stock as ‘the expenditure which has been incurred in the
normal course of business in bringing the product to its present location and condition’.

(i) Calculate the cost of N Ltd’s closing stocks. (5 marks)

(ii) Identify the accounting issues associated with calculating the cost of closing stocks

for N Ltd and explain how you have dealt with them. (5 marks)

(c) Explain why the valuation of closing stock is particularly important in the preparation

of financial statements. (4 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2001 (20 marks)
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6.2 Wick plc has produced the following trial balance as at 31 August 2002 as a basis for the
preparation of its published accounts:

Freehold property — at valuation

Freehold property — accumulated depreciation
Plant and machinery — at cost

Plant and machinery — accumulated depreciation
Plant held for rental income

Fixtures and fittings — at cost

Fixtures and fittings — accumulated depreciation
Stock as at 1 September 2001

Debtors

Provision for doubtful debts

Cash at bank

Trade creditors

Bank loan

Deferred taxation

VAT payable

Ordinary share capital — shares of £1 each
Share premium

Revaluation reserve

Profit and loss account as at 1 September 2001
Sales

Purchases and direct labour costs

Distribution costs

Administration costs

Interim dividend paid

Total

Additional information
(1) As a new venture, the company started work on a long-term contract in October 2001
and the above trial balance includes transactions relating to this contract which was in
progress as at 31 August 2002. The agreed total contract price is £600 000 and there was
work certified of £250000, included in Sales, as at 31 August 2002. Costs to 31 August
2002 amounted to £400 000, included in Purchases, with estimated costs to completion
of £300000. Progress payments received by 31 August 2002 amounted to £340000; these

have been debited to Cash at bank and credited to Debtors.

Debit
£000
3500

1000

400
500

200
650

130

1600
400
500

—_
o
o

8980

Credit
£000

100

400

300

50

700
800
310
120
2000
500
150
300
3250

8980

(2) Stock at 31 August 2002 was valued at £300000 and comprised finished goods of
£50000 and goods awaiting completion of £250000. These amounts exclude the long-
term contract.

(3) Depreciation has yet to be provided for as follows:

Freehold property — 2.5% p.a. on valuation. The land element is £1.5 million.

Plant and machinery — 10% p.a. on cost.

Plant held for rental is for short-term hire and was acquired in the year ended

31 August 2002 — 20% p.a. on cost.
Fixtures and fittings — 20% p.a. on cost.

It is company policy to provide a full year’s depreciation charge in the year of acquisition.
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6.3

(4) The bank loan was taken out on 1 September 2000 and is repayable in five equal annual
instalments starting from 1 September 2001. Interest is charged at 7% p.a. on the bal-
ance owing on 1 September each year and has not yet been paid for the current year.

(5) The company is proposing a final dividend of 10p per share.

(6) Corporation tax of 30% of pre-tax profit is to be provided for, including an increase in
the deferred taxation provision of £100000.

Requirements

(a) Prepare the profit and loss account for the year ended 31 August 2002 and a balance
sheet as at that date for Wick plc in a form suitable for publication, providing the dis-
closure note for Stock. (20 marks)

NOTE: You are not required to prepare any other disclosure notes.

(b) Identify and explain two areas in accounting for long-term contracts where judgement
has to be exercised. (5 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, September 2002 (25 marks)

G Ltd is a company specialising in the construction of sophisticated items of plant and
machinery for clients in the engineering industry. Details of two contracts outstanding at
30 September 1995 (the balance sheet date) are as follows:

Contract with H Ltd

This contract was started on 1 January 1995 and is expected to be complete by 31 March 1996.
The total contract price was fixed at £20 million and the total costs to be incurred originally
estimated at £15 million, occurring evenly over the contract. The contract has been certified by
experts as being 60% complete by 30 September 1995. Due to inefficiencies caused by indus-
trial relations difficulties in the summer of 1995, the actual costs incurred on the contract in
the period 1 January 1995 to 30 September 1995 were £10 million. However, the management
is confident that these problems will not recur and that the remaining costs will be in line with
the original estimate. In accordance with the payment terms laid down in the contract, G Ltd
invoiced H Ltd for an interim payment of £10 million on 31 August 1995. The interim pay-
ment was received from H Ltd on 31 October 1995.

Contract with I Ltd

This contract was started on 1 April 1995 and was expected to be complete by 31 December
1995. The total contract price was fixed at £10 million and the total contract costs were origi-
nally estimated at £8 million. However, information received on 15 October 1995 suggested
that the total contract costs would in fact be £11 million. The contract was certified by experts
as being two-thirds complete by the year end and the costs actually incurred by G Ltd in
respect of this contract in the period to 30 September 1995 were £7.5 million. No progress
payments are yet due under the payment terms specified in the contract with I Ltd.

Requirements
(a) Explain the principles which are used to establish the timing of recognition of
profits/losses on long-term contracts.

You should assume that recognition of profits/losses takes place in accordance with
the provisions of SSAP 9 Stocks and long-term contracts, and should refer to funda-
mental accounting concepts, where relevant. (10 marks)

(b) Compute, separately for each of the contracts with H Ltd and I Ltd:
(i) The amount of turnover and cost of sales that will be recognised in the profit and
loss account of G Ltd for the year ended 30 September 1995.
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6.4

(ii) The contract balances (including nil balances, if appropriate) that will be shown at
30 September 1995 on the following accounts:
@ long-term contract work-in-progress
® amounts recoverable on contracts
® provision for losses
o trade debtors. (10 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting, November 1995 (20 marks)

Lewis plc specialises in bridge construction and had two contracts in progress at its year end,
30 April 1999.

Stornoway Bridge
Construction on this contract started in May 1997. Contract details extracted from the com-
pany’s costing records as at 30 April 1999 were:

£m
Total contract selling price 350
Work certified to date 210
Costs to date 175
Estimated costs to completion 75
Progress payments received 250

Work certified to date as at 30 April 1998 was £140 million and the appropriate amount of
profit was recognised for the year ended 30 April 1998. No changes to the above total esti-
mated contract costs have occurred since 30 April 1998.

On 11 May 1999 the customer’s surveyor notified Lewis plc of a fault in one of the bridge
supports constructed during a severe frost in February 1999. This will require remedial work
in June 1999 at an estimated cost of £20 million.

Harris Link Bridge
Construction on this contract started in July 1998. Contract details extracted from the com-
pany’s costing records as at 30 April 1999 were:

£m
Total contract selling price 400
Work certified to date 45
Costs to date 40
Estimated costs to completion 395
Progress payments received 25

The company calculates attributable profit on the basis of work certified for all contracts.

Requirements

(a) Calculate the amounts to be included in the financial statements of Lewis plc for the
year ended 30 April 1999, preparing all relevant extracts of the financial statements
excluding accounting policies notes and any disclosures relating to cash flows.

(15 marks)
(b) Explain how the requirements of SSAP 9, Stocks and long-term contracts, apply the
prudence and accruals concepts to accounting for long-term contracts. (5 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, June 1999 (20 marks)
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6.6

S plc is a shipbuilder which is currently working on two contracts:
Deep sea Small passenger
fishing boat ferry

£000 £000
Contract price (fixed) 3000 5000
Date work commenced 1 October 2000 1 October 2001
Proportion of work completed during year ended 30% Nil
30 September 2001

£000 £000
Invoiced to customer during year ended 900 Nil
30 September 2001
Cash received from customer during year ended 800 Nil
30 September 2001
Costs incurred during year ended 30 September 2001 650 Nil
Estimated cost to complete at 30 September 2001 1300
Proportion of work completed during year ended 25% 45%
30 September 2002

£000 £000
Invoiced to customer during year ended 750 2250
30 September 2002
Cash received from customer during year ended 700 2250
30 September 2002
Costs incurred during year ended 30 September 2002 580 1900
Estimated cost to complete at 30 September 2002 790 3400

S plc recognises turnover and profit on long-term contracts in relation to the proportion of
work completed.

Required

(a) Calculate the figures that will appear in S plc’s profit and loss account for the year
ended 30 September 2002 and its balance sheet at that date in respect of each of these
contracts. (14 marks)

The Accounting Standards Board’s Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting (SoP)
effectively defines losses on individual transactions in such a way that they are associated
with increases in liabilities or decreases in assets. Liabilities are defined as ‘obligations of an
entity to transfer economic benefits as a result of past transactions or events’.

Required

(b) Explain how the definition of losses contained in the SoP could be used to justify the
requirement of SSAP 9 — Stocks and Long-term Contracts to recognise losses in full on
long-term contracts as soon as they can be foreseen. (6 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2002 (20 marks)

H plc is a major electronics company. It spends a substantial amount of money on research
and development. The company has a policy of capitalising development expenditure, but
writes off pure and applied research expenditure immediately in accordance with the
requirements of SSAP 13 — Research and Development.
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6.7

The company’s latest annual report included a page of voluntary disclosures about the
effectiveness of the company’s research programme. This indicated that the company’s pros-
perity depended on the development of new products and that this could be a very long
process. In order to maintain its technical lead, the company often funded academic
research studies into theoretical areas, some of which led to breakthroughs which H plc was
able to patent and develop into new product ideas. The company claimed that the money
spent in this way was a good investment because for every twenty unsuccessful projects there
was usually at least one valuable discovery which generated enough profit to cover the whole
cost of the research activities. Unfortunately, it was impossible to tell in advance which pro-
jects would succeed in this way.

A shareholder expressed dismay at H plc’s policy of writing off research costs in this
manner. He felt that this was unduly pessimistic given that the company earned a good
return from its research activities. He felt that the company should invoke the Accounting
Standards Board’s true and fair override and capitalise all research costs.

Required

(a) Explain why it might be justifiable for H plc to capitalise its research costs. (5 marks)

(b) Explain why SSAP 13 imposes a rigid set of rules which prevent the capitalisation of all
research expenditure and make it difficult to capitalise development expenditure.

(5 marks)

(c) Explain whether the requirements of SSAP 13 are likely to discourage companies such
as H plc from investing in research activities. (5 marks)

(d) Describe the advantages and disadvantages of offering companies the option of a true
and fair override in preparing financial statements. (5 marks)
CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2001 (20 marks)

MWT plc is a company involved in the design and manufacture of aircraft. During the year
ended 31 March 1995, the company had commenced the following projects.

A. Project Alpha involves research into the development of a lightweight material for use
in the construction of aircraft. To date, costs of £175 000 have been incurred, but so far
the material developed has proved too weak.

B. Project Beta involves the construction of three aircraft for a major airline at a total con-
tract price of £75 million. Costs incurred to 31 March 1995 amounted to £21 million,
and payments on account received, relating to £20 million of those costs, amounted to
£24 million. It is estimated that the contract will cost another £40 million to complete.

C. Project Gamma involves the development of a new engine for an overseas customer for
a total contract price of £7 million. The total cost of the project is estimated to be
£5 million. Only £1.4 million had been incurred to 31 March 1995. Payments on
account, relating to those costs, of £2.4 million have been received.

D. Project Delta involves the refurbishment of a fleet of ten aircraft for another major air-
line. The total contract price is £30 million. To 31 March 1995, costs of £24 million have
been incurred, and, because of materials shortage, it is estimated that it will cost another
£12 million to complete. Although £20 million had been invoiced to
31 March 1995, relating to cost incurred to that date, only £19 million had been
received at that date.

E. Project Epsilon commenced in February 1995 involving the production of light aircraft
for a flying school for a total contract price of £18.2 million. Costs incurred to 31 March
1995 amounted to £1 million of a total estimated contract cost of £17 million. Invoices
raised to 31 March 1995 amounted to £3 million of which £2.6 million had been
received by that date.
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Requirement

(a) Explain, with appropriate figures, how each of the above projects should be treated in
the financial statements of MWT plc. (15 marks)

(b) Show the relevant extracts from MWT plc’s profit and loss account and balance sheet
for the year ended 31 March 1995. (5 marks)

CIMA Financial Reporting, May 1995 (20 marks)

Forfar plc is an innovative engineering company with a substantial research and develop-

ment budget. It is company policy to capitalise all expenditure relevant to development
work wherever possible and the following projects were in progress at the year end,
30 November 1998:

Project A100
The company incurred costs of £200 000 in the year ended 30 November 1998 to exploit
research into the production of engineering equipment with reduced energy requirements.
The company has produced a prototype model but commercial production is not expected
for several years.

No other feasibility studies have been carried out. The company also incurred expendi-
ture of £100 000 on computer equipment to assist in testing and analysis and this is expected
to have a useful economic life of five years.

Project A401

The company incurred technical research costs of £50 000 in November 1998 on behalf of a
customer who commissioned Forfar plc to investigate the feasibility of high-energy battery
cells. Forfar plc expects to recover the costs incurred plus a mark-up of 20% from their cus-
tomer for this work. Market research costs of £20 000 have also been incurred by Forfar plc
in November 1998 but these will be reimbursed at cost by the customer and an invoice was
raised for this in December 1998. None of the technical research work has yet been invoiced
though the project is successful and the work will be completed by January 1999.

Project C900

The company had capitalised development expenditure of £500 000 by 30 November 1997
on this project and incurred a further £70 000 during the year ended 30 November 1998.
Commercial production of the new product started on 1 June 1998 and the company antici-
pates sales as follows:

Year ended £

30 November 1998 250000 actual
30 November 1999 300000 budget
30 November 2000 500000 budget
each year thereafter 600000 budget

The company expects competitors will move into this market by 30 November 2002 and the
product will no longer be profitable after that date.

In addition to the above costs, the company spent £150 000 on plant in December 1995
to assist with this project and has been depreciating this over five years to date. The plant has
no further use once the product is developed.

Project G150

The company’s technical director considers that there is the possibility of producing new
generation computer-controlled engineering equipment. £400 000 was spent in the year
ended 30 November 1998 to investigate the likelihood of a viable research project. In addi-
tion, technical staff costs on this project amounted to £55 000 in the year.
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Project B105

This project was started in December 1994 to develop a new generation solar power panel.
Costs capitalised to 30 November 1997 amounted to £550 000. Market research carried out
in July 1998 at a cost of £25000 indicated demand would reach 5000 panels per annum; the
company’s finance director has calculated 7500 panels per annum would need to be sold in
order to break even.

Requirements

(a) Briefly identify and explain the appropriate accounting treatment required for the year
ended 30 November 1998 for each of the above projects. (6 marks)

(b) Calculate and disclose the appropriate amounts for the financial statements of Forfar
plc for the year ended 30 November 1998. (14 marks)

Note: You are not required to produce any information for the directors’ report, accounting
policies or cash flow statement.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, December 1998 (20 marks)

Amesbury plc produces and distributes computer-controlled machinery. As accountant for
the company, you have been provided with the following information regarding the com-
pany’s activities in researching and developing products in the year ended 31 October 1993:

(1) Expenditure on developing a new computerised tool for a long-established customer
has amounted to £150000. The work is now well advanced and the customer is likely to
authorise the start of commercial production within the next 12 months. The customer
is reimbursing Amesbury plc’s costs plus a 10% mark-up. To date the company has
received £70000 having invoiced £100000 for agreed work done.

(2) A review of the company’s quality control procedures has been carried out at a cost of
£100000. It is considered that the new procedures will save a considerable amount of
money in the testing and analysis of existing and new products.

(3) The development of Product M479 has reached an advanced stage. Costs in the year
ended 31 October 1993 amounted to £400 000. In addition there has been expenditure
on fixed assets required for the development of this product amounting to
£120000 of which £60000 was incurred in the year ended 31 October 1992. The fixed
assets have a five-year life with no residual value and are depreciated on the straight-line
basis with a full year’s depreciation in the year of acquisition.

Market research, costing £20000, has been carried out and this indicates the product
will be commercially viable although commercial production is unlikely to start until
April 1994. The company expects that Product M479 will make a significant contribu-
tion to profit.

(4) Commercial production started on 1 June 1993 for Product A174. The costs of develop-
ing this product had been capitalised as follows:

£
Development expenditure capitalised as on 31 October 1992 200000
Expenditure incurred in the year ended 31 October 1993 50000
250000

The company has taken out a patent which will last for ten years. The associated legal
and administrative expenses amounted to £10000.
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Actual and estimated sales for Product A174:

Year ended 31 October £
1993 250000
1994 750000
1995 1000000
1996 500000
1997 250000

After 31 October 1996 the company’s market share and profitability from the product
are expected to diminish significantly due to the introduction of rival products by
competitors.

(5) Itis company policy to capitalise development expenditure wherever possible.

Requirement

Prepare all relevant extracts of the published financial statements for the year ended
31 October 1993 in accordance with current accounting standards and legislation,
explaining your treatment of items (1) to (4).

Note: You are not required to prepare extracts of the cash flow statement or the directors’
report.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, November 1993 (15 marks)

Global plc, which prepares accounts to 31 January each year, operates in several different
countries and has recently obtained government financial assistance both in the UK
and abroad:

(1) A foreign government has granted £4m to cover the establishment of a new factory.
The factory and associated plant installation were completed in November 1992 at a
cost of £10m for the land and buildings (land element — £2m) and £5m for the plant.
Asset lives were estimated at 50 years for the premises and 10 years for the plant; a full
year’s depreciation is charged in the year of acquisition.

The grant was dependent on an inspection by government officials and the company
retaining ownership of the factory for the next five years. The grant was released by the
foreign government on 27 March 1993 following their inspection in January 1993.

The country in which the factory is situated has had a turbulent history with fre-
quent changes of government but has enjoyed a period of relative stability over the past
three years. No previous governments have granted assistance to foreign companies.

(2) A local authority in the UK has provided a grant of £130 000 which covers the total
initial establishment costs of a new training programme for company staff. The grant
is dependent on the company expanding its existing training unit and increasing the
number of trainees in direct production areas within the local factory by 20 per cent.
The increased number of trainees would have to be sustained for at least three years.

The grant was received in January 1993. Expected costs of the complete programme
are £300 000 of which £100 000, relating to initial establishment costs, has been
incurred to date.
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Actual and projected trainee numbers provided by the production director are:

1993
Welding shop 9
Lathe area 7
Computer-controlled machinery 11
Trainee general managers
30

Requirement

Years ending 31 January

1994

10
9
14
2
35

1995 1996
10

11

13 14
2

35 37

Calculate the amounts which should be included in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 January 1993, preparing all relevant notes in accordance with SSAP 4,

Government grants.

ICAEW, Financial Reporting IT, May 1993

(8 marks)



chapter

Liabilities

This is the first of four chapters dealing with liabilities. In it we will discuss the nature of lia-
bilities and how they should be recognised and valued. We will also look at the special type
of liabilities known as provisions as well as contingent liabilities and, for convenience, con-
tingent assets. We will deal with accounting for financial instruments, including derivatives,
and the special cases of leases and pensions in the following three chapters.

The standards covered in this chapter are

® FRS 12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets (1998)
@ |AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (1998)

MOIAIDAO

Introduction

Liabilities used to be the poor relation in the standard-setting family. When we published the
first edition of this book in 1981 the subject did not rate a chapter. Assets were all the rage;
liabilities were simply the amounts that the entity owed to be deducted from assets to give
the ‘net assets’. But the world has changed and now the issue of accounting for liabilities has
become one of the more fascinating and complex aspects of accounting theory and practice.
Why has this all happened?

The first point to make is that we, and here ‘we” encompasses the generality of accountants
not just the authors, were wrong. Liabilities were a more important topic than accountants had
recognised but far more thinking had been done about the valuation of assets, because it was
easier to identify possible different bases of measurement: replacement cost, net realisable
value, etc., than was the case with liabilities. But there are other reasons: the last twenty years
has seen the introduction or, possibly a more apposite description, the invention of a whole
range of far more complex financial instruments, which are often combined with assets and
liabilities to create sophisticated financial packages that are capable of bringing to their owners
great financial joy or total financial devastation. The language of accounting has changed;
words and phrases like derivatives and hedge accounting, both of which we will discuss in the
next chapter, have moved from the periphery to the centre of the profession’s lexicon.

The forced liquidation of companies because of their inability to pay their debts is not a
new phenomenon. Indeed, much of the early history of the accountancy profession was con-
cerned with liquidations. However, while not discounting some of the spectacular failures of
the Victorian era, we are all aware that modern disasters are getting bigger and worse and
hence there is the need for users of financial statements to be supplied with appropriate
information that will help them form a view as to the financial viability of entities. But the
decisions as to the nature of information that should be supplied are still largely based on
opinion, for there is even less coherence in the attempts to devise a theory of accounting for
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liabilities than has been achieved in the corresponding debate about assets. The liabilities
debate is, however, starting to take off and we shall refer to some its strands in the course of
this and the following chapters.

The debate associated with the treatment of various aspects of liabilities has intensified in
recent years, both internationally and locally, for the countries that are members of the
European Union. The convergence programme, which we discussed in Chapter 3, is increas-
ing its pace and is now involving areas, like liabilities, where there has been a relative lack of
conceptual thinking. As far as EU members are concerned, the game is becoming even more
heated since the promulgation of the EU Regulation which requires that from 1 January
2005 all listed companies in the EU will have to prepare their consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with international standards.!

The three sources of funding

A company acquires capital funding through three sources:

e from owners — through either direct contribution of share capital or the retention of profits
e by borrowing
e through gifts.

The last named might seem an unusual source but in fact governments and other agencies
do make significant contributions to some companies. Let us start with these.

Grants and gifts

We discussed the subject of accounting for government grants in Chapter 6 where we
pointed out that a logical case could be made for retaining on the balance sheet a section,
separate from owners’ equity and liabilities, representing the volume of funds that have been
provided by government and similar agencies. However, as we pointed out, SSAP 4
Accounting for government grants, does not take this line. Instead the standard requires that
the government grant should be credited to the profit and loss account either immediately or
over time. Hence, a transfer is made between the ‘gift’ source of finance and shareholders’
funds; the grant is thus treated as a gift to the owners rather than to the business itself. A
more unusual form of gift is sometimes found in small family-owned businesses where a
very long-term loan is granted, possibly interest free, where, under foreseeable circum-
stances, there is no intention that the loan should be repaid. In such, admittedly rare, cases
the source of finance would be treated as a liability.

Debt and equity

The two other sources of funding are referred to as debt (or liabilities) and equity. Debt, or
liabilities, are the resources provided by outsiders and equity comprises the resources pro-
vided by the owners of a company. The use of the word equity to describe the source of
funds provided by owners can sometimes lead to confusion, because it is narrower than the
term shareholders. In the context of companies with share capital, there may be both equity
shares and non-equity shares, such as preference shares, in issue. As we shall see, the latter

! See Chapter 3.
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shares are usually more appropriately described as liabilities than equity, the latter term
being restricted to the owners who hold the residual interest in the income and capital of
the company.

In the sections that follow it will be necessary to consider the nature of the accounting
problems that have to be faced when considering liabilities. These are recognition, measure-
ment, presentation and disclosure.

Recognition

The fundamental questions are when has the entity made a commitment that falls to be
recognised in the financial statements and when has it discharged that commitment so that
the liability can be removed from the balance sheet?

Measurement

Once a liability is to be recognised, at what amount should it be recognised in the balance
sheet? A related question is the measurement of the expense relating to the liability and
deciding on the period in which it should be charged in the financial statements.

Presentation

Presentation covers such things as where, in the financial statements, a liability should
appear as well as where changes in the value of the liabilities should be disclosed, whether in
the profit and loss account or the statement of total recognised gains and losses. In some
ways, presentation is not a good description of the issues dealt with under this heading
because they include matters such as the distinction between long-term creditors, short-term
creditors and provisions as well as that between debt and equity. Perhaps a better description
would be presentation and classification.

Disclosure

This is concerned with what information should be disclosed and how it should be disclosed.

Liabilities
The nature of liabilities

We should start by considering what the basic nature of liability is, and where better to start than
with the Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting that provided the following definition:

Liabilities are obligations of an entity to transfer economic benefits as a result of past trans-
actions or events. (Para. 4.23)

The concepts involved are straightforward. Perhaps the key word in the definition is ‘obliga-
tions’. A liability only exists when the entity cannot avoid the future transfer of economic
benefit — which might take the form of cash or the provision of goods or services. The word
obligation is not, in this context, always capable of objective interpretation. There can be no
doubt about the nature of a legal or contractual obligation but there may be other circum-
stances where the entity has no realistic alternative other than to transfer economic benefit.
An example could be a business that may, for commercial considerations, have no realistic
alternative to refunding the price of goods that fail to meet the expectations of customers,
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even though it has no legal obligation to do so. Such obligations, which are not legally bind-
ing, are often termed constructive obligations.

Ownership interest or equity is the residual amount found by deducting all the entity’s liabil-
ities from all of the entity’s assets. (Para. 4.37)

The Statement of Principles goes on to make a point that is obvious but which is worth restat-
ing, that owners, unlike creditors, do not have the ability to insist that a transfer is made to
them regardless of the circumstances.

The recognition of liabilities

UK financial reporting standards are remarkably silent on the topic of the recognition and
derecognition of liabilities; the topic is not addressed in FRS 4, Capital instruments (see
Chapter 8), which tacitly assumes that there will be no difficulty in deciding whether some-
thing should be recognised and is more concerned with whether the item represents debt or
equity. The only standard that directly addresses the recognition or derecognition of liabil-
ities is FRS 5 Reporting the Substance of Transactions. This states at Para. 20:

Where a transaction results in an item that meets the definition of an asset or liability, that item
should be recognised in the balance sheet if —

(a) there is sufficient evidence of the existence of the item (including, where appropriate, evi-
dence that a future inflow or outflow of benefit will occur), and

(b) the item can be measured at a monetary amount with sufficient reliability.

This is in line with the criteria for recognition specified in the ASB Statement of Principles,
which were discussed in Chapter 1.2

The FRS 5 definition of a liability is that one exists if there are circumstance in which the
entity is unable to avoid, legally or commercially, an outflow of benefits. This seems a very
straightforward and sensible approach but, as we will see later it is proving to be one of the
more difficult areas to resolve in the convergence programme.

The measurement of liabilities

We will discuss the measurement of financial liabilities and liabilities that have a market
value in the following chapters and so at this stage we will focus on the measurement of lia-
bilities arising from the obligation to provide goods and services where, typically, the
customer has paid in advance. We will also use this part of the chapter to provide an intro-
duction to a theoretical model of measuring the value of a liability, that is referred as the
relief value approach. We will in this section draw heavily on an ASB ‘exploratory essay’, the
first and so far the only one publications of this type to be published by the Board, written by
Andrew Lennard and entitled, Liabilities and how to account for them.?

2 FRS 5 Reporting the Substance of Transactions, Para. 18. The subject of the recognition of liabilities is also of course
covered in the Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting but the discussion is mostly about the nature of evi-
dence; it does not change the basic notion that a liability exists when benefits flow out of the entity.

3 Liabilities and how to account for them, ASB Oct. 2002. The publication carries the disclaimer that it represents the
views of the author and not the Board and that there are no plans to develop proposals for an accounting standard
directly from the paper.
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The simple example on which much of the argument of the paper is based is that of a
business that receives in advance a non-refundable fee of £100 to perform a service that it
believes that will cost £60 to discharge. Until the obligation is discharged, the business has a
liability, but at what value should it appear in the balance sheet? Some have argued* that
there might be circumstances (strong confidence that the work can be completed for £60
would be an important condition) in which the liability would be shown at £60 with profit
of £40 being recognised immediately. This would be consistent with the view that in very
special circumstances, the making of the sale is the ‘critical event’ in the transaction.

It may, at this stage, be helpful to consider how, in the absence of accounting rules, the lia-
bility might be measured if we removed the assumption of certainty. In such a case the liability
could be measured on the basis of the best estimate of what it would cost to discharge the
order. Such an approach is not purely theoretical because, if another business were to offer to
discharge the service on behalf of the original supplier, that estimate would provide the bench-
mark against which the offer might be judged; if the proposed price is less than the estimated
cost of providing the service then, all other things being equal, the offer is worth accepting.” An
approach on these lines would measure the liability on the basis of its settlement value, where
settlement value is analogous to exit values as applied to assets. Lennard argues strongly against
the use of settlement values as the basis of the measurement of liabilities. He believes that the
purchase consideration, in this case £100, represents the minimum figure at which the liability
should be stated because this ‘ensures that future (“unearned”) returns are not anticipated, but
are reflected only when they arise, on settlement of the liability’.°

Such an approach places emphasis on the timing of the recognition of revenue rather than
on an economic assessment of the value of the liability. This is clear later in the paper where
Lennard goes on to argue that, while the financial statements should be useful in predicting
future cash flows, they should not consist of representations of future cash flows.”

Let us accept Lennard’s argument for a moment and consider the situations where the lia-
bility would be stated in excess of the floor value of £100. This will occur if it becomes
apparent that the contract has become onerous, in that it is now expected to cost more than
£100 to fulfil. In such a case the business has a choice: it could seek to be released from the
contract or grit its teeth and suffer the loss. Then, again ignoring legal issues and possible
long-term consequences, it will select the least costly of these two options. Hence, Lennard
argues that the liability should generally be measured by reference to the consideration but
in some circumstances, such as onerous contracts, it should be measured at the lower of the
cost of performance and the cost of release.

In other words the relief value of the liability to the business is found from the formula-
tion in Figure 7.1.

This formulation is the counterpart of the definition of the ‘value to the business’ of the
asset, see Figure 1.3, where consideration is the equivalent of replacement cost, settlement
amount being akin to recoverable amount and cost of performance and cost of release
replacing value in use and net realisable value.?

There is, however, one major difference between the two definitions. The ‘value to the
business’ measure, or to give its alternative name ‘deprival value’, shows the amount the

4 Richard A. Samualson, ‘Accounting for Liabilities to Perform Services’, Accounting Horizons, Vol. 7, No. 3, 1993.

> We have here ignored any legal complications that may arise from the possible switch of supplier as we have any
possible damage to the reputation of the original supplier.

¢ A. Lennard, Liabilities and how to account for them, London, ASB, 2002, para. 24.

7 Op. cit. para. 87.

8 A very much earlier formulation of relief value was provided by W.T. Baxter, Accounting Values and Inflation,
Maidenhead, McGraw-Hill, 1975.
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Relief value
is the higher of

TN

Consideration and Settlement amount
= lower of

PN

Cost of performance Cost of release

Figure 7.1 Relief value of the liability to the business

entity would need to receive, should it be deprived of the asset, to make it as well off as it was
before the loss. Can the same be said about relief value? It seems not. To return to our simple
example, if a fairy godmother waved a magic wand and made the liability disappear how
much better off would the business be, or in other words how much should they be prepared
to pay the fairy to cast her spell? The answer is the amount that the business would not then
be required to pay, which is the expected cost of providing the goods or service, and not the
original consideration of £100.

The question of how to measure liabilities for services and the associated question of
when to recognise revenue is likely to continue for some time.

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions and contingent items are bound up with doubt and uncertainty. There may be no
doubt that a provision is a liability — something is owed or an obligation has to be discharged
— but there may be doubt as to how much is owed or when it has to be paid. In the case of a
contingent asset or liability there may be doubt as to whether the thing exists at all. Doubt
and uncertainty very easily give rise to uneven accounting treatment and, as we shall show,
prior to the intervention of the ASB, this was particularly true in the case of provisions and,
to a lesser extent (because the ASC had published SSAP 18 Accounting for Contingencies) in
the case of contingent assets and liabilities. The ASB issued a Discussion Paper in November
1995 and an Exposure Draft, FRED 14, in June 1997 which was followed by FRS 12
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets in September 1998.

FRS 12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets
We deal first with provisions and then go on to consider contingent liabilities and assets, the

last named being included in a standard which is largely devoted to liabilities because the
treatment of contingent assets and contingent liabilities share many common features.
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The need for a standard

It had long been recognised that there was considerable variation in the treatment of provi-
sions. For example, provisions were almost always recognised when there was likely to be
expenditure resulting from goods sold under warranty, whereas they were far less frequently
recognised in the case of potential environmental liabilities. But there was more to the prob-
lem than inconsistent practice: the lack of clarity allowed accountants to manipulate the
figures for profit.

If provisions can be related to intention (‘we think we will do this’) rather than obligation
(‘we must do this’) it would be possible to smooth profits by creating provisions in years in
which the profit is high and releasing them in years in which profits are low (using the
defence that ‘we changed our mind’).

Another way of apparently creating a healthy growth in profits was to engage in ‘big bath’
accounting. This often occurred following an acquisition of a new subsidiary or in a reorgan-
isation of some kind, possibly following a change in management after disappointing
financial results. The profit and loss account was charged not only with committed expendi-
ture but also with planned expenditure for several years. The failure of users of financial
statements to understand the significance of excess provisions and its beneficial effect on the
reported profits of the years following the acquisition or reorganisation helped to boost the
careers of a number of so-called ‘company doctors’.

FRS 12 is a standard that is concerned with measurement and hence addresses three main
issues: When should a provision be recognised? How should it be measured? How should it
be disclosed?

We will deal with these in turn.

Provisions

Recognition of provisions
The summary of FRS 12 (Para. d) provides a succinct statement of the main issues:

A provision should be recognised when an entity has a present obligation (legal or construc-
tive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Unless these conditions are met, no provision should be recognised.

A provision should only be made if a liability cannot be avoided, and this particular condi-
tion will usually be easily dealt with if there is a legal contract involved, but the standard also
refers to non-legal or constructive obligations. These are obligations that arise because the
reporting entity has created a valid expectation on the part of other parties that it will dis-
charge its responsibilities towards them either because of its past actions or because it has
clearly stated that it will do so (Para. 2).

If a provision is to satisfy the definition of a liability, it must have arisen from a past event
or obligating event, in other words it must result from some past action of the entity such
that it has ‘no realistic alternative to settling the obligation created by the event’ (Para. 17).
The ASB strongly makes the point that financial statements deal with the entity’s financial
position at the end of its reporting period, and not its possible position in the future, and
that no provision should be made for the costs of operating in the future or for providing
against occurrences which the entity can avoid by changing its style of operations. An ex-
ample of this is provided in the standard (Para. 19), namely that of an entity which might,
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because of commercial pressures or legal requirements, have good evidence that it will need
to incur certain expenditures if it is to operate in a particular way in the future. The example
quoted is the possible need to fit a smoke filter in a certain type of factory. It is argued that
this should not give rise to a provision because the entity can avoid the expenditure by
changing its operating methods and, hence, there is no present liability. Intuitively, there is
something a bit odd about this, for it implies that the financial statement should ignore what
might potentially be a catastrophic event if, say, the likely costs of complying with new envir-
onmental requirements mean that the existing business ceases to be economically viable. The
answer is that, if the potential event is high in probability and large in magnitude, its impact
on the business might be reflected through the write-down of certain assets (see impairment
of assets in Chapter 5) or by the removal of the assumption that the business is a going con-
cern. These two actions are related to the future while a provision has to be firmly rooted in
the past.

The decision as to whether a constructive liability exists may not be straightforward, espe-
cially if we need to identify the past or obligating event. That event might simply be the
announcement of a decision. Consider the situation of a company, which, possibly because it
wants to construct a plant with an ‘uncertain’ environmental impact, needs to build up the
goodwill of the local community and so decides to underwrite the costs of a local arts festival.
Suppose that following the announcement of the possibility of the grant the local organisers
take some action resulting from that announcement which increases their financial exposure.
Should the company recognise a provision even if it had not yet signed a formal agreement
and could legally change its mind? If, as seems likely given the facts stated, the company
believes that it must stand by the announcement, then a provision should be recognised.

The measurement of provisions
The basic rule is that:

The amount recognised as a provision should be the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. (Para. 36)

Of course, but how in a world of uncertainty do we measure it? In some cases use can be
made of elementary statistical techniques such as expected values. For example, a store might
at its year end have 100 000 items still under warranty and, on the basis of experience, esti-
mate that 5 per cent will need to be repaired, and that the average cost of repair is £300.

Then the expected value of the cost of servicing the warranty that should be recognised as
a provision is:

(0.95 x 0 + 0.05 x £300) x £100000 = £1 500 000

In the case of a single event a distinction needs to be drawn between the best estimate and the
most likely outcome. Consider the example provided in the standard. It is of an obligation to
rectify a serious fault in a plant where the ‘most likely’ outcome is that the repairs can be
completely rectified at the first attempt at a cost of £1m. But this is not certain, so the provi-
sion should be for a greater amount, or ‘best estimate’, to allow for the possibility of
additional expenditure. This is a variant of the expected value approach in that the addi-
tional amount would depend on both the magnitude of the cost of the additional work but
also the probability that it will be necessary.

The need for prudence as conventionally defined — the asymmetric statement that profits
and assets should not be overstated and expenses and liabilities not understated — is intro-
duced in Para. 43 but the ASB goes on quickly to warn against going too far. To quote
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directly, ‘if the projected costs of a particularly adverse outcome are estimated on a prudent
basis, that outcome is not then deliberately treated as more probable than is realistically the
case’ (Para. 43). This phrase, which must of one of the least elegant examples of ASB draft-
ing, seems to exhort us to be prudent but not to overdo it.

Present values

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision should
be the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
(Para. 45)

In the case of provisions it is recommended that the easiest way of dealing with risk is to use
a discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability, but if this option is selected the
cash flows to be discounted should not themselves be adjusted for risk; rather, the ‘best esti-
mates’ should be used. An acceptable alternative is to adjust the cash flows for risk and use a
risk-free rate of discount.

Changes in provisions

Provisions should be reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the cur-
rent best estimate. (Para. 62)

Provisions and the recognition of assets

The recognition of a provision might also give rise to the recognition of an asset, but this
can only be done when it is clear that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity.
(Para. 66)

Disclosure requirements

The disclosure requirements are set out in Paras 89 and 90; the first paragraph deals primar-
ily with numbers, the second mainly with words. The numerical statement should reflect the
changes in provisions that have occurred during the accounting period: provisions created,
used and reversed as well as increases in present values due to the passage of time and the
consequences of changes in the discount rate. The words that should be supplied include, for
each class of provision, the nature of the liability, some indication about the associated risk
and a note of the extent of any expected reimbursements.

Contingent assets and liabilities

Company law has for a long time required the disclosure, by way of a note to the financial
statements, of information concerning contingent liabilities, but there is no such require-
ment concerning contingent assets.

Accounting for contingencies was the subject and title of SSAP 18, issued in 1980, and this
called for both the recognition, within financial statements, of certain contingent liabilities,
but only in extreme cases, and the provision of note information about contingent assets but
only where there was a high probability that they would unwind in the entity’s favour.
FRS 12, which replaced SSAP 18, also forbids the recognition of contingent assets under any
circumstances but adopts a different, less useful, definition of contingent liabilities.
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Contingent assets

It will be helpful to start the discussion with the definition of a contingent asset.

A possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the entity’s control.
(Para. 2)

A bet on a horse race would seem to satisfy the definition pretty well, so too, to take a more
commercial example, would be a drug which is the subject of clinical trials. However, pru-
dence will usually dictate that such possible assets are not accorded the status of contingent
assets — which will continue to be very rare beasts.

Contingent assets: disclosure requirements

‘An entity should not recognise a contingent asset’ (Para. 31), but what should be disclosed?
This is covered in Para. 94, which states that where ‘an inflow of economic benefits is prob-
able’, the nature of the contingent assets should be disclosed with, if practicable, an estimate
of their financial effect measured on the same principles as FRS 12 applies to provisions.

Contingent liabilities

The definition of a contingent liability has two elements; the first is the counterpart of the
contingent asset while the second breaks new ground. A contingent liability is defined as:

(@) A possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be con-
firmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the entity’s control; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i) it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; or
(i) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability (Para. 2).

The second part of the definition (which was not included in the SSAP 18 definition) pro-
vides a convenient vehicle for picking up items which are actually provisions, insofar that
they represent present obligations, but which do not fully satisfy the tests for recognition set
out in Para. 14, either because it is ‘not probable’ that the liability will have to be discharged,
or because it is not possible to make a ‘reliable estimate’ of the liability. Thus FRS 12 requires
that such pseudo-provisions should be treated in the same way as ‘real’ contingent liabilities.
This may be convenient but it seems unfortunate that, as a result, the concept of contingency
is muddied.

Figure 7.2, which is taken from FRS 12, shows a decision tree for distinguishing between
provisions and contingent liabilities. The figure shows that, if it is unlikely that there is a pre-
sent obligation, and that there is only a remote possibility that the liability, if it did exist,
would have to be discharged, then the item can be ignored. But, if there is a reasonable
chance that there is an obligation, but with very little chance that it will have to be dis-
charged, then it should be disclosed by way of a note to the financial statements as part of
contingent liabilities.
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obligation as
a result of an
obligating
event?

Possible
obligation?

Probable Yes

outflow?

Remote?

No

Reliable
estimate?

. ( Disclose ) ( . )
contingent liability Do nothing

Note: in rare cases it is not clear whether there is a present obligation. In these cases, a past event is
deemed to give rise to a present obligation if, taking account of all available evidence, it is more
likely than not that a present obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Figure 7.2 Decision tree
Source: ASB FRS 12, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets (1998). © ASB Publications Limited 2000. Reproduced with permission.

Contingent liabilities: disclosure requirements

As is the case with contingent assets, contingent liabilities should not be recognised but, as
might be expected, the test for whether the item should be shown in the notes to the finan-
cial statements is not the same for the two items. In the case of contingent assets note
disclosure is required when the inflow of benefits is probable while in the case of contingent
liabilities disclosure can only be avoided if the possibility of payment is remote (Para. 91). For
each class of contingent liability that passes the test information should be provided on their
estimated financial effect, the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow
and an indication of the possibility of any reimbursement.
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Compliance with international standards

FRS 12 was developed jointly with the international standard on the same topic, IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Hence, all the requirements of the
IAS are included in the FRS and there are no differences of substance between their common
requirements. The FRS also deals with the circumstances under which an asset should be
recognised when a provision is recognised and gives more guidance than the IAS on the dis-
count rate to be used in the present value calculation.

Summary

In this chapter, we have introduced the subject of accounting for liabilities and have noted
that this is an area where the theoretical debate is only just beginning.

We have examined the definition of a liability and explored the recognition and measure-
ment of liabilities. We have then explored the treatment of provisions and have explained
the approach of the ASB, designed particularly to stop abuses that involved the making of
excessive provisions. Finally, we have discussed the nature and treatment of contingent lia-
bilities and assets.

FRS 12 and IAS 37 were both issued in 1998 and were drafted in accordance with the
same principles. Hence this is one of the relatively few areas where there is already conver-
gence between the UK and international standards.

Recommended reading

W.T. Baxter Accounting values and inflation, McGraw-Hill, Maidenhead, 1975.

IATA (in association with KPMG), Frequent flyer programme accounting, IATA, Montreal, 1995.

‘Revenue recognition” Company Reporting No. 142, April 2000.

P. Weetman, Assets and liabilities: Their definition and recognition, Certified Accountants
Publications Limited, London, 1988.

Excellent up-to-date and detailed reading on the subject matter of this chapter and on much of
the contents of this book is provided by the most recent edition of:

UK and International GAAP, A. Wilson, M. Davies, M. Curtis and G. Wilkinson-Riddle (eds),

Ernst & Young, Butterworths Tolley, London. At the time of writing the most recent edition is
the 7th, published 2001.

7.1 Provisions are particular kinds of liabilities. It therefore follows that provisions should be
recognised when the definition of a liability has been met. The key requirement of a liability
is a present obligation and thus this requirement is critical also in the context of the recogni-
tion of a provision. However, although accounting for provisions is an important topic for
standard setters, it is only recently that guidance has been issued on provisioning in financial
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statements. In the UK, the Accounting Standards Board has recently issued FRS 12
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Required:
(a) (i) Explain why there was a need for more detailed guidance on accounting for provi-
sions in the UK. (7 marks)

(ii) Explain the circumstances under which a provision should be recognised in the
financial statements according to FRS 12: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. (6 marks)

(b) Discuss whether the following provisions have been accounted for correctly under FRS

12: ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’.

World Wide Nuclear Fuels plc disclosed the following information in its financial state-
ments for the year ending 30 November 1999:

Provisions and long-term commitments

(i) Provision for decommissioning the Group’s radioactive facilities is made over their
useful life and covers complete demolition of the facility within fifty years of it being
taken out of service together with any associated waste disposal. The provision is based
on future prices and is discounted using a current market rate of interest.

Provision for decommissioning costs £m

Balance at 1.12.98 675
Adjustment arising from change in price levels charged to reserves 33
Charged in the year to proft and loss account 125
Adjustment due to change in knowledge (charged to reserves) 27
Balance at 30.11.99 860

There are still decommissioning costs of £1231m (undiscounted) to be provided for in
respect of the group’s radioactive facilities as the company’s policy is to build up the
required provision over the life of the facility

Assume that adjustments to the provision due to change in knowledge about the accu-
racy of the provision do not give rise to future economic benefits. (7 marks)

(ii) The company purchased an oil company during the year. As part of the sale agreement,
oil has to be supplied for a five year period to the company’s former holding company at
an uneconomic rate. As a result a provision for future operating losses has been set up of
£135m which relates solely to the uneconomic supply of oil. Additionally the oil com-
pany is exposed to environmental liabilities arising out of its past obligations, principally
in respect of remedial work to soil and ground water systems, although currently there is
no legal obligation to carry out the work. Liabilities for environmental costs are provided
for when the Group determines a formal plan of action on the closure of an inactive site
and when expenditure on remedial work is probable and the cost can be measured with
reasonable certainty. However in this case, it has been decided to provide for £120m in
respect of the environmental liability on the acquisition of the oil company. World Wide
Nuclear Fuels has a reputation for ensuring that the environment is preserved and pro-
tected from the effects of its business activities. (5 marks)

ACCA, Financial Reporting Environment (UK Stream), December 1999 (25 marks)
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7.2

7.3

FRS 12 — Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets was issued in September 1998.
Prior to its publication, there was no UK Accounting Standard that dealt with the general
subject of accounting for provisions.

Extract plc prepares its financial statements to 31 December each year. During the years
ended 31 December 2000 and 31 December 2001, the following event occurred:

Extract plc is involved in extracting minerals in a number of different countries. The
process typically involves some contamination of the site from which the minerals are
extracted. Extract plc makes good this contamination only where legally required to do
so by legislation passed in the relevant country.

The company has been extracting minerals in Copperland since January 1998 and
expects its site to produce output until 31 December 2005. On 23 December 2000, it
came to the attention of the directors of Extract plc that the government of Copperland
was virtually certain to pass legislation requiring the making good of mineral extraction
sites. The legislation was duly passed on 15 March 2001. The directors of Extract plc
estimate that the cost of making good the site in Copperland will be £2 million. This
estimate is of the actual cash expenditure that will be incurred on 31 December 2005.

Required

(a) Explain why there was a need for an Accounting Standard dealing with provisions,
and summarise the criteria that need to be satisfied before a provision is recognised.

(10 marks)

(b) Compute the effect of the estimated cost of making good the site on the financial state-
ments of Extract plc for BOTH of the years ended 31 December 2000 and 2001. Give
full explanations of the figures you compute.
The annual discount rate to be used in any relevant calculations is 10%. (10 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting — UK Accounting Standards, May 2001 (20 marks)

FRS 12 — Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets requires contingencies to be
classified as remote, possible, probable and virtually certain. Each of these categories should
then be treated differently, depending on whether it is an asset or a liability.

Required
(a) Explain why FRS 12 classifies contingencies in this manner. (5 marks)

The Chief Accountant of Z plc, a construction company, is finalising the work on the finan-
cial statements for the year ended 31 October 2002. She has prepared a list of all of the
matters that might require some adjustment or disclosure under the requirements of FRS 12.

(i) A customer has lodged a claim against Z plc for repairs to an office block built by the
company. The roof leaks and it appears that this is due to negligence in construction. Z
plc is negotiating with the customer and will probably have to pay for repairs that will
cost approximately £100000.

(ii) The roof in (i) above was installed by a subcontractor employed by Z plc. Z plc’s
lawyers are confident that the company would have a strong claim to recover the whole
of any costs from the subcontractor. The Chief Accountant has obtained the subcon-
tractor’s latest financial statements. The subcontractor appears to be almost insolvent
with few assets.

(iii) Whenever Z plc finishes a project, it gives customers a period of three months to notify
any construction defects. These are repaired immediately. The balance sheet at
31 October 2001 carried a provision of £80000 for future repairs. The estimated cost of
repairs to completed contracts as at 31 October 2002 is £120000.
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(iv) During the year ended 31 October 2002, Z plc lodged a claim against a large firm of
electrical engineers which had delayed the completion of a contract. The engineering
company’s Directors have agreed in principle to pay Z plc £30000 compensation. Z
plc’s Chief Accountant is confident that this amount will be received before the end of
December 2002.

(v) An architect has lodged a claim against Z plc for the loss of a laptop computer during a
site visit. He alleges that the company did not take sufficient care to secure the site office
and that this led to the computer being stolen while he inspected the project. He is
claiming for consequential losses of £90000 for the value of the vital files that were on
the computer. Z plc’s lawyers have indicated that the company might have to pay a triv-
ial sum in compensation for the computer hardware. There is almost no likelihood that
the courts would award damages for the lost files because the architect should have
copied them.

Required
(b) Explain how each of the contingencies (i) to (v) above should be accounted for.
Assume that all amounts stated are material. (3 marks for each of (i) to (v) = 15 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, November 2002 (20 marks)

L plc sells gaming cards to retailers, who then resell them to the general public. Customers
who buy these cards scratch off a panel to reveal whether they have won a cash prize. There
are several different ranges of cards, each of which offers a different range of prizes.

Prize-winners send their winning cards to L plc and are paid by cheque. If the prize is
major, then the prize-winner is required to telephone L plc to register the claim and then
send the winning card to a special address for separate handling.

All cards are printed and packaged under conditions of high security. Special printing
techniques make it easy for L plc to identify forged claims and it is unusual for customers to
make false claims. Large claims are, however, checked using a special chemical process that
takes several days to take effect.

The directors are currently finalising their financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2002. They are unsure about how to deal with the following items:

(i) A packaging error on a batch of ‘Chance’ cards meant that there were too many major
prize cards in several boxes. L plc recalled the batch from retailers, but was too late to
prevent many of the defective cards being sold. The company is being flooded with
claims. L plc’s lawyers have advised that the claims are valid and must be paid. It has
proved impossible to determine the likely level of claims that will be made in respect of
this error because it will take several weeks to establish the success of the recall and the
number of defective cards.

(ii) A prize-winner has registered a claim for a £200000 prize from a ‘Lotto’ card. The
financial statements will be finalised before the card can be processed and checked.

(iii) A claim has been received for £100000 from a ‘Winner’ card. The maximum prize
offered for this game is £90000 and so the most likely explanation is that the card has
been forged. The police are investigating the claim, but this will not be resolved before
the financial statements are finalised. Once the police investigation has concluded, L plc
will make a final check to ensure that the card is not the result of a printing error.

(iv) The company received claims totalling £300000 during the year from a batch of bogus
‘Happy’ cards that had been forged by a retailer in Newtown. The police have prosec-
uted the retailer and he has recently been sent to prison. The directors of L plc have
decided to pay customers who bought these cards 50% of the amount claimed as a
goodwill gesture. They have not, however, informed the lucky prize-winners of this yet.
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Required
(a) Identify the appropriate accounting treatment of each of the claims against L plc in
respect of (i) to (iv) above. Your answer should have due regard to the requirements of
FRS 12, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets.
(3 marks for each of items (i) to (iv) = 12 marks)
(b) It has been suggested that readers of financial statements do not always pay sufficient
attention to contingent liabilities even though they may have serious implications for
the future of the company.
(i) Explain why insufficient attention might be paid to contingent liabilities. (4 marks)
(i) Explain how FRS 12 prevents companies from treating as contingent liabilities
those liabilities that should be recognised in the balance sheet. (4 marks)

CIMA, Financial Accounting — UK Accounting Standards, May 2002 (20 marks)
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Financial instruments

In this chapter we deal with capital instruments and the broader category of financial instru-
ments, including derivatives, as well as hedge accounting. This is currently an area of much
flux and uncertainty. Standard setters are only now coming to grips with the vexed subjects
of derivatives and hedge accounting but perhaps the major cause of uncertainty is the
impact of the convergence programme. The relevant International Standards, IAS 32 and 39,
are still evolving while the UK standards are also being reviewed. The relevant UK Exposure
Draft, FRED 30, is itself tentative in some places in referring to the need to await the com-
pletion of developments in the international standard-setting arena while some of its
proposed changes depend on changes being made to UK company law.
The UK statements covered in this chapter are:

FRS 4 Capital Instruments (1993)

FRED 23 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting (2002)

FRS 13 Derivatives and other Financial Instruments: Disclosure (1998)

FRED 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (2002)

The international standards to which we refer are:

® |AS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (revised 1998)
@ |AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (revised 2000)

Both were in the process of revision as at January 2003.

Introduction

A financial instrument can involve very simple things like cash, or something far more com-
plicated, such as a derivative. At this stage it might be useful to introduce the definition of a
financial instrument as set out in FRED 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation,! which is itself derived from IAS 32.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

A financial asset is any asset that is:

a) Cash;
b) A contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity;

! FRED 30, Para. 5, p. 32.
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c) A contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another entity under condi-
tions that are potentially favourable; or
d) An equity instrument of another entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation:

a) To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
b) To exchange financial instruments with another entity under conditions that are poten-
tially unfavourable.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

This is not an easy definition to understand and one always knows that there are problems
when, as is the case with financial assets, the definition of a term includes the term itself. It
is perhaps helpful to realise that the definition excludes physical assets and the obligations
to provide services in the future. We will in this chapter concentrate on financial liabilities
but will also need to touch on financial assets, especially in relation to derivatives and hedg-
ing transactions.

The present position with respect to accounting for financial instruments can best be
described as ‘messy’. The situation as this book went to press was that the ASB had issued
FRED 30 as the forerunner of two possible standards, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation and Financial Instruments: Measurement. The messiness of the present position
is that the proposed standards are based on proposed amended versions of two International
Standards, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Also, the implementation of some of the changes
proposed in FRED 30 would require changes in UK company law. The proposed issue of the
two new UK standards would lead to the withdrawal of two existing standards, FRS 4 Capital
Instruments and FRS 13 Derivatives and other Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

In the circumstances we feel it would best help readers if we divided the chapter into two
parts. In the first, we will concentrate on the basic principles underlying the issue and discuss
the current but soon to be discarded standards. We will in so doing take account of their
likely demise, but we need to remember the incremental nature of the developments in
accounting standards. It is increasingly difficult fully to understand an accounting standard
if one does not have some knowledge of its predecessor or predecessors. In the second part
of the chapter, we will outline the contents of FRED 30 and comment on the likely progress
of the convergence programme.

FRS 4 Capital Instruments

FRS 4 was the first ASB standard to deal with the issue of accounting for liabilities? and,
while it is has been announced that it will be withdrawn as part of the convergence
programme it still provides a useful introduction to the issues surrounding accounting
for financial liabilities, and some appreciation of its contents will greatly assist in under-
standing the numerous developments that are currently taking place. The convergence
programme is bringing about changes in classification and terminology in a number of
areas and, in this case, the phrase capital instruments is being replaced by the broader term

2 Although SSAP 18 dealt with contingent liabilities.
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financial instruments, that includes both financial liabilities and financial assets. We will, for
convenience, continue to use the term capital instruments in our discussion of FRS 4.
It is instructive to start by considering the objective of FRS 4, which is:

to ensure that financial statements provide a clear, coherent and consistent treatment of capital
instruments, in particular as regards the classification of instruments as debt, non-equity shares
or equity shares; that costs associated with capital instruments are dealt with in a manner con-
sistent with their classification, and, for redeemable instruments, allocated to accounting
periods on a fair basis over the period the instrument is in issue; and that financial statements
provide relevant information concerning the nature and amount of the entity’s sources of
finance and the associated costs, commitments and potential commitments. (Para. 1)

The paragraph makes specific reference to classification, appropriate measurement and dis-
closure but makes no mention of recognition. There is a brief discussion of recognition in
FRS 5 Reporting the Substance of Transactions and the subject is covered in a little more depth
in Chapter 5 of the Statement of Principles.

We should start by defining the term capital instruments.

All instruments that are issued by reporting entities which are a means of raising finance,
including shares, debentures, loans and debt instruments, options and warrants that give
the holder the right to subscribe for or obtain capital instruments. In the case of consoli-
dated financial statements the term includes capital instruments issued by subsidiaries
except those that are held by another member of the group included in the consolidation.
(Para. 2)

Another important definition is that of finance costs. These are:

The difference between the net proceeds of an instrument and the total amount of the pay-
ments (or other transfers of economic benefits) that the issuer may be required to make in
respect of the instrument. (Para. 8)

With these two definitions in mind the main points of FRS 4 can be summarised.

Balance sheet presentation

Capital instruments must be categorised into four groups for single companies and or six
groups for consolidated financial statements as shown in Table 8.1.

Table 8.1 Categorisation of capital instruments

Analysed between
Shareholders’ funds Equity interests Non-equity interests
Liabilities Convertible liabilities Non-convertible liabilities
Minority interests in Equity interests in subsidiaries Non-equity interests in
subsidiaries subsidiaries

The period prior to the issue of FRS 4 had seen the issue of various hybrid forms of capi-
tal instruments that seemed to combine elements of debt and equity. Examples of the
hybrid securities are convertible bonds where holders are given the right to convert into
equity shares at a favourable price at some future time. Often the terms are such that the
conversion is virtually certain to occur and existing shareholders benefit from obtaining
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capital at a relatively low rate of interest until conversion, when their ownership interest in
the company is diluted.?

Because of their complexity, and the lack of a clear accounting standard, there was incon-
sistency in treatment and opportunities, which were from time to time taken, to paint the
balance sheet in a more favourable light than reality might otherwise have allowed. All other
things being equal, the higher the level of debt relative to shareholders’ funds the higher the
degree of risk, because failure to pay interest could lead to the insolvency of the company,
whereas the failure to pay dividends would not have such a devastating effect. Similarly,
from the point of view of equity shareholders, a high level of non-equity shares means that
equity holders are subject to greater uncertainty in terms of their returns because of the prior
claims of the non-equity holders. Hence the opportunity of painting the balance sheet in a
rosy hue if there are possibilities that instruments which are essentially debt can be presented
as part of shareholders’ funds, or if non-equity interests can be classified as part of equity
shares. As will be seen, the provisions of FRS 4 are such as to ensure that if an instrument
contains any element of debt it should be treated as debt or, if the instrument is properly
part of shareholders’ funds, then, if the instrument contains any trace of non-equity, it
should be recorded as non-equity.

Allocation of finance costs

Finance costs associated with liabilities and shares, other than equity shares, should be allo-
cated to accounting periods at a constant rate on the carrying amount. This is the actuarial
method that is illustrated in the examples that follow. Initially capital instruments should be
recorded at the net amount of the issue proceeds and only the direct costs incurred in con-
nection with the issue of the instruments should be deducted from the proceeds in arriving
at this net amount. The finance cost for the period is added to the carrying amount and pay-
ments deducted from it. Thus, as will be seen, the carrying figure in the balance sheet may
not be the same as the nominal value of the liability, but in the case of redeemable instru-
ments this would result in the carrying amount at the time of redemption being equal to the
amount payable at that time. Gains and losses will only occur on purchase or early redemp-
tion and the standard specifies clearly how these should be treated.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase or early settlement of debt should be recognised in
the profit and loss account in the period during which the repurchase or early settlement is
made. (FRS 4, Para. 32)

Accrued finance costs, to the extent that they will be paid in the next period, may be
included with accruals, but even if this option is exercised, the accrual must be included in
the carrying value for the purpose of calculating the finance costs and any gains or losses on
repurchase or early settlement (FRS 4, Para. 30).

In some cases the amount payable on the debt may be contingent on uncertain future
events such as changes in a price index. Such events should not be anticipated and the
finance costs and carrying amount should only be adjusted when the event occurs (FRS 4,
Para. 31).

3 For an introduction to these hybrid forms of financial instruments, readers are referred to D.J. Tonkin and L.C.L.
Skerratt (eds), Financial Reporting 1988—-1989, ICAEW, 1989: chapter entitled ‘Complex Capital Issues’, by B.L.
Worth and R.A. Derwent; and L.C.L. Skerratt and D.J. Tonkin (eds), Financial Reporting 1989—1990, ICAEW,
1989: chapter entitled ‘Complex Capital Issues’.
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We shall illustrate both the actuarial method specified in FRS 4 and the conflict between
the provisions of the standard and the more economically illiterate aspects of company legis-
lation by considering the example of the issue of three hypothetical debentures under terms
that look more different than they actually are.

Example 8.1

Let us consider three issues of debentures, each with a nominal value of £100 and each for a
five-year period.

(a) Debenture A carries a coupon rate of 20 per cent per annum: it is to be issued and redeemed
at par.

(b) Debenture B carries a coupon rate of 16 per cent per annum: it is to be issued at a discount
of £12, at a price of £88, and is to be redeemed at par.

(c) Debenture C carries a coupon rate of 18 per cent per annum: it is to be issued at par but
redeemed at a premium of £15 at £115.

We shall assume that the interest on each debenture is payable annually at the end of each year
and shall ignore taxation and transaction costs.

The effective interest rate on Debenture A is 20 per cent and the terms of Debentures B and C
have been chosen to produce identical effective interest rates of 20 per cent. In other words, if we
discount the cash flows from and to the debenture holders, all these debentures produce a net
present value (NPV) of zero at a 20 per cent discount rate (Table 8.2).

Table 8.2 Net present values of debentures

Debenture NPV at 20%

A +100 - 20a ) -100v®
= +100 - 20(2.9906) — 100(0.4019)
=+100-59.8 -40.2
=0

B +88 — 16a; — 100v°
= +88 - 16(2.9906) — 100(0.4019)
=+88-47.8-40.2
=0

C +100 - 18a5 — 115v°
=+100 - 18(2.9906) — 115(0.4019)
=+100-53.8-46.2
=0

In all cases the effective rate of interest, that is the cost of the finance, is 20 per cent, but
whereas for Debenture A this is all paid in interest, for Debentures B and C the cost is partly paid
as a difference between the redemption price and the issue price.

Accounting for Debenture A poses no problems. The annual interest expense of £20 (20 per
cent of £100) will be charged in the profit and loss account each year, while the liability will
appear at the nominal value of the debentures, that is £100. Accounting for Debentures B and C
does pose some problems and we will deal with each in turn.
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Discount on debentures

Debenture B is issued at a discount. While the interest of £16 (16 per cent of £100) will undoubt-
edly be charged to the profit and loss account each year, it is also necessary to decide how to
account for the discount on issue, the amount of £12.

The liability would be recorded at the nominal value of £100 and company law permits us to treat
the discount on debentures as an asset.* Once we have recorded the discount as an asset, the next
question is how this should be dealt with. As the discount is effectively part of the cost of the
finance, we might expect this cost to be reflected in the profit and loss account. However, company
law specifically permits the writing off of discounts on debentures to a share premium account.®

Thus, where a company has a share premium account, we may either write off the discount to
the share premium account or we may write off the discount to the profit and loss account. In the
latter case it is possible to write off the discount immediately or to write it off over the five-year
period. Let us look at each possibility in turn.

Use of share premium account
Although company law clearly permits the writing off of this discount to the share premium
account, this results in part of the cost of borrowing bypassing the profit and loss account and
hence in an overstatement of profits. This odd quirk of company law has been around for some
time, as have its critics.

As long ago as 1962, the Jenkins Committee, which was set up to advise the government on
changes in company legislation, reported that it thought that the law should be amended:

. . . to prohibit the application of the (share premium) account in writing off the expenses and
commission paid and discounts allowed on any issue of debentures or in providing for any
premiums payable on redemption of debentures, since these are part of the ordinary expenses
of borrowing.®

Despite the numerous Companies Acts that have been enacted since 1962, this oddity remains
and it is difficult to see how it can be justified. The charging of a discount to the share premium
account means that the profit and loss account does not bear the full cost of the borrowing, but it
also seems to be inconsistent with the rationale for creating a share premium account in the first
place. The purpose of a share premium account is to ensure that, with certain exceptions, sub-
scribed capital cannot be repaid to shareholders. If the profit and loss account is relieved of part of
the cost of the business, then, effectively, part of the subscribed capital is available for distribution.

Charge to profit and loss account
If it is to be charged to the profit and loss account the 1985 Act merely states that ‘it shall be writ-
ten off by reasonable amounts each year and must be completely written off before repayment of
the debt’.”

However FRS 4 requires that the ‘finance cost of debt should be allocated to periods over the
term of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount’.8

Using the actuarial method® the liability is recorded at the present value of the cash flows dis-
counted at the market rate of interest, which we have assumed to be 20 per cent. The interest
expense each year would be found by multiplying the present value of the cash flows at the start
of the year by the effective interest rate. As can be seen from Table 8.3 this results in an increas-
ing liability and an increasing interest expense throughout the term of the loan.

4 Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, Para. 24(1).

> Companies Act 1985, s. 130(2).

6 Report of the Company Law Committee, Cmnd. 1749, HMSO, London, 1962, Para. 163.

7 Companies Act 1985, Schedule 4, Para. 24(2)(a).

8 FRS 4, Para. 28.

 Which is also called the effective rate method, the ‘compound yield method’ (Inland Revenue) or the ‘interest
method” (FASB).
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Table 8.3 Actuarial method for Debenture B

(i) (i) (iii) (iv) v) (vi)
Year Opening Interest Total Payment Closing
balance 20% of (i) (i) + (iii) at year end balance
(iv) - (v)
£ £ £ £ £
1 88.0 17.6 105.6 16.0 89.6
2 89.6 17.9 107.5 16.0 91.5
3 91.5 18.3 109.8 16.0 93.8
4 93.8 18.8 112.6 16.0 96.6
5 96.6 19.4* 116.0 116.07 -

* Includes rounding adjustment. 1 Interest 16.0 + Redemption price 100.0.

In addition to satisfying the requirements of FRS 4 this is the approach that is required in the
USA'® and by SSAP 21 Accounting for Leases and Hire Purchase Contracts when accounting for
the obligation under a finance lease (see Chapter 9).

Premium on redemption

Debenture C, which carries a coupon rate of interest of 18 per cent is issued at par but redeemed
at a premium of £15. Under the existing legal framework it is not clear whether the liability should
be recorded initially at the nominal value of £100 or at the amount payable, the redemption price
of £115. If it is recorded initially at £100, then a premium must be provided by the end of the five-
year period. If it is recorded initially at £115, then an asset ‘premium on debentures’ must also be
established and we have a situation analogous to the issue of a debenture at a discount that has
been discussed above. In either case it is necessary to decide how to deal with the premium.

Not surprisingly we find that the law permits the write-off of this premium to share premium
account but, for the reasons explained above, the authors are of the view that it should be
charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the debentures. Using the actuarial method
the liabilities at the balance sheet dates and the annual expense figures can be calculated as
shown in Table 8.4.

Table 8.4 Actuarial method for Debenture C

(i) (i) (iii) (iv) v) (vi)
Year Opening Interest Total Payment Closing
balance 20% of (i) (i) + (iii) at year end balance
(iv) - (v)
£ £ £ £ £
1 100.0 20.0 120.0 18.0 102.0
2 102.0 20.4 122.4 18.0 104.4
3 104.4 20.9 125.3 18.0 107.3
4 107.3 21.5 128.8 18.0 110.8
5 110.8 22.2 133.0 133.0* -

* Interest 18.0 + Redemption price 115.0.

10 Readers are referred to Richard Macve, ‘Accounting for long-term loans’, in External Financial Reporting, Bryan
Carsberg and Susan Dev (eds), Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1984. This essay in honour of Professor
Harold Edey discusses the treatment of long-term loans in both the UK and the USA.
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Finance costs for non-equity shares

The treatment of finance costs relating to non-equity shares is based on the same principles
as debt (FRS 4, Para. 42), with two additional specific rules. These are:

Where the entitlement to dividends in respect of non-equity shares is calculated by reference
to time, the dividends should be accounted for on an accruals basis except in those circum-
stances (for example where profits are insufficient to justify a dividend and dividend rights are
non-cumulative) where ultimate payment is remote. All dividends should be reported as appro-
priations of profit. (Para. 43)

Where the finance costs for non-equity shares are not equal to the dividends, the difference
should be accounted for in the profit and loss account as an appropriation of profits. (Para. 44)

An example of a situation where there may be a difference between the finance costs and the
dividends are shares that may be redeemed at a premium.

We have already introduced the actuarial method and shown that the method is logical
and allocates the cost of borrowing fairly over the period of the loan, as well as ensuring that
the whole of the finance costs are charged to the profit and loss account. The use of the
method would also achieve consistency across a wide range of different capital instruments
in issue, including non-equity shares, although, in this case, the provisions of company law,
on which FRS 4 is based, would require us to show the cost as an appropriation of profit
rather than an expense.

Issue costs

The calculation of the constant rate of interest and the initial carrying value in the balance
sheet depends upon the ‘net proceeds’ of the issue of the capital instruments. The net pro-
ceeds are defined as:

The fair value of the consideration received on the issue of a capital instrument after deduc-
tion of issue costs. (Para. 11)

Issue costs are defined as:

The costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of a capital instrument, that
is, those costs that would not have been incurred had the specific instrument in question
not been issued. (Para. 10)

The use of the phrase ‘fair value’ reminds us that the carrying value of the capital instrument
will not always be found without some degree of estimation. An example of such a case would
be the joint issue of a debt and warrant when the amount received for the issue of the joint
instrument will need to be allocated to provide the fair value of the debt and warrant respec-
tively. The most likely source of evidence would be the market values of similar securities.

The standard is restrictive as to what should be included in issue costs (Para. 96). Such
costs should not include any which would have been incurred had the instrument not been
issued, such as management remuneration or indeed the costs of researching and negotiating
alternative sources of finance. Those costs that do not qualify as issue costs should be written
off to the profit and loss account as incurred. The standard requires that issue costs be
accounted for by reducing the proceeds of the issue of the instrument and should not be
regarded as assets because they do not provide access to any future economic benefits. The
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consequence of setting the issue costs against the proceeds is to increase the interest charge
in the profit and loss account; in other words, it ensures that the issue costs are written off
over the life of the capital instrument.

Use of the share premium account

It might be thought that the provisions of FRS 4 would include the stipulation that entities
subject to the Companies Act should no longer take advantage of the provision whereby they
can charge issue costs and discounts against the share premium account. They only go some
way towards this desirable end. Issue costs, which would include discounts, have to be
charged to the profit and loss account but the standard specifically draws attention to the
fact that the issue costs may subsequently be charged to the share premium account by
means of a transfer between reserves (Para. 97).

The distinction between shareholders’ funds and liabilities

A capital instrument is a liability if it contains an obligation to transfer economic benefit,
including contingent obligations, otherwise it is part of shareholders’ funds. It is usually clear
whether an instrument requires the company to make some sort of transfer to the owner of
an instrument or whether any such transfer is made at the discretion of the company, but
there are two exceptions to the general rule. The first relates to an obligation that would only
arise on the insolvency of the issuer. If there is no expectation of that event, and the entity
can be accounted for on a going concern basis, that contingent liability can be ignored.
Similarly, an obligation that would only crystallise if a covenant attached to a capital instru-
ment were breached can also be disregarded unless, of course, there is evidence that such a
breach will occur.

Some preference shares effectively impose an obligation on the issuing entity to transfer
economic benefit, that is pay a dividend, because to do otherwise would be even more costly.
Until now, these economic facts have been disregarded and, if capital instruments were
called preference shares, they automatically appeared in the owners’ equity section of the
balance sheet. FRED 30 proposes that in cases where the payment of a dividend is, in prac-
tice, unavoidable, the instrument be treated as a liability. Thus, as in many areas of
accounting, substance would have to take precedence over form.

Warrants

Share warrants are instruments that state that the holder or bearer is entitled to be issued
with a specified number of shares, possibly upon the payment of an additional fixed price. In
the view of the ASB, the original amount paid for the warrant must be regarded as part of the
subscription price of the shares which may, or may not, be issued at some time in the future,
and it is for this reason that FRS 4 specifies that warrants be reported within shareholders’
funds (Para. 37).

The Board does, however, recognise that the topic of warrants raises a number of issues
that are outside the scope of FRS 4. It refers!! in particular to the view that, if the price paid
on the exercise of the warrant is less than the fair value of the shares issued, this should be
reflected in the financial statements by, presumably, increasing shareholders’ funds and
recognising as an expense the ‘cost’ incurred in issuing shares in this way. Another contro-
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versial issue is what should be done if the warrant lapses without being exercised. Should the
amount initially subscribed to the warrant continue to be treated as part of share capital or
be regarded as a gain by the company? The issue depends essentially on whether the warrant
holders are regarded as sharing in the ownership of the company. If they are so regarded
then the benefit from the lapse in the warrant is not a gain to the company but a transfer
between owners, and hence the initial subscription should be treated as part of share capital.
If, on the other hand, the warrant holders are not regarded as owners (the view taken by the
ASB), the amount released by the lapse of the warrants should be reported as a gain within
the statement of recognised gains and losses.

In summary, the provisions of FRS 4 relating to the taking up and lapsing of warrants are:

1 When a warrant is exercised, the amount previously recognised in respect of the warrant
should be included in the net proceeds of the shares issued (Para. 46).

2 When a warrant elapses unexercised, the amount previously recognised in respect of the
warrant should be reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (Para. 47).

The distinction between equity and non-equity

FRS 4 reinforces the requirements of company law by requiring that the balance sheet should
show the total amount of shareholders’ funds with an analysis between the amount attribut-
able to equity interests and the amount attributable to non-equity interests (Para. 40).

The need therefore is to distinguish between equity and non-equity interests. Company
law provides a succinct definition of equity share capital, which means in relation to a com-
pany, its issued share capital excluding any part of that capital which, neither as respects
dividends nor as respects capital, carries any right to participate beyond a specified amount
in a distribution.'?

The ASB believes that this definition does not give sufficient guidance in the more complex
cases and hence it provides a far more detailed statement of the distinction that starts with a
definition of non-equity shares. These are shares possessing any of the following characteristics:

(@) Any of the rights of the shares to receive payments (whether in respect of dividends, in
respect of redemption or otherwise) are for a limited amount that is not calculated by ref-
erence to the company’s assets or profits or the dividends on any class of equity share.

(b) Any of their rights to participate in a surplus in a winding-up are limited to a specific
amount that is not calculated by reference to the company’s assets or profits, and such
limitation has a commercial effect in practice at the time the shares were issued or, if
later, at the time the limitation was introduced.

(c) The shares are redeemable according to their terms, or the holder, or any party other
than the issuer, can require their redemption. (Para. 12)

Following all the above, equity shares are defined simply as ‘shares other than non-equity
shares’ (Para. 7).

The ASB thinking is quite clear. Its definition attempts to ensure that only ‘true’ equity is
treated as such. In so far as the existence of non-equity capital represents a risk that may be
taken into account by equity shareholders when making investment decisions, this approach
can be seen as being protective of the interest of existing and potential equity shareholders.

As stated earlier, the provisions of FRED 30 would sensibly lead to the reclassification of
some non-equity shareholders’ funds as liabilities.

' See the section on the development of the standard, Paras 11-13.
12 Companies Act 1985, s. 744.
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The distinction between convertible and
non-convertible liabilities

A convertible debt is one that allows the holder of the security to exchange the debt for
shares in the issuing company on the terms specified in the debt instrument.

Prior to the issue of FRS 4, existing practice was to report convertible debt as a liability, a
practice that FRS 4 noted is uncontroversial where conversion is uncertain or unlikely. But
there are those who would argue that, if conversion were probable, convertible debt should
be reported outside liabilities in order to give a fairer representation of the economic posi-
tion of the company. In drafting FRS 4, the ASB, arguing that a balance sheet is a record of
the financial position of a company at a point of time, not a forecast of future events, speci-
fied that all convertible debt should be included with liabilities. As we shall see, in the section
of this chapter dealing with the disclosure requirements of the standard, adequate informa-
tion must be provided regarding the terms and conditions relating to the various capital
instruments in issue.

There is a more sophisticated line of argument that suggests that merely reporting con-
vertible debt as part of liabilities ignores the equity rights which are inherent in the issue of
convertible debt. As we shall see, the TASC, in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation, required split accounting for convertible debt. Under this approach the pro-
ceeds of issue of convertible debt are allocated between the two components, the equity
rights and the liabilities. The consequence of this is that the finance charge relating to the
debt is increased over that which would be recorded if the whole of the proceeds of the issue
were treated as a liability. The reason for this is that the total amount payable to the convert-
ible debt holders, assuming no conversion, consists of a string of interest payments and the
redemption price remains the same irrespective of the method of accounting used. If the ini-
tial recorded value of the debt were smaller, as it would be if the proceeds of the issue were
split, then the finance cost would be increased to cover the amount of the proceeds that were
allocated to the equity interest.

Happily for lovers of simplicity, the ASB rejected this more complex presentation,
although it will emerge if the proposals of FRED 30 are accepted. In the meantime the stan-
dard practice for the presentation of convertible debt is straightforward:

Conversion of debt should not be anticipated. Convertible debt should be reported within
liabilities and the finance cost should be calculated on the assumption that the debt will
never be converted. The amount attributable to convertible debt should be stated separately
from that of other liabilities. (Para. 25)

When convertible debt is converted, the amount recognised in shareholders’ funds in respect
of the shares issued should be the amount at which the liability for the debt is stated as at the
date of conversion. No gain or loss should be recognised on conversion. (Para. 26)

Debt maturity

As recognised in company legislation, users of accounts need to be given adequate informa-
tion about the scheduling of the repayment of debt in order to help them assess the
companies’ short-term solvency and long-term liquidity position.

The requirements of FRS 4 are a little more extensive than those of the Companies Act in
that they include an additional cut-off date of two years. The requirement is that:



Chapter 8 - Financial instruments

187

An analysis of the maturity of debt should be presented showing amounts falling due:

(@) in one year or less, or on demand;
(b) in more than one but not more than two years;
(c) in more than two years but not more than five years; and in more than five years. (Para. 33)'3

The maturity of the debt should be determined by reference to the earliest date on which the
lender can require repayment. (Para. 34)

Life is, of course, not without its complications and the ASB had to consider the case of a
borrower who had already made arrangements to refinance the existing loan. The question
here is whether the maturity of the loan should be measured by reference only to the capital
instrument currently in issue, or whether account should be taken of the re-financing
arrangements that have been established. It would clearly be misleading to ignore the signifi-
cant fact that facilities have been established in order to extend the period of the loan.
Therefore the ASB states:

Where committed facilities are in existence at the balance sheet date that permit the refinanc-
ing of debt for a period beyond its maturity, the earliest date at which the lender can require
repayment should be taken to be the maturity date of the longest refinancing permitted by a
facility in respect of which all the following conditions are met:

(@) The debt and the facility are under a single agreement or course of dealing with the same
lender or group of lenders.

(b) The finance costs for the new debt are on a basis that is not significantly higher than that
of the existing debt.

(c) The obligations of the lender (or group of lenders) are firm: the lender is not able legally to
refrain from providing funds except in circumstances the possibility of which can be
demonstrated to be remote.

(d) The lender (or group of lenders) is expected to be able to fulfil its obligations under the
facility. (Para. 35)

This is clearly a stringent set of conditions.
In order that the users of the accounts are made aware of the use of the above provision it
is also required that:

Where the maturity of debt is assessed by reference to that of refinancing permitted by facili-
ties in accordance with paragraph 35, the amounts of the debt so treated, analysed by the
earliest date on which the lender could demand repayment in the absence of the facilities,
should be disclosed. (Para. 36)

FRS 4 and consolidated financial statements

There are a number of special issues relating to consolidated financial statements.

There may be circumstances when shares issued by a subsidiary and held outside the
group should be included in liabilities rather than minority interest (Para. 49). This treat-
ment is required when the group, taken as a whole, has an obligation to transfer economic
benefit; for example, if another member of the group has guaranteed payments relating to
the shares.

13 This is a correction of the original version that was effected in FRS 13. The original, incorrect, version referred to
periods of less than 2 or 5 years and more than 2 or 5 years, thus leaving in doubt the treatment of liabilities that
had exactly two or five years to run.
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In addition:

(a) The amount of minority interests shown in the balance sheet should be analysed
between the aggregate amount attributable to equity interests and amounts attributable
to non-equity interests (Para. 50).

(b) The amounts attributed to non-equity minority interests and their associated finance
costs should be calculated in the same manner as those for other non-equity shares. The
finance costs associated with such interests should be included in minority interests in
the profit and loss account (Para. 51).

Some further explanation is required regarding the circumstances under which shares issued
by subsidiaries would not be shown in minority interest. As already noted, one of the FRS 4
principles is that if any element of obligation to transfer economic resources attaches to a
capital instrument, then it should be treated as a liability. Thus, if guarantees have been given
in respect of dividends payable on the shares or on their redemption, there is a liability,
albeit contingent, to transfer economic resources. In such circumstances the shares should
be included under liabilities.

Disclosure requirements

FRS 4 is very much concerned with the provision of adequate, some might argue more than
adequate, disclosure, and, in the previous pages, we have referred to a number of the pro-
posals that bear on this matter. The remaining disclosure requirements may be summarised
as follows:

(a) Disclosure relating to shares (Paras 55-59)

(i) An analysis should be given of the total amount of non-equity interests in share-
holders’ funds relating to each class of non-equity shares and series of warrants for
non-equity shares.

(ii) A brief summary of the rights of each class of shares should be given, other than for
equity shares with standard characteristics. Details should also be provided of classes
of shares which are not currently in issue but which may be issued as a result of the
conversion of debt or the exercise of warrants.

(iii) Details of dividends for each class of shares and any other appropriation of profit in
respect of non-equity shares should be disclosed.

(b) Disclosure relating to minority interests (Paras 60—-61)

(i) The minority interests charge in the profit and loss account should be analysed
between equity and non-equity interests.

(ii) If there are non-equity minority interests the rights of the holders against other
group companies should be described.

(c) Disclosure relating to debt (Paras 62—64)

(i) Details of convertible debt should be provided.

(ii) Brief descriptions should be provided where the legal nature of the instrument dif-
fers from that associated with debt; for example, when the obligation to repay is
conditional.

(iii) Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of debt should be disclosed in
the profit and loss account as separate items within or adjacent to ‘interest payable
and similar charges’.
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(d) General disclosure requirements

(i) When the disclosure requirements relating to the amounts of convertible debt, non-
equity interests in shareholders’ funds and non-equity interests in minority interests
are given in the notes, the relevant balance sheet caption should refer to the exis-
tence of the relevant capital instruments (Para. 54).

(ii) Where the brief summaries required in respect of a(ii), b(i), c(i) and c(iii) above
cannot adequately provide the information necessary to understand the commercial
effect of the relevant instruments, that fact should be stated together with particulars
of where the relevant information may be obtained. In any event the principal fea-
tures of the instruments should be stated (Para. 65).

Application notes
FRS 4 includes a section on Application Notes that describes how the principles of the

reporting standard should be applied to capital instruments with certain features. The
instruments covered in this section are:

e Auction market preferred shares (AMPS) e Index-linked loans

e Capital contributions e Limited recourse debt

e Convertible capital bonds e Participating preference shares
e Convertible debt with a premium put option e Perpetual debt

e Convertible debt with enhanced interest ® Repackaged perpetual debt

@ Debt issued with warrants @ Stepped interest bonds

@ Deep discount bonds e Subordinated debt

°

Income bonds

Space does not allow coverage of these notes and the interested reader should refer to the
standard itself.

Hedge accounting

Amongst the reasons why the subject of accounting for liabilities has become far more inter-
esting are the developments in the area of hedging.

A hedging transaction, or a hedge, is a way of reducing risk associated with an investment
that the entity has made or contract that it has made; this is known as the hedged item. The
hedge involves the entity entering into another contract, the hedging instrument, whose cash
flow will vary inversely with those of the hedged item. A simple example would be an entity
that wants to make a substantial investment, say in a building, in country A but is very con-
cerned about the loss it would make if there was a substantial fall in the value of the currency
of that country. It may have powerful strategic reasons to make such an investment but
might be in a position that could not cope with a substantial loss. It could reduce the extent
of any potential loss by investing in a contract whereby it would gain if the value of the cur-
rency falls. If the market did not share the entity’s pessimism about the long-term value of
the currency, it could enter the foreign currency market and agree to sell x million units of
the currency of country A in six months’ time. If the currency were to fall it would cost the
entity less to acquire the agreed amount of the currency and the greater the fall the greater
would be the gain. More complex packages could involve more than one hedge instrument.
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Hedge accounting comes into play when the application of the normal accounting rules
would mean that the gain or loss on the hedged item would be recognised in a different
period to the offsetting gain or loss on the hedge instrument or instruments. There is obvi-
ously strong pressure to show the net impact of a hedging operation in one accounting
period but to do so might involve breaking the normal rules, hence the need to consider
whether, and if so to what extent, the normal rules should be ‘adjusted’ to reflect the fact that
the transactions are part of a hedging operation.

FRED 23 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting

The objective of any standard based on FRED 23, issued in May 2002, would be to establish
principles for the use of hedge accounting when accounting for financial instruments.

FRED 23 proposes that, in order for a financial instrument to qualify for hedge account-
ing, two criteria have to be met: a hedging relationship and hedge effectiveness.

1 Hedging relationship: A hedge cannot be created in arrears: there must be formal docu-
mentation of the hedging relationship available at the date of its inception. The
effectiveness of the hedge must be capable of reliable measurement and, if a forecast
transaction is being hedged, it must be highly probable and must present an exposure to
variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported net profit or loss.

2 Hedge effectiveness: The effectiveness of a hedge is related to the achievement of the hedg-
ing instrument or instruments in generating changes in fair values or cash flows that
offset those relating to the hedged item. In order to satisfy the requirements of FRED 23,
the hedge must both be expected to be effective at the outset and prove to be effective
during its life. The draft states that a hedge is effective if the extent of the offset lies
between 80 per cent and 125 per cent.

The introduction to the exposure draft points out that hedge accounting takes many
forms and the purpose of a standard based on it would not require or prohibit the adoption
of any particular form of hedge accounting.!* It would, however, cover three areas:

Hedges for net investment on foreign operations

The part of any gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective
hedge should be recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses and be
treated in the same way as the gains and losses on the hedged item while the part of the gain
or loss which is not an effective hedge should be reported in the profit and loss account
(Para. 16).

An ineffective hedge

An ineffective portion of any hedge would have to be recognised immediately in the profit
and loss account (Para. 16).

14 FRED 23, p. 10.
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Terminated hedges

If hedge accounting is terminated because the transaction that was hedged is no longer
expected to occur the loss or gain on the hedge should be recognised immediately in the
profit and loss account. If it is terminated for another reason, the loss or gain should be
recognised immediately in the profit and loss account, or the statement of total recognised
gains and losses, so as to offset the gains and losses on the hedged item (Para. 17).

Derivatives

This is an area where reasonably simple concepts are made complex by the use of technical
terminology; some might call it jargon. So let us start with the basic definition:

A derivative instrument is one whose performance is based (or derived) on the behaviour of
the price of an underlying asset (often simply known as the ‘underlying’). The underlying
asset itself does not need to be bought or sold. A premium may be due.'®

Let us start by considering one of the simplest forms of derivative, an option. Under a call
option, the purchaser pays a sum of money in order to have the right to purchase shares at
an agreed price at some point in the future. Under a put option, the purchaser has the right
to sell shares at the agreed price at some time in the future.

Let us look at an example of a call option. Suppose that, in May, the price of the shares of
Gambling plc are £3 each and an investor, who believes that the share price will increase
considerably, pays 40 pence a share for the right to buy 1000 shares in October at £4.50 each,
the strike price. If, in October, the price of the shares exceeds £4.50 by a sufficient margin to
cover the price paid for the option and other transaction costs, the purchaser of the option
will gain because he or she could buy the shares at £4.50 and then sell them at the then cur-
rent market price. If the price falls between £4.50 and £4.90, it would still be worth buying
the shares, although the investor would not cover the price paid for the option.

The 40 pence will be the price of the option as determined by the market. While most mar-
kets now employ electronic trading, derivatives trading is still carried out in bull pits by people
wearing different coloured jackets communicating through hand signals. Most books on deriva-
tives paint this rather charming scene before moving on to some pretty heavy mathematics.

The value of the option will constantly vary and will depend largely on two factors:

o the difference between the strike price and the current price of the share, the underlying price;
e the volatility of the underlying price, which is usually derived from a formula that is
related to the history of the share’s price movements.

It would be rare for anyone to hold a single option, unless it is part of a hedging opera-
tion, for options will normally be held as part of a portfolio of similar derivatives which will,
according to the degree of risk averseness exhibited by the owner, be a balanced one that
seeks to attempt to minimise the possibilities of making considerable losses but which also
means that there is a lesser chance of making vast profits. But, of course, the great thing
about options is that, so long as there is an active market, buyers can change their minds and
sell the option or buy more options.

15 Francesca Taylor, Mastering Derivatives Markets, FT/Pitman Publishing, London 1996, p. 2.
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Another factor affecting value is the terms on which the option can be exercised and, in
particular, whether it can only be exercised on the expiry date of the agreement, a European
option, or at any time up to and including the expiry date, an American option.

There are basically two types of operators in the derivatives market, hedgers and traders. A
hedger is someone who has a position to cover. For example, a company that has made a
major investment in a project denominated in an overseas currency and is concerned that
the currency may fall in terms of its own currency, might purchase a put option to sell a
quantity of the overseas currency, that it does not own, at the current price. If the currency
falls, the loss the company would make in converting its overseas remittances from the pro-
ject would be offset by the gain from the put option. A trader is one who is interested in
making money from trading in derivatives, and lest traders are thought to be in some way
less worthy than hedgers it must be remembered that without the traders there would be at
best a very illiquid market for derivatives.

This is not the place to provide a lengthy introduction to the market for derivatives
although we should point out that is, in numerical terms, huge. Even in 1996 it was esti-
mated that the derivatives market was at $30 trillion (that means 13 noughts), which would
have made it three times as large as the then global equity market.!® But it might be helpful
to outline some of the main types of derivatives and explain some of the more important
terms that are found in this jargon-laden industry.

The four primary derivative markets are:

e Equities

e Foreign exchange

o Commodities (such as energy, metals and agricultural goods)

® Interest rates

Some derivatives, especially those for interest rates, take the form of swaps, a term that would
readily be understood by most school children. Take as example two companies both of
which have a good reputation in their home country and hence can borrow at more advant-
ageous terms than can others, especially overseas companies. Suppose that the two companies
also operate in the home country of the other and both want to borrow money in the overseas
country. The swap occurs when each company borrows at the advantageous terms from
which it benefits in its home country and they exchange the benefits between them.

A futures contract is one that involves an agreement to deliver a stated quantity of a given
commodity in return for a pre-arranged price at some future date. A farmer, for example,
concerned that the price of his crop might fall because of a glut, might agree to sell his crop
in advance of production for a price that will reflect the overall market view of the trend of
market prices. In other words, the hedger has brought certainty while the trader has assumed
the risk. The trader will probably not continue to carry the risk for the whole of the time it
takes to grow the crop, as the futures contract is likely to be traded frequently as different
views are formed as to the likely price.

Options differ from futures and swaps in that they involve the payment by one of the par-
ties of a premium. The importance of a premium is that it allows the holder not to go ahead
with the transaction if he believes that to do so would not be in his best interest. The pur-
chaser of a call option where a premium is paid does not have to buy the shares. In contrast
the parties to futures contracts have no choice; both must deliver their sides of the bargain.

16 Francesca Taylor, Mastering Derivatives Markets, FT/Pitman Publishing, London, 1996, p. xii.
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The valuation of financial instruments

It would be something of an understatement to observe that there is a lack of consensus on
the appropriate accounting treatment of financial instruments.

On the whole, but there are exceptions, standard setters seem to be moving towards the
market value approach, especially in respect of derivatives. Thus, in a paper prepared by the
Financial Instruments Joint Working Group (JWG)!” and published in 2000,'® the view was
expressed that virtually all financial instruments should be measured at fair value and that
virtually all gains and losses arising from changes in fair value should be recognised in the
profit and loss account. The US Financial Accounting Standards Board require derivatives to
be shown at market value!® while the present draft of IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement would require all derivatives and other financial instruments
held for trading, together with any financial assets that are available for sale, to be measured
at fair value. As we will see later in this chapter, the ASB is not yet prepared to charge quite as
fast down the fair value track.

Those who advocate the use of fair values believe that using them would better represent
the effect that a company’s use of derivatives and other financial instruments have had on
its operations, in the sense that users might see the extent to which a market-related value of
a subset of the company’s assets and liabilities have moved. Those who would prefer to see a
cost-based valuation approach applied to financial instruments feel that the adoption of
a fair value basis would lead to greater volatility in reported earnings that might well distort
the underlying pattern of trading results. These people who tend to be bankers and corporate
treasurers, do not want to see their reported results distorted, for example by wide swings in
stock market prices; they would prefer to wait until the actual results of hedging or financial
operation are known before disclosing the results.

The fair value approach does seem more appropriate for the financial trading company
whose rationale is to live, or die, through its financial activities than it is for other companies
whose financial activities are to support their main business. Thus there are those who
favour a dual regime using different bases for different types of company and this is, in
effect, the position taken by the ASB in FRED 30.

But perhaps there is a simple way out of the argument? The authors have long been
amongst those who argue that entities should be required to provide the values of their assets
on more than one basis of valuation, for example replacement cost and net realisable value.
The usual reason for the rejection of this idea is the, rather patronising, assertion that this
would confuse the users of accounts. It is difficult to see how this argument can be used
against the proposal that financial instruments be shown on the basis of cost and their fair
value. Any user who understands and can appreciate the messages contained in financial
statements about derivatives and other financial instruments should not be confused by the
presentation of two bases of valuation. They both have messages to tell and users should be
able to interpret both and appreciate that their interpretation of those messages should in
part depend on the nature of the business of the company whose financial statements they
are reviewing.

17 The JWG was comprised of representatives or members of accounting standard setters or professional bodies
drawn from Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, the five Nordic countries, the UK, the
USA and the International Accounting Standards Committee.

18 Draft standard Financial instruments and similar items, Joint Working Group.

19 SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.



194

Part 2 - Financial reporting in practice

This view accords with the position taken by the majority in a survey of members of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers, who believed:

e a mixed model of cost and fair value accounting for derivatives will always be overcompli-
cated;

® an accounting standard on derivatives that people are trying to apply to both financial
and non-financial institutions will never meet the requirements of both;

@ the accounting of derivatives should remain at cost; the disclosure should include suffi-
cient information on a company’s risk management policies and fair value information to
allow investors accurately to understand a company’s treasury performance.

Only a small number of respondents were in favour of the JWG approach that all derivatives
should be shown at fair value.?

The view that a much more useful picture can be provided by narrative disclosure has
much to commend it, especially in areas where the selection of a single figure for inclusion in
the financial statements must perforce present an incomplete story.

Mention of the narrative approach brings us neatly to FRS 13 Derivatives and other
Financial Instruments: Disclosure. It would have been impossible at the time FRS 13 was pub-
lished, September 1998, for the ASB to have produced a standard that dealt with the method
of valuing derivatives and similar financial instruments, so a standard was produced that laid
down the information that should be provided that would help users to understand what
was happening, and in particular the risks to which the company is subject, rather than spec-
ifying the basis on which amounts should appear in the financial statements. At the time of
issue, it was thought that FRS 13 was an interim standard that would be replaced as account-
ing standard-setting technology advanced, allowing the framing of regulations that specified
the basis on which figures should appear in the financial statements. While this view is partly
true, the use of narrative reporting that was, in a way, pioneered by FRS 13 is also likely to be
developed and improved.

FRS 13 Derivatives and other Financial Instruments

Disclosures

This standard is unusual in a number of ways. Not only is it the most complicated standard
issued to date, containing many terms and concepts which do not impinge on the profes-
sional life of the vast majority of accountants, but also it is an admission that the then (1998)
state of the art of financial accounting was not capable of dealing adequately with the report-
ing of the more complex forms of derivatives and other types of financial instruments. The
ASB’s concerns were expressed in a discussion paper, Derivatives and other Financial
Instruments, issued in July 1996, which focused on three main issues: the measurement of
financial instruments, the use of hedge accounting and the disclosures relating to financial
instruments. Among what FRS 13 describes (p. 137) as the tentative conclusions of the dis-
cussion paper was the view that it was not appropriate to measure financial instruments on a
historical cost basis, but that they should be measured at fair value. However, the Board was
not yet able to advance on the measurement front, nor deal with the issue of hedge account-
ing, but felt it was necessary to promulgate a standard on disclosure.

20 Association of Corporate Treasurers, January 2002 Newsletter, www.treasurers.org.
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Scope and objective

FRS 13 is concerned only with those entities that have one more of their financial instru-
ments listed or publicly traded on a stock exchange or market as well as all banks and similar
institutions. Its provisions do not apply, however, to insurance companies.

A financial instrument is defined in exactly the same terms as it is in the later FRED 30,
which we quoted earlier in the chapter, namely:

any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity. (FRS 13, Para. 2)

Financial instruments include both primary financial instruments — such as bonds, debtors,
creditors and shares — as well derivative financial instruments, which are themselves defined
in the same section as FRS 13 as:

a financial instrument that derives its value from the price or rate of some underlying item.

The underlying items can take a variety of forms including equities, commodities, interest
rates, exchange rates and stock market and other indices.

However, complicated though the nest of interrelations contained within the instrument
may be, there must be a chain of events that leads to the transfer of either cash or an equity
instrument from one party to another. Thus, just to give a few examples, debtors, shares, for-
ward contracts and options are financial instruments while physical assets, prepayments and
obligations, like many warranties that will be satisfied by the provision of services, are not.
Lest it be thought that any entity that has debtors will be covered by the standard, remember
that to qualify the financial instruments must be publicly traded.

The objective of the standard is to ensure that entities within its scope disclose informa-
tion to help users assess its objectives, policies and strategy for holding or issuing financial
instruments. In particular, the information should help users assess:

(@) the risk profile of the entity for each of the main financial risks that arise in connection with
financial instruments and commodity contracts with similar characteristics; and

(b) the significance of such instruments and contracts to the reported financial position, per-
formance and cash flows, regardless of whether the instruments or contracts are on the
balance sheet (recognised) or off the balance sheet (unrecognised). (Para. 1)

Risks associated with financial instruments

The standard identifies the following four types of risk associated with financial instruments,
of which only the first two have, and even then to a limited extent, been reported upon in
financial statements.

e Credit risk — the possibility that a party to the contract may fail to perform according to
the terms of the contract.

e Liquidity risk — the chance that an entity will fail to raise the funds that would enable it to
meet its commitments under the contract.

® Cash flow risk — the possibility that future cash flows will fluctuate in amount.

® Market price risk — the possibility that future changes in market prices will change the
value, or burden, of a financial instrument. The main components of market price risk are:
— Interest rate risk
— Currency risk
— Other market risk; this includes the risks associated from changes in commodity and

share prices.
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The structure of FRS 13

The standard requires both narrative and numerical disclosures; the same narrative disclosures
are required of all entities while the requirement for numerical disclosure differs between:

@ entities that are not financial institutions
@ banks and similar institutions
@ other types of financial institutions.

We are in this section dealing only with the first of the above.

One of the more helpful features of the standard is the three examples it provides in
Appendix III, of hypothetical disclosures that might be provided by different entities. One
relates to a bank, the others to non-financial entities; of these, one, that is said to be rep-
resentative of the vast majority of entities, is fairly simple, the other is more complex.
Interested readers should refer to this appendix.

Mode of presentation

It is envisaged, but it is not required, that the disclosures specified by the standard should be
placed in the context of a discussion of the entity’s activities, structure and funding. This dis-
cussion should typically also consider the financial risk profile as a whole. This means that it
will be helpful to provide the narrative requirements of the standard in a statement such as
an operating and financial review. The way in which the information is presented is left to
the entity, but it is required to ensure that the narrative information is cross-referenced to
the Notes to the Financial Statements. The required numerical information should be
included in the notes.

The standard covers a lot of ground, and large entities with numerous complex schemes,
involving many types of financial instrument, could nullify the objective of the standard by
providing data in excessive detail. The Board is aware of this point and enjoins entities to be
prepared to use a high degree of aggregation in fulfilling their obligations under the stan-
dard, which could mean that it might be impossible to relate the explanations directly to the
balance sheet captions (another unusual feature of FRS 13), and entities are encouraged to
provide additional information to allow the figures to be traced back to the balance sheet
unless that would unduly complicate the position (Para. 25).

Main elements to be disclosed

The length of the standard makes it impossible for us to do anything more than provide a
highly simplified and selective summary of the main points that have to be disclosed. In
making our selection we have been influenced by those areas, such as the use of current
values, that we have emphasised elsewhere in this book. The following are the main aspects
for which disclosure is required:

® Objectives, policies and strategies.

® Interest rate disclosures indicating liabilities at fixed interest rates, variable interest rates
and on which no interest is paid.

® Currency rates disclosure providing an analysis of the net amount of financial (or mon-
etary) assets and liabilities in terms of the principal currencies involved.

e Liquidity disclosure, including a breakdown of the dates at which financial liabilities fall
due for payment.

® Fair value disclosure, providing information about both the carrying values and fair values
of financial assets and liabilities.
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e Disclosures about financial assets and financial liabilities used for trading.
e Disclosures about hedging.
e Disclosures about commodity contracts.

FRED 30 and the convergence programme

As we stated earlier in this chapter the convergence project will have a significant impact on
accounting for liabilities, but there remain considerable uncertainties. The two international
standards on which UK practice will converge are currently under review while UK company
law will need to be changed if the likely changes are to be implemented in the UK.

The situation as at the beginning of 2003 is summarised in Table 8.5.

Table 8.5 Financial instruments: the current position

FRED 30 proposes two UK standards:

® Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
® Financial Instruments: Measurement

Based on published IASB proposals for revisions to:

® |AS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
® |AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

This will lead to the withdrawal of:

® FRS 4 Capital instruments
® FRS 13 Derivatives and other Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Proposed timetable:

® The revised IAS 32 will be implemented in the UK for all listed companies and all other banks
from 1 January 2004.

® The presentation requirements of the revised IAS 32, but not the disclosure requirements, will
be implemented in the UK for all unlisted entities, other than those included above from
| January 2004.

® The recognition and derecognition requirements of the revised IAS 39 will not be implemented
in the UK, but all its other provisions will have to be followed from 1 January 2004 by entities
that choose to adopt fair value accounting.

Changes in company legislation will be required; if these are not made in time this timetable will
have to change.

Even if the uncertainties are resolved, convergence would not be finally achieved because
the ASB is not prepared to accept all the provisions of IAS 32 and 39, as can quickly be
demonstrated by a perusal of the two draft statements set out in FRED 30. The starting
points for both drafts are the clean versions of IAS 32 and 39, that is, the versions including
the proposed changes; these drafts are then ‘tracked’ to show the additions and deletions that
are proposed by the ASB.

In the sections that follow we will use the four-way classification introduced in the previ-
ous chapter, that is recognition, measurement, classification (presentation) and disclosure,
to outline both the changes that would be made to UK practice if the proposals of FRED 30
were to be implemented and the differences that would still remain between the UK and
international standards.
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Changes to UK practice and remaining differences between
UK and international standards

Recognition

Changes to current UK practice

The ASB has concerns about the recognition, and presentation, aspects of IAS 32 and 39 and
hopes that the IASB will reconsider these before 2005. Hence the Board is not, at this stage,
proposing any changes to the UK standards.

Remaining differences between UK and international standards

The different views on recognition are demonstrated by the fact that the while proposed revi-
sion of IAS 39 is entitled Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the proposed
FRS omits the word ‘recognition’, which is not unreasonable given that the proposed UK stan-
dard does not contain the relevant paragraphs 27 to 65 of the proposed international standard.

In Appendix III of FRED 30, pp. 297-300, it is pointed out that the ASB’s approach to the
recognition and derecognition of financial instruments is based on the ‘risks and rewards’
approach whereby for an asset to be recognised the entity would need to be in a position where
it had access to the benefits underlying the asset and was exposed to the risks associated with
those benefits; the corresponding features for recognition would be a requirement to pay out
benefits, and the associated risk. The IASB approach, as reflected in its proposals for the revi-
sion of IAS 39, is different; its view is that the question that needs to be answered is whether the
transfer can reverse. If that possibility exists then the asset or liability cannot be derecognised.

The ASB believes that it would be inappropriate to issue a UK standard until the position
of the IASB becomes clearer. In the meantime, it is pointed out that, while the underlying
principles of the UK and likely international approaches are very different, their application
will lead to the same conclusions for many straight-forward transactions.?!

Measurement, including hedge accounting

Changes to current UK practice

The changes will impact on measurement and hedge accounting for it is proposed that, with
effect from 1 January 2004, if an entity chooses to use fair value accounting in preparing its
financial statements then it will be required to use, subject to certain modifications, IAS 39’s
fair value measurement and accounting system.

Let us start by introducing fair value accounting. ASB’s understanding, expressed in
FRED 30, is that the government would propose to amend legislation to add to the historic
cost and the alternative accounting rules a third regime, based on fair value accounting.

The new rules would extend the opportunities for entities to measure certain financial
assets and liabilities at fair value and to pass the changes in fair value through the profit and
loss account rather than through the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

The exposure draft proposes that entities that adopt the fair value accounting rules, and
only those entities, should be required to adopt almost all the measurement and hedge
accounting requirements of IAS 39. These entities are likely to be relatively few and spe-
cialised, being those, that are not banks or insurance companies, that mark-to-market their
trading books and recognise any resulting gains in the profit and loss accounts.

2L FRED 30, p. 299.
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Remaining differences between UK and international standards

At this point we need to return to FRED 23 Financial instruments: hedge accounting. FRED 23
and IAS 39 are both based on the same foundations, that is, to qualify for hedge accounting,
the hedge needs to be pre-designated and effective. However, IAS 39 goes further than
FRED 23 in that it contains additional restrictions on the use of hedge accounting and con-
tains provisions on the type of hedge accounting to be used. As pointed out above, the only
UK entities that FRED 30 would require to adopt the more stringent conditions of IAS 39
are the relatively few entities that adopt the fair accounting rules.

Moving to the more general issue of the measurement of financial instruments IAS 39
proposes that all derivatives, all financial instruments held for trading and any financial
assets that are available for sale should be measured at fair value. All other financial instru-
ments (i.e. financial assets held to maturity, loans and receivables originated by the reporting
entity and all financial liabilities that are neither derivatives nor held for trading) should be
measured at amortised cost.??

Under the present proposals only those UK entities who choose to make use of the fair
value accounting rules would be required to use the IAS 39 measurement rules; other entities
would continue on the present basis whereby liabilities are, ‘generally speaking, ... measured
at cost-based amounts rather than at some sort of updated value’.??

One other difference would remain between the proposed UK and international stan-
dards, and this relates to the important subject of recycling that the IASB would allow but
which the ASB abhors. Recycling occurs when gains or losses relating to ongoing activities
are first recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses, or to use the inter-
national jargon ‘in equity’, but which reappear, when, say, a hedge matures, in the profit and
loss account. It does seem odd to recognise the same gain or loss more than once and so we
hope that the UK position prevails.

Presentation (disclosure)

Changes to current UK practice

Changes are proposed to balance sheet terminology in that the division between ‘sharehold-
ers’ funds’ and ‘liabilities’ should be replaced by a split between equity and non-equity
interests. This has more than a terminological impact because some instruments that are
presently treated as being part of shareholders’ funds would be treated as a non-equity inter-
est. One example is preference shares. These are in substance liabilities because they were
issued on terms that effectively mean that the entity must transfer economic resource to
their holders. FRED 30 proposes, in terms of the distinction between debt and equity, that
substance should take priority over form and that certain financial instruments that are now
included in equity should in the future be treated as a non-equity item.

The effect of the above would be seen not only in the balance sheet, of course, since the
amounts paid in respect of preference shares that are in substance liabilities, and treated as
such, would be reported as an interest expense rather than dividends. But other changes are
being proposed, in that dividends paid and proposed, would no longer appear in the profit
and loss account but would instead be disclosed in the reconciliation of movements in share-
holders’ funds.

It would, of course, only be possible to make the above changes if amendments are made
to company legislation.

22 FRED 30, p. 301.
23 FRED 30, p. 6.



200

Part 2 - Financial reporting in practice

It is also proposed to make changes to the treatment of convertible debt and to adopt split
accounting (see p. 186). The actual split is calculated by reference to market values; thus, in
order to estimate the non-equity element of a convertible debt, an estimate would have to be
made of the fair value of a similar liability without a related equity element.

While the ASB seems unhappy at the more permissive provisions of IAS 32, as compared
to FRS 5 (see p. 211), on the matter of offsetting debits and credits, it has incorporated them
into FRED 30. TAS 32 merely requires that the entity does have an enforceable right to set off
and the intention to do so. In particular it does not require the right of offset to be capable of
surviving the insolvency of the other party.

Remaining differences between UK and international standards

There are no significant differences between the provisions of FRED 30 and the proposed
international standards on this matter.

Disclosure

Changes to current UK practice

At present in the UK companies have to publish a range of narrative and numerical risk dis-
closures relating to their financial instruments, which the ASB describes as ‘extensive and
relatively detailed’.* FRED 30 proposes that these be replaced by those set out in IAS 32
which, although they mirror the UK approach, are less detailed.

Remaining differences between UK and international standards

There would be no difference in what is to be disclosed but there would be some differences
as to who has to disclose. The international standards would apply to all entities. The present
UK position is that they should apply only to listed entities and banks and even then, in the
case of groups, only to the consolidated financial statements.

Conclusion

It is to be hoped that the various endeavours to which we referred in this chapter will be
achieved by the scheduled dates in order to remove the unnecessary complications from an
area which is by its very nature pretty complex. This is not to say, however, that we are confi-
dent that matters are moving in the right direction.

We believe that the minds of standard setters, both domestically and internationally, are
too firmly fixed on the notion that there is only one solution to every problem, in this case
that it is their job is to identify the ‘best’ accounting treatment for any particular class of
transactions. A rather different view is that there is more than one way of portraying reality
and that in a number of areas, for example the valuation of financial instruments, a strong
case can be made for requiring the valuations to be provided on more than one basis. This
would put a greater onus on the users of financial statements, but we believe that it would be
better to explain to users why more than one approach to reporting is being adopted rather
than present a partial view.

24 FRED 30, p. 13.
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Summary

We started the chapter by introducing the subject of capital instruments and discussed the
contents of FRS 4 Capital Instruments. This standard is exclusively concerned with liabilities
but we described how attention is now being paid to the broader theme of financial instru-
ments, which covers financial assets as well as liabilities.

The relationship between assets and liabilities is at the heart of hedge accounting, the next
topic included in the chapter. Hedge accounting comes into play when transactions are
linked and the normal rules controlling the recognition of gains and loses are relaxed so that
gains and losses of linked transactions may be recognised in the same period. In this context
we summarised the proposals of FRED 23 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting.

Derivatives are instruments whose performance is based on the price movements of an
underlying asset. We described the most widely used forms of derivatives and outlined the
arguments that are being advanced in the debate between those who believe that derivatives
should be recognised in the financial statements at fair value and those who advocate a cost-
based approach. As at January 2003 the only UK standard on derivatives, FRS 13 Derivatives
and other Financial Instruments: Disclosures, is concerned solely with disclosure issues and
says nothing about measurement. We summarised the content of the standard.

The issue of financial instruments, including derivatives, is looming large in the account-
ing standards convergence programme and we ended the chapter by describing the stance
taken by the ASB as reflected in FRED 30, which is an exposure draft for two proposed stan-
dards, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and Financial Instruments:
Measurement. We outlined the changes that the implementation of the FRED 30 proposals
would bring to UK practice as well as the differences that would remain between UK and
international standards. The differences are now being addressed as part of the convergence
programme — with the added spur for EU members of the 2005 target.

Recommended reading

E. Bunn, ‘Derivatives and hedging’ Corporate Finance, No. 211, June 2002.

F.J. Fabozzi (ed.), The Handbook of Financial Instruments, Hoboken, N.J., Wiley, 2002.

S.G. Ryan, Financial Instruments and Institutions — Accounting and Disclosure Rules, Hoboken,
N.J., Wiley, 2002.

Excellent up-to-date and detailed reading on the subject matter of this chapter and on much of
the contents of this book is provided by the most recent edition of:

UK and International GAAP, A. Wilson, M. Davies, M. Curtis and G. Wilkinson-Riddle (eds),
Ernst & Young, Butterworths Tolley, London. At the time of writing, the latest edition is the
7th, published 2001.
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8.1

8.2

(a) Explain the main reasons for the introduction of FRS 4, Capital instruments. (7 marks)
(b) Explain how FRS 4, Capital instruments, deals with the accounting treatment of:

(i) convertible debt; and
(ii) redeemable preference shares,

making reference to any differences with International Accounting Standards. You
should relate your comments to the underlying principles in the Statement of
Principles, where appropriate. (9 marks)

(¢) Errol plc borrowed £20 million on 1 January 2000 under an agreement with its bank to
pay interest of 7% on 31 December 2000, 10% on 31 December 2001 and a final payment
of interest and capital totalling £22 057000 on 31 December 2002. The company prepares
accounts to 31 December. Assume an overall effective annual rate of interest of 9%.

Requirement
Calculate and disclose the amounts that will appear on the face of the profit and loss
accounts and balance sheets for each year affected by the loan. (6 marks)

ICAEW, Financial Reporting, December 2000 (22 marks)

You are the management accountant of Short plc. On 1 October 1993 Short plc issued
10 million £1 preference shares at par, incurring issue costs of £100 000. The dividend
payable on the preference shares was a fixed 4% per annum, payable on 30 September each
year in arrears. The preference shares were redeemed on 1 October 1998 at a price of £1.35
per share. The effective finance cost of the preference shares was 10%. The balance sheet of
the company on 30 September 1998, the day before the redemption of the preference shares,
was as follows:

£ million
Ordinary share capital (non-redeemable) 100.0
Redeemable preference shares 13.5
Share premium account 25.8
Profit and loss account 59.7
199.0
Net assets 199.0

Requirements
(a) Write a memorandum to your assistant which explains:

® how the total finance cost of the preference shares should be allocated to the profit
and loss account over their period of issue;

® where in the profit and loss account the finance cost should be reported;

® where the preference shares should be disclosed in the balance sheet;

@ the nature of any supporting information which is required to be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements regarding the preference shares.

Your memorandum should refer to the provisions of relevant Accounting Standards.
(8 marks)
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8.3

8.4

8.5

(b) Calculate the finance cost in respect of the preference shares for EACH of the five years
ended 30 September 1998. (7 marks)
(c) Assuming no changes other than those caused by the redemption of the preference
shares, prepare the balance sheet of Short plc at the end of 1 October 1998. You should
give an explanation for any changes to any of the headings or any new headings which
are required. (5 marks)

CIMA, Financial Reporting, November 1998 (20 marks)

Your managing director has recently read an article which referred to Financial Reporting
Standard 4 (FRS 4) — Capital instruments. He has requested a report from you about FRS 4.

Requirement

Write a report to the managing director explaining the nature of capital instruments,
giving three examples of capital instruments together with their required accounting treat-
ment as specified in FRS 4.

CIMA, Financial Reporting, May 1995 (20 marks)

Tealing plc requires advice on the appropriate accounting treatment for the following trans-
actions in capital instruments in the year ended 30 November 2002.

(1) The company issued convertible debt on 1 December 2001 for £500000. This will be
redeemed at the same amount or converted on 30 November 2006 when the holder of
the debt has the option to convert to shares. Interest payable is 5.9% for the two years
ended 30 November 2003 and 14.1 % for the remaining years.

Assume that the effective rate of interest is 10.33% per annum.

(2) 250000 5% redeemable £1 preference shares were issued on 1 June 2002. Dividends are
paid annually commencing on 30 November 2002 and the shares will be redeemed at a
premium of £16600 on 30 May 2006.

Assume that the effective rate of finance cost is 6.5% per annum.

(3) Aloan from the company’s bankers was obtained on 1 December 2001 for £400 000. No
payments are required for the first four years and the repayment terms are four annual
instalments of £168 400 starting on 30 November 2005.

Assume that the effective rate of finance cost is 10.06% per annum.

Requirements

(a) Calculate the amounts to be disclosed in the profit and loss account for the year ended
30 November 2002 and in the balance sheet of Tealing plc as at that date, preparing the
appropriate extracts of these primary statements. (10 marks)

(b) Explain the appropriate accounting treatment for each of the items in (a) with appro-
priate reference to the Statement of Principles, noting any differences in treatment to
International Accounting Standards. (7 marks)

ICAW, Financial Reporting, December 2002 (17 marks)

Standard setters have been struggling for several years with the practical issues of the dis-
closure, recognition and measurement of financial instruments. The ASB has issued a
Discussion Paper on Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments and Financial Reporting
Standard 13 on the disclosure of such instruments. The dynamic nature of international
financial markets has resulted in the widespread use of a variety of financial instruments but
present accounting rules in this area do not ensure that the financial statements portray
effectively the impact and risks of the instruments currently being used.
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8.6

Required
(a) (i) Discuss the concerns about the accounting practices used for financial instru-
ments which led to demands for an accounting standard. (7 marks)
(ii) Explain why regulations dealing with disclosure alone cannot solve the problem of
accounting for financial instruments. (4 marks)
(b) (i) Discuss three ways in which gains and losses on financial instruments might be
recorded in the financial statements, commenting on the relative merits of each
method. (8 marks)
(ii) AX, a public limited company, issued a three-year £30 million 5% debenture at par
on 1 December 1998 when the market rate of interest was 5%. Interest is paid
annually on 30 November each year. Market rates of interest on debentures of
equivalent term and risk are 6% and 4% at the end of the financial years to 30
November 1999 and 30 November 2000. (Assume that the changes in interest rates
took place on 30 November each year.)
Show the effect on ‘profit’ for the three years to 30 November 2001 if the deben-
ture and the interest charge were valued on a fair value basis. (6 marks)

ACCA, Financial Reporting Environment (UK Stream), December 1999 (25 marks)

One of the issues dealt with by the Accounting Standards Board in its Statement of Principles
for Financial Reporting is the measurement of assets and liabil